EDGAROnline

WHIRLPOOL CORP /DE/

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 02/26/15 for the Period Ending 12/31/14

Address WHIRLPOOL CNTR 2000 M 63
C/O CORPORATE SECRETARY
BENTON HARBOR, Ml 49022-2692
Telephone 2699235000
CIK 0000106640
Symbol WHR
SIC Code 3630 - Household Appliances
Industry  Appliance & Tool
Sector Consumer Cyclical
Fiscal Year 12/31

Powere 4 &y EDGAROnline

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2015, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.
Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.


http://www.edgar-online.com

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Whirlpool Corporation, the world’leading global manufacturer and marketer of miagone appliances, was incorporated in 1955 (
the laws of Delaware as the successor to a busihasfraces its origin to 1898. Whirlpool manutaes products in 14 countries and mar
products in nearly every country around the womder brand names such\a#hirlpool, KitchenAid, Maytag, Consul, Brastemp, Amana,
Bauknech, Jenn-AirandIndesit. Whirlpool's reportable segments consist of North AmericainLaimerica, EMEA (Europe, Middle East ¢
Africa) and Asia. As of December 31, 2014 , Whidpbad approximately 100,000 employees.

As used herein, and except where the context otkemequires, “Whirlpool,” "the Company," “we,” “tdsand “our” refer to Whirlpoc
Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Products and Regions

Whirlpool manufactures and markets a full line ofjar home appliances and related products. Ourcipah products are launc
appliances, refrigerators and freezers, cookindiames, dishwashers, mixers and other portablesdtoald appliances. We also proc
hermetic compressors for refrigeration systems.

The following table provides the percentage ofsadés for each class of products which accounted@® or more of our consolidas
net sales over the last three years:

2014 2013 2012
Laundry Appliances 27% 29% 30%
Refrigerators and Freezers 28% 29% 30%
Cooking Appliances 18% 18% 17%
Other 27% 24% 23%
Net Sales 10C% 10C% 10C%

In North America, Whirlpool markets and distributesjor home appliances and portable appliancesrunéariety of brand names.
the United States, we market and distribute pradpdtnarily under th&Vhirlpool, Maytag, KitchenAid, Jenn-Air, Amana, Roper, Admiral
AffreshandGladiator brand names primarily to retailers, distributorsl #uilders. In Canada, we market and distributeomlapme applianc
primarily under thenglis , Admiral , Whirlpool , Maytag, Jenn-Air, Amana, Roper, Estateand KitchenAidbrand names. In Mexico, \
market and distribute major home appliances primarnder theWhirlpool, Maytag, Acros, KitchenAidand Supermatidorand names. We s
some products to other manufacturers, distributond, retailers for resale in North America undesthmanufacturers’ and retailerespectiv
brand names.

In Latin America, we market and distribute our rmagad small home appliances primarily under@uasul, Brastemp, Whirlpool anc
KitchenAidbrand names. We manage sales and distributionghrour local entities in Brazil, Argentina, ChilReru, Ecuador, Colombia &
Guatemala. We also serve the countries of BoliRaraguay, Uruguay, Venezuela, the Caribbean antrale&merica countries, where
manage appliances sales and distribution througlaacaredited distributors.

In EMEA, we market and distribute our major homelemces primarily under th@/hirlpool , Bauknecht, Ignis , Maytag, Laden,
Indesit, Hotpoint (Whirlpool ownership of thélotpointbrand in EMEA and Asia Pacific regions is not &ifiéd with theHotpointbrand sol
in the Americas)Hotpoint-Aristonand Privileg brand names, and major and portable appliances tinelKitchenAidbrand name. In additic
to our operations in Western and Eastern Europekejuand Russia, we have sales subsidiaries in 8¢orand Dubai. We market ¢
distribute a full line of products under thhirlpool , KIC andlgnis brand names in South Africa. Our European operstadso market ai
distribute products under th&hirlpool , BauknechtandIgnis brand names to distributors and dealers in Africd the Middle East. With tl
acquisition of Indesit Company S.p.A. ("Indesitt)e expect efficiencies in R&D, capital spending aatlie chain costs, as well as operati
scale with increased volume and the ability to neffectively integrate our product platforms acradarger European market position.




In Asia, we have organized the marketing and distidbn of our major home appliances into five ogiagagroups: (1) mainland Chir
(2) Hong Kong and Taiwan; (3) India, which includgangladesh, Sri Lanka, Nepal and Pakistan; (4p8iee which includes Australia, Ni
Zealand and Pacific Islands; and (5) Southeast, Adiéch includes Thailand, Singapore, Malaysiaomekia, Vietnam, the Philippines, Kol
Myanmar and Japan. We market and distribute owtymts in Asia primarily under th&/hirlpool, Maytag, KitchenAid, Amana, Bauknecht
Jenr-Air , and Diqua brand names through a combination of direct sadeappliance retailers and chain stores and thrdulitservice
distributors to a large network of retail storestithe acquisition of Hefei Rongshida Sanyo EledBo., Ltd., or Hefei Sanyo, which we hi
since renamed Whirlpool China Co., Ltd., our ogerat in China now have expanded distribution tora3@,000 distribution points a
significant capacity in a complementary low costhofacturing base.

Competition

Competition in the major home appliance industrintsnse, including competitors such as Arceliks&o Siemens, Electrolux, Gene
Electric, Panasonic, Haier, Kenmore, LG, Mabe aacth&ing, many of which are increasingly expandinghbe their existing manufacturi
footprint. Moreover, our customer base includegdasophisticated trade customers who have mangashand demand competitive prodt
services and prices. Competition in our businedsaiged upon a wide variety of factors, includintjreg price, product features and des
performance, innovation, energy efficiency, qualitgst, distribution and financial incentives. Tadmancial incentives include coopera
advertising, canarketing funds, salesperson incentives, volumeatesband terms. We believe that we can best competee currer
environment by focusing on introducing new and wative products, building strong brands, enhang¢iage customer and consumer vi
with our product offerings, continuing to expandr aegional footprint, expanding trade distributichannels, increasing productiv
improving quality, lowering costs, and taking otlkéficiency-enhancing measures.

Raw Materials and Purchased Components

We are generally not dependent upon any one séorcaw materials or purchased components essdat@lr business. In areas wk
a single supplier is used, alternative sourcegjanerally available and can be developed withinniwenal manufacturing environment. Sc
unanticipated costs may be incurred in transitignio a new supplier if a prior single supplier tiglaship were abruptly interrupted
terminated. Supply constraints due to environmentghcts such as hurricanes and floods have ratjthie qualification and use of alterr
materials, some of which were at premium costs béleeve such raw materials and components willalable in adequate quantities to n
forecasted production schedules.

Trademarks, Licenses and Patents

We consider the trademarks, licenses and patentsumgin the aggregate, to be a valuable assetrlp@bi is the owner of a number
trademarks in the United States and foreign coemtThe most important trademarks to North Ameai@Whirlpool , Maytag, Jenn-Air,
KitchenAid, AmanaandAcros. The most important trademarks to Latin America@onsul, Brastemp, WhirlpoaindKitchenAid. The mos
important trademarks to EMEA a¥&hirlpool, KitchenAid, Bauknecht, Indesit, Hotpo{iwWhirlpool ownership of thélotpointbrand in EME/
and Asia Pacific regions is not affiliated with th®tpoint brand sold in the Americas)Hotpoint-Aristonand Ignis . The most importa
trademarks to Asia aM/hirlpool, Royalstar and DiquaWe receive royalties from licensing our tradensaid third parties to sell and sen
certain products bearing thehirlpool, Maytag, KitchenAidand Amanabrand names. We continually apply for and obtairitééhStates ar
foreign patents. The primary purpose in obtainiatepts is to protect our designs and technologies.

Research and Development

Expenditures for research and development relatingew and innovative products and the improvenoéngxisting products we
approximately $563 million , $582 million and $58flion in 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

Protection of the Environment

Our manufacturing facilities are subject to numertaws and regulations designed to protect or esghtlre environment, many of wh
require federal, state, or other governmental Besnand permits with regard to wastewater discBamge emissions, and hazardous w
management. Our policy is to comply with all suatv$ and regulations. Where laws and regulationdeamerestrictive, we have establis
and are following our own standards, consisterth witr commitment to environmental responsibility.




We believe that we are in compliance, in all maferespects, with presently applicable governmem@visions relating 1
environmental protection in the countries in whisle have manufacturing operations. Compliance witbsé environmental laws ¢
regulations has not had a material effect on cheikpenditures, earnings, or our competitive positiluring 2014and are not expected to
material in 2015 .

The entire major home appliance industry, includidgirlpool, must contend with the adoption of dicgovernmental energy &
environmental standards. These standards were giragever the past several years and include thmemgé phase-out of ozorepleting
chemicals used in refrigeration, energy standawtisnrakings for selected major appliances, reguatestrictions on the materials cont
specified for use in our products by some jurisdict and mandated recycling of our products attiek of their useful lives. Compliance w
these various standards, as they become effegtillagquire some product redesign. However, weadwel, based on our understanding of
current state of proposed regulations, that welvélhble to develop, manufacture, and market ptedhat comply with these regulations.

State and federal environmental protection ager@ee notified us of our possible involvement intember of “Superfundsites in th
United States. However, based upon our evaluatfothe facts and circumstances relating to theses silong with the evaluation of «
technical consultants, we do not presently antteigany material adverse effect upon our earnirigan€ial condition, or competitive positi
arising out of the resolution of these mattersher resolution of any other known governmental pedagg regarding environmental protec
matters.

Other Information

For information about the challenges and risks @ased with our foreign operations, see “Risks Refato Our Businesstunde
ltem 1A.

For certain other financial information concerniogr business segments and foreign and domestiatipes, see Note 1#b the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

For information on our global restructuring pla@msd the impact of these plans on our operating eatgn see Note 1fo the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Hefei Sanyo Acquisition

On August 12, 2013 , Whirlpool's wholly-owned sulisiy, Whirlpool (China) Investment Co., Ltd., (“Wlpool China”), reache
agreements to acquire a 51% equity stake in arigaabme appliances manufacturer, Hefei Sanggoint stock company whose shares
listed and traded on the Shanghai Stock Exchanlgis. ffansaction was completed on October 24, 20éfei Sanyochas been renamed
"Whirlpool China Co., Ltd." With this acquisitionyhirlpool adds an established and broad distriloutietwork within the Chinese applial
market and reinforces our commitment to growthhis tegion. Whirlpool will gain manufacturing scaled a competitive cost structure in
city of Hefei and we believe we will realize stromsgnergies through our extensive technical, mangetand product development
combination with Hefei Sanyo 's sales execution aperational strengths.

The aggregate purchase price was RMB 3.4 billigpi@ximately $551 milliorat the dates of purchase). The Company fundedthi
consideration for the shares with cash on hand.cEsé paid for the private placement portion oftthesaction is considered restricted c
which will be used to fund capital and technicaaarces to enhance Hefei Sanyo’s research andageweht and working capitakurthe
discussion of this transaction can be found in Neodé the Notes to the Consolidated Financial $tatas.

Indesit Acquisition

On December 3, 2014 , Whirlpool purchased all remagishares of Indesjaside from a minority interest that was purchadsdtie thirc
quarter of 2014) and Indeslelisted from the Electronic Stock Market organizaed managed by Borsa Italiana S.p.A. Total comatd® paic
for Indesit was $1.4 billiomn aggregate net of cash acquired. The Companyefiitide aggregate purchase price for the sharesitating ¢
majority interest that we purchased in October 28iréugh borrowings under our credit facility, arepaid a portion of such borrowir
through the issuance of an aggregate principal amafu$650 million in senior notes on November @12. We funded the aggregate purcl
price for the tender offer and remaining sharesugh borrowings under our credit facility and thgbiborrowings under our commercial pe
programs, and intend to repay such borrowingserfikure through public debt financing.

This transaction builds Whirlpod’ market position within Europe, and we believel vdhable sustainable growth given
complementary market positions, product offeringd distribution channels of Whirlpool and Indekitoughout Europe. Further discussio
this transaction can be found in Note 2 of the Natethe Consolidated Financial Statements.




Executive Officers of the Registrant
The following table sets forth the names and adgesipexecutive officers on February 16, 2015, positions and offices they held

that date, and the year they first became execuffieers:

First Became
an Executive

Name Office Officer Age
Jeff M. Fettig Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executfécer 1994 57
Michael A. Todman Director and Vice Chairman 2001 57
Marc R. Bitzer Vice Chairman 2006 50
Esther Berrozpe Galindo Executive Vice President and President, WhirlpddiEHA 2013 45
Joéo C. Brega Executive Vice President and President, Whirlpcatit. America 2012 51
Joseph T. Liotine Executive Vice President and President, WhirlpooitN America 2014 42
David T. Szczupak Executive Vice President, Global Product Organdzati 2008 59
Larry M. Venturelli Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office 2012 54

The executive officers named above were electedunyBoard of Directors to serve in the office irated until the first meeting of t
Board of Directors following the annual meetingsbbckholders in 201&and until a successor is chosen and qualified it tne executiv
officer's earlier resignation or removal. Each of executive officers has held the position sethfan the table above or has served Whirl,
in various executive or administrative capacitiasdt least the past five years.

Available Information

Financial results and investor information (inchgliwhirlpool’'s Form 10-K, 10-Q, and 8-K reports)eaaccessible at Whirlpoal’
website:_investors.whirlpoolcorp.com/sec.cfr@opies of our Form 10-K, 10-Q, andK8reports and amendments, if any, are available &
charge through our website on the same day theffledewith, or furnished to, the Securities anccBEange Commission.




ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

This report contains statements referring to Whbinlghat are not historical facts and are consiiéferward-looking statementshithin
the meaning of the Private Securities LitigatiorfdR@m Act of 1995. These statements, which are ui¢eito take advantage of the “safe harbo
provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Befi Act of 1995, are based on current projectiolpsu operations, industry conditio
financial condition and liquidity. Words that iddgtforward-looking statements include words such “enay,” “could,” “will,” “should,”
“possible,” “plan,” “predict,” “forecast,” “potendll,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “project,”intend,” “believe,” “may impact,” “on track,”
and words and terms of similar substance usednneaxtion with any discussion of future operatindioancial performance, a merger, or
businesses. In addition, any statements that teferxpectations, projections, or other charactédma of future events or circumstant
including any underlying assumptions, are forwknaking statements. Those statements are not ge@srand are subject to ris
uncertainties, and assumptions that are difficulptedict. Therefore, actual results could diffeatenially and adversely from these forward
looking statements. These risks and uncertaintigsde, but are not limited to, the following:

Risks Relating to Our Business

We face intense competition in the major home apmhce industry and failure to successfully compete ay negatively affect ou
business and financial performance.Each of our operating segments operates in ayhigithpetitive business environment and faces ie
competition from a growing number of competitorsgny of which have strong consumer brand equitye&dwof these competitors, suct
Bosch Siemens, Electrolux, General Electric, Hdi&, Panasonic and Samsung are large, eatblished companies, many ranking an
the Global Fortune 150, and have demonstrated andmnent to success in the global market. Moreower, customer base includes la
sophisticated trade customers who have many cha@odsdemand competitive products, services andceqri€ompetition in the glot
appliance market is based on a number of factarsiding selling price, product features and desjggrformance, innovation, reputati
energy efficiency, quality, cost, distribution, afidancial incentives, such as cooperative adviagiscoimarketing funds, sales per:
incentives, volume rebates and terms. Many of ounpetitors are increasingly expanding beyond tagisting manufacturing footprints. C
competitors, especially global competitors with {owst sources of supply and/or highly protected homaekets outside, have aggressi
priced their products and/or introduced new prosltitincrease market share and expand into newggloigs. If we are unable to success
compete in this highly competitive environment, business and financial performance could be neggtaffected.

We face risks associated with our acquisitions andther investments and risks associated with our imeased presence in emergir
markets. From time to time, we make strategic acquisitiang participate in joint ventures. We acquired sitdend a majority interest
Hefei Sanyan the fourth quarter of 2014. These transactiansl, other transactions that we have entered intchach we may enter into in t
future, can involve significant challenges and sjsikcluding that the transaction does not advanoebusiness strategy or fails to produ
satisfactory return on our investment. We may entenudifficulties in integrating acquisitions withur operations, applying our internal con
processes to these acquisitions, and in managmtegic investments. Integrating acquisitions itemfcostly and may require signific
attention from management. Furthermore, we mayrealize the degree, or timing, of benefits we apdite when we first enter intc
transaction. While our evaluation of any potergiedjuisition includes business, legal and finarabied diligence with the goal of identifying ¢
evaluating the material risks involved, our duéggihce reviews may not identify all of the issuesessary to accurately estimate the cos
potential loss contingencies of a particular tratisa, including potential exposure to regulatoapations resulting from an acquisition target’
previous activities.

Our growth plans include efforts to increase reeflam emerging markets, including through acqiaisg. Local business practice:
these countries may not comply with U.S. laws, lld@as or other laws applicable to us. If our corapte policies, including the requirem
to comply with all laws, are not followed, such roampliant practices may result in increased liabilisks. For example, we may in
unanticipated costs, expenses or other liabiliiesa result of an acquisition targetiolation of applicable laws, such as the U.Seelgy
Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) or similar worldwidetigbribery laws in norld.S. jurisdictions. We may incur unanticipated sost expense
including postelosing asset impairment charges, expenses assaiath eliminating duplicate facilities, litigatip and other liabilities. |
addition, our recent and future acquisitions mayease our exposure to other risks associatedopithating internationally, including forei
currency exchange rate fluctuations; political,adlegnd economic instability; inflation; changestax rates and tax laws; and work stopp.
and labor relations. See Note 2 to the Consolid&iedncial Statements for additional informatiogaeding the Hefei Sanyo arlddesi
acquisitions.




The loss of, or substantial decline in, sales to wrof our key trade customers, which include Lowe'sSears, Home Depot, hhgreg
Best Buy, GPA -Grupo Pao De Acucar, IKEA, Alno, Suning, major buyng groups and builders, could adversely affect oufinancial
performance. We sell to a sophisticated customer base of ltmage customers that have significant leverageugers over their supplie
Most of our products are not sold through Idagn contracts, which facilitates the trade custaTability to change volume among suppli
As the trade customers continue to become largey, may seek to use their position to improve theifitability by various means, includi
improved efficiency, lower pricing, and increasemmotional programs. If we are unable to meet tld@mand requirements, our volu
growth and financial results could be negativelgeted. The loss of, or substantial decline in wwduof, sales to Lowe's, Sears, Home Dt
hhgregg, Best Buy, GPAGrupo Pao De Acucar, IKEA, Alno, Suning, major lgyigroups or builders, or any other trade custoricerghict
we sell a significant amount of products, couldexdely affect our financial performance. Additidpathe loss of market share or finan
difficulties, including bankruptcy and financialsteucturing, by these trade customers could haweaterial adverse effect on our liquid
financial position and results of operations.

Risks associated with our international operationsmay decrease our revenues and increase our costbor the year ende
December 31, 2014 , we derived approximately 4aP6ur net sales from outside of North Americaluiing 23% in Latin America20%
in EMEA and 4%in Asia. We expect that international sales wihtinue to account for a significant percentagewf net sales in tl
foreseeable future. Accordingly, we face numerasissrassociated with conducting international of@na, any of which could negativt
affect our financial performance. These risks idelthe following:

< political, legal, and economic instability andcentainty;
« foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;

e changes in foreign country tax rules, regulationd ather requirements, such as changes in tax smésstatutory and judic
interpretations of tax laws;

* inflation;

< changes in foreign country regulatory requireragnt

« various import/export restrictions and the auaillgy of required import/export licenses;
< imposition of foreign tariffs and other trade ihars;

* managing widespread operations and enforcingriatgolicies and procedures such as compliande Wi®. and foreign antiribery
and anti-corruption regulations, such as the Far€igrrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), and antitrust Egw

« work stoppages and labor relations;

« disruptions in the shipping of imported and expdmproducts;

e government price controls;

* extended payment terms and the inability to coldecounts receivable; and
» limitations on the repatriation of earnings aagit

As a U.S. corporation, we are subject to the FORKich may place us at a competitive disadvantager&ign companies that are
subject to similar regulations. Additionally, angtdrmination that we have violated the FCPA coualdeha material adverse effect on us.

Terrorist attacks, armed conflicts, labor disputestural disasters, governmental actions and epodeoould affect our domestic €
international sales, disrupt our supply chain, angair our ability to produce and deliver our prothu Such events could directly impact
physical facilities or those of our suppliers ostmmers, both in the United States and elsewhere.

Fluctuations and volatility in the cost of raw mateials and purchased components could adversely affeour operating results
The primary materials used to produce and manufaciur products are steel, plastic resins, and batals, such as aluminum, copper, .
and nickel. On a global and regional basis, thecasuand prices of those materials and componentaiaing those materials are susceptib
significant price fluctuations due to supply/dematneinds, transportation costs, government regulatiand tariffs, changes in curre
exchange rates, price controls, the economic cliretd other unforeseen circumstances. Significemnéases in these and other costs il
future could have a material adverse effect onoparating results.




Foreign currency fluctuations may affect our finandal performance. We generate a significant portion of our revenne ecur :
significant portion of our expenses in currenciéiseo than the U.S. dollar. Changes in the exchaates of functional currencies of th
operations affect the U.S. dollar value of our rexe and earnings from our foreign operations. W& aigrency forwards and options
manage our foreign currency transaction exposWiescannot completely eliminate our exposure toifpreurrency fluctuations, which m
adversely affect our financial performance. In &ddi because our consolidated financial resulésraported in U.S. dollars, if we gene
sales or earnings in other currencies, the traoslaftf those results into U.S. dollars can resul significant increase or decrease in the an
of those sales or earnings. Finally, the amounkegél contingencies related to foreign operatiorsy fluctuate significantly based ug
changes in the exchange rates and usually cannaotdmaged with currency forwards, options or othearmjements. Such fluctuations
exchange rates can significantly increase or deertge amount of any legal contingency relatedutof@areign operations and make it diffic
to assess and manage the potential exposure.

Unfavorable results of legal and tax proceedings otd materially adversely affect our business and fiancial condition anc
performance. We are subject to a variety of litigation and legampliance risks, including litigation concernipgpducts, intellectual prope
rights, income and noimcome taxes, environmental matters, corporateersgttommercial matters and compliance with cortipatlaws an
distribution, marketing and trade practices. Foamgle, we are currently disputing certain incomd annincome tax related assessm
issued by the Brazilian authorities relating to BEX, CFC Tax and to IPI tax credits (see Note 7 Biode 120f the Notes to the Consolida
Financial Statements for additional information these matters). Unfavorable outcomes regardingethssessments could have a ma
adverse affect on our financial position, liquiditr results of operations in any particular rejpgriperiod. Results of legal proceedings ca
be predicted with certainty and for some mattergsarance is likely available. Regardless of métigation may be both timeensuming an
disruptive to our operations and could divert thiergion of our management and key personnel frambasiness operations. We estimate
contingencies and establish accruals as requiregebgrally accepted accounting principles, basedwrassessment of contingencies w
liability is deemed probable and reasonably estlmaim light of the facts and circumstances knownus at a particular point in tin
Subsequent developments in legal proceedings,iltylan foreign currency exchange rates and otfamtors may affect our assessment
estimates of the loss contingency recorded anddcadult in an adverse effect on our results ofrafens in the period in which a liabil
would be recognized or cash flows for the period/irich amounts would be paid. Actual results mayidicantly vary from our reserves.

We are subject to, and could be further subject togovernmental investigations or actions by other tind parties. We are subject
various federal, foreign and state laws, includamgitrust laws, violations of which can involve itier criminal sanctions. For example,
have been subject to governmental investigatiolager to pricing practices of our global compredsasiness (see Noteof the Notes to tt
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionidrimation on these matters). Responding to goventamh@vestigations or other actions r
be both timeconsuming and disruptive to our operations andctdidert the attention of our management and keggmnel from our busine
operations. The impact of these and other invetsbigs and lawsuits could have a material advereiedn our financial position, liquidity a
results of operations.

Changes in the legal and regulatory environment cdd limit our business activities, increase our opeting costs, reduce demar
for our products or result in litigation. The conduct of our businesses, and the produdlistrjbution, sale, advertising, safety, transator
and use of many of our products, are subject tmwaraws and regulations administered by fedetate and local governmental agencie
the United States, as well as to foreign laws @guilations administered by government entities agehcies in markets in which we opel
These laws and regulations may change, sometina@sadically, as a result of political, economic ocigl events. Changes in laws, regulat
or governmental policy and the related interpretetimay alter the environment in which we do bussrend, therefore, may impact our re:
or increase our costs or liabilities. In additiarg incur and will continue to incur capital and etiexpenditures to comply with various laws
regulations, especially relating to protection loé tenvironment, human health and safety and ereffipiency. These types of costs cc
adversely affect our financial performance. Addititly, we could be subjected to future liabilitigsies or penalties or the suspensio
product production for failing to comply with vats laws and regulations, including environmentgutations. Cleanup obligations that mi
arise at any of our manufacturing sites or the isitmn of more stringent environmental laws in theire could adversely affect us.

Failure to maintain our reputation and brand image could negatively impact our businessOur brands have worldwide recogniti
and our success depends on our ability to maimtathenhance our brand image and reputation. Maintgipromoting and growing our brai
depends on our design and marketing efforts, imctuédvertising and consumer campaigns, as wefraduct innovation. We could
adversely impacted if we fail to achieve any ofsth@bjectives or if, whether or not justified, tiegutation or image of any of our brand
tarnished or receives negative publicity. In additiadverse publicity about regulatory or legalacigainst us could damage our reput:
and brand image, undermine our customers' confelémais and reduce lortgrm demand for our products, even if the reguatarlega
action is unfounded or not material to our operatio




In addition, our success in maintaining, extending expanding our brand image depends on ouryatiliadapt to a rapidly changi
media environment, including our increasing rel@amn social media and online dissemination of atieg campaigns. Negative posts
comments about us on social networking and othéisites that spread rapidly through such forumsdeatiously damage our reputation
brand image. If we do not maintain, extend and egpaur brand image, then our product sales, firdreindition and results of operati
could be materially and adversely affected.

An inability to effectively execute and manage oubusiness objectives could adversely affect our finaial performance. The
highly competitive nature of our industry requithat we effectively execute and manage our busimessding our global operating platfo
initiative. Our global operating platform initiagvaims to reduce costs, expand margins, drive ptadly and quality improvements, accelel
our rate of innovation, and enable us to receivea@eptable return on our investments. Our ingbitit effectively control costs and dr
productivity improvements could affect our profils.addition, our inability to provide highuality, innovative products could adversely ai
our ability to maintain or increase our sales, Whiould negatively affect our revenues and ovdnadincial performance. Additionally, c
success is dependent on anticipating and apprelfyrisgacting to changes in customer preferencesoarsliccessful new product and pro
development and product relaunches in responsedo shanges. Our future results and our abilitynmintain or improve our competiti
position will depend on our capacity to gauge theation of our key markets and upon our abilitysteccessfully and timely identify, devel
manufacture, market, and sell new or improved petglin these changing markets.

We may be subject to information technology systerfailures, network disruptions, cybersecurity attacks and breaches in dat
security, which may materially adversely affect ouroperations, financial condition and operating reslis. We depend on informatis
technology as an enabler to improve the effectiserad our operations and to interface with our @ustrs, as well as to maintain finan
accuracy and efficiency. Information technologytsys failures, including suppliers' or vendors' eysfailures, could disrupt our operation:
causing transaction errors, processing inefficiesicdelays or cancellation of customer orders,ldss of customers, impediments to
manufacture or shipment of products, other busidesaptions, or the loss of or damage to intellatproperty through security breach.

In addition, we have outsourced certain informatiechnology support services and administrativetions, such as payroll process
and benefit plan administration, to thipadsty service providers and may outsource othections in the future to achieve cost savings
efficiencies. If the service providers to which watsource these functions do not perform effegfivele may not be able to achieve
expected cost savings and may have to incur additioosts to correct errors made by such serviogigers. Depending on the funct
involved, such errors may also lead to businessigii®n, processing inefficiencies or the loss pfdamage to intellectual property throi
security breach, or harm employee morale.

Our information systems, or those of our thirakty service providers, could also be penetrateduiside parties intent on extract
information, corrupting information or disruptingidiness processes. Such unauthorized access ésuldtaur business and could result in
loss of assets. Cybersecurity attacks are becomimg sophisticated and include, but are not limtedmalicious software, attempts to ¢
unauthorized access to data, and other electraurisy breaches that could lead to disruptionsritical systems, unauthorized releas
confidential or otherwise protected informationdasorruption of data. These events could impactaustomers and reputation and lea
financial losses from remediation actions, losdo$iness or potential liability or an increase xpense, all of which may have a mate
adverse effect on our business.

Product liability or product recall costs could adwersely affect our business and financial performare. We are subject to the risk
exposure to product liability and product recabicis if any of our products are alleged to haveilted in injury to persons or damage
property. In the event that any of our products/prtm be defective, we may need to recall andfdesign such products. In addition, any cl
or product recall that results in significant acdeepublicity, particularly if those claims or rdsatause customers to question the safe
reliability of our products, may negatively affemtir business, financial condition, or results oérgions. We do maintain product liabi
insurance, but this insurance may not be adeqoatever losses related to product liability claibmeught against us. We may also be invo
in certain class action and other litigation, fdni@h no insurance is available. Product liabilingurance could become more expensive
difficult to maintain and may not be available amunercially reasonable terms, if at all. In addifizve do not maintain any product re
insurance. Therefore any product recall we areireduo initiate could have a significant impactaur operating results and/or cash flows.

We regularly engage in investigations of potergizdlity and safety issues as part of our ongoifigrieio deliver quality products to ¢
customers. We are currently investigating a limitedhber of potential quality and safety issues, asmdecessary, we undertake to effect r
or replacement of appliances. Actual costs of thesges and any future issues depend upon sewetald, including the number of consun
who respond to a particular recall, repair and aistriative costs, whether the cost of any correctigtion is borne initially by Whirlpool or t
supplier, and, if initially borne by Whirlpool, wtteer we will be successful in recovering our cdsie the supplier. The actual costs incu
as a result of these issues and any future issusdd bave a material adverse effect on our busjriessicial condition or results of operations.
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We face inventory and other asset risk.We writedown product and component inventories that haeere obsolete or do not m
anticipated demand or net realizable value. We ads@w our longived and intangible assets for impairment wheneaxgnts or chang
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of @eta®ay not be recoverable. If we determine thagtinment has occurred, we record a write
down to adjust carrying value to fair value. Noumasice can be given that, given the unpredictahée pf product obsolescence and bus
conditions with trade customers and in generalwitenot incur additional inventory or asset reldteharges. Such charges could matel
adversely affect our financial condition and opiegtesults.

Changes in economic conditions could adversely affiedemand for our products. A number of economic factors, including, but
limited to, gross domestic product, availability @dnsumer credit, interest rates, consumer sentimet debt levels, retail trends, hou
starts, sales of existing homes, the level of nagégrefinancing and defaults, fiscal and credit keauncertainty, and foreign currel
exchange rates, generally affect demand for ouduyms. Higher unemployment rates, higher fuel atiteroenergy costs, higher def
spending and debt levels, and higher tax ratesraelyeaffect demand. A decline in economic actidtyd conditions in the United States, L
America, Europe and the other areas in which weatpédnave had an adverse effect on our financiadition and results of operations in rec
years, and future declines and adverse conditionklhave a similar adverse effe

The ability of suppliers to deliver parts, componets and manufacturing equipment to our manufacturing facilities, and our
ability to manufacture without disruption, could affect our global business performance.We use a wide range of materials
components in the global production of our prodaatd use numerous suppliers to provide materialscamponents. Because we generall
not have guaranteed supply arrangements with qaplisus and some key parts may be available ooy fa single supplier or a limited grc
of suppliers, we are subject to supply and pricisk. In addition, certain proprietary componenttpaised in some of our products are prov
by single-source unaffiliated thingiarty suppliers. We would be unable to obtain thmsgrietary component parts for an indeterminatéog
of time if these singlsource suppliers were to cease or interrupt proatuctr otherwise fail to supply these componentsigpwhich coul
adversely affect our product sales and operatisglt® Our operations and operations at supplfaciities are subject to disruption fo
variety of reasons, including, but not limited teork stoppages, labor relations, intellectual propelaims against suppliers, informat
technology failures, and hazards such as firehgagkes, flooding, or other natural disasters,ranste for any of which may not be availa
affordable or adequate. Such disruption could mf#rour ability to manufacture certain productay/significant disruption could negativ:
impact our revenue and earnings performance.

We are exposed to risks associated with the uncemaglobal economy. Uncertain economic conditions within our regioms! alow
recovery in Europe and Asia, along with nationabtdend fiscal concerns in various regions and guwent austerity measures, are pa
challenges to the industry in which Whirlpool ogesa The demand for our products depends largetyoosumer spending and the availak
of financing. Economic uncertainty and related dastexacerbate negative trends in business anducmsspending and may cause ce
customers to push out, cancel, or refrain fromiptporders for our products. Uncertain market ctbads, difficulties in obtaining capital,
reduced profitability may also cause some custorteescale back operations, exit markets, merge wfitler retailers, or file for bankrupt
protection and potentially cease operations, witigh also result in lower sales and/or additionaéitiory. These conditions may simile
affect key suppliers, which could impair their &hilto deliver parts and result in delays for owogucts or added costs. In addition, tt
conditions may lead to strategic alliances by, amsolidation of, other appliance manufacturers,ciwigould adversely affect our ability
compete effectively.

Uncertainty about future economic and industry émas also makes it more challenging for us teéast our operating results, m
business decisions, and identify and prioritizerthles that may affect our businesses, sourcesisesl of cash, financial condition and resul
operations. We may be required to implement adtilicost reduction efforts, including restructuramgivities, which may adversely affect
ability to capitalize on opportunities in a marketovery. In addition, our operations are subjeajeneral credit, liquidity, foreigaxchange
market and interest rate risks. Our ability to istvi@ our businesses, fund strategic acquisitionkrafinance maturing debt obligations depr
in part on access to the capital markets.

If we do not timely and appropriately adapt to apsiresulting from the uncertain macroeconomicrenment and industry conditiol
or to difficulties in the financial markets, orwfe are unable to continue to access the capitaketsgrour business, financial condition
results of operations may be materially and adWeeféected.
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Our ability to attract, develop and retain executives and other qualified employees is crucial to ouresults of operations an
future growth. We depend upon the continued services and perfarenaf our key executives, senior management ailliédskpersonne
particularly our professionals with experience ur business and operations and the home appliadeestry. We cannot be sure that an
these individuals will continue to be employed ts; A lengthy period of time is required to hire aselelop replacement personnel w
skilled personnel depart Whirlpool. An inability lhire, develop, engage and retain a sufficient remalh qualified employees could materi
hinder our business by, for example, delaying duilita to bring new products to market or impairitige success of our operations.

A deterioration in labor relations could adverselyimpact our global business.As of December 31, 2014we had approximate
100,000employees. We are subject to separate collectivgabdng agreements with certain labor unions, Wwigenerally have two to thr
year terms. We are periodically in negotiationshwiertain of the unions representing our employees may be subject to employee w
stoppages that, if such events were to occur, na&g la material adverse effect on our businessndinhcondition, or results of operatio
Further, we cannot be assured that we will be &blenew collective bargaining agreements on theesar similar terms, or at all, which
also have a material adverse effect on our busifieasicial condition, or results of operations.

Our intellectual property rights are valuable, and any inability to protect them could reduce the vale of our products, service
and brands. We consider our intellectual property rights, imthg patents, trademarks, trade secrets and ligpreggreements, to be
significant and valuable aspect of our businessatiampt to protect our intellectual property rigtiirough a combination of patent, traden
copyright and trade secret laws, as well as licgnagreements and third party nondisclosure anidrament agreements. Our failure to ob
or adequately protect our trademarks, products,features of our products, or our processes majndimour competitiveness.

We have applied for patent protection in the Unif#dtes and other jurisdictions with respect tdaderinnovations and new produ
product features, and processes. We cannot beedsthat the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office orathgr jurisdiction will approve any
our patent applications. Additionally, the patewis own could be challenged, invalidated, or otleengld design around our patents anc
patents may not be of sufficient scope or stremgthrovide us with any meaningful protection or eoencial advantage. Further, the law
certain foreign countries in which we do businesscontemplate doing business in the future, dorecbgnize intellectual property rights
protect them to the same extent as United StatesAa a result, these factors could weaken our atditive advantage with respect to
products, services, and brands in foreign jurigoiis, which could adversely affect our financiatfpemance.

Moreover, while we do not believe that any of otoducts infringe on enforceable intellectual prapeights of third parties, others ir
assert intellectual property rights that cover saheur technology, brands, products, or servidesy litigation regarding patents or otl
intellectual property could be costly and tim@isuming and could divert the attention of our aggment and key personnel from our busi
operations. Claims of intellectual property inframgent might also require us to enter into costigrise agreements. We also may be subj
significant damages or injunctions against develapnand sale of certain products.

Significant differences between actual results ancstimates of the amount of future funding for our gnsion plans an
postretirement health care benefit programs, and ginificant changes in funding assumptions or signifant increases in fundin
obligations due to regulatory changes, could adveety affect our financial results. We have both funded and unfunded defined be
pension plans that cover certain employees in Nantlerica, Europe, Asia and Brazil. We also havaindéd postretirement health care be
plans for eligible retired employees. The Employstirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) ahd Internal Revenue Code,
amended, govern the funding obligations for our.pé&hsion plans, which are our principal pensi@ngl Our U.S. defined benefit plans v
frozen as of December 31, 2006 for substantiallyaiticipants. For 2007 and beyond, Whirlpool eoyekes may participate in an enhar
defined contribution plan.

As of December 31, 2014our projected benefit obligations under our pemgplans and postretirement health and welfare fit
programs exceeded the fair value of plan assetanbgggregate of approximately $ 1.6 billion , ($ hillion of which was attributable
pension plans and $ 0.5 billionf which was attributable to postretirement heattihe benefits). Estimates for the amount and tinuhthe
future funding obligations of these pension pland postretirement health and welfare benefit plmesbased on various assumptions. T
assumptions include discount rates, expected terg-rate of return on plan assets, life expectnaind health care cost trend rates. 1
assumptions are subject to change based on changperest rates on high quality bonds, stock laadd market returns, and health care
trend rates, all of which are largely outside oonteol. Significant differences in results or siggant changes in assumptions may matel
affect our postretirement obligations and relatgdre contributions and expenses.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive offices are located in BenHarbor, Michigan. On December 31, 2QJaur principal manufacturing operatis

were carried on at 42 locations in 14 countries ldwade. We occupied a total of approximately 83 limil square feet devoted
manufacturing, service, sales and administratifieesxf, warehouse and distribution space. Over 3lfomisquare feet of such space is occu
under lease. Whirlpool properties include facittighich are suitable and adequate for the manufaetud distribution of Whirlpood' products
The company’s major production sites by operategnsent are as follows:

North America:

United States:

Mexico:

Latin America:

Amana and Newton, lowa; Tulsa, Oklahoma;
Greenville, Clyde, Findlay, Marion and Ottawa, Qhio
Cleveland, Tennessee

Celaya; Monterrey; Ramos Arizpe

Brazil: Itaiopolis; Joinville; Manaus; Rio Claro
China: Beijing
Colombia: Medellin (Joint Venture)
Italy: Riva di Chieri
Slovakia: Spisska Nova Ves
Mexico: Monterrey
Europe, Middle East and Africa:
France: Amiens
Italy: Cassinetta; Comunanza; Fabriano; Naples; Sienardkv
Poland: Lodz; Radomsko; Wroclaw
Russia: Lipetsk
Slovakia: Poprad
South Africa: Isithebe
Turkey: Manisa
United Kingdom: Yates
Asia:
China: ChangxXing (Joint Venture); Hefei; Shunde
India: Faridabad; Pondicherry; Pune
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Information regarding legal proceedings can be foimNote 7to the Consolidated Financial Statements and isrpurated herein t
reference.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Whirlpool's common stock is traded on the New Y&tock Exchange and the Chicago Stock Exchangef Agloruary 20, 2015 the
number of holders of record of Whirlpool commoncétavas approximately 11,160 .

Quarterly market and dividend information can beni in Note 15 (unaudited) to the Consolidated i Statements.

On April 14, 2014 , our Board of Directors authedza new share repurchase program of up to $50@milShare repurchases are nr
from time to time on the open market as conditimasrant. The program does not obligate us to ré@ase any of our shares. We repurch
165,900 shares at an aggregate purchase pricepoixamately $25 million through December 31, 2014t December 31, 2014there wer

approximately $475 million in remaining funds auiked under this program.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

FIVE-YEAR SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(Millions of dollars, except share and employee daj) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
CONSOLIDATED OPERATIONS
Net sales 19,87: 18,76¢ 18,14:  $ 18,66¢ 18,36¢
Restructuring costs 13€ 19€ 237 13€ 74
Depreciation and amortization
56( 54C 551 55¢& 55E&
Operating profit 1,18¢ 1,24¢ 86¢ 792 1,00¢
Earnings (loss) before income taxes and other items 881 917 55¢ (29) 58¢€
Net earnings 692 84¢ 42¢ 40¢ 65C
Net earnings available to Whirlpool 65C 827 401 39C 61¢
Capital expenditures 72C 57¢ 47€ 60€ 592
Dividends paid 224 187 15¢ 14¢ 132
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION
Current assets 8,09¢ 7,022 6,821 $ 6,42 7,31t
Current liabilities 8,40: 6,79¢ 6,51( 6,291 6,14¢
Accounts receivable, inventories and accounts dayabt 77¢ 54¢ 694 947 1,41¢
Property, net 3,981 3,041 3,03¢ 3,10z 3,13¢
Total assets 20,00: 15,54¢ 15,39¢ 15,18: 15,58¢
Long-term debt 3,54¢ 1,84¢ 1,94 2,12¢ 2,19t
Total debt? 4,347 2,46% 2,461 2,491 2,50¢
Whirlpool stockholders’ equity 4,88¢ 4,92¢ 4,26( 4,181 4,22¢
PER SHARE DATA
Basic net earnings available to Whirlpool 8.3( 10.4: 51,  $ 5.07 8.12
Diluted net earnings available to Whirlpool 8.17 10.2¢ 5.0¢€ 4.9¢ 7.91
Dividends 2.8¢ 2.3¢ 2.0 1.9¢ 1.7:
Book value®
61.3¢ 60.97 53.7( 53.5( 54.4¢
Closing Stock Price—NYSE 193.7: 156.8¢ 101.7¢ 47 4% 88.8:
KEY RATIOS
Operating profit margin 6.C% 6.7% 4.8% 42% 5.5%
Pre-tax margitf® B _
4.4% 4.% 3.1% (0.2% 3.2%
Net margin® ~ ~
3.5% 4.4% 2.2% 2.1% 3.4%
Return on average Whirlpool stockholders’ eqﬁﬁ)(y . . _
13.2% 18.(% 9.5% 9.2% 15.1%
Return on average total asséts
9 3.7% 5.2% 2.€% 2.5% 4.C%
Current assets to current liabilities 1.C 1.C 1.C 1.C 1.2
Total debt as a percent of invested capftal
P v p 42.5% 33.0% 36.0% 36.€% 36.7%
Price earnings ratit) 23.7 15.2 20.1 9.5 11.2
OTHER DATA
Common shares outstanding (in thousands):
Average number—on a diluted basis 79,57¢ 80,76 79,33’ 78,14: 77,62¢
Year-end common shares outstanding 77,95¢ 77,41; 78,40, 76,45° 76,03(
Year-end number of stockholders 11,22t 11,88¢ 12,75¢ 13,527 14,08(
Year-end number of employees 100,001 69,00 68,00( 68,00( 71,00(



Five- lized total return to stockhold®
Ive-year annualized total return to stockno s 22 (% 34.0% 7.6% (8.1)% 3.6%

(1) Total debt includes notes payable and curnedtieng-term debt.

(2) Total Whirlpool stockholders’ equity divided lbyerage number of shares on a diluted basis.
(3) Earnings (loss) before income taxes, as a peofeet sales.

(4) Net earnings available to Whirlpool, as a petaé net sales.

(5) Net earnings available to Whirlpool, divided &yerage Whirlpool stockholders’ equity.

(6) Net earnings available to Whirlpool, divided d&yerage total assets.

(7) Total debt divided by total debt and total &toalders’ equity.

(8) Closing stock price divided by diluted net eags available to Whirlpool.

(9) Stock appreciation plus reinvested dividendgddd by share price at the beginning of the mkrio
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Management Discussion and Analysis should da&l rin connection with the Consolidated Financi@tédnents, Notes to t
Consolidated Financial Statements and Selectech&imaData included in this Form 10- Certain references to particular informationttie
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statementsnaige to assist reade

ABOUT WHIRLPOOL

Whirlpool Corporation (“Whirlpool”) is the numbeme major appliance manufacturer in the world wigh sales of approximatef2C
billion and net earnings available to Whirlpool®&50 million in 2014 We are a leading producer of major home applsité&orth Americe
Latin America and Europe, and have a significaréspnce throughout China and India. We have receiveddwide recognition fc
accomplishments in a variety of business and satfalts, including leadership, diversity, innowatiproduct design, business ethics, s
responsibility and community involvement. We condoer business through four reportable segmentghaive define based on geograg
Our reportable segments consist of North Americatjn_America, EMEA (Europe, Middle East and Africad Asia. Our customer b
includes large, sophisticated trade customers vewe many choices and demand competitive produetsices and prices. The major hc
appliance industry operates in an intensely cortipetenvironment, reflecting the impact of both newd established global competit
including Asian and European manufacturers.

The charts below summarize the balance of net glesportable segment for 2014 , 2013 and 20&8pectively:

2014 2013 2012

We monitor countryspecific economic factors such as gross domestidyat, unemployment, consumer confidence, retaihds
housing starts and completions, sales of existiogmds and mortgage interest rates as key indicatoiadustry demand. In addition
profitability, we also focus on country, brand, ¢wet and channel sales when assessing and foregéistincial results.

Our leading portfolio of brands includ&¥hirlpool, Maytag, KitchenAid, Embraco, Brastemmn&ul and Indesit, each of whic
generates annual revenues in excess of $1 bildam. global branded consumer products strategy isittoduce innovative new produc
increase brand customer loyalty, expand our presentside the United States, enhance our trade gaarent platform, improve total cost :
quality by expanding and leveraging our global afiag platform and, where appropriate, make strategquisitions and investments.

As we grow revenues in our core products, ouregsats to extend our business by offering prodacis services that are depender
and related to our core business and expand ingmert products, such adfreshcleaners andladiator GarageWorks through business
that leverage our core competencies and businfastimicture.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS - (CONTINUED)

OVERVIEW

Whirlpool delivered a strong year of business ofiegeperformance as evidenced by record revenuéstong margins, while drivit
product introductions, ongoing productivity andideting restructuring benefits. We have continuedutild a global platform that will dri
future growth and strong value creation, furtherederated through the completion of two acquisgidiring 2014 in China and Europe.
have great opportunities for growth as demand enwhS. continued to recover and we are very wedlitipmed to capitalize when grov
returns to emerging markets such as Brazil, CHivdia and Russia. We continue to accelerate owgsiteents in product and brand innova
which will benefit our end consumers, while drivirgyenue growth in those areas that expand andextgr core appliance business.

We believe that continued execution of our businm#srities and a focus on lortgrm growth will allow the Company to adap
changes in the macroeconomic environment and niiota position as the world's leading global matiirer and marketer of major hc
appliances.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table summarizes the consolidatedlteof operations:

December 31,

Consolidated - Millions of dollars (except per shag data) 2014 Change 2013 Change 2012

Net sales $ 19,870 5.9% $ 18,76¢ 3.4% $ 18,14
Gross margin 3,39¢ 2.9 3,29¢ 14.0 2,89¢
Selling, general and administrative 2,03¢ (11.5) 1,82¢ (4.0) 1,75%
Restructuring costs 13¢€ 30.9 19¢ 17.2 237
Interest and sundry income (expense) (142) 8.6 (15%) (38.8) (112
Interest expense (16%5) 6.7 (77 11.0 (199
Income tax expense 18¢ nm 68 49.2 13¢
Net earnings available to Whirlpool 65C (21.3) 827 106.0 401
Diluted net earnings available to Whirlpool perrgha $ 8.117 (202)% $ 10.2¢ 102.3% $ 5.0¢€

nm: not meaningful

Consolidated Net Sales

The following tables summarize units sold and ctidated net sales by operating segment:

December 31,

Units Sold - In thousands 2014 Change 2013 Change 2012

North America 26,89: 3.€% 25,89¢ 6.€ % 24,29:
Latin America 12,82: (4.5 13,42: 6.2 12,631
EMEA 15,74 32.2 11,90° 3.1 11,54¢
Asia 4,34¢ 11.C 3,913 2.7 4,02¢
Consolidated 59,80: 8.E 9 55,14 5.C% 52,50:

December 31,

Consolidated Net Sales - Millions of dollars 2014 Change 2013 Change 2012

North America $ 10,63¢ 45% $ 10,17¢ 57% $ 9,631
Latin America 4,68¢ (4.9 4,92¢ (0.5 4,95(
EMEA 3,90¢ 29.1 3,024 5.2 2,87¢
Asia 81¢€ 1.2 807 (4.9 847
Other/eliminations (169 — (16¢) — (159)
Consolidated $ 19,87: 5c9 $ 18,76¢ 34% $ 18,14
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS - (CONTINUED)

Consolidated net sales increase d 5.9% compar2018 primarily due to favorable product price/mix, highait shipments and t
benefit of the acquisitions partially offset by thefavorable impact of foreign currency and lowd&MBEX credits. Excluding the impact
foreign currency and BEFIEX credits, consolidatetl sales increased 8.4% compared to 2013 . Coasatidhet sales for 2013 increase. 4%
compared to 201@rimarily due to higher unit shipments and BEFIEXdits, partially offset by the unfavorable impatforeign currency ar
changes in product price/mix. Excluding the impaicforeign currency and BEFIEX credits, consolidateet sales for 201@icreased 4.4'
compared to 2012 .

We provide the percentage change in net salesyudirg the impact of foreign currency and BEFIEXditg as a supplement to
change in net sales as determined by U.S. genexadigpted accounting principles ("GAAP") to proviteckholders with a clearer basit
assess Whirlpool's results over time. This mea@ieonsidered a noBAAP financial measure and is calculated by tramgathe currer
period net sales excluding BEFIEX credits, in fumeal currency, to U.S. dollars using the pry@ar period's exchange rate compared t
prior-year period net sales excluding BEFIEX credit

Significant regional trends were as follows:

* North America net saleincrease d 4.5% compared to 2013 primarily due 808&6 increasén units sold and favorable prod
price/mix, partially offset by foreign currency. Nlo America net sales for 2013 increase d 5.7% eoetbto 201Drimarily due
to a 6.6% increase in units sold, partially offggtchanges in product mix and foreign currency.

» Latin America net sales decrease d 4.9% compar@@13 primarily due to a 4.5% decre@senits sold from the impact of t
World Cup and presidential elections in 2014, loa#FIEX credits and unfavorable foreign currencgrtially offset b
favorable product price/mix. Excluding the impaétfareign currency and BEFIEX credits, Latin Amexioet salesncrease
2.5% in 2014 . Latin America net sales for 2013rdase d 0.5% compared to 20d2marily due to the unfavorable impaci
foreign currency, partially offset by a 6.2% inge@ units sold and higher BEFIEX credits. Excluditigp impact of foreig
currency and BEFIEX credits, Latin America net satereased 4.1% in 2013 .

We recognized approximately $14 million , $109 mill and $37 million of BEFIEX credits in 2014 , Z0&nd 2012,
respectively. As of December 31, 2014 , approxilge#d8 million of future cash monetization remained for court aledrfees
which is not expected to be payable for severatsydeor additional information regarding BEFIEX dits, see Notes 7 and b2
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

» EMEA net sales increase d 29.1% compared to 20d8marily due to a 32.2% increage units sold primarily due to tl
acquisition of Indesit partially offset by unfavorable product price/ndrd foreign currency. Excluding the impact of fgn
currency, net sales increased 29.6% . In 2013 EMEtAsales increase d 5.2% compared to 2qdrEmarily due to the favorak
impact of foreign currency and a 3.1% increasenitsisold. Excluding the impact of foreign currenogt sales increased 1.8% .

e Asia net sales increase d 1.2 % compared to P@ib3arily due to the acquisition of Hefei Sanypartially offset by foreig
currency, product transition costs and unfavoraisteduct price/mix. Excluding the impact of foreigarrency, Asia net sal
increased 4.1% . Asia net sales for 2013 decreak8% compared to 20l &imarily due to the unfavorable impact of fore
currency and a 2.7% decreaseunits sold, partially offset by favorable prodiyamrice/mix. Excluding the impact of forei
currency, Asia net sales decreased 1.1% .

Gross Margin

The table below summarizes gross margin percentagesgion:

December 31,

Percentage of net sales 2014 Change 2013 Change 2012
North America 17.5% (0.7) pt: 18.1% 1.7 pte 16.4%
Latin America 17.¢ (1.6 19.4 1.7 17.7
EMEA 14.5 3.t 11.2 15 9.7
Asia 15.¢ (2.9) 18.€ 0.7 17.€
Consolidated 17.1% (0.5) pt: 17.€% 1.7 pts 15.9%

The consolidated gross margin percentage decrédlsbdsis points to 17.1% compared to 20p8marily due to higher material cos
expenses related to the acquisitions, foreign aggrand lower BEFIEX credits, partially offset byopuctivity and restructuring benefits.
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Significant regional trends were as follows:

» North America gross margin decreased compare2013 primarily due to the impact of product transitiopsytially offset b
productivity. North America gross margin for 2018lieased compared to 20d&marily due to productivity and cost and cape
reduction initiatives, partially offset by a 2012rtailment gain in a postretirement benefit plaat thid not recur in 2013 .

» Latin America gross margin decreased compare80tt3 primarily due to lower BEFIEX credits, higher ma#trcosts an
unfavorable foreign currency, partially offset bighrer product price/mix. During 2013Latin America gross margin increa
compared to 201%rimarily due to favorable product price/mix, protivity and BEFIEX credits, partially offset by Higi
material costs.

e EMEA gross margin increased compared to 201&gmily due to increased productivity, the acquisitiof Indesit, anc
restructuring benefits, partially offset by unfaable product price/mix and foreign currency. DurR@l3, EMEA gross margi
increased compared to 20fp&imarily due to increased productivity and bersefibom restructuring initiatives, partially offsiy
higher material costs.

» Asia gross margin decreased in 2014 when cordparthe prior year, primarily due to expensestegldo the acquisition diiefei
Sanyoin 2014, foreign currency and unfavorable matertadts, partially offset by favorable product prngd, productivity an
the benefits of the acquisition. Asia gross maigoreased in 2013 when compared to the prior yeargpily due to favorabl
product price/mix and productivity, partially oftdey the unfavorable impacts of higher materiats@sd foreign currency.

Selling, General and Administrative

The following table summarizes selling, general adhinistrative expenses as a percentage of splegion:

December 31,

As a % As a % As a %
Millions of dollars 2014 of Net Sales 2013 of Net Sales 2012 of Net Sales
North America $ 761 7.2% $ 75¢€ 7.5% $ 707 7.3%
Latin America 35¢ 7.7 39¢ 8.1 40C 8.1
EMEA 50€ 13.0 33¢ 11.2 332 115
Asia 14€ 17.9 11€ 14.4 11t 13.6
Corporate/other 26€ — 217 — 203 —
Consolidated $ 2,03¢ 10.3% $ 1,82¢ 9.7% $ 1,757 9.7%

Consolidated selling, general and administrativeeases in 2014 reflect acquisitioglated costs and investment expenses compa
2013and have increased as a percent of consolidateshlest due to those expenses. Selling, generadmihistrative expenses as a perce
consolidated net sales in 2013 remained flat coatpar 2012 , primarily due to leverage on increasses.

Restructuring

During the fourth quarter 2011, the Company coneditto restructuring plans (the "2011 Plan") to expaur operating margins &
improve our earnings through substantial cost aphcity reductions, primarily within our North Aniea and EMEA operating segments.
actions related to the 2011 Plan have been anndwarcare now substantially complete. Over $40anilin costs related to actions authori
under the 2011 Plan were recognized during 2014.

During 2014, the Company announced the followirgjreesturing plans: (a) the closure of a microwaveromanufacturing facility ar
other organizational efficiency actions in EMEA dratin America, and (b) organizational integratativities in China, in anticipation of t
Hefei Sanyo transaction. These plans resulted amges of approximately $90 million in 2014, withnggletion expected by the end of 2C
related to employee termination costs, non-caset aspairment costs, and facility exit costs.

We incurred restructuring charges of $136 millidd196 million , and $237 million for the years edd@ecember 31, 2014 , 20&Bc
2012 , respectively.

19




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS - (CONTINUED)

For the full year 2015, we may incur up to $300liomil of restructuring charges, which will result in staygial cost reduction
Additional information about restructuring actieisi can be found in Note 11 of the Notes to the Qlateted Financial Statements.

Interest and Sundry Income (Expense)

Interest and sundry income (expense) decrease an#iti@n compared to 2013 primarily driven by lower charges related to Eady
antitrust matters and a Brazilian government segg occurring in 2013 . During 2013 , interest anddry income (expense) increas$4d
million compared to 2012 , primarily driven by cbes related to Embraco antitrust matters, a Beazijovernment settlement and acquisitior
related investment expenses.

For additional information about the Embraco aunsitrmatters, the Brazilian collection dispute, #r&l Brazilian government settleme
see Note 7 of the Notes to the Consolidated FiadiStatements. For additional information aboutabeuisitions of Hefei Sanyo and Indesit
see Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated FishStatements.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decrease d $12 million compar2018, primarily due to lower interest rates which wefset by higher average di
levels. The increase in average debt is relatethéofunding and assumed debt related to our twaisitipns in 2014 (See Note t® the
Consolidated Financial Statements). During 20T&erest expense decrease d $22 million compar@018, primarily due to lower intere
rates.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense was $189 million , $68 milli@md $133 million in 2014 , 2013 and 20l2spectively. The increase in tax expt
in 2014 compared to 2013 is primarily due to theesize of the United States energy tax creditsnbet recognized in 2013.

The decrease in tax expense in 2013 compared ®i2@timarily due to United States energy tax ciedicognized, partially offset
higher pre-tax earnings. The "American TaxpayelieéRéct of 2012," signed in January 2013, reinslatiee energy tax credit for 20&hc
2013, and resulted in a tax credit benefit relatethe production of qualifying appliances in 2 2013 in the combined amount$df2¢
million , all of which was recognized in 2013 . Faaditional information about our consolidated pagvision, see Note 1@f the Notes to tt
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following table summarizes the difference bemvacome tax expense at the United States statrate of 35%and the income t:
expense at effective worldwide tax rates for thepeetive periods:

Millions of dollars 2014 2013 2012
Earnings before income taxes
United States $ 328 % 14¢ 3 11z
Foreign 55€ 76¢ 44~
Earnings before income taxes 881 917 55¢
Income tax computed at United States statutory rate 30¢ 321 19t
U.S. government tax incentives, including Energy Taedits (10) (142) —
Foreign government tax incentives, including BEFIEX (46) (63 (38
Foreign tax rate differential a7 a7 ()
U.S. foreign tax credits (14¢) (237) (32)
Valuation allowances 9 1€ (86)
State and local taxes, net of federal tax benefit 5 7 2
Foreign withholding taxes 1€ 29 12
U.S. tax on foreign dividends and subpart F income 5€ 19t 57
Settlement of global tax audits 5) (54) 18
Other items, net 21 7 6
Income tax expense computed at effective worlduaderates $ 18 ¢ 68 $ 13z
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FORWARD-LOOKING PERSPECTIVE

We currently estimate earnings per diluted shackimeustry demand for 2015 to be within the follagriranges:

2015
Current Outlook
Estimated earnings per diluted share, for the yeaending December 31, 2015 $10.75 — $11.75
Including:
Restructuring Expense ~$(2.85)
Acquisition Related Transition Cost ~$(0.24)
Pension Settlement Charge ~$(0.11)
Acquisition Purchase Price Accounting Adjustmelmventory ~$(0.01)
Industry demand
North America +4% — @ +6%
Latin America (3%) — 0%
EMEA 0% — +2%
Asia +1% — +3%

For the full-year 2015 , we expect to generate ¢ash flow between $700 million and $800 milligincluding restructuring cash outl:
of up to $250 million , capital spending of $800limn to $850 million and U.S. pension contributioof approximately $80 million .

The table below reconciles projected 2@85h provided by operating activities determineddoordance with GAAP to free cash flo
non-GAAP measure. Management believes that free cashgtovides stockholders with a relevant measurigafdity and a useful basis 1
assessing Whirlpool's ability to fund its activitii@nd obligations. There are limitations to using-GAAP financial measures, including
difficulty associated with comparing companies thige similarly named no@AAP measures whose calculations may differ fromn
calculations. We define free cash flow as cashigesl/by continuing operations less capital expemédg and including proceeds from the
of assets/businesses, and changes in restrictbd Thas change in restricted cash relates to thefgriplacement funds paid by Whirlpoo
acquire majority control of Hefei Sanyo and whiale ased to fund capital and technical resourcesnttance Hefei Sany®’research ai
development and working capital.

2015
Millions of dollars Current Outlook
Cash provided by operating activities $ 150 — $ 1,65(
Capital expenditures, proceeds from sale of agsetislesses and changes in restricted cash (800) — (850)
Free cash flow $ 7oC ¢ 80C

The projections above are based on many estimateara inherently subject to change based on futecesions made by managen
and the Board of Directors of Whirlpool, and sigraht economic, competitive and other uncertairdies contingencies.

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY

Our objective is to finance our business througkrafing cash flow and the appropriate mix of loag¥t and shorterm debt. B
diversifying the maturity structure, we avoid contations of debt, reducing liquidity risk. We havarying needs for shoterm working
capital financing as a result of the nature of business. We regularly review our capital structanel liquidity priorities, which incluc
funding the business through capital and engingespending to support innovation and productiwitijiatives, funding our pension plan ¢
term debt liabilities, providing return to shareteis and potential acquisitions.

On October 14, 2014, we completed our acquisittomfFineldo S.p.A. and certain members of the Merfamily (the "Family")
number of shares that, when combined with a prigcipase, totaled 66.8% of the voting stock of litdis an aggregate purchase pr
including the prior purchase, of €758 million (appmately $965 millionat the dates of purchase), without adjustment. Company funde
the aggregate purchase price for the shares astimggita majority interest that we purchased in ©®eto2014 through the issuance of
aggregate principal amount of $650 million in semotes on November 4, 2014. Whirlpool launchedaadatory tender offer for all remain
outstanding shares of Indesit in accordance witialt law which was completed on November 28, 2@14a cost of €344 million
(approximately $429 million at the date of purchase
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On December 3, 2014 we acquired the remaining sHare€ 32 million (approximately $40 millicat the date of the purchase) to obtain 1
ownership. Additional information about the trartgat can be found in Note 2 of the Notes to the €lidated Financial Statements.

In addition, we assumed $ 99 million of bank gusgas through our acquisition of Indesit as of Dewen81, 2014 .

On October 24, 2014, Whirlpool's wholly-owned Cléresubsidiary completed its acquisition of a 51%itgcstake in Hefei Sanyp
through two transactions, for an aggregate purcipaise of RMB 3.4 billion (approximately $ 551 nidlh at the dates of purchase). -
Company funded the total consideration for the ehavith cash on hand. The cash paid for the pripkteement portion of the transactio
considered restricted cash, which will be usedutadfcapital and technical resources to enhancei I9efeyos research and development
working capital. Additional information about thahsaction can be found in Note 2 of the NotdhéoConsolidated Financial Statements.

Our short term potential uses of liquidity includeding our ongoing capital spending, restructuidegjvities, funding pension plans ¢
returns to shareholders. We also have $ 234 mitifclerm debt maturing in the next twelve months.

We monitor the credit ratings and market indicatufrsredit risk of our lending, depository, andidative counterparty banks regula
In addition, we diversify our deposits and investitsen short term cash equivalents to limit thecamiration of exposure by counterparty.

We continue to review customer conditions acrogsBEbrozone. As of December 31, 2014 , we had €T8miapproximately$94
million as of December 31, 2014 ) in outstandirapé receivables and short-term and Itgrga notes due to us associated with Alno A
long-standing European customer. Approximately @3flion (approximately $47 million as of Decembel,32014) of the outstandir
receivables were overdue as of December 31, 20i4he fourth quarter of 2014, Whirlpool and Aleatered into an agreement to revise
previous standstill agreement to amend the payteemts of the overdue trade receivables. The neeeagent cured the violation of the p
agreement and Alne’full overdue balance remains due in full by timel @f the first quarter of 2016. Our exposure idelsi not only th
outstanding receivables but also the potentiakrigkan Alno bankruptcy and impacts to our distiiiru process. Alno is proceeding to set
additional financing to improve its financial pasit.

In March 2014, Whirlpool sold approximately 7.4 liwih shares held in Alno AG for approximately $5lian . This transaction result
in the conversion of our investment from the equitythod of accounting to an available for sale stvent due to our less than 20% ow
investment in Alno AG.

As of December 31, 2014 , we had $1.0 billion oftcand equivalents on hand, of which $0.9 bilkees held outside of the Unit
States. Our intent is to permanently reinvest thigsds outside of the United States and our cupkarts do not demonstrate a need to repa
these funds to fund our U.S. operations. Howevehese funds were repatriated, we would then haired to accrue and pay applicable |
taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign taxlitsg and withholding taxes payable to various ¢aas.

Sources and Uses of Cash

We met our cash needs during 2@hrbugh cash flows from operations, cash and etpmts, and financing arrangements. Our cast
equivalents at December 31, 2014 decreased $3%idmtbmpared to the same period in 20X gnificant drivers of changes in our cash
equivalents balance during 2014 are discussed below

Cash Flow Summary

Millions of dollars 2014 2013 2012

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 1,47¢ $ 1,262 $ 69€
Investing activities (2,45¢€) (582) (499
Financing activities 70& (439 (148
Effect of exchange rate changes (82 (34) 5

Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents $ (354 $ 212 % 59
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities

The increase in cash provided by operating aatiwitiuring 2014eflects strong cash earnings and working capitprovements partial
offset by $125 million to fund our United Statestified pension plans.

The timing of cash flows from operations variemgigantly within a quarter primarily due to charsge production levels, sales patte
promotional programs, funding requirements as aglfeceivable and payment terms. Dependent ongioficash flows, the location of c:
balances, as well as the liquidity requirementeaxdh country, external sources of funding are twseslipport working capital requireme
throughout the year. Due to the variables discusbede, cash flow from operations during the yeay significantly exceed our quarter i
yearend balances.

We offer our suppliers access to third party pagslgrocessors. Independent of Whirlpool, the psmrssallow suppliers to sell th
receivables to financial institutions at the disiore of only the supplier and the financial institen. We have no economic interest in the sa
these receivables and no direct financial relatignsvith the financial institutions concerning teeservices. All of our obligations, includi
amounts due, remain to our suppliers as statedrirsapplier agreements. As of December 31, 20142848, approximately $1.6 billion ai
$1.3 billion, respectively, are outstanding undher programs with participating financial instituts

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities of $2.5 billioaridg 2014 increase d $1.9 billion from 201Brimarily driven by the acquisitions
Hefei Sanyo and Indesit and higher capital investnte support new product innovations. Cash useimhvasting activities o582 millior
during 2013 increase d $88 million from 2012 , @ity driven by higher capital investment to sugpwew product innovations.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities during 20héreased compared to 20pBmarily due to the funding required to complete
acquisitions of Hefei Sanyo and Indesit , partialf§set by lower share repurchase activity. Casbdus financing activities durin@01:
increased compared to 20p8marily due to the resumption of our share repase program and higher cash dividends, partidfsebby
increased proceeds from the issuance of commok assDciated with stock option exercises.

Financing Arrangements

On September 26, 2014, we entered into a Seconddadeand Restated Long-Term Credit Agreement (toadg-Term Facility”).The
Long-Term Facility amends, restates and extendbdnewers’ prior fiveyear credit facility, which was scheduled to matoneJune 28, 201
The LongTerm Facility increases the existing $1.7 billiacifity to an aggregate amount of $2.0 billion, lwén option to increase the tc
amount to up to $2.5 billion by exercise of an adom feature. The Long-Term Facility has a majudiate of September 26, 2019. The Lonc
Term Facility includes a letter of credit sublineit $200 million. The LongFerm Facility decreases the interest and fee nadgsble witl
respect to the Londerm Facility based on our debt rating as follo\ids:the spread over LIBOR is 1.250%; (2) the spreadr prime i
0.250%; and (3) the unused commitment fee is 0.1&9%4f the effective date of the Loiigrm Facility. We had no borrowings outstant
under the Long-Term Facility at December 31, 2@t4he prior five-year credit facility at Decenntsd, 2013 .

On September 26, 2014, we entered into a Short-Teredit Agreement (the “364-Day Facility” and tdget with the LongFermr
Facility, the “Facilities”). The 364-Day Facilitg ia revolving credit facility in an aggregate antooin$1.0 billion. The 364Bay Facility has
maturity date of September 25, 2015. The interedtfae rates payable with respect to the Bé&#§-Facility based on our debt rating an
follows: (1) the spread over LIBOR is 1.250%; (2¢ tspread over prime is 0.250%; and (3) the unasathitment fee is 0.125%, as of
effective date of the 364-Day Facility. We had morbwings outstanding under the 364-Day Facilitpatember 31, 2014 .

The Facilities contain customary covenants andawmdies including, among other things, a rolling lisgemonth maximum leverage re
limited to 3.25 to 1.0 for each fiscal quarter antblling twelve month interest coverage ratio iiegghto be greater than or equal to 3.0 tc
for each fiscal quarter. In addition, the covenditst our ability to (or to permit any subsidiasido), subject to various exceptions
limitations: (i) merge with other companies; (ifeate liens on our property; (iii) incur debt of-bhlance sheet obligations at the subsit
level; (iv) enter into transactions with affiliafesxcept on an armiength basis; (v) enter into agreements restrictirgpayment of subsidie
dividends or restricting the making of loans orayment of debt by subsidiaries; and (vi) enter egoeements restricting the creation of |
on our assets. We were in compliance with finanmalenant requirements at December 31, 2014 Rexkmber 31, 2013 .

We have paid lenders under the Facilities an uptfiee of approximately $3 million.
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We have committed credit facilities in Brazil, whiprovide borrowings up to 1.1 billion Brazilianais (approximately $429 millioas
of December 31, 2014 ) maturing at various timesnfr2015 to 2017. The credit facilities contain mmahcial covenants and we had
borrowings outstanding under these credit facdiié December 31, 2014 and 2013 .

In the fourth quarter of 2014, we acquired a corteditcredit facility in Italy as a result of the bsit acquisition, which provide
borrowings up to €350 million (approximately $424llion as of December 31, 20l4maturing July 29, 2016. As described in the d
agreement included as an exhibit to this FornK1@he credit facility contains covenants whichtstthe guarantor, Indesit, will not permit
the ratio of Consolidated Net Borrowings as of afgarEnd Determination Date to Consolidated earningsreeincome taxes, depreciat
and amortization, for the twelve month period endeduch Yeaknd Determination Date to exceed 3.00 to 1; (2y#tie of Consolidated N
Borrowings as of any Semi Annual Determination DateConsolidated EBITDA for the twelve month periedded on such Semi Ann
Determination Date to exceed 4.00 to 1; and (3)réti® of Consolidated EBITDA to Consolidated Neterest for the twelve month per
ending on any Determination Date to be less thand1. We were in compliance with financial coven@equirements at December 31, 2014
We had no borrowings outstanding under this cfeditity at December 31, 2014 .

On February 25, 2014 , we completed a debt offedh250 million principal amount of 1.35% notesedin 2017 ,$250 millior
principal amount of 2.40% notes due in 2019 , aB@03million principal amount of 4.00% notes dued24 . On May 1, 2014$500 millior
of 8.60% notes matured and were repaid. On Audns?@14 , $100 million of 6.45% notes matured ardexepaid.

On November 4, 2014 , we completed a debt offeah§300 million principal amount of 1.65% notes dne2017 and$350 millior
principal amount of 3.70% notes due in 20ZFhese notes contain covenants that limit oulitghitd incur certain liens or enter into certairie
and leasdack transactions. In addition, if we experienspecific kind of change of control, we are requitednake an offer to purchase al
the notes at a purchase price of 101% of the gré@mount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid irtteres

During 2013 we completed a debt offering comprie€&250 million principal amount of 3.70% notes due in 2023 ando$2flion
principal amount of 5.15% notes due in 2043. Thestes contain covenants that limit our ability nour certain liens or enter into certain
and leasdyack transactions. In addition, if we experienapecific kind of change of control, we are requitednake an offer to purchase al
the notes at a purchase price of 101% of the gra@mount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid irtteres

For additional information about our financing axgaments, see Note 6 of the Notes to the Consetidéinancial Statements.
401 (k) Defined Contribution Plan

During January 2012, we began contributing compstogk to fund the company match and automatic compantributions, equal
up to 7% of employees' eligible pay, in our 401dlefined contribution plan covering all U.S. emplegeWe contributed $49 million
company stock to our 401(k) defined contributioarptiuring 2012. We resumed funding the company lretd automatic contribution in c:
during the fourth quarter 2012.

Repurchase Program

On April 14, 2014 , our Board of Directors authedza new share repurchase program of up to $50@milShare repurchases are nr
from time to time on the open market as conditimasrant. The program does not obligate us to ré@ase any of our shares. We repurch
165,900 shares at an aggregate purchase pricepoixamately $25 million through December 31, 2014t December 31, 2014there wer
approximately $475 million in remaining funds auiked under this program.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND FORWARD-LOOKING CASH RE QUIREMENTS

The following table summarizes our expected cadficws resulting from financial contracts and conments:

Payments due by period

2016 & 2018 &
Millions of dollars Total 2015 2017 2019 Thereafter
Long-term debt obligation$ ) i
$ 4,627 $ 35C $ 1,272 $ 821 % 2,182
Operating lease obligations 86¢ 23C 338 191 114
Purchase obligatior$
941 20¢ 348 17¢ 211
Brazilian government settlemeht
28 2C 8 — —
United States pension plafis
58t 8C 14 65 42¢€
Foreign pension plarfs
anp P 18 18 _ _ _
Other postretirement benefits
40¢ 56 97 85 171
Legal settlement$ 21 21 . . .
®)
Total $ 7497 $ 984 § 2,06¢ $ 1,34C 3,10¢

@ Interest payments related to long-term debt arkidied in the table above. For additional informatidout our financing arrangements, see Natétbe Notes to tr
Consolidated Financial Statements.
@ Purchase obligations include our “take-or-paghtracts with materials vendors and minimum paytrobligations to other supplie

®  Represents payments agreed to under a Brazil gmesmsettiement program. See Notef7the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statasnéor additione
information.

@ Represents the minimum contributions required by éatimated based on current interest rates, essgh assumptions, legislative requirements ahéroactuaric
assumptions at December 31, 2014 . Management faelyte contribute amounts in addition to thoseunsl by law. See Note 1& the Notes to the Consolida
Financial Statements for additional information.

®  Represents required contributions to our foreigrd&d pension plans only. See NoteoLhe Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statesnem additional informatiol
©®  Represents our portion of expected benefit paymemdsr our retiree healthcare pl:
™ For additional information regarding legal settlerse see Note @f the Notes to the Consolidated Financial States.

®  This table does not include short-term credit fgcdnd commercial paper borrowings. For additianédrmation about short-term borrowings, see Nbt# the Note
to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Thisetdbles not include future anticipated income tatteseents; see Note 1¢f the Notes to the Consolidated Finar
Statements.

HEFEI SANYO ACQUISITION

On August 12, 2013 , Whirlpool's wholly-owned suliy, Whirlpool China, reached agreements to aegai51%equity stake in
leading home appliances manufacturer, Hefei Samyint stock company whose shares are listedraded on the Shanghai Stock Excha
This transaction was completed on October 24, 2(Hdfei Sanydhas been renamed to "Whirlpool China Co., Ltd." Blagregate purche
price was RMB 3.4 billion (approximately $551 nulti at the dates of purchase). The Company fundedotiaé donsideration for the sha
with cash on hand. The cash paid for the privadéeqrhent portion of the transaction is considerstrioted cash, which will based to fun
capital and technical resources to enhance Hefgi®aresearch and development and working capital.

We expect the acquisition will accelerate Whirlpegbrofitable growth in the Chinese appliance marketring 2014, Whirlpool beg;i
integrating the manufacturing, administrative, dymtain and technology operations of Hefei Sanybe results of Hefei Sanys bperation
have been included in the Consolidated Financetegtents beginning October 24, 2014 .

Hefei Sanychas an established and broad distribution netwrakihcludes more than 30,000 outlets throughoun& i heir significar
presence in rural areas complements Whirlpool'ssgmee in China’s highdier cities. With this acquisition, Whirlpool alsgain
manufacturing scale and a competitive cost strectarthe city of Hefei. The ability to consolidatgerations offers strong synergies
Whirlpool will provide extensive technical, markegi and product development, combined with HefeiyBda sales execution and operatic
strengths, to support the next phase of developinetite advancement of Hefei Sange an important global production and researct
development center for the home appliance sector.



Further discussion of this transaction can be fanrdote 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated FinalnBtatements.
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INDESIT ACQUISITION

On December 3, 2014 , Whirlpool purchased all remagishares of Indesjaside from a minority interest that was purchadsdtie thirc
quarter of 2014) and Indeslelisted from the Electronic Stock Market organizaed managed by Borsa Italiana S.p.A. Total comatd® paic
for Indesit was $1.4 billiomn aggregate net of cash acquired. The Companyefilitide aggregate purchase price for the sharesitating ¢
majority interest that we purchased in October 28iréugh borrowings under our credit facility, arepaid a portion of such borrowir
through the issuance of an aggregate principal amafu$650 million in senior notes on November @12. We funded the aggregate purcl
price for the tender offer and remaining sharesugh borrowings under our credit facility and thgbiborrowings under our commercial pe
programs, and intend to repay such borrowingserfikure through public debt financing.

The acquisition builds our market position and willable sustainable growth in EMEA. During 2015,iNgbol expects to integrate t
manufacturing, administrative, supply chain andhitetogy operations of Indesit . The results of kil operations have been included in
Consolidated Financial Statements beginning OctaddeP014 .

Further discussion of this transaction can be fanridote 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated FinalnBtatements.
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We have guarantee arrangements in a Brazilian diabgi As a standard business practice in Brdzad,dubsidiary guarantees custa
lines of credit at commercial banks to support pases, following its normal credit policies. If astomer were to default on its line of cr
with the bank, our subsidiary would be requiredatisfy the obligation with the bank and the reable would revert back to the subsidiary
of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the guaranteed emtataled $492 million and $485 milligrrespectively. Our subsidiary insures agi
credit risk for these guarantees, under normalaijpey conditions, through policies purchased fraghiguality underwriters. In addition, \
assumed $ 1.2 billion of corporate guarantees tiraur acquisition of Indesit as of December 311420We had no losses associated
these guarantees in 2014 or 2013 .

We have guaranteed a $45 million five year revavimedit facility between certain financial institns and a not-foprofit entity ir
connection with a community and economic developrpesject (“Harbor Shores”)The credit facility, which originated in 2008, washende
in 2014 by Harbor Shores and reduced to $45 millimas refinanced in December 2012 and we reneweduarantee through 2017. The
value of the guarantee was nominal. The purpostadbor Shores is to stimulate employment and growthe areas of Benton Harbor anc
Joseph, Michigan. In the event of default, we nsasisfy the guarantee of the credit facility ughe amount borrowed at the date of default.

In the ordinary course of business, we enter igte@ments with financial institutions to issue bgokrantees, letters of credit and st
bonds. These agreements are primarily associat#ul wviresolved tax matters in Brazil, as is custgmander local regulations, a
governmental obligations related to certain empdogenefit arrangements. As of December 31, 20142848 , we had approximate$401]
million and $404 million outstanding under theseeggnents, respectively.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith generally accepted accounting principleshia United States (GAAP) requi
management to make certain estimates and assumsiptida periodically evaluate these estimates andngsttons, which are based
historical experience, changes in the business@mvient and other factors that management believbs reasonable under the circumstal
Actual results may differ materially from theseimsttes.

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

Accounting for pensions and other postretiremenelits involves estimating the costs of future biga@nd attributing the cost over:
employee$ expected period of employment. The determinatibrour obligation and expense for these costs reguihe use of certe
assumptions. Those assumptions include the discatstexpected longerm rate of return on plan assets, life expectaany health care c«
trend rates. These assumptions are subject to ehaegpd on interest rates on high quality bondsksind bond markets and medical
inflation, respectively. Actual results that difffom our assumptions are accumulated and amortized future periods and therefc
generally affect our recognized expense and acdiaigitity in such future periods. While we belietleat our assumptions are appropriate ¢
current economic conditions and actual experiesigmificant differences in results or significaftanges in our assumptions may mater
affect our pension and other postretirement beoéfigations and related future expense.
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Our pension and other postretirement benefit obtiga at December 31, 2014 and preliminary retimgnienefit costs for 201&vere
prepared using the assumptions that were determateBecember 31, 2014 The following table summarizes the sensitivity adi
December 31, 2014 retirement obligations and 2efilement benefit costs of our United States ptarchanges in the key assumptions us
determine those results:

Estimated increase (decrease) in

Percentage PBO/APBO*
Millions of dollars Change 2015 Expense for 2014
United States Pension Plans
Discount rate +/-50bps $(2)1 $ (230)/24¢
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets +/-50bps (14)/14 -
United States Other Postretirement Benefit Plan
Discount rate +/-50bps 2/(1) (16)/17
Health care cost trend rate +/-100bps - 1/(1)

*  Projected benefit obligation (PBO) for pensidans and accumulated postretirement benefit oliiggAPBO) for other postretirement benefit plans.

These sensitivities may not be appropriate to asether yearsfinancial results. Furthermore, the impact of agstiom changes outsi
of the ranges shown above may not be approximagedsing the above results. For additional informatabout our pension and ot
postretirement benefit obligations, see Note 1thefNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income Taxes

We estimate our income taxes in each of the taxinigdictions in which we operate. This involvesimsting actual current tax expel
together with assessing any temporary differenesslting from the different treatment of certaienits, such as the timing for recogni:
expenses, for tax and accounting purposes. Thdferetices may result in deferred tax assets oiilitiab, which are included in o
Consolidated Balance Sheets. We are required sasbe likelihood that deferred tax assets, winiclude net operating loss carryforwa
foreign tax credits and deductible temporary déferes, are expected to be realizable in futuresy@&aalization of our net operating loss
foreign tax credit deferred tax assets is suppobgdspecific tax planning strategies and, wheresides, considers projections of fut
profitability. If recovery is not more likely thamot, we provide a valuation allowance based omedés of future taxable income in the var
taxing jurisdictions, and the amount of deferrexetathat are ultimately realizable. If future talealmcome is lower than expected or if
planning strategies are not available as anticibatee may record additional valuation allowancesubh income tax expense in the pe
such determination is made. Likewise, if we deteerthat we are able to realize our deferred tagtass the future in excess of net recol
amounts, an adjustment to the deferred tax asfidiemefit income tax expense in the period sudiemeination is made.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , we had toteérded tax assets of $3.2 billion and $3.0 billiorespectively, net of valuati
allowances of $308 million and $186 milligrrespectively. Our income tax benefit or expenag ffuctuated considerably over the last
years from a tax benefit of $436 million in 2011tke current year tax expense 0189 million and has been influenced primarily by |
energy tax credits, audit settlements and adjudsneax planning strategies, enacted legislatiowd dispersion of global income. Fut
changes in the effective tax rate will be subjecséveral factors including, remaining BEFIEX ctedbusiness profitability, tax planni
strategies, and enacted tax laws.

In addition, we operate within multiple taxing jsdlictions and are subject to audit in these juctsmtis. These audits can inva
complex issues, which may require an extended g@fidime to resolve. For additional informationoabincome taxes, see Notes 1, 7 48d
of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statemen

BEFIEX Credits

In previous years, our Brazilian operations earteedcredits under the Brazilian governmengxport incentive program (BEFIE:
These credits reduced Brazilian federal excisestaxe domestic sales, resulting in an increase énogherationsrecorded net sales. As
December 31, 2014all BEFIEX credits that were available to be miarezl had been monetized. For additional infornratimgarding BEFIE.
credits, see Note 7 of the Notes to the ConsolitlBirancial Statements.
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Warranty Obligations

The estimation of warranty obligations is deterrdiire the same period that revenue from the satbeofelated products is recogniz
The warranty obligation is based on historical eigree and represents our best estimate of expedsts at the time products are s
Warranty accruals are adjusted for known or ardigig warranty claims as new information becomesabla. New product launches requii
greater use of judgment in developing estimate# historical experience becomes available. Fugwents and circumstances could mater
change our estimates and require adjustments twahenty obligations. For additional informatiobcait warranty obligations, see Notef/
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Goodwill and Intangibles

Certain business acquisitions have resulted imagberding of goodwill and trademark assets. Upaquisition, the purchase price is f
allocated to identifiable assets and liabilitiesx;luding trademark assets, based on estimatedsdéie, with any remaining purchase p
recorded as goodwill. Most trademarks and goodwi# considered indefinite lived intangible asseid as such are not amortized.
December 31, 2014 , we had goodwill of $2.8 billioBoodwill increased by $1.1 billion in 2014 dwethe acquisitions of Hefei Sanymc
Indesit. There have been no changes to our reporting anigdlocations of goodwill by reporting units eptdor goodwill resulting from tr
acquisitions. We have trademark assets in our Namtlerica, EMEA and Asia operating segments wittaaying value of approximatelyl.t
billion , $629 million, and $42 million respectiyelas of December 31, 2014 .

We perform our annual impairment assessment fodgdloand other indefinitdived intangible assets as of October 1st and
frequently if indicators of impairment exist.

Goodwill Valuations

We evaluate goodwill using a qualitative assessrt@aietermine whether it is more likely than nattthe fair value of any reporti
unit is less than its carrying amount. If we detiemrthat the fair value of the reporting unit mayIbss than its carrying amount, we eval
goodwill using a two-step impairment test. Othemyisve conclude that no impairment is indicated amddo not perform the twstef
impairment testln 2014, this assessment was performed for the AR LAR operating segments, as impairment indisatlar not exist fc
goodwill acquired in 2014.

In conducting a qualitative assessment, the Comperayyzes a variety of events or factors that nmljpénce the fair value of t
reporting unit, including, but not limited to: tihesults of prior quantitative tests performed; demin the carrying amount of the reporting 1
actual and projected operating results; relevanketadata for both the company and its peer congzarindustry outlooks; macroeconol
conditions; liquidity; changes in key personneld dhe Company's competitive position. Significardgment is used to evaluate the totalit
these events and factors to make the determinafiovhether it is more likely than not that the faalue of the reporting unit is less thar
carrying value.

If the qualitative assessment concludes that tlwestep impairment test is necessary, we first comgi@rdoook value of a reporting ul
including goodwill, with its fair value. The fairalue is estimated based on a market approach dist@unted cash flow analysis, also kn
as the income approach, and is reconciled badket@trrent market capitalization for Whirlpool tasere that the implied control premiun
reasonable. If the book value of a reporting uriteeds its fair value, we perform the second stepstimate an implied fair value of
reporting units goodwill by allocating the fair value of the refag unit to all of the assets and liabilities eththan goodwill (including ar
unrecognized intangible assets). The differencevdxt the total fair value of the reporting unit d@he fair value of all the assets and liabili
other than goodwill is the implied fair value ofathgoodwill. The amount of impairment loss is equathe excess of the book value of
goodwill over the implied fair value of that goodiwi

Evaluating Goodwill - Results and Significant Assurptions

Based on the favorable results of the qualitatisseasment conducted on October 1, 20there was no goodwill impairment cha
recorded in 2014 .

28




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS - (CONTINUED)

For our North America reporting unit, our qualitetiassessment included a review of the events aatdré outlined above. Our |
guantitative test was performed in 2011. Signiftcaright was provided to the following factors,ms determined that these items have
most significant impact on the fair value of théporting unit.

. Operating profit margins remain strong for thed consecutive year at 10.1% in 2014 comparetDt6% and 8.8% in 201&nc
2012 , respectively. Margins have been driven lghéi net sales, ongoing cost productivity, the bewé cost and capacity-
reduction initiatives, as well as our continuedigbto deliver innovative and consumer relevarmdicts to the marketplace. 7
improvement in operating margins compared to ther guantitative assessment performed in 2011 des/significant positiy
evidence for the qualitative assessment.

. We experienced a 125 basis point decrease in soeutit rate from our last quantitative assessmeniibrmed in 2011, primari
driven by a decrease in the risk free rate andcirgein our company specific risk premium. Ther@ase in the company spec
risk premium is driven largely by the structurapimvement in our operating model delivered throsgbcessful execution of ¢
cost and capacity reductions and implementatioprefiously announced cob&sed price increases since 2011. The decre
the discount rate provides significant positivedevice for the qualitative assessment.

The implied increases to the fair value of our Hakmerica reporting unit noted above are furthgmpeuted by an increase in our ove
market capitalization of approximately $11 billioar approximately 280%, as of October 1, 2Q1dompared to the prior quantitat
assessment in 2011. This increase is largely atéiide to the improved operating performance ofNbeh America reporting unit.

Intangible Valuations

We evaluate certain indefinitered intangibles using a qualitative assessmeutetermine whether it is more likely than not ttie fail
value of the indefinite lived intangible assetasd than its carrying amount. If we determine thatfair value may be less than its carr
amount, the fair value of the trademark is estighatad compared to its carrying value to determireniimpairment exists. Otherwise,
conclude that no impairment is indicated and waaloperform the quantitative test.

When the qualitative assessment is not utilized agdiantitative test is performed, we estimatefdiirevalue of these intangible ass
using the relief-from-royalty method, which req@irassumptions related to projected revenues fromanaoual longange plan; assum
royalty rates that could be payable if we did nethahe trademark; and a discount rate based orweighted average cost of capital.
recognize an impairment loss when the estimated/&iie of the indefinite-lived intangible asseldass than its carrying value.

Evaluating Trademarks - Results and Significant Assmptions

We performed a qualitative assessment for one imade with a value of approximately $18 million. Oprior quantitative te
performed in 2011 indicated that the fair valuetfis trademark exceeded its respective carryingevhy approximately 400%. Based on
qualitative assessment conducted on October 1, 2@B4concluded that it was more likely than nott tiee fair value of this trademark v
greater than its respective carrying value, theesfm impairment was recorded.

Based on the results of our impairment test perfairas of October 1, 2014, impairment of two tradé&savas determined to ex
primarily driven by a change in our brand stratég¥EMEA as a result of the acquisition of Indesitlaesulted in a charge of approxima
$12 million . The fair values of all other trademarks testedeed their carrying values by more than 10% with ékception of one Not
American trademark. The fair value of this trademexceeded its carrying value of approximately $lioh by 5%. The fair value of th
trademark was lower in 2014, as a result of extdrdmsitions to deliver product innovation in NoAmerica. We invested significantly in t
trademark in 2014 and are on track to deliver timese products in 2015.

In performing the quantitative test, significans@sptions used in our relief from royalty modelod®ctober 1, 2014ncluded revent
growth rates, assumed royalty rates and the diseatey which are discussed further below.

* Revenue growth rates relate to projected revermoas dur annual long range plan and vary from brandrand. Adverse changes
the operating environment for the appliance ingustr our inability to grow revenues at the foreedstates may result in a fut
impairment charge. We performed a sensitivity asialpn our estimated fair value noting that a 1@#uction of forecasted reven
would result in an impairment of approximately $&8lion.
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» In determining royalty rates for the valuation afr drademarks, we considered factors that affextitrinsic royalty rates that wot
hypothetically be paid for the use of the trademdtike most significant factors in determining th&insic royalty rates include t
overall role and importance of the trademarks enghrticular industry, the profitability of the phacts utilizing the trademarks, and
position of the trademarked products in a givenkeiasegment. Based on this analysis, we deternrioyalty rates of 2% to 3% f
our value brands, 3.5% to 4% for our mass markatds and 6% for our super premium brand. We peddransensitivity analysis
our estimated fair value noting that a 100 basistp@duction of the royalty rates for each branould result in an impairment
approximately $175 million.

* In developing discount rates for the valuation of trademarks, we used the industry average weigiterage cost of capital as
base, adjusted for the higher relative level dfsiassociated with doing business in other cows)tae applicable, as well as the hig
relative levels of risks associated with intangiblsets. Based on this analysis, we determineduiscates ranging from 8.5%
10.25%. We performed a sensitivity analysis on estimated fair value noting that an increase indlseount rates used for -
valuation of 100 basis points would result in apainment of approximately $100 million.

Many of the factors used in assessing fair valeecartside the control of management and it is mestsly likely that assumptions &
estimates can change in future periods. These elsazan result in future impairments.

For additional information about goodwill and ingglle valuations, see Note 3 of the Notes to thesbbidated Financial Statements.
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEME NTS

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009- "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Tofi6)6 which supersedes the reve
recognition requirements in ASC 605, Revenue Reitiogn This ASU is based on the principle that mewe is recognized to depict the tran
of goods or services to customers in an amountréflgcts the consideration to which the entity entp to be entitled in exchange for tt
goods or services. The ASU also requires additididlosure about the nature, amount, timing ancktainty of revenue and cash flc
arising from customer contracts, including sigrfit judgments and changes in judgments and ags®ignized from costs incurred to ob
or fulfill a contract. This pronouncement is efigetfor annual reporting periods beginning aftecc®aber 15, 2016, including interim peri
within that reporting period and is to be appliesing one of two retrospective application methadth early application not permitted. \
have not yet determined the potential effects enGbnsolidated Condensed Financial Statementsyif a

All other issued but not yet effective accountimgmpuncements are not expected to have a matéfigat en our Consolidated Financ
Statements.

OTHER MATTERS
Embraco Antitrust Matters

Beginning in February 2009, our compressor busihesslquartered in Brazil ("Embraco") was notifiddntitrust investigations of tl
global compressor industry by government autharitievarious jurisdictions.

Embraco has resolved government investigationsuiious jurisdictions as well as all related ciaWsuits in the United States. Embr
also has resolved certain other claims and cectaims remain pending. Additional lawsuits couldfibexd.

At December 31, 2014 , $25 million remains accrweith installment payments of $21 milligrplus interest, remaining to be mad
government authorities at various times through520&/e continue to defend these actions and take aifegrs to minimize our potent
exposure. The final outcome and impact of thesearsatand any related claims and investigationsrtay be brought in the future are suk
to many variables, and cannot be predicted. Webkstaaccruals only for those matters where werdgtee that a loss is probable and
amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Whitedurrently not possible to reasonably estintheeaggregate amount of costs whict
may incur in connection with these matters, sucktcoould have a material adverse effect on oanfital position, liquidity, or results
operations in any particular reporting period.

BEFIEX Credits and Other Tax Matters

In previous years, our Brazilian operations earteedcredits under the Brazilian governmsngxport incentive program (BEFIE:
These credits reduced Brazilian federal excisestaxedomestic sales, resulting in an increasedrfferationstecorded net sales, as the cre
are monetized. We monetized $14 million , $109iomilland $37 million of export credits in 2014 , 204nd 2012 respectively. We beg
recognizing BEFIEX credits in accordance with ptfiavorable court decisions allowing for the cred@de recognized. We recognized ex
credits as they were monetized.
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In December 2013, the Brazilian government reintgd the monetary adjustment index applicable t&IBK credits that existed pri
to July 2009, when the Brazilian government reqlicempanies to apply a different monetary adjustnirhex to BEFIEX credits. As
December 31, 2014, no BEFIEX credits deemed toviadadle prior to this action remained to be maredi Whether use of the reinstitL
index should be given retroactive effect for théy 2009 to December 2013 period is currently baiegewed by the Brazilian courts. If 1
reinstituted index is given retroactive effect, weuld be entitled to recognize additional crediise outcome and timing of the Brazilian c«
decisions remains uncertain.

Our Brazilian operations have received governmegsabssments related to claims for income and|somidribution taxes associa
with BEFIEX credits monetized from 2000 through 20énd 2007 through 2011. We do not believe BEFIKKoet credits are subject
income or social contribution taxes. We are disguthese tax matters in various courts and intendgorously defend our positions. We h
not provided for income or social contribution texan these export credits, and based on the ogiribtax and legal advisors, we have
accrued any amount related to these assessmesft®asember 31, 2014The total amount of outstanding tax assessmenesviest for incom
and social contribution taxes relating to the BEFIEredits, including interest and penalties, is ragpnately 1.4 billionBrazilian reai
(approximately $533 million as of December 31, 2014

Relying on existing Brazilian legal precedent, @03 and 2004, we recognized tax credits in an aggeeamount of $26 million
adjusted for currency, on the purchase of raw ne$eused in production (“IPI tax credits"'The Brazilian tax authority subsequel
challenged the recording of IPI tax credits. Nodde have been recognized since 2004. In 2009, ntered into a Brazilian governmu
program which provided extended payment terms addaed penalties and interest to encourage taxgayeaesolve this and certain ot
disputed tax credit amounts. As permitted by thegmm, we elected to settle certain debts throhghuse of other existing tax credits
recorded charges of approximately $34 milliorR009 associated with these matters. In July 26 Brazilian revenue authority notified
that a portion of our proposed settlement was tejeand we received tax assessments of 204 mBifaailian reais (approximateli78 million
as of December 31, 2014riflecting interest and penalties to date. We @&puting these assessments and we intend to vigigrdefend ot
position. Based on the opinion of our tax and leghlisors, we have not recorded an additional veselated to these matters.

In 2001, Brazil adopted a law making the profitscohtrolled foreign corporations of Brazilian elgtit subject to income and so
contribution tax regardless of whether the profitsre repatriated ("CFC Tax"). Our Brazilian subaigli along with other corporatiol
challenged tax assessments on foreign profits ostitotionality and other grounds. In April 2018¢tBrazilian Supreme Court ruled in
case, finding that the law is constitutional, bemnanding the case to a lower coiat consideration of other arguments raised in appeal
including the existence of tax treaties with juiisidns in which controlled foreign corporationgafomiciled. As of December 31, 201dut
potential exposure for income and social contriutiaxes relating to profits of controlled foreigorporations, including interest and pena
and net of expected foreign tax credits, is appnaxely 178 million Brazilian reais (approximatel§7million as of December 31, 2014%e
believe these assessments are without merit anithtesed to continue to vigorously dispute them. Bhsa the opinion of our tax and le
advisors, we have not accrued any amount relatdtese assessments as of December 31, 2014 .

In December 2013, we entered into a Brazilian gowvemnt program to settle long standing disputegidiaation in the program remov
uncertainty related to 16 assessments that wevgopsdy under dispute and significantly reduceseptiall penalties and interest associated
these matters. Our participation will result inalopayments including principal, interest, and pges of 75 million Brazilian reai
(approximately $28 million as of December 31, 2Q1daid in 30 monthly installments from Decembet 20

In addition to the IPI tax credit and CFC Tax mitteoted above, we are currently disputing otheessments issued by the Brazi
tax authorities related to naneome and income tax matters, including for thenatization of BEFIEX credits and other BEFIEX madi
which are at various stages of review in humeralmiaistrative and judicial proceedings. In accoamvith our accounting policies, '
routinely assess these matters and, when necesseoyd our best estimate of a loss. We believeethi@x assessments are without merit an
vigorously defending our positions.

Litigation is inherently unpredictable and the doson of these matters may take many years tmatily resolve, during which tir
the amounts related to these assessments willntento be increased by monetary adjustments é&ehe rate, which is the benchmark rate
by the Brazilian Central Bank. Accordingly, it isgsible that an unfavorable outcome in these pdicge could have a material adverse e
on our financial position, liquidity, or results operations in any particular reporting period.
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Other Litigation

We are currently defending against numerous lawguending in federal and state courts in the Un8&des relating to certain of «
front load washing machines. Some of these lawsatge been certified for treatment as class actidhge complaints in these lawsi
generally allege violations of state consumer fraats, unjust enrichment, product liability clairmsd breach of warranty. The compla
generally seek compensatory, consequential andipeitiamages. We believe these suits are withouit sxed are vigorously defending the
Given the preliminary stage of many of these prdiegs, the Company cannot reasonably estimate sigp@sange of loss, if any, at this tir
The resolution of one or more of these matterscchalve a material adverse effect on our Consolidgigancial Statements.

In addition, we are currently defending a numberotfer lawsuits in federal and state courts in lthéted States related to 1
manufacturing and sale of our products which inelathss action allegations. These lawsuits allégiens which include breach of contr:
breach of warranty, product liability claims, fraudolation of federal and state consumer protectats and negligence. We do not t
insurance coverage for class action lawsuits. Veatgo involved in various other legal actionshe tUnited States and other jurisdicti
around the world arising in the normal course dfibess, for which insurance coverage may or mayaeatvailable depending on the natui
the action. We dispute the merits of these suitbations, and intend to vigorously defend themndggment believes, based upon its cu
knowledge, after taking into consideration legalicsel's evaluation of such suits and actions, died taking into account current litigati
accruals, that the outcome of these matters clyrg@einding against Whirlpool should not have a mateadverse effect, if any, on ¢
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other Matters

In 2013, the French Competition Authority commenaead investigation of appliance manufacturers ardilees in France. Tt
investigation includes 11 manufacturers, includimg Whirlpool and Indesit operations in FrancehAligh it is currently not possible to as:
the impact, if any, this matter may have on our $didated Financial Statements, the resolutiorhisf tmatter could have a material adv
effect on our financial position, liquidity, or id$s of operations in any particular reporting pdri
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of B98rovides a safe harbor for forwdabking statements made by us or on our be
Certain statements contained in this annual repuctuding those within the forwaroking perspective section within this Managens
Discussion and Analysis, and other written and stalements made from time to time by us or onbainalf do not relate strictly to histori
or current facts and may contain forwdodking statements that reflect our current viewishwespect to future events and finan
performance. As such, they are considered “fordaolting statementsivhich provide current expectations or forecastfuafre events. Sui
statements can be identified by the use of terrmogolsuch as “may,” “could,” “will,” “should,” “posbkle,” “plan,” “predict,” “forecast,”
“potential,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” ‘fjoject,” “intend,” “believe,” “may impact,” “on trek,” and similar words or expressions. !
forward-looking statements generally relate to growth strategies, financial results, product depeient, and sales efforts. These forwart
looking statements should be considered with thdersianding that such statements involve a vaoétysks and uncertainties, known
unknown, and may be affected by inaccurate assomgtiConsequently, no forwalobking statement can be guaranteed and actudisesay
vary materially.

This document contains forward-looking statemeitisu& Whirlpool Corporation and its consolidated sidlaries (“Whirlpool”) tha
speak only as of this date. Whirlpool disclaims afjigation to update these statements. Ford@olling statements in this document t
include, but are not limited to, statements regaydixpected earnings per share, cash flow, prodiyctind raw material prices. Many ris
contingencies and uncertainties could cause arsalts to differ materially from Whirlpool's formglooking statements. Among these fac
are: (1) intense competition in the home applidndestry reflecting the impact of both new and blshed global competitors, including As
and European manufacturers; (2) acquisition andstmentelated risk, including risk associated with ouguisitions of Hefei Sanyo a
Indesit, and risk associated with our increasedqiree in emerging markets; (3) Whirlpool's abili@ycontinue its relationship with significi
trade customers and the ability of these tradeoousts to maintain or increase market share; (&3 nislated to our international operatic
including changes in foreign regulations, regukaimsmpliance and disruptions arising from natuisasters or terrorist attacks; (5) fluctuati
in the cost of key materials (including steel, ptasesins, copper and aluminum) and componendstiaa ability of Whirlpool to offset cc
increases; (6) the ability of Whirlpool to manageeign currency fluctuations; (7) litigation, taayd legal compliance risk and costs, espet
costs which may be materially different from thecamt we expect to incur or have accrued for; (&) éiffects and costs of governme
investigations or related actions by third parti€y; changes in the legal and regulatory envirortnraciuding environmental and health i
safety regulations; (10) Whirlpool's ability to mtiin its reputation and brand image; (11) theitgddlf Whirlpool to achieve its business ple
productivity improvements, cost control, price im@ses, leveraging of its global operating platfoand acceleration of the rate of innovat
(12) information technology system failures andadsecurity breaches; (13) product liability anddarct recall costs; (14) inventory and ot
asset risk; (15) changes in economic conditionchviaiffect demand for our products, including threrggth of the building industry and
level of interest rates; (16) the ability of suppd of critical parts, components and manufactueggipment to deliver sufficient quantities
Whirlpool in a timely and costffective manner; (17) the uncertain global econph) our ability to attract, develop and retakeeutives an
other qualified employees; (19) the impact of lateations; (20) Whirlpool's ability to obtain apdotect intellectual property rights; and (
health care cost trends, regulatory changes andtieais between results and estimates that coude@se future funding obligations
pension and postretirement benefit plans.

We undertake no obligation to update any forwaking statement, and investors are advised tewedisclosures in our filings wi
the SEC. It is not possible to foresee or iderdifyfactors that could cause actual results tcediffom expected or historic results. Therel
investors should not consider the foregoing factorse an exhaustive statement of all risks, una#ies, or factors that could potentially ce
actual results to differ from forward-looking staients.

Additional information concerning these and ottaamtérs can be found in “Risk Factors” in Item 1Athik report.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS - (CONTINUED)

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

MARKET RISK

We have in place an enterprise risk managemengepsathat involves systematic risk identificationl amtigation covering the categor
of enterprise, strategic, financial, operation amanpliance and reporting risk. The enterprise nsknagement process receives Boai
Directors and Management oversight, drives riskigaiton decisiommaking and is fully integrated into our internaldauplanning an
execution cycle.

We are exposed to market risk from changes in doreiurrency exchange rates, domestic and foreitgrest rates, and commoc
prices, which can affect our operating results amdrall financial condition. We manage exposurehiese risks through our operating
financing activities and, when deemed appropridw@ugh the use of derivatives. Derivatives arevei@ as risk management tools and art
used for speculation or for trading purposes. Qaives are generally contracted with a diversifigdup of investment grade counterpartie
reduce exposure to nonperformance on such instrismen

We use foreign currency forward contracts, curremgyons and currency swaps to hedge the priceadskciated with firmly committ
and forecasted crodgmrder payments and receipts related to ongoin@éss and operational financing activities. Foreigrency contrac
are sensitive to changes in foreign currency exgbaates. At December 31, 2014 10% favorable or unfavorable exchange rate mewe ir

each currency in our portfolio of foreign currermntracts would have resulted in an incrementadalimed gain or loss of approximately $65

$80 million. Consistent with the use of these cacts to neutralize the effect of exchange ratetdatons, such unrealized losses or ¢
would be offset by corresponding gains or lossespectively, in the re-measurement of the undeglgixposures.

We enter into commodity swap contracts to hedgepthee risk associated with firmly committed andeftasted commodities purcha:
the prices of which are not fixed directly throughpply contracts. As of December 31, 2014 10% favorable or unfavorable shift
commodity prices would have resulted in an incretalegain or loss of approximately $40 million, resgively, related to these contracts.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

WHIRLPOOL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Year Ended December 31,
(Millions of dollars, except per share data)

2014 2013 2012
Net sales $ 19,87: $ 18,76¢ $ 18,14:
Expenses
Cost of products sold 16,471 15,47 15,25(
Gross margin 3,39¢ 3,29¢ 2,89:¢
Selling, general and administrative 2,03¢ 1,82¢ 1,75
Intangible amortization 33 25 30
Restructuring costs 13€ 19¢ 237
Operating profit 1,18¢ 1,24¢ 86¢
Other income (expense)
Interest and sundry income (expense) (142) (155) (112
Interest expense (16%) @77 (199
Earnings before income taxes 881 917 55¢
Income tax expense 18¢ 68 13¢
Net earnings 692 84¢ 42¢
Less: Net earnings available to noncontrolling ries¢s 42 22 24
Net earnings available to Whirlpool $ 65C $ 827 $ 401
Per share of common stock
Basic net earnings available to Whirlpool $ 83C $ 104 $ 5.14
Diluted net earnings available to Whirlpool $ 817 $ 10.2¢ % 5.0¢
Weighted-average shares outstanding (in millions)
Basic 78.% 79.% 78.1
Diluted 79.€ 80.¢ 79.c

The accompanying notes are an integral part okt@emsolidated Financial Statements.
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WHIRLPOOL CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31,
(Millions of dollars)

Net earnings

Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Derivative instruments:
Net gain (loss) arising during period
Less: reclassification adjustment for gairsgoincluded in net earnings
Derivative instruments, net
Marketable securities:
Net gain arising during period
Less: reclassification adjustment for lossuded in net earnings
Marketable securities, net
Defined benefit pension and postretirement plans:
Prior service (cost) credit arising duringiper
Net gain (loss) arising during period
Less: amortization of prior service creditg§yand actuarial (loss)
Defined benefit pension and postretirement plaas,
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax
Income tax benefit (expense) related to itefritleer comprehensive income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax

Comprehensive income
Less: comprehensive income, available to noimobling interests

Comprehensive income available to Whirlpool

The accompanying notes are an integral part okt@emsolidated Financial Statements.

36

2014 2013 2012

69z $ 84¢ 42F
(392) (122) (36)
10 (9) (17)
11 (12) (25)
(2 2 8
— 7 2
— — )
— 7 9
11 @) 2
(242) 47E (384)
(20) (35) 38
(239) 50¢ (420)
(626) 39t (439)
80 (165) 13C
(546) $ 23C (309)
146  $ 1,07¢ 11€
38 18 2C
106 $ 1,06( 96




WHIRLPOOL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
At December 31,

(Millions of dollars)

Assets
Current assets

Cash and equivalents $

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $154 angl, $espectively
Inventories

Deferred income taxes

Prepaid and other current assets

Total current assets

Property, net of accumulated depreciation of $52%9 $6,278, respectively
Goodwill

Other intangibles, net of accumulated amortizatib$267 and $237, respectively
Deferred income taxes

Other noncurrent assets

Total assets $

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $
Accrued expenses
Accrued advertising and promotions
Employee compensation
Notes payable
Current maturities of long-term debt
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities
Long-term debt
Pension benefits
Postretirement benefits
Other noncurrent liabilities

Total noncurrent liabilities

Stockholders’ equity

Common stock, $1 par value, 250 million sharesanigbd, 110 million and 109 million shares issued,
and 78 million and 77 million shares outstandimgpectively

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Treasury stock, 32 million shares

Total Whirlpool stockholders’ equity

Noncontrolling interests

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $

2014 2013
1,02¢ $ 1,38(
2,76¢ 2,00t
2,74( 2,40¢

417 54¢
1,147 68C
8,09¢ 7,022
3,981 3,041
2,80 1,72¢
2,80z 1,70z
1,90( 1,76¢

41z 291

20,00: % 15,54«
4,730 $ 3,86t

852 71C

673 441

49¢ 45€

56¢ 10

234 607

84€ 70%
8,40z 6,794
3,54¢ 1,84¢
1,12¢ 93C

44¢ 45¢

69C 482
5,80z 3,71¢

11C 10¢
2,55t 2,45:¢
6,20¢ 5,78¢
(1,840 (1,299
(2,149 (2,129
4,88t 4,92/

911 11C
5,79¢ 5,03¢

20,00: % 15,54:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottEmsolidated Financial Statements.
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WHIRLPOOL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31,
(Millions of dollars)

2014 2013 2012
Operating activities
Net earnings $ 692 84¢ 42k
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash plexvby operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 56C 54C 551
Curtailment gain — — (52
Increase (decrease) in LIFO inventory reserve 9 (26) (13
Brazilian collection dispute — — (27%)
Changes in assets and liabilities (net of effetcquisitions):
Accounts receivable (90) (65) 47
Inventories 40 (86) (7
Accounts payable 35¢ 27¢ 24C
Accrued advertising and promotions 121 28 (13
Accrued expenses and current liabilities (232) 82 —
Taxes deferred and payable, net 49 (10%) (68)
Accrued pension and postretirement benefits (181) (184) (227)
Employee compensation ()] (23 24¢
Other 16¢ (29 (167)
Cash provided by operating activities 1,47¢ 1,262 69¢€
Investing activities
Capital expenditures (720 (57¢) (47¢€)
Proceeds from sale of assets and business 21 6 10
Change in restricted cash 74 — —
Acquisition of Indesit Company S.p.A. (1,356 — —
Acquisition of Hefei Rongshida Sanyo Electric Add. (4593 — —
Investment in related businesses (16) (6) (28)
Other (6) 4) —
Cash used in investing activities (2,456 (582) (494)
Financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings of long-term debt 1,48 51¢ 32z
Repayments of long-term debt (60€) (519 (361)
Net proceeds from short-term borrowings 63 5 6
Dividends paid (2249) (187) (15%)
Repurchase of common stock (25) (350 —
Purchase of noncontrolling interest shares (5) — —
Common stock issued 38 95 43
Other (29 2 (3)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities 70t (434) (14¢)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equtsal (82 (34) 5
Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents (354) 212 59
Cash and equivalents at beginning of year 1,38( 1,16¢ 1,10¢
Cash and equivalents at end of year $ 1,02¢ 1,38( 1,16¢
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest $ 172 17¢ 197
Cash paid for income taxes $ 14C 15¢ 177

The accompanying notes are an integral part okt@emsolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’

WHIRLPOOL CORPORATION

Year ended December 31,

(Millions of dollars)

Whirlpool Stockholders’ Equity

EQUITY

Treasury Stock/ Non-
Retained Accumulated Other Additional Paid- Common Controlling
Total Earnings Comprehensive Loss in-Capital Stock Interests

Balances, December 31, 2011 $ 4280 $ 492 $ (1,220 $ 37¢ 10€ $ 99
Comprehensive income

Net earnings 42~ 401 — — — 24

Other comprehensive loss (309 — (305) — — (4)
Comprehensive income 11€ 401 (30%) — — 20
Cumulative adjustment, equity method
investment (18) (18) — — — —
Stock issued 15¢ — — 157 2 —
Dividends declared (70 (15¢) — — — (12
Balances, December 31, 2012 4,36 5,147 (1,53)) 53€ 10¢ 107
Comprehensive income

Net earnings 84¢ 827 — — — 22

Other comprehensive income 23C — 23¢ — — 3
Comprehensive income 1,07¢ 827 23¢ — — 19
Stock issued (repurchased) (20€) — — (207) 1 —
Dividends declared (20¢) (290 — — — (16)
Balances, December 31, 2013 5,03¢ 5,78¢ (1,299 32¢ 10¢ 11C
Comprehensive income

Net earnings 692 65C — — — 42

Other comprehensive loss (54¢€) — (542) — — (4)
Comprehensive income 14¢€ 65C (542) — — 38
Stock issued 58 — — 58 1 —
Dividends declared (249 (225) — — — (29
Acquisitions 801 — — 19 — 782
Balances, December 31, 2014 $ 579% $ 6,20¢ $ (1,84() $ 40¢€ 11C % 911

The accompanying notes are an integral part okt@emsolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
General Information

Whirlpool Corporation, a Delaware corporation, hie tvorld's leading manufacturer and marketer ofompme appliances. Whirlpc
manufactures products in 14 countries and marketsygts in nearly every country around the worldembrand names such airlpool ,
KitchenAid, Maytag, Consul, Brastemp, Amana, Bauknecht, Jenn-Air and Indesit. Whirlpool's reportable segments consist of N
America, Latin America, EMEA (Europe, Middle EasidaAfrica) and Asia.

Principles of Consolidation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include ajonity-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactioagehbeen eliminated up
consolidation. We do not consolidate the finanstatements of any company in which we have an csheinterest of 50% or less unless
company is deemed to be a variable interest eiMiE") of which we are the primary beneficiary. €&n VIEs are consolidated when
company is the primary beneficiary of these erstitiad has the ability to directly impact the atig of these entities.

Reclassifications

We reclassified certain prior period amounts in @onsolidated Financial Statements to be consistéhtcurrent period presentatis
The effect of these reclassifications is not materi

Use of Estimates

We are required to make estimates and assumpti@isaffect the amounts reported in the Consolidd&tedncial Statements a
accompanying notes. Actual results could differemiatly from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Sales are recorded when title passes to the cusesidetermined by the shipping terms. For the ritgjof our sales, title is transferr
to the customer as soon as products are shipped portion of our sales, title is transferred lie tustomer upon receipt of products a
customers location. Allowances for estimated returns arelenan sales of certain products based on historétaftn rates for the produ
involved.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Acamnts

We carry accounts receivable at sales value lesdlanwance for doubtful accounts. We periodicallialeate accounts receivable .
establish an allowance for doubtful accounts basea@ combination of specific customer circumstancesdit conditions and the history
write-offs and collections. We evaluate items orratividual basis when determining accounts reddaavrite-offs. In general, our policy is
not charge interest on trade receivables afteimimice becomes past due. A receivable is congidpast due if payment has not been rece
within agreed upon invoice terms.

Securitization of Financing Receivables / Variablénterest Entities

Indesit, acquired by Whirlpool in the fourth quarter of120 has maintained a securitization program sir@E02The securitizatic
involves the without-recourse sale of trade reddasbylndesit. The receivables are acquired by special purposges ("SPEs") which a
financed by the issuance of securities whose repayis guaranteed by the cash flows generatedebgetteivables sold.

At December 31, 2014 liabilities related to the securitization werengwised of senior securities issued on the dsaeted securi
market and totaled $88 million . At the same dfimncial receivables represented by junior sei@sritotal $53 million cash not yet collect
on receivables sold was $38 milliand cash held by the SPEs (reflected in other otiagsets due to its restricted use for debt repagjmva:
$5 million . AtDecember 31, 2014$35 million from the securitization is included\\Vhirlpool’s notes payable balance.

The SPEs related to the securitization are desigmertkate and pass along debt proceeds and relebtaé@xpenses to Indesits interes
holder. Additionally, Indesit has the ability to directly impact the activitietthese entities. Therefore, these entities arsidered variab
interest entities and Indesiis considered the primary beneficiary of theseitiest Accordingly, the results of these entitieavé bee
consolidated into Whirlpool's financial resultszécember 31, 2014
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (C ONTINUED)

Whirlpool stopped the sale of receivables relatedhie securitization beginning in December 2014. &viécipate exiting this de
securitization by the end of the first quarter 61.3.

Freight and Warehousing Costs

We classify freight and warehousing costs withiatad products sold in our Consolidated Statemehiscome.
Cash and Equivalents

All highly liquid debt instruments purchased with iaitial maturity of three months or less are ddased cash equivalents.
Restricted Cash

Restricted cash relates to the private placemerdsfypaid by Whirlpool to acquire a portion of thees needed to acquire majc
control of Hefei Sanyo in October 2014. The restdccash is used to fund capital and technicaluress to enhance Hefei Sanyaesearc
and development and working capital. As of Decen#igr2014, restricted cash was approximately $28ifomof which approximately$5C
million is recorded in other current assets, with temaining portion recorded in other non-curessets.

Fair Value Measurements

We measure fair value based on an exit price, septing the amount that would be received to sedsset or paid to transfer a liabi
in an orderly transaction between market partidipafts such, fair value is a markesed measurement that should be determined ba
assumptions that market participants would useriting an asset or liability. As a basis for comsidg such assumptions, a thtemed fai
value hierarchy is established, which prioritizee inputs used in measuring fair value as follofisvel 1) observable inputs such as qu
prices in active markets; (Level 2) inputs, othaart the quoted prices in active markets that asemible, either directly or indirectly; ¢
(Level 3) unobservable inputs in which there iddibr no market data, which require the reporémgjty to develop its own assumptions.
had no Level 3 assets or liabilities at Decembe814 and 2013, with the exception of those disad in Note 13 .

We measured fair value for money market funds aralable for sale investments using quoted markitep in active markets f
identical or comparable assets. We measured faieviar derivative contracts, all of which have nterparties with high credit ratings, ba
on model driven valuations using significant inpdésived from observable market data.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at first-in, first-out (“l2F cost, except United States production invem®riwhich are stated at last-in, fimit
(“LIFO") cost, and Latin America, Asia and certain EMEA imgies, which are stated at average cost. Costsotl@xceed net realizal
values. See Note 5 for additional information akiouéntories.

Property

Property is stated at cost, net of accumulatededégtion. For production machinery and equipmem,record depreciation based
units produced, unless units produced drop belomirdmum threshold at which point depreciation isaeled using the straiglite methoc
excluding property acquired from Hefei Sanyo andebit acquisitions. For nonproduction assets asdtasacquired from Hefei Sanpmc
Indesit , as of December 31, 2014 we depreciatés dossed on the straiglite method. Depreciation expense for property]uiding
accelerated depreciation classified as restrugekpense in our Consolidated Statements of Inceras $527 million , $515 million artb2]
million in 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

The following table summarizes our property as eE&@mber 31, 2014 and 2013 :

Millions of dollars 2014 2013 Estimated Useful Life
Land $ 14z $ 76 n/a
Buildings 1,61¢€ 1,30z 10 to 50 year
Machinery and equipment 8,18 7,94( 3 to 25 year
Accumulated depreciation (5,959 (6,279

Property, net $ 3,981 $ 3,041
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (C ONTINUED)

We classify gains and losses associated with degmisitions in the same line item as the undeglygiapreciation of the disposed ass
the Consolidated Statements of Income. We retipguiaximately $503 million and $282 millioof machinery and equipment no longer in
during 2014 and 2013, respectively. Net gainslasskes recognized in cost of products sold werenadérial for 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .

We record impairment losses on loliggd assets, excluding goodwill and intangiblebew events and circumstances indicate the
may be impaired and the estimated future cash flgeveerated by those assets are less than theyincpemounts. There were ignifican
impairments recorded during 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .

Goodwill and Other Intangibles

We evaluate goodwill using a qualitative assessrtedietermine whether it is more likely than nattthe fair value of any reporti
unit is less than its carrying amount. If we deti@erthat the fair value of the reporting unit maylbss than its carrying amount, we eval
goodwill using a two-step impairment test. Othemyisve conclude that no impairment is indicated amddo not perform the twstef
impairment test.

If the qualitative assessment concludes that tlwestep impairment test is necessary, we first comgi@rdoook value of a reporting ul
including goodwill, with its fair value. The fairalue is estimated based on a market approach dist@unted cash flow analysis, also kn
as the income approach, and is reconciled badket@trrent market capitalization for Whirlpool tasere that the implied control premiun
reasonable. If the book value of a reporting uriteeds its fair value, we perform the second stepstimate an implied fair value of
reporting units goodwill by allocating the fair value of the refiag unit to all of the assets and liabilities eththan goodwill (including ar
unrecognized intangible assets). The differencevdxet the total fair value of the reporting unit d@he fair value of all the assets and liabili
other than goodwill is the implied fair value ofathgoodwill. The amount of impairment loss is equathe excess of the book value of
goodwill over the implied fair value of that goodiwi

We evaluate certain indefinitered intangibles using a qualitative assessmeietermine whether it is more likely than not ttie fai
value of the indefinite lived intangible assetésd than its carrying amount. If we determine thatfair value may be less than its carr
amount, the fair value of the trademark is estighatad compared to its carrying value to determireniimpairment exists. Otherwise,
conclude that no impairment is indicated and waaloperform the quantitative test.

When the qualitative assessment is not utilized agdiantitative test is performed, we estimatefdiirevalue of these intangible ass
using the relief-from-royalty method, which req@irassumptions related to projected revenues fromaonaoual longange plan; assum
royalty rates that could be payable if we did netahe trademark; and a discount rate based orweighted average cost of capital.
recognize an impairment loss when the estimated/&iie of the indefinite-lived intangible asseldass than its carrying value.

Definite lived intangible assets are amortized dbweir estimated useful life. See NotdoB additional information about goodwill a
intangible assets.

Accounts Payable Outsourcing

We offer our suppliers access to third party paggibcessors. Independent of Whirlpool, the pramasallow suppliers to sell th
receivables to financial institutions at the sdketetion of both the supplier and the financiatitution. In China, as a common practice we
suppliers with banker’'s acceptance drafts. Baiskacceptance drafts allow suppliers to sell thegieivables to financial institutions at the :
discretion of both the supplier and the finanamstitution. We have no economic interest in the sdithese receivables and no direct finai
relationship with the financial institutions conoig these services. All of our obligations, indhglamounts due, remain to our supplier
stated in our supplier agreements. As of DecembgP@14 and 2013 , approximately $1.6 billion aad3%illion, respectively, have been s
by suppliers to participating financial instituten
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (C ONTINUED)

Derivative Financial Instruments

We use derivative instruments designated as cashdhd fair value hedges to manage our exposutieetoolatility in material cost
foreign currency and interest rates on certain dedttuments. Changes in the fair value of derxeatissets or liabilities (i.e., gains or losses
recognized depending upon the type of hedgingiosiship and whether a hedge has been designatedh®se derivative instruments t
qualify for hedge accounting, we designate the megd@strument, based upon the exposure being liedrea cash flow hedge, fair ve
hedge, or a hedge of a net investment in a forefration. For a derivative instrument designated &ir value hedge, the gain or loss ot
derivative is recognized in earnings in the perddcthange in fair value together with the offseagtigain or loss on the hedged item. F
derivative instrument designated as a cash flovgégthe effective portion of the derivatigejain or loss is initially reported as a compordd
Other Comprehensive Income and is subsequentlygnéoed in earnings when the hedged exposure affesmtsings. For a derivati
instrument designated as a hedge of a net investmenforeign operation, the effective portiontbé derivatives gain or loss is reported
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) as part of theutative translation adjustment. Changes in fain@af derivative instruments that do
qualify for hedge accounting are recognized imntetiiain current net earnings. See Notdo8 additional information about hedges
derivative financial instruments.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilarestranslated into United States dollars at exgbaates existing at the respec
balance sheet dates. Translation adjustments iresélom fluctuations in exchange rates are recbrae a separate component of accumu
other comprehensive income (loss) within stockhwidequity. The results of operations of foreign suiasids are translated at the avel
exchange rates during the respective periods. Gaididosses resulting from foreign currency tratigas are included in net earnings.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are charged to ssxpewl totaled $563 million , $582 million and $568lion in 2014 , 2013nc
2012 , respectively.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are charged to expense whendheréisement is first communicated and totaled $2@Hon , $304 million andb27:
million in 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the asset ahilityamethod. Under this method, deferred tax &saad liabilities are recognized
the future tax consequences of temporary differeetween the financial statement and tax basassgts and liabilities using enacted r
The effect of a change in tax rates on deferrec$sets is recognized in income in the period atenent date.

We recognize, in other current and noncurrentlités, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, effettmn uncertain income tax posit
when it is more likely than not, based on technivadrits, that the position will be sustained upoamgination. We accrue for other
contingencies when it is probable that a liabitiya taxing authority has been incurred and thewsnrnof the contingency can be reason
estimated.

Provision is made for taxes on undistributed e@®iof foreign subsidiaries and related companig¢sd@xtent that such earnings are
deemed to be permanently invested. See Note I&iftitional information about income taxes.

Stock Based Compensation

We recognize stock based compensation expense lbas#ite grant date fair value of the award over pieeiod during which &
employee is required to provide service in exchaogehe award (generally the vesting period). Thie value of stock options is determit
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, whictorporates assumptions regarding the fisk-interest rate, expected volatility, expe
option life and dividend yield. Stock options amamgfed with an exercise price equal to the stoadepon the date of grant. The fair value
restricted stock units and performance stock ugitgenerally based on the closing market price afriyfool common stock on the grant d
See Note 10 for additional information about stbeked compensation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (C ONTINUED)

BEFIEX Credits

In previous years, our Brazilian operations earteedcredits under the Brazilian governmsngxport incentive program (BEFIE:
These credits reduce Brazilian federal excise taeslomestic sales, resulting in an increase indberations’recorded net sales. \
recognized export credits as they were monetized.Nbte 7 and Note 12 for additional informatiogareling BEFIEX credits.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standardsaf8o(“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update SWX) No. 201311,
“Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit Whéifet Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Lossa Tax Credit Carryforwa
Exists.” This new guidance is effective prospectively fonaal reporting periods beginning on or after Decenitb, 2013 and interim peric
therein. ASU 20131 provides guidance on the presentation of unmgzed tax benefits, reflecting the manner in whachentity would settl
at the reporting date, any additional income tattest would result from the disallowance of a taxsipon when net operating Ic
carryforwards, similar tax losses, or tax credirg@rwards exist. We adopted the provisions of tainendment during the first quarter of 2
which resulted in a reclassification between othen-current liabilities and non-current deferredoime tax assets of approximatéi$:
million . The adoption did not change existing rgrition and measurement requirements in our Couistgld Financial Statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009- "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Toi6)6 which supersedes the reve
recognition requirements in ASC 605, Revenue Reitiogn This ASU is based on the principle that mewe is recognized to depict the tran
of goods or services to customers in an amountréflgcts the consideration to which the entity entp to be entitled in exchange for tt
goods or services. The ASU also requires additigiedlosure about the nature, amount, timing ancktainty of revenue and cash flc
arising from customer contracts, including sigrafit judgments and changes in judgments and assetgnized from costs incurred to ob
or fulfill a contract. This pronouncement is efigetfor annual reporting periods beginning aftec®aber 15, 2016, including interim peri
within that reporting period and is to be appliesing one of two retrospective application methodth early application not permitted. \
have not yet determined the potential effects fthis pronouncement on the Consolidated Financetkestents, if any.

All other issued but not yet effective accountinggrnpuncements are not expected to have a matem@hdt on our Consolidat
Financial Statements.

(2) ACQUISITIONS
Hefei Rongshida Sanyo Electric Co., Ltd.

On October 24, 2014 , Whirlpool's wholly-owned sdt@y, Whirlpool (China) Investment Co., Ltd., (‘Wflpool China”),completed it
acquisition of a 51% equity stake in Hefei Sanggqint stock company whose shares are listed radléd on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

Pursuant to a Share Purchase Agreement among \Wiirghina, SANYO Electric Co., Ltd. (“Sanyo Japardhd SANYO Electri
(China) Co., Ltd. (“Sanyo China”, and together w&anyo Japan, the “Sellersjn October 20, 2014, Whirlpool China completeditschas
of the 157 million shares (or 29.51% ) of Hefei gaeurrently held by the Sellers (such transactiba,“Share Purchase”) for RMB4 billion
(approximately $230 million at the date of purchase

On October 24, 2014 , pursuant to a Share Subisgrigigreement (the “Share Subscription Agreemebé&iween Whirlpool China a
Hefei Sanyo , Whirlpool China completed its suligoon for 234 millionshares (which, together with shares purchased antrda the Sha
Purchase Agreement, aggregated 51% ) of Hefei Spmgsuant to a private placement (such transadtien;Share Subscription”) for RMB.C
billion (approximately $321 milliorat the date of purchase). Pursuant to the SharscBption Agreement and as required by the lawhe
People’s Republic of China, Whirlpool China will lpgevented from selling any shares of Hefei Sanyo36 months from the date
acquisition.

The aggregate purchase price for the Share Puremaksthe Share Subscription was RMB 3.4 billiorpfagimately $551 milliorat the
dates of purchase). The purchase price for theeSRarchase was payable in USD based on the exchiategas of August 9, 2013. 1
Company funded the total consideration for the ehavith cash on hand. The cash paid for the Shalsec&iption is considered restricted ¢
which will be used to fund capital and technicalaerces to enhance Hefei Sanyo’s research andagereht and working capital.
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Indesit Company S.p.A.

On July 10, 2014 , we entered into share purchgssements with (i) Fineldo S.p.A. (“Fineldaind the share purchase agreement
Fineldo, the “Fineldo SPA”), a company incorporatewier the laws of Italy, concerning the purchase sale of 42.7%f the issued sha
capital (the “Fineldo Shares”) of Indesid joint stock company incorporated under the lafvsaly whose shares are listed on the stock et
organized and managed by Borsa Italiana S.p.A.M@. Franca Carloni, Mr. Aristide Merloni, Mr. Anel Merloni, Ms. Maria Paola Merlo
Ms. Antonella Merloni, Ms. Ester Merloni, Fines $\pand, following approval by the Court of Ancordr. Vittorio Merloni (the ‘Family
SPA"), collectively concerning the purchase anc s#l 13.2% of Indesit 's issued share capital (fr@mily Shares”),and (iii) Ms. Claudi
Merloni (the “Claudia Merloni SPA” and, togethertlvihe Fineldo SPA and the Family SPA, the “StoakcRase Agreementstpncerning th
purchase and sale of 4.4% of Indesit 's issuedestegpital (the “Claudia Merloni Shares”).

On October 14, 2014 we completed our acquisition of the Fineldo Skarader the Fineldo SPA and our acquisition of Faenily
Shares under the Family SPA. We completed our aitoun of the Claudia Merloni Shares under the @laiMerloni SPA on July 17, 2014.
the aggregate, pursuant to the Stock Purchase wgrrgs, we acquired 60.4% of Indesit 's issued sbapial. This represents 66.8%Ilnflesi
's issued and outstanding stock. The aggregatehpeecprice for the Fineldo Shares was €537 millagproximately $680 milliorat the dat
of purchase). The aggregate purchase price foFdmeily Shares was €166 million (approximately $2illion at the date of purchase). 7
aggregate purchase price for the Claudia Merlogir&hwas €55 million (approximately $75 milliah the date of purchase). The Comg
funded the aggregate purchase price for the Fingldoes and Family Shares through borrowings unglecredit facility, and repaid a porti
of such borrowings through the issuance of an aggeeprincipal amount of $650 million in senior e®bn November 4, 2014.

On November 26, 2014we announced in Italy the final results for thandatory tender offer for the remaining outstandihgres ¢
Indesit . Settlement and closing of the mandatender offer occurred on November 28, 20Me received tenders for a number of sk
equal to 91.4% of the total shares available foclpase in the mandatory tender offer, increasingaggregate ownership interest in Indesit ’
issued share capital to 97.1% . The aggregate asecprice for the shares purchased at settlemethieofandatory tender offer wa84e
million (approximately $429 million as of the datepurchase).

On December 3, 2014 Whirlpool purchased all remaining shares of litdaad Indesit delisted from the Electronic Stoclarke
organized and managed by Borsa Italiana S.p.A.| Totssideration paid for Indesit was $1.4 billianaggregate net of cash acquired.

We funded the aggregate purchase price for theeteoffer and remaining shares through borrowingdeurour credit facility ar
through borrowings under our commercial paper @ogy, and intend to repay such borrowings in theréuthrough public debt financing.

Purchase Price Allocations

The Company is in the process of finalizing indegestt appraisals for the purpose of allocating tivelpase price to the individual as:
acquired and liabilities assumed in the Hefei Saayd Indesitacquisitions. This is expected to result in adjestta to the carrying values
recorded assets and liabilities, refinement of am®uecorded for certain intangible assets, renssiof the useful lives of intangible ass
some of which will have indefinite lives not sulfjgo amortization, and the determination of anyidesl amount that will be allocated
goodwill. The preliminary allocation of the purclkaprices included in the current period balanceeslke based on the best estimate
management and is subject to revision based on flaermination of asset fair values and usefuédivThe related depreciation .
amortization expense from the acquired assetsdssaibject to such revisions on a prospective basis
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The following table presents the preliminary alliima of purchase price related to the Hefei Sanyd ladesitacquisitions, as of the
respective dates of acquisition:

Millions of dollars Hefei Sanyo® Indesit

Cash $ 98 $ 77
Accounts receivable 81 891
Inventory 137 471
Other current assets 354 28¢
Property, plant and equipment 16¢ 854
Goodwill 451 667
Identified intangible assets 372 822
Other non-current assets 317 162
Total assets acquired 1,97¢ 4,23
Accounts payable (181) (631)
Short-term notes payable (22€) (555)
Other current liabilities (92) (622)
Non-current liabilities (139 (987)
Total liabilities assumed (631) (2,795
Net assets acquired $ 1,346 $ 1,431

®We purchased a 51% controlling interest in Hefeiy®s net assets described in the table; thecoatrolling interest was valued at $801 milliore tarket value of tt
stock price of the shares purchased on the datepfisition

Goodwill, which is not deductible for tax purposéss been allocated to the Asia and EMEA operaagments on the basis that
cost efficiencies identified will primarily benefihese segments of the business based on the jpatjnallocation of the purchase price of
respective acquisitions. Any changes to the inéslmates of the fair values of the assets ahilitias will be allocated to residual goodwill.

The Company has preliminarily estimated the falugaf Hefei Sanyo and Indesit 's identifiable irgible assets as follows:

Hefei Sanyo Indesit
Estimated Estimated Estimated Estimated
Millions of dollars Fair Value Useful Life Fair Value Useful Life
Trademarks-indefinite lived $ 42 $ 53¢
Customer relationships 23C 13-16 years 134 5-19 years
Patents and other intangibles 10C 3-10 years 15¢ 6-15 years
$ 37z $ 82z

The customer relationship intangibles of Hefei Sawgre mainly allocated to its traditional trade disitors, which have an estima
useful life of up to 16 years based on low histlreind projected customer attrition rates amonggiilers. The majority of the intangible a:
valuation for Indesit relates to thedesitandHotpointbrands (Whirlpool ownership of théotpointbrand in EMEA and Asia Pacific region:
not affiliated with theHotpointbrand sold in the Americas), which are indefinitedl intangibles. The Comparsypreliminary assessment a
trademarks having an indefinite life was based amumber of factors, including competitive envirommemarket share, brand history
product life cycles. The patents and other intaegilhave an estimated useful life that varies basethe estimate of the expected life of
technology and the products associated with thientogy. The estimated useful lives of the fiditeed intangible assets will be amorti:
using a straight-line method of amortization.
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Pro Forma Results of Operations

The results of Hefei Sanyo and Indesit 's operatibave been included in the Consolidated FinarStatements beginninQctober 24
2014 and October 14, 2014espectively. Within Whirlpool's Consolidated ®taent of Income for 2014, Hefei Sanyo and Indegitesente
$994 million of net sales and $15 million of netréags, which excludes certain non-recurring adtjaisrelated costs and investm
expenses.

The following table provides pro forma results gfecations for the years ended December 31, 2014&ah8, as if Hefei Sanyanc
Indesithad been acquired as of January 1, 2013. The pnoafoesults include certain purchase accountingsatients such as the estimi
changes in depreciation and amortization expens&cquired tangible and intangible assets as walitasest expense on borrowings use
finance the acquisitions. Additionally, the prorfa results include adjustments to convert Hefeiy8amnd Indesits historical results fro
local accounting standards to U.S. GAAP. Pro fomasults do not include any anticipated cost saviog®ther effects of the planr
integration of these acquisitions. Accordingly, lstBmounts are not necessarily indicative of thaltegthat would have occurred if 1
acquisition had occurred on the dates indicatetiatrmay result in the future.

Year Ended December 31,

Millions of dollars, except per share data 2014 2013

Net sales $ 23,20¢ % 23,10¢
Net earnings available to Whirlpool 691 791
Diluted net earnings per share $ 8.6¢ $ 9.7¢

Certain non-recurring acquisition-related costs anegstment expenses of $30 million and $60 milliwere recorded by Whirlpo
during 2014 related to the acquisitions of Hefany@aand Indesit , respectively. Of these costs,#8kon were recorded in interest and sur
income (expense), with the remaining being recoidesktlling, general and administrative. In 201&, wcurred $21 million of nonecurring
acquisition-related costs and investment experadlest which related to Hefei Sanyo . Of these sp$l5 millionwere recorded in interest ¢
sundry income (expense), with the remaining begwprded in selling, general and administrative.sEheosts have been eliminated frormr
pro forma information presented above in both mkyio

(3) GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES
We evaluate goodwill and indefinite lived intangiblfor impairment annually on October 1.
Goodwill

We performed our assessment as of October 1, 28d determined there was ingpairment of goodwill. The total net carrying anmd
of goodwill was $2.8 billion at December 31, 2014ith $1.7 billion in our North America operatinggment, $639 milliorin our EMEA
operating segment, $449 million in our Asia opergtsegment and $4 million in our Latin America @ty segment. At December 201:
the total net carrying amount of goodwill was $tilfion , with $1.7 billion in our North America @pating segment and $4 milliom our Latir
America operating segment.

The increase in carrying value of EMEA and Asiadeil is driven by the Hefei Sanyo and Indesitquisitions in 2014, net of forei
currency impact of $2 million and $28 million , pestively. Further discussion of these transacta@arsbe found in our MD&A underHefe
Sanyo Acquisition,” “ Indesit Acquisition” and indte 2 .

Other Intangible Assets

Based on the results of our annual assessment@stober 1, 2014 we determined that there were no impairmentsutoirdangibles
with the exception of two European trademarks wiiat a pre-impairment carrying value of $30 milliomhere we recognized$i 2 million
impairment charge within selling, general and adstiative expense during the fourth quarter 2014 .
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The following table summarizes other intangiblestsst December 31, 2014 and 2013 :

2014 2013
Gross Carrying  Accumulated Gross Carrying  Accumulated
Millions of dollars Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net
Other intangible assets, finite lives:
Customer relationshig¥ $ 665 $ (169 $ 50z $ 28¢ % (125) $ 164
Patents and othé& 34¢ (104) 244 12¢ 112 16
Total other intangible assets, finite lives $ 1,01 % (267) 9 74€ 3 417 % (237) $ 18C
Trademarks, indefinite lives 2,057 — 2,057 1,52z — 1,52
Total other intangible assets $ 307C $ (267 $ 2,80 $ 193¢ $ (237) $ 1,70:

(1) Customer relationships have an estimatefliLigfe of 4 to 19 years.

(2) Patents and other intangibles have an ewtimsseful life of 4 to 15 years.

The following table summarizes our future estimatatbrtization expense by year:

Millions of dollars

2015 $ 78
2016 75
2017 72
2018 70
2019 67

(4) FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value oecairring basis at December 31, 2014 and 2013sfi@laws:

Quoted Prices In

Active Markets for Significant Other
Identical Assets Observable Inputs
Total Cost Basis (Level 1) (Level 2) Total Fair Value
Millions of dollars 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Money market fund$ $ 21 $ 46t $ 21 $ 468 $ — $ — $ 21 $ 46t
Net derivative contracts — — — — (0] (25) D (25)
Available for sale investments 16 8 26 18 — — 26 18

®Money market funds are comprised primarily of goweent obligations and other first tier obligations.

In March 2014, we sold approximately 7.4 millionasbs held in Alno AG, a long-standing European austr, for approximatelyss
million . This transaction resulted in the conversion ofiouestment from the equity method of accountiogn available for sale investm
due to our less than 20% overall investment in At
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(5) INVENTORIES

The following table summarizes our inventories at@mber 31, 2014 and 2013 :

Millions of dollars 2014 2013
Finished products $ 2,18¢ $ 1,95(
Raw materials and work in process 724 622
2,91 2,57
Less: excess of FIFO cost over LIFO cost (179 (164)
Total inventories $ 2,74C $ 2,40¢

LIFO inventories represented 35% and 39% of totakintories at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respdcti
(6) FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS
Long-Term Debt

The following table summarizes our long-term detiDecember 31, 2014 and 2013 :

Millions of dollars 2014 2013
Maytag medium-term note - 6.45% matured 2014 $ — $ 10C
Senior note - 8.6%, matured 2014 — 50C
Maytag medium-term note - 5.0% maturing 2015 19¢ 19¢
Senior note - 6.5%, maturing 2016 25C 25C
Debentures - 7.75%, maturing 2016 244 244
Senior note - 1.35%, maturing 2017 25C —
Senior note - 1.65%, maturing 2017 30C —
Indesit guaranteed notes - 4.5%, maturing 2018 39:¢ —
Senior note - 2.4%, maturing 2019 25C —
Senior note - 4.85%, maturing 2021 30C 30C
Senior note - 4.70%, maturing 2022 30C 30C
Senior note - 3.70%, maturing 2023 25C 25C
Senior note - 4.0%, maturing 2024 30C —
Senior note - 3.7%, maturing 2025 35C —
Senior note - 5.15% maturing 2043 24¢ 25C
Other 145 61
3,77¢ 2,45¢
Less current maturities 234 607
Total long-term debt $ 354¢ $ 1,84¢

The following table summarizes the contractual maés of our long-term debt, including current nndgties, at December 31, 2014 :

Millions of dollars

2015 $ 234
2016 52¢
2017 58(C
2018 422
2019 264
Thereafter 1,74¢

Long-term debt, including current maturities $ 3,77¢

The fair value of long-term debt (including currentturities) was $3.8 billion and $2.6 billion aed@mber 31, 2014 and 2013



respectively, and was estimated using a discounssth flow analysis based on incremental borrowiatgs for similar types
borrowing arrangements.
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We have committed credit facilities in Brazil, whiprovide borrowings up to 1.1 billion Brazilianais (approximately $429 millioas
of December 31, 2014 ) maturing at various timesnfr2015 to 2017. The credit facilities contain mmahcial covenants and we had
borrowings outstanding under these credit facdiié December 31, 2014 and 2013 .

On September 26, 2014 , we entered into a ShorixTe@redit Agreement (the “364-Day Facility” and ttger with the LongFermr
Facility, the “Facilities”). The 364-Day Facilitg ia revolving credit facility in an aggregate amooin$1.0 billion . The 364ay Facility has
maturity date of September 25, 2015 . The intenest fee rates payable with respect to the B&%-Facility based on our debt rating an
follows: (1) the spread over LIBOR is 1.250%; (28 tspread over prime is 0.250%; and (3) the unusetnitment fee is 0.125%as of th
effective date of the 364-Day Facility. We had meorbwings outstanding under the 364-Day Facilitpatember 31, 2014 .

On September 26, 2014 , we entered into a Secorehdetd and Restated Long-Term Credit Agreement‘(ineg-Term Facility”). The
Long-Term Facility amends, restates and extendsCibvapany's prior five-year credit facility, whichas scheduled to mature dane 2¢
2016 . The Long-Term Facility increases the existi.7 billion facility to an aggregate amount @fGbillion, with an option to increase
total amount to up to $2.5 billion by exercise ofaccordion feature. The Long-Term Facility hasaturity date of September 26, 201%he
Long-Term Facility includes a letter of credit satit of $200 million . The LongFerm Facility decreases the interest and fee gatgable witl
respect to the Long-Term Facility based on our dabihg as follows:(1) the spread over LIBOR is 1.250%; (2) the spreadr prime i
0.250%; and (3) the unused commitment fee is 0.15% of the effective date of the Long-Term Facilitve had ndoorrowings outstandir
under the Long-Term Facility at December 31, 2014

The Facilities contain customary covenants andamdies including, among other things, a rolling lisgemonth maximum leverage re
limited to 3.25 to 1.0 for each fiscal quarter antblling twelve month interest coverage ratio ieggito be greater than or equal3® to 1.(
for each fiscal quarter. In addition, the covenditst our ability to (or to permit any subsidiasido), subject to various exceptions
limitations: (i) merge with other companies; (ifeate liens on our property; (iii) incur debt of-bhlance sheet obligations at the subsit
level; (iv) enter into transactions with affiliafesxcept on an armiength basis; (v) enter into agreements restrictirgpayment of subsidie
dividends or restricting the making of loans oraympent of debt by subsidiaries; and (vi) enter Bdoeements restricting the creation of |
on our assets. We were in compliance with finanma&enant requirements at December 31, 2014 Rexkmber 31, 2013 .

We have paid lenders under the Facilities an uptfiee of approximately $3 million .

In the fourth quarter of 2014, we acquired a corteditcredit facility as part of the acquisition ofdesit. At December 31, 2014 t
facility provides borrowings up to €350 million @pximately $424 million as of December 31, 2Qdaturing July 29, 2016. As describe:
the credit agreement included as an exhibit to Floisn 10K, the credit facility contains covenants whichtstthe guarantor, Indesit, will r
permit (1) the ratio of Consolidated Net Borrowirgs of any YeaEnd Determination Date to Consolidated EBITDA fbe twelve mont
period ended on such Year-End Determination Datexteed 3.0@0 1; (2) the ratio of Consolidated Net Borrowirggs of any Semi Annu
Determination Date to Consolidated EBITDA for tlaetve month period ended on such Semi Annual Detextion Date to exceed 4.040 1,
and (3) the ratio of Consolidated EBITDA to Condated Net Interest for the twelve month period egdin any Determination Date to be
than 3.5 to 1. We were in compliance with finahciavenant requirements at December 31, 2014 h¥éenoborrowings outstanding unc
this credit facility at December 31, 2014 .

In the fourth quarter of 2014, we assumed €300ianillprincipal amount of 4.5% guaranteed notes fithim Indesitacquisition
subscribed for by institutional investors, that bsted in Luxembourg and are due on April 26, 20IBe notes were recorded at fair valu
purchase price accounting to €327 million (appratiety $393 million ).

On February 25, 2014 , we completed a debt offedh&250 million principal amount of 1.35% notesedin 2017 ,$250 millior
principal amount of 2.40% notes due in 2019 , aB@0$million principal amount of 4.00% notes duedR4 . On May 1, 2014$500 millior
of 8.60% notes matured and were repaid. On Audgis2@14 , $100 million of 6.45% notes matured ardenepaid.

On November 4, 2014 , we completed a debt offeah300 million principal amount of 1.65% notes doe2017 ands350 millior
principal amount of 3.70% notes due in 20ZFhese notes contain covenants that limit oulitghitd incur certain liens or enter into certairie
and leasdack transactions. In addition, if we experienspecific kind of change of control, we are requitednake an offer to purchase al
the notes at a purchase price of 101% of the gré@mount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid irtteres
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On February 27, 2013, we completed a debt offeah§250 million principal amount of 3.70% notes dne2023 and5250 millior
principal amount of 5.15%o0tes due in 2043. These notes contain covenaattdintit our ability to incur certain liens or enti@to certain sal
and leasdyack transactions. In addition, if we experienapecific kind of change of control, we are requiteanake an offer to purchase al
the notes at a purchase price of 101% of the grad@mount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid intelredarch 2013 , $500 million &.50%
notes matured and were repaid.

Notes Payable

Notes payable, which consist of shtatm borrowings payable to banks, debt securitzatir commercial paper, are generally use
fund working capital requirements. The fair valdeoar notes payable approximates the carrying amndue to the short maturity of the
obligations. The following table summarizes thegiag value of notes payable at December 31, 20it42413:

Millions of dollars 2014 2013

Commercial paper $ 387 $ =
Debt securitization 35 —
Short-term borrowings to banks 147 1C
Total notes payable $ 56¢ $ 10

In the fourth quarter of 2014, we financed the @sitjan of Indesit with commercial paper and shtertm notes, which increased our
balance of notes payable at December 31, 2014 .

(7) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
OTHER MATTERS
Embraco Antitrust Matters

Beginning in February 2009, our compressor busihesslquartered in Brazil ("Embraco™) was notifiddntitrust investigations of tl
global compressor industry by government autharitievarious jurisdictions.

Embraco has resolved government investigationsuious jurisdictions as well as all related cieWsuits in the United States. Embr
also has resolved certain other claims and cectaims remain pending. Additional lawsuits couldfibexd.

At December 31, 2014 , $25 million remains accrweith installment payments of $21 milligrplus interest, remaining to be mad
government authorities at various times through520&/e continue to defend these actions and take aifegrs to minimize our potent
exposure. The final outcome and impact of thesearsatand any related claims and investigationsritay be brought in the future are suk
to many variables, and cannot be predicted. Webkstaaccruals only for those matters where werdgtee that a loss is probable and
amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Whitedurrently not possible to reasonably estintheeaggregate amount of costs whict
may incur in connection with these matters, sucstcoould have a material adverse effect on oanfital position, liquidity, or results
operations in any particular reporting period.

Brazilian Collection Dispute

We reached an agreement in June 2011 to setttdaaths arising from our longtanding dispute in Brazil with Banco Safra S.Acl
settlement was subsequently approved by a Braziliamt in July 2011. Pursuant to the settlement,sabsidiary agreed to pay Banco S
S.A. 959 million Brazilian reais, in two instalémts, the first of 469 million reais (equivaleéat $301 million) was made in July 2011, ¢
the second of 490 million reais (equivalent 7% million ) was made during January 2012.

BEFIEX Credits and Other Brazil Tax Matters

In previous years, our Brazilian operations earteedcredits under the Brazilian governmsngxport incentive program (BEFIE:
These credits reduced Brazilian federal excisestaxedomestic sales, resulting in an increasedrofferationstecorded net sales, as the cre
are monetized. We monetized $14 million , $109iomlland $37 million of export credits in 2014 , 204nd 2012 respectively. We beg
recognizing BEFIEX credits in accordance with ptfiavorable court decisions allowing for the cred@de recognized. We recognized ex
credits as they were monetized.
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In December 2013, the Brazilian government reintgd the monetary adjustment index applicable t&IBK credits that existed pri
to July 2009, when the Brazilian government reqlicempanies to apply a different monetary adjustnirhex to BEFIEX credits. As
December 31, 2014, no BEFIEX credits deemed toviadadle prior to this action remained to be maredi Whether use of the reinstitL
index should be given retroactive effect for théy 2009 to December 2013 period is currently baiegewed by the Brazilian courts. If 1
reinstituted index is given retroactive effect, weuld be entitled to recognize additional crediise outcome and timing of the Brazilian c«
decisions remains uncertain.

Our Brazilian operations have received governmegsabssments related to claims for income and|somidribution taxes associa
with BEFIEX credits monetized from 2000 through 20énd 2007 through 2011. We do not believe BEFIKKoet credits are subject
income or social contribution taxes. We are disguthese tax matters in various courts and intendgorously defend our positions. We h
not provided for income or social contribution texan these export credits, and based on the ogiribtax and legal advisors, we have
accrued any amount related to these assessmesft®asember 31, 2014The total amount of outstanding tax assessmenesviest for incom
and social contribution taxes relating to the BEFIEredits, including interest and penalties, is ragpnately 1.4 billionBrazilian reai
(approximately $533 million as of December 31, 2014

Relying on existing Brazilian legal precedent, @03 and 2004, we recognized tax credits in an aggeeamount of $26 million
adjusted for currency, on the purchase of raw ne$eused in production (“IPl tax credits"The Brazilian tax authority subsequel
challenged the recording of IPI tax credits. Nodde have been recognized since 2004. In 2009, ntered into a Brazilian governmu
program which provided extended payment terms addaed penalties and interest to encourage taxgayeaesolve this and certain ot
disputed tax credit amounts. As permitted by thegmm, we elected to settle certain debts throhghuse of other existing tax credits
recorded charges of approximately $34 milliorR009 associated with these matters. In July 261 Brazilian revenue authority notified
that a portion of our proposed settlement was tejeand we received tax assessments of 204 mBifaailian reais (approximateli78 million
as of December 31, 2014riflecting interest and penalties to date. We @&puting these assessments and we intend to viglgrdefend ot
position. Based on the opinion of our tax and leghlisors, we have not recorded an additional vesedlated to these matters.

In 2001, Brazil adopted a law making the profitscohtrolled foreign corporations of Brazilian elgtit subject to income and so
contribution tax regardless of whether the profitsre repatriated ("CFC Tax"). Our Brazilian subaigli along with other corporatiol
challenged tax assessments on foreign profits ostitotionality and other grounds. In April 2018¢tBrazilian Supreme Court ruled in
case, finding that the law is constitutional, bemnanding the case to a lower court for considenatioother arguments raised in our apy
including the existence of tax treaties with juiisidns in which controlled foreign corporationgafomiciled. As of December 31, 201dut
potential exposure for income and social contriutiaxes relating to profits of controlled foreigorporations, including interest and pena
and net of expected foreign tax credits, is appnaxely 178 million Brazilian reais (approximatel§7million as of December 31, 2014%e
believe these assessments are without merit anithtesed to continue to vigorously dispute them. Bhsa the opinion of our tax and le
advisors, we have not accrued any amount relatdtese assessments as of December 31, 2014 .

In December 2013, we entered into a Brazilian gowvemnt program to settle long standing disputegidiaation in the program remov
uncertainty related to 1&issessments that were previously under disputsignidicantly reduces potential penalties and ie$eassociated wi
these matters. Our participation will result inalopayments including principal, interest, and pges of 75 million Brazilian reai
(approximately $28 million as of December 31, 2Q1daid in 30 monthly installments from Decembet 20

In addition to the IPI tax credit and CFC Tax mitteoted above, we are currently disputing otheessments issued by the Brazi
tax authorities related to naneome and income tax matters, including for thenatization of BEFIEX credits and other BEFIEX madi
which are at various stages of review in humeralmiaistrative and judicial proceedings. In accoamvith our accounting policies, '
routinely assess these matters and, when necesseoyd our best estimate of a loss. We believeethi@x assessments are without merit an
vigorously defending our positions.

Litigation is inherently unpredictable and the doiston of these matters may take many years tmatgly resolve, during which tir
the amounts related to these assessments willncento be increased by monetary adjustments é&ehe rate, which is the benchmark rate
by the Brazilian Central Bank. Accordingly, it isgsible that an unfavorable outcome in these pdicge could have a material adverse e
on our financial position, liquidity, or results operations in any particular reporting period.
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Other Litigation

We are currently defending against numerous lawguending in federal and state courts in the Un8&des relating to certain of «
front load washing machines. Some of these lawsatge been certified for treatment as class actidhe complaints in these lawsi
generally allege violations of state consumer fraats, unjust enrichment, product liability clairmsd breach of warranty. The compla
generally seek compensatory, consequential andipeitiamages. We believe these suits are withouit sxed are vigorously defending the
Given the preliminary stage of many of these prdiegs, the Company cannot reasonably estimate sigp@sange of loss, if any, at this tir
The resolution of one or more of these matterscchalve a material adverse effect on our Consolidgigancial Statements.

In addition, we are currently defending a numberotfer lawsuits in federal and state courts in lthéted States related to 1
manufacturing and sale of our products which inelathss action allegations. These lawsuits allégiens which include breach of contr:
breach of warranty, product liability claims, fraudolation of federal and state consumer protectats and negligence. We do not t
insurance coverage for class action lawsuits. Véeatso involved in various other legal actionshe tUnited States and other jurisdicti
around the world arising in the normal course dfibess, for which insurance coverage may or mayeaatvailable depending on the natui
the action. We dispute the merits of these suitbations, and intend to vigorously defend themndggment believes, based upon its cu
knowledge, after taking into consideration legalicsel's evaluation of such suits and actions, died taking into account current litigati
accruals, that the outcome of these matters clyrg@einding against Whirlpool should not have a mateadverse effect, if any, on ¢
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other Matters

In 2013, the French Competition Authority commenaead investigation of appliance manufacturers andilees in France. Tt
investigation includes 11 manufacturers, includimg Whirlpool and Indesit operations in FrancehAligh it is currently not possible to as:
the impact, if any, this matter may have on our $didated Financial Statements, the resolutiorhisf tmatter could have a material adv
effect on our financial position, liquidity, or id$s of operations in any particular reporting pdri

Product Warranty Reserves

Product warranty reserves are included in otherectiand other noncurrent liabilities in our Condated Balance Sheets. The follow
table summarizes the changes in total product whrraserves for the periods presented:

Millions of dollars 2014 2013
Balance at January 1 $ 191 % 187
Issuances/accruals during the pefiod 31¢ 292
Settlements made during the period (272) (28¢)
Balance at December 31 $ 23t % 191
Current portion $ 18¢ $ 154
Non-current portion 49 37
Total $ 23t % 191

@$61 million is included within issuances/accrualsing 2014 related to acquisitions

We regularly engage in investigations of potengiaality and safety issues as part of our ongoirfigriefo deliver quality products
customers. We are currently investigating a limiednber of potential quality and safety issuesn@sessary, we undertake to effect repe
replacement of appliances in the event that arsiiyation leads to the conclusion that such adsamarranted.

Guarantees

We have guarantee arrangements in a Brazilian diabgi As a standard business practice in Brdad,dubsidiary guarantees custa
lines of credit at commercial banks to support pases following its normal credit policies. If astamer were to default on its line of cr
with the bank, our subsidiary would be requiregdatisfy the obligation with the bank and the reable would revert back to the subsidiary
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 , the mpeac amounts totaled $492 million and $485 milljorespectively. Our subsidie
insures against credit risk for these guaranteederunormal operating conditions, through poligieschased from higlquality underwriter:
We had no losses associated with these guaramt@€4.4 or 2013 .
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We provide guarantees of indebtedness and linegedit for various consolidated subsidiaries. Treximum amount of credit faciliti
available under these lines for consolidated sudr$@s$ totaled $1.4 billion at December 31, 2014 &f.3 billion at December 31, 201®ul
total outstanding bank indebtedness under guaramtas nominal at December 31, 2014 and Decemb&(3B, respectively. In addition, v
assumed $ 1.2 billion of corporate guarantees tiiraur acquisition of Indesit as of December 31,20

We have guaranteed a $45 million five year revavimedit facility between certain financial instians and a not-foprofit entity ir
connection with a community and economic developrpenject (“Harbor Shores”)The credit facility, which originated in 2008, wasende
in 2014 by Harbor Shores and reduced to $45 millimas refinanced in December 2012 and we reneweduarantee through 2017. The
value of the guarantee was nominal. The purpostadbor Shores is to stimulate employment and grawthe areas of Benton Harbor anc
Joseph, Michigan. In the event of default, we nsasisfy the guarantee of the credit facility ughe amount borrowed at the date of default.

Operating Lease Commitments
At December 31, 2014 , we had noncancelable opegrégiase commitments totaling $868 millioThe annual future minimum le:

payments are summarized by year in the table below

Millions of dollars

2015 $ 23C
2016 18<
2017 15C
2018 10¢
2019 82
Thereafter 114
Total noncancelable operating lease commitments $ 86¢

Rent expense was $228 million , $217 million and%gillion for 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.
Purchase Obligations

Our expected cash outflows resulting from non-chalske purchase obligations are summarized by yedre table below

Millions of dollars

2015 $ 20¢
2016 19¢
2017 147
2018 113
2019 65
Thereafter 211
Total purchase obligations $ 941

(8) HEDGES AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMEN TS

Derivative instruments are accounted for at faluedased on market rates. Derivatives where wa bkrdge accounting are design:
as either cash flow or fair value hedges. Derivtithat are not accounted for based on hedge aoopuare marked to market throt
earnings. The accounting for changes in the fdirevaf a derivative depends on the intended usedasijnation of the derivative instrumt
Hedging ineffectiveness and a net earnings impectirowhen the change in the fair value of the hettmyges not offset the change in the
value of the hedged item. The ineffective portiéthe gain or loss is recognized in earnings.

Using derivative instruments means assuming copatsr credit risk. Counterparty credit risk relatesthe loss we could incur i
counterparty were to default on a derivative cartrd/e generally deal with investment grade coyaeies and monitor the overall credit |
and exposure to individual counterparties. We db argicipate nonperformance by any counterparfiéee amount of counterparty cre
exposure is limited to the unrealized gains, if,amy such derivative contracts. We do not requinedo we post collateral or security on s
contracts.
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Hedging Strategy

In the normal course of business, we manage rislksgimg to our ongoing business operations inclydhose arising from changes
foreign exchange rates, interest rates and comgnpdites. Fluctuations in these rates and pricesadfect our operating results and finan
condition. We use a variety of strategies, inclgdihe use of derivative instruments, to manageethisks. We do not enter into derival
financial instruments for trading or speculativepmses.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We incur expenses associated with the procurenmehpepduction of products in a limited number ofictrsies, while we sell in the loc
currencies of a large number of countries. Our grinforeign currency exchange exposures result tomseurrency sales of products. A
result, we enter into foreign exchange contractsetige certain firm commitments and forecasteds#retions to acquire products and sen
that are denominated in foreign currencies.

We enter into certain undesignated non-functionatency asset and liability hedges that relate @iy to shortterm payable
receivables and intercompany loans. These foratastesseurrency cash flows relate primarily to foreign reuncy denominated expenditu
and intercompany financing agreements, royalty emgents and dividends. When we hedge a foreign meyrelenominated payable
receivable with a derivative, the effect of changrethe foreign exchange rates are reflected ctlyrém interest and sundry income (expel
for both the payable/receivable and the derivaflferefore, as a result of the economic hedge,aveod elect hedge accounting.

Commodity Price Risk

We enter into commodity derivative contracts oniaas commodities to manage the price risk assatiaiéh forecasted purchases
materials used in our manufacturing process. Thectibe of these hedges is to reduce the varigbdit cash flows associated with
forecasted purchase of commodities.

Interest Rate Risk

We may enter into interest rate swap agreementaanage interest rate risk exposure. Our interdst saap agreements, if a
effectively modify our exposure to interest ratskriprimarily through converting certain of ourdtng rate debt to a fixed rate basis,
certain fixed rate debt to a floating rate basiseSe agreements involve either the receipt or paywfefloating rate amounts in exchange
fixed rate interest payments or receipts, respelgtivover the life of the agreements without anhexge of the underlying principal amou
We also may utilize a crogs#rrency interest rate swap agreement to managexpasure relating to certain intercompany debbdenated il
one foreign currency that will be repaid in anotliereign currency. At December 31, 2014 and 201&ehwere nooutstanding swe
agreements.

We may enter into treasury rate lock agreemengffextively modify our exposure to interest ratekrby lockingin interest rates ¢
probable long-term debt issuances.
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The following tables summarize our outstanding \ddive contracts and their effects on our ConstdidaBalance Sheets
December 31, 2014 and 2013:

Fair Value of
Maximum Term
Notional Amount Hedge Assets Hedge Liabilities Type of (Months)

Millions of dollars 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 Hedge® 2014 2013
Derivatives accounted for as hedges
Foreign exchange forwards/options $ 874 $ 744 $ 27 $ 1.6 $ 8 $ 10 (CF) 17 14
Commodity swaps/options 37t 363 4 8 29 13 (CF) 36 36
Total derivatives accounted for as hedges $ 31 $ 24 $ 37 $ 23
Derivatives not accounted for as hedges
Foreign exchange forwards/options $235¢ $127« $ 34 $ 6 $ 29 $ 32 N/A 10 12
Commodity swaps/options 8 1 = = = = N/A 4 4
Total derivatives not accounted for as
hedges 34 6 29 32
Total derivatives $ 65 $ 30 $ 66 $ 55
Current $ 64 $ 28 $ 59 $ 54
Noncurrent 1 2 7 1
Total derivatives $ 65 $ 30 $ 66 $ 55

(1) Derivatives accounted for as hedges are coregidmash flow (CF) hedges
The increase in the notional amount of derivatigedue to derivatives acquired through the acqaisivf Indesit.

The pretax effects of derivative instruments on our Coitlded Statements of Income and Comprehensive ladomOCI in table fc
the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and@sd:

Gain (Loss)
Gain (Loss) Reclassified from
Recognized in OCI OCl into Income
(Effective Portion) (Effective Portion) @
Cash Flow Hedges - Millions of dollars 2014 2013 2014 2013
Foreign exchange forwards/options $ 4C % 20 % 22 % 9 (a
Commodity swaps/options (30 (29 (20 19 (a)
Interest rate derivatives — — (1) @ ()

$ 1c $ 9 $ 11 $ (1)

Gain (Loss) Recognized on Derivatives not
Accounted for as Hedge®

Derivatives not Accounted for as Hedges - Millionsf dollars 2014 2013
Foreign exchange forwards/options $ 26 $ (49

@ Gains and losses reclassified from accumulatedad@lrecognized in income are recorded in (a) dgstamlucts sold; or (b) interest expense.
@ Mark to market gains and losses recognized in ircare recorded in interest and sundry income (esg)en

For cash flow hedges, the amount of ineffectivenmesegnized in interest and sundry income (expewse) nominal during 2014dnc
2013. There were no fair value hedges in 2014 and 20h8. net amount of unrealized gain or loss on dékie instruments included
accumulated OCI related to contracts maturing ampeeted to be realized during the next twelve meighmominal at December 31, 2014 .
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(9) STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income primarily includes (1) ourortgd net earnings, (2) foreign currency transigti(8) changes in the effect
portion of our open derivative contracts designaasdcash flow hedges, (4) changes in our unrecedniension and other postretiren
benefits and (5) changes in fair value of our alAd for sale marketable securities.

The following table shows the components of accateal other comprehensive income (loss) availabM/lirlpool at December 3
2012, 2013, and 2014 , and the activity for tharg then ended:

Pension and
Foreign Derivative Postretirement Marketable
Millions of dollars Currency Instruments Liability Securities Total
December 31, 2011 $ (387) % 13 $ 820) $ 6 $ (1,22¢)
Unrealized gain (loss) (36) 8 — 9 (19
Unrealized actuarial gain(loss) and prior servialit (cost) — — (420) — (420)
Tax effect (19 3 152 — 13C
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (55) 5 (26¢) 9 (309)
Less: Other comprehensive loss available to nonelting
interests 4) — — — (4)
Other comprehensive income (loss) available to b (5)) 5 (26€) 9 (30%)
December 31, 2012 $ (439 $ 8 $ (1,08¢) $ 3 $ (1,53)
Unrealized gain (loss) (122 2 — 7 (119)
Unrealized actuarial gain (loss) and prior sergiadit (cost) — — 50¢ — 50¢
Tax effect 25 — (290) — (16%)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (97) 2 31¢ 7 23C
Less: Other comprehensive loss available to nonaiing
interests (©)] — — — (©)
Other comprehensive income (loss) available to ¥ (94) 2 31¢ 7 23¢
December 31, 2013 $ (B39 $ 6) $ 770 $ 10 $ (1,299
Unrealized loss (392 Q) — — (399
Unrealized actuarial loss and prior service credit — — (233) — (233)
Tax effect (5) — 85 — 8C
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax (397 (@) (14¢) — (54¢)
Less: Other comprehensive loss available to nonaliing
interests 4 — — — 4
Other comprehensive loss available to Whirlpool $ (399 % Q) $ (148 $ — 3 (542)
December 31, 2014 $ (928 $ (7 % (91¢) ¢ 1 $ (1,840

Net Earnings per Share

Diluted net earnings per share of common stockuthelthe dilutive effect of stock options and otkbarebased compensation pla
Basic and diluted net earnings per share of comstark were calculated as follows:

Millions of dollars and shares 2014 2013 2012

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per sharet earnings available to Whirlpool $ 65C $ 827 $ 401
Denominator for basic earnings per share — weightedage shares 78.% 79.2 78.1
Effect of dilutive securities — stock-based compgios 1.3 g 1.2
Denominator for diluted earnings per share — adflisteighted-average shares 79.€ 80.¢ 79.¢

Anti-dilutive stock options/awards excluded fronrréags per share 0.2 — 2.4
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Dividends

Dividends per share paid to shareholders were $2288 and $2.00 during 2014 , 2013 and 2018petively.

Repurchase Program

On April 14, 2014, our Board of Directors authodze new share repurchase program of up to $50®millShare repurchases are nr
from time to time on the open market as conditiwasrant. The program does not obligate us to rd@ase any of our shares. During tivelve
months ended December 31, 2014 , we repurchase@0I6Shares at an aggregate purchase price of>apately $25 millionunder thi
program. At December 31, 2014 , there were apprataip $475 million in remaining funds authorizeddanthis program.

(10) SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE PLANS

We sponsor several share-based employee incenéins. [Shardsased compensation expense for grants awarded tivesser plans w.
$47 million , $50 million and $49 million in 20142013 , and 2012 , respectively. Related incoméémefits recognized in earnings wétke
million , $17 million and $17 million in 2014 , 281 and 2012 , respectively.

At December 31, 2014 , unrecognized compensatish retated to non-vested stock option and stock ammards totaled $49 million
The cost of these non-vested awards is expectied tecognized over a weighted-average remaininingeseriod of 29 months.

Share-Based Employee Incentive Plans

On April 16, 2013, our stockholders approved theefied and Restated 2010 Omnibus Stock and Incenlkare (“2010 OSIP™)This
plan was previously adopted by our Board of Direstin February 19, 2013 and provides for the isseianh stock options, performance st
units, performance shares, restricted stock anuligtesl stock units. No new awards may be grantedeu the 2010 OSIP after the te
anniversary of the date that the stockholders ayggldhe plan. However, the term and exercise ofr@svgranted before then may ext
beyond that date. At December 31, 2014 , approxinat6 million shares remain available for issianoder the 2010 OSIP.

Stock Options

Eligible employees may receive stock options asréqn of their total compensation. Such optionaagally become exercisable ove
3 -year period, expire 1Qears from the date of grant and are subject téeifare upon termination of employment, other thandeatt
disability or retirement. We use the Black-Schalptonpricing model to measure the fair value of stockays granted to employees. Grar
options have exercise prices equal to the marke¢ f Whirlpool common stock on the grant datee Jincipal assumptions used in valt
options include: (1) risk-free interest ratan-estimate based on the yield of United States eenpon securities with a maturity equal to
expected life of the option; (2) expected volatiitan estimate based on the historical volatility dfilfpool common stock for a period eq
to the expected life of the option; and (3) expeadption life—an estimate based on historical experience. Stptikrs are expensed o
straight-line basis, net of estimated forfeituiBased on the results of the model, the weiglatestage grant date fair value of stock opt
granted for 2014 , 2013, and 2012 were $42.08.9%3and $19.54 , respectively, using the follonasgumptions:

Weighted Average Black-Scholes Assumptions 2014 2013 2012
Risk-free interest rate 1.5% 0.% 0.%
Expected volatility 38.2% 40.2% 40.2%
Expected dividend yield 1.8% 1.8% 2.5%
Expected option life, in years 5 5 5
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Stock Option Activity

The following table summarizes stock option acyidtring 2014 :

Weighted-
Number Average
In thousands, except per share data of Options Exercise Price
Outstanding at January 1 2,258 % 77.8i
Granted 39: 138.6(
Exercised (487) 78.5¢
Canceled or expired (46) 94.3¢
Outstanding at December 31 2,11t $ 88.6-
Exercisable at December 31 1,23¢  $ 70.87

The total intrinsic value of stock options exerdisgas $36 million , $53 million , and $32 milliomrf 2014 , 2013 , and 2012
respectively. The related tax benefits were $13ionil, $19 million and $12 million for 2014 , 2013and 2012 respectively. Cash recei\
from the exercise of stock options was $38 milli&®5 million , and $43 million for 2014 , 2013nck2012 , respectively.

The table below summarizes additional informatielated to stock options outstanding at Decembe?@14 :

Outstanding Net of Options
Options in thousands / dollars in millions, excepshare data Expected Forfeitures Exercisable
Number of options 2,04: 1,23¢
Weighted-average exercise price per share $ 87.11 $ 70.81
Aggregate intrinsic value $ AR 152
Weighted-average remaining contractual term, ingea 6 5

Stock Units
Eligible employees may receive restricted stocksuoi performance stock units as a portion of tte#al compensation.

Restricted stock units are typically granted tesedd management employees on an annual basisandwver three years. Periodice
restricted stock units may be granted to selectedwdives based on special recognition or retertimumstances and generally vest from t
years to seven years. Some previously granted avearttue dividend equivalents on outstanding yimtshe form of additional stock uni
based on dividends declared on Whirlpool commonkst®hese awards convert to unrestricted commarksib the conclusion of the vest
period.

Performance stock units are granted to executivesr annual basis and generally vest over a thesg period, converting
unrestricted common stock at the conclusion ofvib&ting period. The final award may equal 0% to%Q#f a target based on pestablishe
Whirlpool financial performance measures.

We measure compensation cost for stock units baseithe closing market price of Whirlpool commoncgt@t the grant date, w
adjustments for performance stock units to refleetfinal award granted. The weighted average gtat# fair values of awards granted du
2014, 2013, and 2012 were $133.31, $107.85 6883 , respectively. The total fair value of stocits vested during 2014 , 2013 , &¢d.2
was $25 million , $35 million and $19 million , pestively.

The following table summarizes stock unit actiwtyring 2014 :

Weighted- Average

Number of Grant Date Fair
Stock units in thousands, except per-share data Stock Units Value
Non-vested, at January 1 1,20: $ 82.4(
Granted 24E 133.3:
Canceled (37 82.6:
Vested and transferred to unrestricted (30€) 80.8¢

Non-vested, at December 31 1,10¢ $ 90.3¢




59




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (C ONTINUED)

Nonemployee Director Equity Awards

Each nonemployee director receives an annual gfavithirlpool common stock, with the number of stzate be issued to the direc
determined by dividing $120,008y the closing price of Whirlpool common stock dre tdate of the annual meeting of our stockhol
Nonemployee directors receive a -time grant of 1,000 shares of Whirlpool commorcktmade at the time they first join the Board.

(11) RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

During the fourth quarter 2011, the Company coneditto restructuring plans (the "2011 Plan") to expaur operating margins &
improve our earnings through substantial cost aphcity reductions, primarily within our North Aniea and EMEA operating segments.
actions related to the 2011 Plan have been anndwarcare now substantially complete. Over $40anilin costs related to actions authori
under the 2011 Plan were recognized during 2014.

During 2014, the Company announced the followirgjreesturing plans: (a) the closure of a microwaveromanufacturing facility ar
other organizational efficiency actions in EMEA dratin America, and (b) organizational integrataxtivities in China, in anticipation of t
Hefei Sanyo transaction. These plans resulted amges of approximately $90 millian 2014, with completion expected by the end of %
related to employee termination costs, non-caset aspairment costs, and facility exit costs.

The following tables summarize the changes to estructuring liability for the years ended Decembkr2014 and 2013:

Acquisition - Charges to Non-Cash and
Millions of dollars 12/31/2013 related @ Earnings Cash Paid Other 12/31/2014
Employee termination costs $ 74 $ 4C $ 82 % (12¢) $ (10) $ 58
Asset impairment costs — — 26 — (26) —
Facility exit costs 14 — 16 (26) — 4
Other exit costs 18 — 12 (19 — 16
Total $ 10€ $ 4C $ 13€ $ (168 $ (36) $ 78

@A $ 40 million restructuring liability was acquiréa the acquisition of Indesit in the fourth quarneé 2014 related to an ongoing plan previouslyiabéd by Indesit
management. As of December 31, 2014, the acquesttlicturing liability is $17 million .

Charge to Non-cash and  Revision of
Millions of dollars 12/31/2012 Earnings Cash Paid Other Estimate 12/31/2013
Employee termination costs $ 56 $ 91 $ (62) $ — $ (12) $ 74
Asset impairment costs — 62 — (62 — —
Facility exit costs 3 37 (25) — (D) 14
Other exit costs 11 18 (11 — — 18
Total $ 70 $ 20€ $ (99) $ (62 $ 12 $ 10€

The following table summarizes 2014 restructurihgrges by operating segment:

Millions of dollars 2014 Charges
North America $ 1C
Latin America 8
EMEA 10z
Asia 13
Corporate / Other 3
Total $ 13¢€
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(12 ) INCOME TAXES

The income tax expense was $189 million , $68 amillj and $133 million in 2014 , 2013 and 2QX2spectively. The following takt
summarizes the difference between income tax expahshe United States statutory rate of 3886 the income tax expense at effec
worldwide tax rates for the respective periods:

Millions of dollars 2014 2013 2012
Earnings before income taxes
United States $ 32t % 14¢ % 11z
Foreign 55€ 76¢ 44E
Earnings before income taxes 881 917 55¢
Income tax computed at United States statutory rate 30¢ 321 19t
U.S. government tax incentives, including Energy Taedits (20 (142) —
Foreign government tax incentives, including BEFIEX (46) (63 (38
Foreign tax rate differential a7 a7 2
U.S. foreign tax credits (14¢) (237) (31
Valuation allowances 9 16 (86)
State and local taxes, net of federal tax benefit 5 7 2
Foreign withholding taxes 16 29 12
U.S. tax on foreign dividends and subpart F income 56 19t 57
Settlement of global tax audits (5) (54) 18
Other items, net 21 7 6
Income tax computed at effective worldwide tax sate $ 18¢ % 68 $ 13¢

Current and Deferred Tax Provision

The following table summarizes our income tax (bgnprovision for 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :

2014 2013 2012
Millions of dollars Current Deferred Current Deferred Current Deferred
United States $ 7 % 8 § 60) $ (57) $ 18 % 24
Foreign 182 12 187 9 18¢ (96)
State and local 2 (18) 2 5 7 9
$ 187 % 2 3 12¢ % (61) % 214 % (81)
Total income tax expense $ 18¢ $ 68 $ 13<

United States Government Tax Incentives

On January 2, 2013, The American Taxpayer Relidf #2012 (the “Act”)was signed into law. The Act extends certain piions
included in the Tax Relief, Unemployment InsuraReauthorization, and Job Creation Act of 2010 teuem that conservation and efficie
are a central component to the United States erstrgiegy. Among the provisions extended are matwfars’tax credits for the accelera
U.S. production of supegfficient clothes washers, refrigerators and dishweas that meet or exceed certain Energy Starhibldss for energ
and water conservation levels as set by the U.pafbment of Energy (“Energy Credit"yhe tax credits apply to eligible production durihg
2012 and 2013 calendar years provided the produatfoqualifying product in any individual year excs a rolling two year baseline
production. We continue to invest in innovation amkrgy efficient products that meet these starsdmdour customers. This provision \
not extended to include calendar 2014.
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United States Tax on Foreign Dividends

We have historically reinvested all unremitted @aga of our foreign subsidiaries and affiliates. Wean to distribute approximate$24
million of foreign earnings over the next several yearss @istribution is forecasted to result in tax b#sewhich have not been recorc
because of their contingent nature. There has heetteferred tax liability provided on the remainiagount of unremitted earnings $4.¢
billion at December 31, 2014 . As of DecemberZ114 , we had $1.0 billion of cash and equivalem$and, of which $0.9 billiowas heli
outside of the United States. Our intent is to @eremtly reinvest these funds outside of the Uni¢akes and our current plans do
demonstrate a need to repatriate these funds tbdunU.S. operations. However, if these funds wepatriated, then we would be require
accrue and pay applicable United States taxesdsulp an adjustment for foreign tax credits) anthlwolding taxes payable to varic
countries. It is not practicable to estimate theant of the deferred tax liability associated wiikese unremitted earnings due to the compl
of its hypothetical calculation.

Valuation Allowances

At December 31, 2014 , we had net operating lessyforwards of $3.2 billion , $1.2 billioof which were United States state
operating loss carryforwards. Of the total net afiag loss carryforwards, $1.8 billicdo not expire, with substantially all of the reniag
carryforwards expiring in various years through 208s of December 31, 2014 , we had $249 milbdrioreign tax credit carryforwards &
$1.0 billionof United States general business credit carryfotsavailable to offset future payments of fedarabme taxes, expiring betwe
2017 and 2034.

We routinely review the future realization of deést tax assets based on projected future revefsaixable temporary differenc
available tax planning strategies and projectedréutaxable income. We have recorded a valuatitmwahce to reflect the net estima
amount of certain deferred tax assets associatddngt operating loss and other deferred tax asgetselieve will be realized. Our recor
valuation allowance of $308 million at December 2014 consists of $288 millioof net operating loss carryforward deferred tayetssan
$20 million of other deferred tax assets. We believe thatntase likely than not that we will realize the béhef existing deferred tax asse
net of valuation allowances mentioned above.

Settlement of Global Tax Audits

We are in various stages of audits by certain gowental tax authorities. We establish liabilities the difference between tax ret
provisions and the benefits recognized in our faranstatements. Such amounts represent a reagopahlision for taxes ultimately expec
to be paid, and may need to be adjusted over tenmare information becomes known. We are no losgéject to any significant Unit
States federal tax examinations for the years be?®08, or any state, local or foreign income taan@nations by tax authorities for ye
before 2004.
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Deferred Tax Liabilities and Assets

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effeétemporary differences between the carrying am®oftassets and liabilities used
financial reporting purposes and the amounts useth€ome tax purposes. The following table sumpeearithe significant components of

deferred tax liabilities and assets at December28i4 and 2013 :

Millions of dollars

Deferred tax liabilities
Intangibles
Property, net
LIFO inventory
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax assets
U.S. general business credit carryforwards, inclgdinergy Tax Credits
Pensions
Loss carryforwards
Inventory prepayment
Postretirement obligations
Foreign tax credit carryforwards
Research and development capitalization
Employee payroll and benefits
Accrued expenses
Product warranty accrual
Receivable and inventory allowances
Other
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowances for deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowances
Net deferred tax assets

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

2014 2013

$ 80C $ 517
15€ 141

45 49

192 201

1,19¢ 90¢

1,00¢ 1,05(

31€ 311

65C 467

— 93

19¢ 177

24¢ 24z

35¢ 23¢

141 13¢

11C 102

62 58

73 51

30C 233

3,467 3,167

(30¢) (186€)

3,15¢ 2,97¢

$ 1,961 $ 2,06¢

The following table represents a reconciliatiortha# beginning and ending amount of unrecognized&mefits that if recognized wol
impact the effective tax rate, excluding federaldfés of state and local tax positions, and irdeeend penalties:

Millions of dollars 2014 2013 2012

Balance, January 1 $ 1152 $ 17¢ % 17¢
Additions for tax positions of the current year 17 17 13
Additions for tax positions of prior years 4 6 16
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (23 (82) (15
Settlements during the period (11 (©)] 5)
Positions assumed in acquisitions 42 — —
Lapses of applicable statute of limitation (@0} 4 9
Balance, December 31 $ 141 % 11z % 17¢

In connection with our acquisitions of Hefei Sargmud Indesit , the Company assumed $71 milbbrmincertain tax position liabilitie
including $31 million of interest and penalties.eTécquisition of Hefei Sanyo resulted in an assuomegtrtain tax position of $61 millichal
was reflected in the opening balance sheet, whéeatquisition of Indesit resulted in an assumexain tax position of $10 million .

It is reasonably possible that certain unrecogntagenefits of $20 milliorould be settled with various related jurisdictiehsing the

next 12 months.



Interest and penalties associated with unrecogrtiaedenefits resulted in a net benefit of $6 wili, $12 million and $4 milliorin
2014 , 2013 and 2012, respectively. We have adcauetal of $63 million and $39 million at DecemBB&, 2014 and 2013 , respectively.
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(13) PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

We have funded and unfunded defined benefit pergims that cover certain employees in North Anzerieurope, Asia and Brazil. T
United States plans are frozen for the majoritypaifticipants. The formula for United States satheenployees covered under the qual
defined benefit plan was based on years of seandefinal average salary, while the formula for tddiStates hourly employees covered u
the defined benefit plans was based on specifiadamounts for each year of service. There wertipieliformulas for employees cove
under the qualified and nonqualified defined beangins sponsored by Maytag, including a cash lsaldormula. In addition, we sponsor
unfunded Supplemental Executive Retirement Plais plan is nhonqualified and provides certain keypkayees defined pension benefits
supplement those provided by the company’s othgeneent plans.

A defined contribution plan is being provided tb @hited States employees subsequent to the pepsaonfreezes and is not classit
within the net periodic benefit cost. The comp@angvides annual match and automatic company cauttoibs, in cash or company stock, of
to 7% of employees’ eligible pay. Our contributiahging 2014 , 2013 and 2012 were $71 million , 6on and $64 million , respectively.

We provide postretirement health care benefitset@ible retired employees in the United Statesndtia and Brazil. For our Unit
States plan, which comprises the majority of odigaition, eligible retirees include those who wark-time employees with 1@ears of servic
who attained age 5@hile in service with us and those union retireésownet the eligibility requirements of their coliee bargainin
agreements. In general, the postretirement heatthweelfare benefit plans include cadtaring provisions that limit our exposure for recanc
future retirees and are contributory, with parteifs’ contributions adjusted annually. The plans are madd. We reserve the right to mot
these benefits in the future.

Defined Benefit - Pensions and Postretirement BeriePlans

Obligations and Funded Status at End of Year

United States Foreign Other Postretirement
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Benefits

Millions of dollars 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Funded status
Fair value of plan assets $ 304z $ 283 $ 64C $ 20€ % — ¢ —
Benefit obligations 3,79¢ 3,54¢ 1,02¢ 43¢ 502 50¢
Funded status $ (7549 $ (711) $ (38 $ (235 $ (B02) $ (509
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance shee
Noncurrent asset $ — % —  $ 8 $ 7 % —  $ —
Current liability 9) @) (16) (14) (56) (52)
Noncurrent liability (74%) (7049 (378 (22€) (44¢€) (45¥¢)
Amount recognized $ (7549 $ (711) $ (38 $ (239 $ (B02) $ (509
Amounts recognized in accumulated other compreheng
loss (pre-tax)
Net actuarial loss $ 1366 $ 1,21t $ 11€  $ 98 ¢ 53 § 42
Prior service (credit) cost 149 a7 — 3 (220 (169)
Amount recognized $ 135 $ 1,19¢ $ 11¢  $ 101 $ 67 $ (1279
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Change in Benefit Obligation

United States Foreign Other Postretirement
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Benefits

Millions of dollars 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 3,54¢ $ 4,19¢ $ 43¢ $ 44¢  $ 50¢ $ 477
Service cost 2 2 5 6 3 4
Interest cost 167 162 22 17 24 18
Plan participants’ contributions — — 1 1 7 8
Actuarial loss (gain) 384 (420 59 @) 9 (32)
Benefits paid (303%) (281) (29 (23 (6C) (69)
Plan amendments — — (©)] — 14 2
Acquisitionsq) — — 61C — — —
Transfer of benefits — (10%) — — — 10t
Settlements / curtailment (gain) — (8) (15 (6) — —
Foreign currency exchange rates — — (68) 3 4) (6)
Benefit obligation, end of year $ 3,79¢ $ 3,54 $ 1,02¢ $ 43¢ $ 50z $ 50¢
Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year $ 3,78¢ $ 353€ § 9%4 ¢ 424 N/A N/A

®Pension obligation acquired through acquisitiomatesit

During the fourth quarter 2013, we transferred $itilion of ancillary benefits, as allowed under ERISA, ofitour United State
qualified pension plans and into our United Statdgee health and welfare benefit plan. The transfad no impact on our Consolide
Financial Statements as of December 31, 2013 .

During the second quarter 2011, we modified retimeglical benefits for certain retirees to be cdasiswith those benefits provided
the Whirlpool Corporation Group Benefit Plan. Weaanted for these changes as a plan amendmentliy B8sulting in a reduction in t
postretirement benefit obligation of $138 millisith an offset to accumulated other comprehensgs,|net of tax. In response, a grou
retirees has initiated legal proceedings againsirlpfdol asserting the above benefits are vested. MWleve the outcome of the le
proceedings against Whirlpool will not have a miateadverse effect on our Consolidated Financiatéshents.

Change in Plan Assets

Foreign Other Postretirement
United States Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Benefits

Millions of dollars 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year $ 283 $ 2,79 $ 20€ $ 197 % — 3 =
Actual return on plan assets 381 207 33 13 — —
Employer contribution 12¢ 127 30 24 53 60
Plan participants’ contributions — — 1 1 7 8
Benefits paid (30%) (281) (29 (23 (60) (68)
Acquisitionsq) — — 437 — — —
New Plans — — — 2 — —
Settlements — (8) (20 (6) — —
Foreign currency exchange rates — — (33 2 — —
Fair value of plan assets, end of year $ 3,04z % 2,83F % 64C $ 206 $ — % —

“Ppension assets acquired through acquisition ofsihde
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Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

United States Foreign Other Postretirement
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Benefits

Millions of dollars 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Service cost $ 2 % 2 3 2 $ 5 % 6 $ 6 $ 3 9 4 3 5
Interest cost 167 162 17¢ 22 17 20 24 18 21
Expected return on plan assets (193 (191) (199 (16) (10 (11 — — —
Amortization:

Actuarial loss 43 62 46 5 6 4 — 1 1

Prior service cost (credit) (©)] 3 ©)] 1 1 1 (36) (39 (42
Curtailment gain — — — — — — — — (52
Settlement loss — 3 5 4 1 3 — — —
Net periodic benefit cost $ 16 $ 35 $ 34 $ 21 $ 21 $ 23 $ 9 $ (16 $ (67

On October 27, 2011 we announced the closure ofmmnufacturing facilities in Fort Smith, Arkansasdaon August 28, 2009, \
announced the closure of our manufacturing facititfevansville, Indiana. Both closures triggereduatailment in our United States reti
health and welfare benefit plan, resulting in dlrtant gains of $52 milliorin 2012. The curtailment gains were recognizedun@onsolidate
Statements of Income as a component of cost ofystedold with an offset to accumulated other cahensive loss, net of tax.

Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit ObligatianRecognized in Other Comprehensive Loss (Pre-Tai) 2014

United States Foreign Other Postretirement
Millions of dollars Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Benefits
Current year actuarial loss $ 19¢ $ 36 $ 10
Actuarial (loss) recognized during the year 43 (15) —
Current year prior service cost (credit) — 3 14
Prior service credit (cost) recognized during thary 3 (§0)] 36
Total recognized in other comprehensive loss (axg-t $ 15¢ $ 17 $ 60
Total recognized in net periodic benefit costs atier
comprehensive loss (pre-tax) $ 17z $ 38 51

Estimated Pre-Tax Amounts that will be amortized from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss into Net Periodic Pensio@ost in
2015

United States Foreign Other Postretirement
Millions of dollars Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Benefits
Actuarial loss $ 53 $ 6 $ —
Prior service (credit) 3 — (35
Total $ 50 $ 6 $ (35)

Assumptions

Weighted-Average Assumptions used to Determine BefiteObligation at End of Year

United States Foreign Other Postretirement
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Benefits
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Discount rate 4.05% 4.95% 3.32% 4.1€% 4.27% 4.95%
Rate of compensation increase 4.5(% 4.5(% 3.22% 3.4(% N/A N/A
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Weighted-Average Assumptions used to Determine Né&eriodic Cost

United States Foreign Other Postretirement
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Benefits
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Discount rate 49% 4.052% 4.8(% 3.8% 3.92% 504 525% 4.0% 5.0¢%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.25%% 7.5(% 7.5(% 5.44% 5.4(% 5446 N/A N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase 450% 450(% 450 3.35% 351% 3.4&% N/A N/A N/A
Health care cost trend rate
Initial rate N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 7.00% 7.0% 8.0(%
Ultimate rate N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 50% 5.0% 5.0(%
Year that ultimate rate will be reached N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 2017 2017 201t

Discount Rate

For our United States pension and postretiremenefiieplans, the discount rate was selected usiiypothetical portfolio of hig
quality bonds outstanding at December 31 that wpubdide the necessary cash flows to match oueptefl benefit payments. For our fore
pension and postretirement benefit plans, the disicoate was selected using high quality bond gidlat the respective country or reg

covered by the plan.

Expected Return on Plan Assets

In the United States, the expected rate of returiplan assets was determined by using the histaagset returns for publicly trac
equity and fixed income securities tracked sinc2618nd the historical returns for private equitheThistorical equity returns were adju
downward to reflect future expectations. The expa@aeturns are weighted by the targeted assetasibms. The resulting weightedrerag
return was rounded to the nearest quarter of oreepe

For foreign pension plans, the expected rate offmedn plan assets was primarily determined by mfrsg historical returns in the loc
fixed income and equity markets and computing teeghted average returns with the weights beingatiset allocation of each plan.

Estimated Impact of One Percentage-Point Change iAssumed Health Care Cost Trend Rate

A one percentage point change in assumed heakhcoat trend rates would have the following effectour health care plan:

One Percentage One Percentage
Millions of dollars Point Increase Point Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost $ — 3 =
Effect on postretirement benefit obligations 4 (4)

Cash Flows
Funding Policy

Our funding policy is to contribute to our Unitethfes pension plans amounts sufficient to meetrtiémum funding requirement
defined by employee benefit and tax laws, plustaatil amounts which we may determine to be apjpeisarin certain countries other than
United States, the funding of pension plans iscoatmon practice. Contributions to our United Statession plans may be made in the fori
cash or company stock. We pay for retiree medieaklits as they are incurred.

Expected Employer Contributions to Funded Plans

United States Foreign
Millions of dollars Pension Benefits” Pension Benefits

2015 $ 80 $ 18

@ Contributions include $80 million of minimum corttions required by law.
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Expected Benefit Payments

United States Foreign Other Postretirement

Millions of dollars Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Benefits

2015 $ 27t $ 48 3 56
2016 25% 38 49
2017 25C 41 48
2018 24¢ 41 44
2019 252 44 41
2020-2024 1,21¢ 21€ 171

Plan Assets

Our overall investment strategy is to achieve gor@griate mix of investments for long-term growtidgfor nearterm benefit paymer
with a wide diversification of asset types, funthstgies, and investment fund managers. The tailpetation for plan assets is generallit
equity and 59%fixed income, with exceptions for foreign pensiolans. For our U.S. plan, the target allocation éouity securities
approximately 51% allocated to United States large; 27% to international equity, 14% to Unitedt&amid and small-cap companies &8a¢l
in venture capital. The target allocation for fixedome is allocated with 75% to corporate bonds 26%to United States treasury and o
government securities. The fixed income securdigstion is intended to match that of our Uniteat& pension liabilities.

Plan assets are reported at fair value based exiaiprice, representing the amount that wouldds®eived to sell an asset in an ord
transaction between market participants. As swaihyalue is a markdtased measurement that should be determined basessomptions th
market participants would use in pricing an asAsta basis for considering such assumptions, @4ieeed fair value hierarchy is establist
which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring Yailue as follows: (Level 1) observable inputs sastguoted prices in active markets; (L
2) inputs, other than the quoted prices in actigekats that are observable, either directly orrgatly; and (Level 3) unobservable input
which there is little or no market data, which rieguhe reporting entity to develop its own assuong. We manage the process and apg
the results of a third party pricing service tousathe majority of our securities and to deterntireeappropriate level in the fair value hierarc
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The fair values of our pension plan assets at Dbeef3il, 2014 and 2013 , by asset category werallas/é:

December 31,

Other significant Significant
Quoted prices observable inputs unobservable inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

Millions of dollars 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Cash and equivalents $ 29 ¢ 2838 — ¢ — $ — & — $ 29 $ 23
Government and government agency secufties

U.S. securities — — 57¢ 432 — — 57¢ 432

International securities — — 253 131 — — 253 131
Corporate bonds and notés

U.S. companies — — 1,00¢ 85( — — 1,00¢ 85(

International companies — — 321 19z — — 321 19z
Equity securities”

U.S. companies 12 12 — — — — 12 12

International companies 427 223 — — — — 427 223
Mutual funds®

67 77 — — — — 67 77

Common and collective fund®

U.S. equity securities — — 651 71¢ — — 651 71€

International equity securities — — 66 79 — — 66 79

Short-term investment fund — — 63 87 — — 63 87
Limited partnership&

U.S. private equity investments — — — — 14C 14t 14C 14t

Diversified fund of funds — — — — 32 35 32 35

Emerging growth — — — — 23 18 23 18
Real estaté

— — 1C 11 — — 10 11

All other investments — — 9 7 — — 9 7

$ 53E $ 33 $295 $ 2506 $ 198 $ 19¢ $ 3,682 $ 3,041

(a) Valued using pricing vendors who use proprietaryet® to estimate the price a dealer would pay joebgecurity using significant observable inputshsas intere
rates, yield curves, and credit risk.

(b) Valued using the closing stock price on a natiseglrities exchange, which reflects the last reposales price on the last business day of the

(c) Valued using the net asset value (NAV) of the funtich is based on the fair value of underlyingusties. The fund primarily invests in a diversdi@ortfolio o
equity securities issued by non-U.S. companies.

(d) Valued using the NAV of the fund, which is basedtoa fair value of underlying securiti

(e) Valued at estimated fair value based on the praptate share of the limited partnership's fair ealas determined by the general par

(f) Valued using the NAV of the fund, which is basedloa fair value of underlying ass¢

Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobsendae Inputs (Level 3)

Limited
Millions of dollars Partnerships
Balance, December 31, 2013 $ 19¢
Realized gains (net) 23
Unrealized gains (net) 11

Purchases 9



Settlements (4€)
Balance, December 31, 2014 $ 19&

69




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (C ONTINUED)

Additional Information

The projected benefit obligation and fair valueptefn assets for pension plans with a projectedfiiesidigation in excess of plan ass
at December 31, 2014 and 2013 were as follows:

United States Foreign
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits
Millions of dollars 2014 2013 2014 2013
Projected benefit obligation $ 3,79 % 3,54¢ % 87z $ 397
Fair value of plan assets 3,04z 2,83t 487 157

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated bi¢radfligation and fair value of plan assets for gien plans with an accumula
benefit obligation in excess of plan assets at Bdez 31, 2014 and 2013 were as follows:

United States Foreign
Pension Benefits Pension Benefits
Millions of dollars 2014 2013 2014 2013
Projected benefit obligation $ 3,79 % 3,54¢€ % 87z % 347
Accumulated benefit obligation 3,78¢ 3,53¢ 82t 34C
Fair value of plan assets 3,04z 2,83t 487 11C

(14) OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are defined as components efit@nprise about which separate financial infororats available that is evalua
on a regular basis by the chief operating decisi@ker, or decision making group, in deciding howatiocate resources to an individ
segment and in assessing performance.

We identify such segments based upon geograplagans of operations because each operating segnanitfactures home applian
and related components, but serves strategicdfigreint markets. The chief operating decision makealuates performance based upon
segmens operating income, which is defined as income reefaterest and sundry income (expense), intergperese, income taxt
noncontrolling interests, intangible asset impaimtrend restructuring costs. Total assets by segarerthose assets directly associated wit
respective operating activities. The “Other/Elintioas” column primarily includes corporate expenses, asaatl eliminations, as well
restructuring costs and intangible asset impairsjéhainy. Intersegment sales are eliminated wid@oh region except compressor sales ¢
Latin America, which are included in Other/Elimiiuats.

We conduct business in two countries, the UnitedeStand Brazil, which individually comprised 0@ of consolidated net sales
long-lived assets within the last three years. fiflewing table summarizes net sales and long-liassets by geographic area:

All Other

Millions of dollars United States Brazil Countries Total

2014:

Sales to external customers $ 9,062 $ 3,20¢ $ 7,60¢ $ 19,87:
Long-lived assets 4,52¢ 321 4,741 9,591
2013:

Sales to external customers $ 8571 $ 3,29t $ 6,897 $ 18,76¢
Long-lived assets 4,461 33t 1,671 6,46
2012:

Sales to external customers $ 8,00t % 3337 % 6,801 $ 18,14:
Long-lived assets 4,417 377 1,69¢ 6,48:
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As described above, our chief operating decisiofkenaeviews each operating segmenterformance based upon operating inc
which excludes restructuring costs and intangilsleefimpairment, if any. Intangible asset impairtrard restructuring costs are include
operating profit on a consolidated basis and inetlith the Other/Eliminations column in the tabléolae

OPERATING SEGMENTS

North Latin Other/ Total

Millions of dollars America America EMEA Asia Eliminations Whirlpool
Net sales

2014 10,63¢ 4,68¢ 3,90¢ 81€ (169 19,87:

2013 10,17¢ 4,92¢ 3,024 807 (16¢) 18,76¢

2012 9,631 4,95( 2,874 847 (159 18,14:
Intersegment sales

2014 $ 244 $ 18C $ 7€ 3 26€ $ (769 $ —

2013 25¢€ 174 79 257 (76€) —

2012 262 171 104 22¢€ (769) —
Depreciation and amortization

2014 $ 26 % 86 $ 104 $ 28 % 78 % 56C

2013 23¢ 91 95 18 98 54C

2012 26C 97 93 18 83 551
Operating profit (loss)

2014 $ 1,072 % 478 % 5¢ §% (21) $ (397) $ 1,18¢

2013 1,07( 557 4 34 (40¢) 1,24¢

2012 84¢ 47¢€ (52) 37 (439 86¢
Total assets

2014 $ 7,73¢  $ 2917 % 7597 $ 2,73¢  $ (982) $ 20,00:

2013 7,78% 3,38( 2,95¢ 921 503 15,54

2012 7,76¢ 3,84t 2,95¢ 80z 27 15,39¢
Capital expenditures

2014 $ 271 % 13 % 187 % 28 % 10C $ 72C

2013 254 10¢ 101 25 90 57¢

2012 21¢ 10C 88 24 45 47¢€
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(15) QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

Three months ended

Dec. 31 Sept. 30 Jun. 30 Mar. 31
Millions of dollars, except per share data 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Net sales $ 6,000 $ 509 $ 482/ $ 4,68: $ 4,682 $ 4,748 $ 4,36 $ 4,24¢
Cost of products sold 4,977 4,181 3,991 3,831 3,89t 3,931 3,60¢ 3,52:
Operating profit 281 354 33t 31z 291 32¢ 281 254
Interest and sundry income (expense) (64) (82 (39 (16 (16) (39 (23 (18
Net earnings 10¢ 187 23t 19¢ 18t 20¢€ 164 257
Net earnings available to Whirlpool 81 181 23C 19¢ 17¢ 19¢ 16C 252
Per share of common stock:
Basic net earnings $ 104 $ 231 $ 292 $ 24 $ 22¢ $ 248 $ 2.0 $ 3.1¢
Diluted net earnings 1.02 2.2¢€ 2.8¢ 2.4z 2.2t 2.4¢ 2.0z 3.1z
Dividends 0.7t 0.62¢ 0.7t 0.62¢ 0.7t 0.62¢ 0.62¢ 0.5C
Market price range of common stock:
High $196.7: $159.2: $156.1: $151.8¢ $156.77 $134.0¢ $160.0. $120.0(
Low 139.8¢ 129.2: 135.3" 111.7( 136.6¢ 107.8¢ 124.3¢ 101.7-
Close 193.7¢ 156.8t¢ 145.6¢ 146.4¢ 139.2: 114.3¢ 149.4¢ 118.4¢

@ The quarterly earnings per share amounts will meessarily add to the earnings per share compatete year due to the method used in calculatargpare data
@ Composite price as reported by the New Yorkci§Exchange

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure controls and proceduresWhirlpool maintains disclosure controls and progedu(as defined in Rule 13#&{e) of th
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (theeuiBies Exchange Act")) that are designed to jl@weasonable assurance
information required to be disclosed in our filingsder the Securities Exchange Act is recordedzge®ed, summarized, and reported w
the periods specified in the rules and forms ofS3&€ and that such information is accumulated andaneunicated to Whirlpoad’ managemer
including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Rincial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely géans regarding required disclosure.

Prior to filing this report, we completed an evdioa under the supervision and with the participatof Whirlpool managemel
including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief &irtial Officer, of the effectiveness of the desagwl operation of our disclosure controls
procedures as of December 31, 2018ased on this evaluation, the Chief Executiveid®@ff and Chief Financial Officer concluded that
disclosure controls and procedures were effectitkeareasonable assurance level as of Decemb@034,.

Management’s annual report on internal control overfinancial reporting. Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarba@etey Act of 200:
and the rules and regulations adopted pursuanttthewe included a report of managemerassessment of the effectiveness of our int
control over financial reporting as part of thipoet. Managemend' report is included on page 80 of this report urttle caption entitle
“Management’s Report on Internal Control Over FitiahReporting”.

Our internal control over financial reporting asDdcember 31, 2014as been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independegistere
public accounting firm, as stated in their reparhjch is included on page 82 of this report undher ¢aption entitiedReport of Independe
Registered Public Accounting Firm” and is incorgethherein by reference.



72




Changes in internal control over financial reporting. In the fourth quarter of 2014 , we completed ouguésitions of Hefei Sanyanc
Indesit . We are in the process of integrating H&anyo and Indesit operations and consider Heégiy8 and Indesimaterial to th
Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements amelbeahat the internal controls and procedures laawveterial effect on our internal con
over financial reporting. Whirlpool has extendexi $tection 404 compliance program under the Sarb@nky Act of 2002 and the applica
rules and regulations under such Act to includeeH8fnyo and Indesit .

There were no other changes in our internal comivel financial reporting that occurred during fbarth quarter that have materia
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallieaf, our internal control over financial reporting

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

There was no information required to be disclosed ieport on Form 8-K during the fourth quartettivas not previously reported.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE
Information regarding our executive officers islided in ITEM 1 of PART | of this report.

Information regarding the background of the dirextonatters related to the Audit Committee, andti8ed6(a) compliance can
found under the captions “Directors and Nominees Héection as Directors,” “Board of Directors andr@orate GovernanceAudit
Committee,” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownersiipporting Compliancein our Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herey
reference.

There have been no material changes to the proeeduough which stockholders may recommend noraiteeeur Board of Directo
since March 3, 2014 , which is the date of our faeky statement.

We have adopted a code of ethics that applies| tof @ur employees, officers and directors, inchgdiour principal executive office
principal financial officer and principal accourgimfficer. The text of our code of ethics is postedour website: www.whirlpoolcorp.com -
scroll to the bottom of the main page and click‘Buolicies,” then on “Code of EthicsWhirlpool intends to disclose future amendmentwot
waivers from, certain provisions of the code ofietHor executive officers and directors on the siebwithin four business days following
date of such amendment or waiver. Stockholders ne@yest a free copy of the code of ethics from:

Investor Relations
Whirlpool Corporation
2000 North M-63
Mail Drop 2609
Benton Harbor, Ml 49022-2692
Telephone: (269) 923-2641

Whirlpool has also adopted Corporate Governancedélines and written charters for its Audit, Finan¢tuman Resources &
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committeegfallhich are posted on our website: www.whirlp@wfzcomscroll to the bottom of tt
main page and click on “PoliciesStockholders may request a free copy of the clwmaied guidelines from the address or telephone ausd
forth above.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information regarding compensation of our executifcers and directors can be found under theicapt“Nonemployee Direct
Compensation,” “Compensation Discussion and Angl]ysExecutive Compensation Tables,” anduman Resources Committee Interlc
and Insider Participation” in the Proxy Statemertiich is incorporated herein by reference. See thisanformation under the captiorltimar
Resources Committee Report” in our Proxy Statenvelnich is incorporated herein by reference; howgsech information is only “furnished”
hereunder and not deemed “soliciting material” fietl” with the SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or 14Qothe liabilities of Section 18
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information regarding the security ownership of g&yson that we know to beneficially own more tB&h of Whirlpool stock and t
each Whirlpool director, each Whirlpool named exieuofficer, and all directors and executive offis as a group, can be found unde
captions “Security Ownership” and “Beneficial Owsigip” in the Proxy Statement, which is incorporated et®i reference. Informatic
relating to securities authorized under equity cengation plans can be found under the caption tEqiompensation Plan Informationt the
Proxy Statement, which is incorporated herein igresmce.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Information regarding certain relationships anéted transactions (if any) and the independend&tafipool’s directors, can be fou

under the captions “Related Person Transactiond”“Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—®ae Independenceih the Prox
Statement, which is incorporated herein by refezenc
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information regarding our auditors and the Audin@uittee’s pre-approval policies can be found uritlercaption Matters Relating 1
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm'ia Proxy Statement, which is incorporated hereireligrence.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as a parthas report:
1. Financial statements

Consolidated Statements of Income 35
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 36
Consolidated Balance Sheets 37
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 38
Consolidated Statements of Changes in StockholHgrsty 39
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 40
Report by Management on the Consolidated Finafta&kements 79
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfinm 81

Individual financial statements of the registranffiliated foreign companies, accounted for by #guity method, have been omi
since no such company individually constitutesgaigicant subsidiary.

2. Financial Statement Schedules - “Schedule II-u&@bn and Qualifying Accountsis contained on page 83 of this report. Ce
schedules for which provisions are made in theiepiple accounting regulations of the Securities Bmdhange Commission are
required under the related instructions or areptiagble, and therefore have been omitted.

(b) The exhibits listed in the “Exhibit Index” attaed to this report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduaty authorized.

W HIRLPOOL C ORPORATION
(Registrant)
By: IS/ Larry M. Venturelli February 26, 2015

Larry M. Venturelli
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on ber
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ie indicated.

Signature Title
IS/ JEFF M. FETTIG Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executféicer
Jeff M. Fettig (Principal Executive Officer)
/Sl MICHAEL A. TODMAN Director and Vice Chairman

Michael A. Todman

/S/ LARRY M. VENTURELLI Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
Larry M. Venturelli (Principal Financial Officer)
/S/ CHRISTOPHER J. KUEHN Vice President and Corporate Controller
Christopher J. Kuehn (Principal Accounting Officer)
SAMUEL R. ALLEN* Director

Samuel R. Allen

GARY T. DICAMILLO* Director
Gary T. DiCamillo

DIANE M. DIETZ* Director
Diane M. Dietz
GERALDINE T. ELLIOT* Director

Geraldine T. Elliott

MICHAEL F. JOHNSTON* Director
Michael F. Johnston

WILLIAM T. KERR* Director
William T. Kerr
JOHN D. LIU* Director
John D. Liu
HARISH MANWANI* Director

Harish Manwani

WILLIAM D. PEREZ* Director




William D. Perez

MICHAEL D. WHITE* Director

Michael D. White
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*By: /s/ KIRSTEN J. HEWITT Attorney-in-Fact February 26, 2015
Kirsten J. Hewitt
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Report by Management on the Consolidated Financigbtatements

The management of Whirlpool Corporation has prepdhe accompanying financial statements. The firzrstatements have be
audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent regesi public accounting firm, whose report, baseohugeir audits, expresses the opil
that these financial statements present fairly dhesolidated financial position, statements of imeoand cash flows of Whirlpool and
subsidiaries in accordance with accounting primsglenerally accepted in the United States. Thelit@are conducted in conformity with
auditing standards of the Public Company Accoun@wgrsight Board (United States).

The financial statements were prepared from the g@2my's accounting records, books and accounts whichreasonable dete
accurately and fairly reflect all material transaecs. The Company maintains a system of internakrots designed to provide reasoni
assurance that the Company’s books and recordghar@ompany’s assets are maintained and accoforted accordance with management’

authorizations. The Comparsyaccounting records, compliance with policies emérnal controls are regularly reviewed by an riné audi
staff.

The audit committee of the Board of Directors of thiompany is composed of five independent direatdrs, in the opinion of tt
board, meet the relevant financial experiencerdig, and expertise requirements. The audit coramiftrovides independent and objec
oversight of the Company’s accounting functions amdrnal controls and monitors (1) the objectivifythe Companys financial statemen
(2) the Company’s compliance with legal and reguiatequirements, (3) the independent registerdaigpaccounting firms qualifications ar
independence, and (4) the performance of the Coyhpainternal audit function and independent registepablic accounting firm. |
performing these functions, the committee has #sponsibility to review and discuss the annual teddfinancial statements and quart
financial statements and related reports with meamamnt and the independent registered public acemufitm, including the Company’
disclosures under “Management’s Discussion and y&malof Financial Condition and Results of Openagit to monitor the adequacy
financial disclosure. The committee also has tlspaasibility to retain and terminate the Companydependent registered public accour
firm and exercise the committee’s sole authoritye@iew and approve all audit engagement fees emastand prepprove the nature, exte
and cost of all non-audit services provided byitlieependent registered public accounting firm.

/SI L ARRY M. V ENTURELLI

Larry M. Venturelli

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
February 26, 2015
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

The management of Whirlpool Corporation is respaesior establishing and maintaining adequate irateicontrol over financi
reporting as defined in Rules 13a — 15(f) and 15t6¢) under the Securities Exchange Act of 193Ailpool’s internal control system
designed to provide reasonable assurance to Whlipmanagement and board of directors regardingetiebility of financial reporting ar
the preparation and fair presentation of publisfeahcial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how wellsimed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, etlase systems determined tc
effective can provide only reasonable assurande negpect to financial statement preparation apdgtation.

The management of Whirlpool assessed the effeassf Whirlpool's internal control over financiaporting as ofDecember 3:
2014 .In making this assessment, it used the criterisfét by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiofishe Treadway Commissi
(COSO) in Internal ControlHategrated Framework (2013 Framework). Based orafisessment and those criteria, management bettes
Whirlpool maintained effective internal control eancial reporting as of December 31, 2014 .

Management's assessment of internal control omenéial reporting as of December 31, 2@%éludes the internal control over finan
reporting related to Hefei Rongshida Sanyo Eledfric, Ltd. ("Hefei Sanyo") and Indesit Company &.("Indesit") (both acquired in tl
fourth quarter of 2014), which are included in 204 consolidated financial statements of WhirlpGotporation. As of December 31, 20,14
Hefei Sanyo and Indesit together constitute $5lbiand $2.9 billion of total and net assets,pexgively. Additionally, they represent
sales and net earnings of $994 million and $15ionill respectively, which excludes certain non-réogr acquisitionrelated costs ai
investment expenses.

Whirlpool's independent registered public accoumtiitm has issued an audit report on its assesswfewthirlpool’s internal contre
over financial reporting. This report appears ogep82.

/s/ JEFF M. FETTIG /S/ LARRY M. VENTURELLI
Jeff M. Fettig Larry M. Venturelli

Chairman of the Board and Executive Vice President and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
February 26, 2015 February 26, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Stockholders and Board of Directors
Whirlpool Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Whirlpool Corporation as of Decemider2®14 and 2013and the
related consolidated statements of income, compsie income, changes in stockholdexguity and cash flows for each of the three yea
the period ended December 31, 20Qur audits also included the financial statemehedale listed in the index at Item 15(a). Thesarfma
statements and schedule are the responsibilithefCompanys management. Our responsibility is to expressnian on these financi
statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighaBlo(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thet daodibtain reasonable assurance about whethdimntecial statements are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digidg in the financial statements. An
also includes assessing the accounting princigded and significant estimates made by managenmemtelhas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referrecabove present fairly, in all material respedtg, tonsolidated financial position
Whirlpool Corporation at December 31, 2014 and 20&8d the consolidated results of its operatiorssitsicash flows for each of the th
years in the period endDecember 31, 2014in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accongtprinciples. Also in our opinion, the rela
financial statement schedule, when considered latioa to the basic financial statements taken aghale, presents fairly, in all matel
respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Blo@nited States), Whirlpo
Corporation’s internal control over financial repoog as of December 31, 2014 , based on critetiabished in Internal ControlHrtegrate
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@imgtions of the Treadway Commission (2013 Framkwand our report dat
February 26, 2015 expressed an unqualified opitfiereon.

/s ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Chicago, lllinois
February 26, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Stockholders and Board of Directors
Whirlpool Corporation

We have audited Whirlpool Corporation’s internahtrol over financial reporting as of December 3012 ,based on criteria establist
in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013 Framework) issued by @menmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Twesy
Commission (the COSO criteria). Whirlpool Corpavats management is responsible for maintaining effedatternal control over financ
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectgerof internal control over financial reportinglirded in the accompanying Management’
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporti@gir responsibility is to express an opinion o& ¢bmpanys internal control over financ
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedglof the Public Company Accounting Oversight rBo@nited States). Tho
standards require that we plan and perform thetdodbbtain reasonable assurance about whethectigeinternal control over financ
reporting was maintained in all material respe€ar audit included obtaining an understanding ¢érimal control over financial reportir
assessing the risk that a material weakness etésting and evaluating the design and operatifeg®@feness of internal control based on
assessed risk, and performing such other procedigege considered necessary in the circumstancesbéleve that our audit provide
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is a@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranceliregéhe reliability o
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantfegeinerally accepted accounting princi
A companys internal control over financial reporting inclsdihose policies and procedures that (1) pertathéamaintenance of records tl
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflbet transactions and dispositions of the assetseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assui
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accorédamdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management :
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanasisurance regarding prevention or timely deteadfounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projections
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in conditior
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying Management's Rapointernal Control Over Financial Reporting, ragements assessment of ¢
conclusion on the effectiveness of internal contngdr financial reporting did not include the imtak controls of the acquired Hefei Rongsl
Sanyo Electric Co., Ltd. ("Hefei Sanyo") businesshe acquired Indesit Company S.p.A. ("Indesitiyiness which are included in the 2
consolidated financial statements of Whirlpool Gogiion and Hefei Sanyo and Indesit constitute® $flion and $2.9 billion of total and r
assets, respectively, as of December 31, 2011$994 million and $15 million of net sales ard @arnings, respectively, for the year 1
ended. Our audit of internal control over finangighorting of Whirlpool Corporation also did notinde an evaluation of the internal con
over financial reporting of Hefei Rongshida Sanyeckic Co., Ltd. or Indesit Company S.p.A.

In our opinion, Whirlpool Corporation maintainedh all material respects, effective internal contooker financial reporting as
December 31, 2014 , based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boéunited States), tl
consolidated balance sheets of Whirlpool Corponatis of December 31, 2014 and 20E3d the related consolidated statements of inc
comprehensive income, changes in stockholderstgcuid cash flows for each of the three yearsiéngeriod ended December 31, 204
our report dated February 26, 2015 expressed amalifigd opinion thereon.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Chicago, lllinois
February 26, 2015
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SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
WHIRLPOOL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Years Ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012
(Millions of dollars)

COL. A CoL.B CoL.C COL.D COL.E
ADDITIONS
Balance at 1) 2 (3)
Beginning Charged to Costs Acquisition Charged to Other Deductions Balance at End
Description of Period and Expenses Impact Accounts / Other —Describe (A) of Period

Year Ended December 31, 2014:

Allowance for doubtful accounts—
accounts receivable 73 76 45 — (40 154

Year Ended December 31, 2013:
Allowance for doubtful accounts—

accounts receivable 6C 21 — — (8) 73
Year Ended December 31, 2012:

Allowance for doubtful accounts—

accounts receivable 61 23 — — (29 6C

Note A—The amounts represent accounts charged off, asslation adjustments and transfers. Recoveries maminal for 2014 , 2013 and
2012.
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ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
ITEMS 15(a)(3) and 15(c)
EXHIBIT INDEX
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014

The following exhibits are submitted herewith oconporated herein by reference in response to ItE5(3)(3) and 15(c). Each exh
that is considered a management contract or corapmysplan or arrangement required to be filed pans to Item 15(a)(3) of Form 10-is
identified by a “(2).”

Number and Description of Exhibit

3(1)

3(ii)

4(i)

4(i)

4(iii)

4(iv)

4(v)

4(vi)

10(i)(a)

10(i)(b)

10(i)(c)

10(i)(d)

10(i)(e)

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Wpa@ol Corporation (amended and restated as of 22;i2009). [Incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Fori @&ommission file number 1-3932)
filed on April 23, 2009]

By-Laws of Whirlpool Corporation (amendeddarestated effective October 21, 2014). [Incorpeddiy reference from Exhibit
3.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K (Commission file nemh-3932) filed on October 24, 2014]

The registrant hereby agrees to furnish eéoSlecurities and Exchange Commission, upon requesipy of instruments
defining the rights of holders of each issue ofjiverm debt of the registrant and its subsidiaries.

Indenture dated as of April 15, 1990 betw&ehirlpool Corporation and Citibank, N.A. [Incor@ded by reference from
Exhibit 4(a) to the Company’s Registration StatehtenForm S-3 (Commission file number 33-4024%dibn May 6, 1991]

Indenture dated as of March 20, 2000 betwééhirlpool Corporation and U.S. Bank, National ésisition (as successor to
Citibank, N.A.) [Incorporated by reference from kbih4(a) to the Company’s Registration StatemenEorm S-3
(Commission file number 333-32886) filed on Mardh 2000]

Indenture dated as of June 15, 1987 betwéaytag Corporation and The First National Bank bfdago. [Incorporated by
reference from Maytag Corporation’s Quarterly Re¢jpor Form 10-Q (Commission file number 1-00655)tf@ quarter ended
June 30, 1987]

Ninth Supplemental Indenture dated as of Bet@0, 2001 between Maytag Corporation and Bark Qational Association.
[Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to MayiCorporation’s Form 8-K (Commission file numbe®@655) filed on
October 31, 2001]

Tenth Supplemental Indenture dated as ofeDdwer 30, 2010, between Maytag Corporation, Whidl@orporation and The
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. [Incamated by reference from Exhibit 4(vi) to the Comyga Annual
Report on Form 10-K (Commission file number 1-398®)the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010]

Share Purchase Agreement dated Julydn} among Whirlpool Corporation and Fineldo S.pH#anca Carloni, Andrea
Merloni, Aristide Merloni, Maria Paola Merloni, ahtonella Merloni [Incorporated by reference fraxhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commissiilemnumber 1-3932) for the quarter ended Septerbe2014]

Share Purchase Agreement dated JulyaD4 2mong Whirlpool Corporation and Fineldo S.pFnes S.p.A., Franca Carloni,
Andrea Merloni, Aristide Merloni, Maria Paola Menlg Ester Merloni, Vittorio Merloni and Antonella &loni [Incorporated
by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s @erdy Report on Form 10-Q (Commission file numbe3932) for the
quarter ended September 30, 2014]

Share Purchase Agreement dated JulyaD} Between Whirlpool Corporation and Claudia Meir[incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly RepmmtForm 10-Q (Commission file number 1-3932) for tjuarter ended
September 30, 2014]

Exclusivity Agreement dated July 10, 2@GimMong Whirlpool Corporation and Fineldo S.p.Andd S.p.A., Vittorio Merloni,
Franca Carloni, Aristide Merloni, Andrea Merlonigikla Paola Merloni, Antonella Merloni, and Esterridai [Incorporated
by reference from Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s @erdy Report on Form 10-Q (Commission file numbe3932) for the
quarter ended September 30, 2014]

Amendment dated October 14, 2014 to Share Purdkgreement dated July 10, 2014, among Whirlpooldtaloldings S.r.l.,
Whirlpool Corporatlon and Flneldo S.p.A., Francal@ai, Andrea Merloni, Aristide Merlom Maria PaoMerloni, and
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(Commission file number 1-3932) for the quartereh&eptember 30, 2014]

E-1




Number and Description of Exhibit

10(i)(H)

10(i)(9)

10(i)(h)

10(3i)(0)

10(iii)()

10(iii)(b)

10(jii)(c)

10(iii)(d)

10(jii)(e)

10(iii)(f)

10(iii)(9)

10(iii)(h)

10(iii) i)

10(iii) (j)

Second Amended and Restated Long-Terre+¥igar Credit Agreement dated as of September@8B} among Whirlpool
Corporation, Whirlpool Europe B.V., Whirlpool FinemB.V., Whirlpool Canada Holding Co., certain Fiogl Institutions
and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as AdministrativenhgEhe Royal Bank of Scotland PLC, BNP Paribas @itidbank, N.A.
as Syndication Agents, and J.P. Morgan Securiti€3, IRBS Securities Inc., BNP Paribas SecuritiegpG@nd Citigroup
Global Markets Inc., as Joint Lead Arrangers andt®ookrunners [Incorporated by reference from iBitl0.6 to the
Company'’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commissiennumber 1-3932) for the quarter ended Septer8be2014]

Short-Term Credit Agreement dated aseaft8mber 26, 2014 among Whirlpool Corporation, bl Europe B.V.,
Whirlpool Finance B.V., Whirlpool Canada Holding .Coertain Financial Institutions and JPMorgan @aank, N.A. as
Administrative Agent, The Royal Bank of Scotland@®IBNP Paribas and Citibank, N.A. as Syndicatiorritg, and J.P.
Morgan Securities LLC, RBS Securities Inc., BNPilRas Securities Corp., and Citigroup Global Markats, as Joint Lead
Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners [Incorporated ligresmce from Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Quayt&éport on Form 10-
Q (Commission file number 1-3932) for the quarteded September 30, 2014]

€400,000,000 Multicurrency Revolving HagiAgreement dated July 29, 2011 for Indesit Camp S.p.A., Indesit Company
France S.A.S., Indesit Company Luxembourg S.A.esitdCompany UK, Ltd. and General Domestic ApplemnEloldings,
Ltd., as Borrowers, Indesit Company S.p.A. as Guaraand Arranged by Banca IMI S.p.A., BNP Parjt&asccursale Italia,
Citigroup Global Markets Limited, HSBC Bank PLC,@\Bank N.V., Mediobanca - Banca Di Credito Finanpi&.p.A. and
Unicredit S.p.A. with Unicredit Bank AG, Milan Brah, acting as Agent (the “Indesit Credit Agreemgnt”

Letter Agreement Amendment dated Noven&r2012 to Indesit Credit Agreement

Whirlpool Corporation Nonemployee Ditec Stock Ownership Plan (amended as of Februarnt 499, effective April 20,
1999) (2) [Incorporated by reference from ExhibitdAthe Company’s Proxy Statement (Commissionrfilember 1-3932) for
the 1999 annual meeting of stockholders]

Whirlpool Corporation Charitable Awafontribution and Additional Life Insurance Plan fairectors (effective April 20,
1993) (2) [Incorporated by reference from Exhiliifi)(p) to the Company’s Annual Report on FormR§Commission file
number 1-3932) for the fiscal year ended Decembe894]

Whirlpool Corporation Deferred Competisa Plan for Directors (as amended effective Jan@al1992 and April 20, 1993)
(2) [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10(fi))to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (@vission file number
1-3932) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1993

Whirlpool Corporation Deferred Competisa Plan 1l for NonEmployee Directors (as amended and restated, ifetdnuan
1, 2009) (2) [Incorporated by reference from Exhilfi(iii)(e) to the Company’s Annual Report on FolfK (Commission
file number 1-3932) for the fiscal year ended Delsen81, 2008]

Whirlpool Corporation Nonemployee Ditec Equity Plan (effective January 1, 2005) (Z)cbnporated by reference from
Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (Commissfid@ number 1-3932) filed on April 21, 2005]

Amendment of the Whirlpool Corporatidtionemployee Director Equity Plan (effective Janukgr2008) (Z) [Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10(iii)(a) to the Company’sdperly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission file numbe3932) filed on
April 24, 2008]

Nonemployee Director Stock Option FoahAgreement (Z) [Incorporated by reference fronhibit 10(iii)(b) to the
Company'’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commissiemnumber 1-3932) filed on April 24, 2008]

Nonemployee Director Stock Option FoahAgreement (Z) [Incorporated by reference fronhibx 10.2 to the Company’s
Form 8-K (Commission file number 1-3932) filed oprA 26, 2010]

Whirlpool Corporation 1996 Omnibus Stoand Incentive Plan (as amended, effective Fepru@y 1999) (Z) [Incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10(iii)(r) to the Company&snual Report on Form 10-K (Commission file numhe3932) for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 1999]

Whirlpool Corporation 1998 Omnibus Stoand Incentive Plan (as amended, effective Feridy 1999) (Z) [Incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10(ii)(s) to the Companyenual Report on Form 10-K (Commission file numhe3932) for the



fiscal year ended December 31, 1999]

10(iii) (k) Whirlpool Corporation 2000 Omnibus Stoand Incentive Plan (effective January 1, 2000)[liZcorporated by reference from
Exhibit A to the Company’s Proxy Statement (Comioisgile number 1-3932) for the 2000 annual meetihgtockholders
filed on March 13, 2000]
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Number and Description of Exhibit

10(ii) (1)

10(iii)(m)

10(iii)(n)

10(iii)(0)

10(iii)(p)

10(iii)(a)

10(iii)(r)

10(iii)(s)

10(iii)(t)

10(iii)(u)

10(jii)(v)

10(iii)(w)

10(jii)(x)

10(ii)(y)

10(iii)(2)

Whirlpool Corporation 2002 Omnibus Stoand Incentive Plan (effective January 1, 2003)[lZcorporated by reference from
Exhibit A to the Company’s Proxy Statement (Comiissile number 1-3932) for the 2002 annual meetihgtockholders
filed on March 8, 2002]

Whirlpool Corporation 2007 Omnibus Skoand Incentive Plan (effective January 1, 2007)[(@corporated by reference from
Annex A to the Company’s Proxy Statement (Commissie number 1-3932) for the 2007 annual meetifigtockholders
filed on March 12, 2007]

Omnibus Equity Plans 409A Amendmenfti¢efive December 19, 2008) (Z) [Incorporated byrefce from Exhibit 10(jii)(n)
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Consiois file number 1-3932) for the fiscal year en@etember 31,
2008]

Whirlpool Corporation 2010 Omnibus Skoand Incentive Plan (Z) [Incorporated by referefroen Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company'’s Form 8-K (Commission file number 1-3982d on April 26, 2010]

Whirlpool Corporation Amended and Resth2010 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan (Z) [fpocated by reference from
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration StatenmenForm S-8 (Commission file number 333-18794i85fon April 16,
2013]

Form of Agreement for the Whirlpool Gmorration Career Stock Grant Program (pursuant éocsmmore of Whirlpool's
Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plans) (Z) [Incorpatdig reference from Exhibit 10(iii)(q) to the Conmy&s Annual Report on
Form 10-K (Commission file number 1-3932) for tiecél year ended December 31, 1995]

Form of Amendment to Whirlpool Corpoiam Career Stock Grant Agreement (Z) [Incorpordigdeference from Exhibit 10
(iii)(p) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form Kq€ommission file number 1-3932) for the fiscabyended December
31, 2008]

Form of Stock Option Grant Document fbe Whirlpool Corporation Stock Option Programrguant to one or more of
Whirlpool’'s Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plans)(Re2/17/04) (Z) [Incorporated by reference from Exhi0(i) to the
Company’s Form 8-K (Commission file number 1-3982d on January 25, 2005]

Administrative Guidelines for the Whgbol Corporation Special Retention Program (purst@one or more of Whirlpool's
Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plans) (Z) [Incorpatdig reference from Exhibit 10(iii)(w) to the Compés Annual Report on
Form 10-K (Commission file number 1-3932) for tiecél year ended December 31, 2001]

Addendum to Whirlpool Corporation SpacRetention Program Features (effective Janua?pQ5) (Z) [Incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10(ii)(s) to the Company®enual Report on Form 10-K (Commission file numhe3932) for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2008]

Form of Whirlpool Corporation Strategiexcellence Program Grant Document (pursuant tooomeore of Whirlpool's
Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plans)(Rev. 02/17/@%]lacorporated by reference from Exhibit 10()the Company’s Form
8-K (Commission file number 1-3932) filed on Jaryu2b, 2005]

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreeméptrsuant to one or more of Whirlpool's Omnibuecktand Incentive Plans) (2)
[Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to @@mpany’s Form 8-K (Commission file number 1-398@d on June 21,
2010]

Whirlpool Corporation 2010 Omnibus Stoand Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Awardl [(Acorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10(iii)(a) to the Company’s Form 10{Qommission file number 1-3932) for the quarterezhtarch 31, 2011]
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quarter ended March 31, 2011]
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THIS AGREEMENT is made in London on 29 July 2011 between:

1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

INDESIT COMPANY S.p.A. a company incorporated in Italy as a societa pemaand registered with the Registry
Companies in Ancona under number 00693740425 wifstered office in Fabriano (AN) at Viale A. Meamlp47, 6004<
having an underwritten and paid-up share capitahktp Euro 102,759,269.40, having VAT and Tax Bla693740425%

INDESIT COMPANY FRANCE S.A.S. a company incorporated in France as a société gi#na simplifiée an
registered with the Commercial and Companies RggdtMeaux under number B 335 075 404 with regesdeoffice at &
Boulevard Georges Bidault, 77437, Croissy Beauhddegne la Vallée Cedex 2;

INDESIT COMPANY LUXEMBOURG S.A. , asociété anonym@corporated under the laws of Luxembourg, °
registered office at 5, Rue Jean Monne2180 Luxembourg and registered with the Luxembdregister of Commer:
and Companies under the number B 15826;

INDESIT COMPANY UK LTD, a company incorporated in the United Kingdom asrigate limited company ai
registered with Companies House under number 10625 egistered office Morley Way, Peterborougi2MJB;

GENERAL DOMESTIC APPLIANCES HOLDINGS LTD a company incorporated in the United Kingdom asizafe
limited company and registered with Companies Housder number 610606 with registered office MorMjay,
Peterborough, PE2 9JB,;

INDESIT COMPANY S.p.A. a company incorporated in Italy as a societa pemaand registered with the Registry
Companies in Ancona under number 00693740425 wifstered office in Fabriano (AN) at Viale A. Meamlp47, 6004
having an underwritten and paigh-share capital equal to Euro 102,759,269.40 nigaVAT and Tax No. 00693740425 (
" Guarantor " or the "Company");

Banca IMI S.p.A., BNP PARIBAS, SUCCURSALE ITALIA, CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS LIMITED, HSBC
BANK PLC, ING BANK N.V., MEDIOBANCA - BANCA DI CRED ITO FINANZIARIO S.p.A. andUNICREDIT
S.p.A.as mandated lead arrangers and bookrunners (indilycand together, theArranger ");

THE FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS listed in Part Il and Part Ill of Schedule Tl§e Original Parties as lenders (the
Original Lenders "); and

UNICREDIT BANK AG, MILAN BRANCH as agent of the other Finance Parties (tAgent ™).

IT IS AGREED as follows:

1.1

SECTION 1
INTERPRETATION

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

Definitions
In this Agreement:

" Accession Memorandum" means a memorandum substantially in the formosetn Schedule 14 Form of Borrowe
Accession Memorandujror Schedule 20Form of Guarantor Accession Memorandyas applicable.

" Additional Borrower "
( Additional Borrowers.

means any company which has become an AdditiBoalower in accordance with Clause =




" Additional Cost of Funding " means (i) the Liquidity Premium in relation td.aan made in GBP or USD not excee(
the PreAgreed Limit; or (ii) the additional cost of fundjrthat shall be agreed between all the Lendersmsudtation witl
the Company from time to time in relation to (Ab@an made in any other Optional Currency selectetbuClause 4.3(a)
(if) ( Conditions relating to Optional Currencigsor (B) the amount of a Loan made in GBP or USDeexling the Pre-
Agreed Limit.

" Additional Cost Rate " has the meaning given to it in ScheduleMandatory Cost formulag

" Additional Guarantor
( Changes to the Obligons

means a company which becomes an Additional Guwaran accordance with Clause

" Additional Obligor " means an Additional Borrower or an Additional Gr#or.

" Affiliate " means, in relation to any person, a Subsidiarthaf person or a Holding Company of that persoanyr othe
Subsidiary of that Holding Company.

" Agent's Spot Rate of Exchangé means the Agent's spot rate of exchange for tinehase of the relevant currency v
the Base Currency in the London foreign exchangdehat or about 11:00 a.m. on a particular dag; an

" Applicable Accounting Standards" means the generally accepted accounting princigdein effect from time to time
the place of incorporation of the Guarantor, inoigd AS/IFRS, as applicable, as used in the prejaraf the then mo
recent audited Consolidated Financial StatementiseoGuarantor.

" Assignment Agreement” means an agreement substantially in the formosgétin Schedule 6 Form of Assignme
Agreemenj or any other form agreed between the Agent aadtarantor.

" Assignment Date' means, in relation to an assignment, the later of
(@) the proposed transfer date specified in the AssarAgreement; at
(b) the date on which the Agent executes the Assignigréemen

n

" Authorisation
registration.

means an authorisation, consent, approval, résolulicence, exemption, filing, notarisation

" Availability Period " means the period from and including the date &f Agireement to and including the day falling
Month prior to the Termination Date.

" Available Commitment " means a Lender's Commitment minus:
(a) the Base Currency Amount of its participatiorany outstanding Loans and Bank Guarantees; and

(b) in relation to any proposed Utilisation, the Baseréncy Amount of its participation in any LoansiaBant
Guarantees that are due to be made on or befoprdpesed Utilisation Date;

other than that Lender's participation in any Loand Bank Guarantees that are due to be repaipaigrer expire on
before the proposed Utilisation Date.

" Available Facility " means the aggregate for the time being of eacllé&®es Available Commitment.
" Bank Guarantee" means a Bank Guarantee issued or to be issuedHAognting Bank under the Facility substantiall

the form set out in Schedule 10~¢rm of Bank Guaranteg or in such other form requested by the Guaramtuch is
acceptable to the Agent and that Fronting Bank.




" Bank Guarantee Proportion" means, in relation to a Lender in respect of Bapk Guarantee and save as other
provided in this Agreement, the proportion (expeglsas a percentage) borne by that Lender's Avail@bmmitment to tf
Available Facility immediately prior to the issuktbat Bank Guarantee.

" Bank Guarantee Valuation Date" means the first Business Day which falls six M@nafter the date the first Be
Guarantee is issued pursuant to this Agreemeneacid day falling at six Monthly intervals afterttdate.

" Base Currency" means euro.

" Base Currency Amount” means, in relation to a Loan or a Bank Guarantee,amount specified in the Utilisat
Request for that Loan or Bank Guarantee, (or,.@fagmount requested is not denominated in the Base@y, that amou
converted into the Base Currency at the Agent's Bate of Exchange) on the date which is:

(a) in relation to a Utilisation three Business Day$obe the Utilisation Date, (or, if later, on thetelahe Ager
receives the Ultilisation Request); or in the cafsa cenewal or revaluation of a Bank Guaranteeldker of: (i) the dai
falling two Business Days before its issue dataryr renewal date; (ii) or the most recent Bank @uige Valuation Date;

(b) adjusted to reflect any repayment or prepayroéttte Loan, or Bank Guarantee, as the case may be

" Blacklisted Resident Entity" means a person that is resident, domiciled, &t&br Tax purposes or acting through a Fau
Office in a Blacklisted Jurisdiction.

" Blacklisted Jurisdiction " means (i) State or territory listed as havingigilgged tax regime in the Italian Ministerial Dree o
23 January 2002, as amended from time to timeagiifrom the fiscal year in which the decree purst@marticle 16&is of
Presidential Decree No. 917 of December 22, 198 thke effect, State or territory which is notlided in the list ¢
countries and territories (the "White List") allowgi an adequate exchange of information with thiaftarax authoritie
(for the five (5) years starting on the date oflmation of the Decree in the Official Gazette, nbies and territories whi
are not included in the current blalits set forth by Italian Ministerial Decrees oty 1999, 21 November 2001 anc
January 2002 nor in the current white list sethfdsy Italian Ministerial Decree of 4 September 1296 deemed to
included in the White List); (iii) upon the occunee of any change in law in force as of the datehigf Agreement or upt
the implementation of the envisaged change in d@scribed in paragraph (ii) above and considerimg subseque
amendments, State or territory included in anydfstountries and territories (as set out in arigvant law or regulation
not allowing an adequate exchange of informatiottthe Italian Tax authorities referred to undetide 110, Paragra|
10 of Presidential Decree No. 917 of December 2361

" Borrower " means an Original Borrower or an Additional Bavey unless it has ceased to be a Borrower in aa0ck
with Clause 27 Changes to the Obligods

" Break Costs" means the amount (if any) by which:

(@) the interest (excluding Margin and Mandatory Co#tany) which a Lender should have received fa gerio
from the date of receipt of all or any part ofperticipation in a Loan or Unpaid Sum to the lasy df the currel
Interest Period in respect of that Loan or UnpaichShad the principal amount or Unpaid Sum recebegh pai
on the last day of that Interest Period;

exceeds:

(b) the amount which that Lender would be able to obtai placing an amount equal to the principal anau
Unpaid Sum received by it on deposit with a leadiagk in the Relevant Interbank Market
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for a period starting on the Business Day follownegeipt or recovery and ending on the last dashefcurrer
Interest Period.

" Business Day' means a day (other than a Saturday or Sundawhich banks are open for general business in Mila
London and:

(@) (in relation to any date for payment or purchasa ofirrency other than euro) the principal finahcéntre of th
country of that currency: or

(b) (in relation to any date for payment or purchasewb) any TARGET Da

" Capital Lease" means, at any time, a lease with respect to wthehlessee is required concurrently to recogrhs
acquisition of an asset and the incurrence oftdlitiain accordance with Applicable Accounting Btiards.

" Cash Collateral" means, in relation to any Bank Guarantee or Ban&rantee Proportion of a Bank Guarantee, a d
in a blocked interedtearing account or accounts as the Agent may spéeldt deposit and account held with the Age
be pledged in favour of, and on terms and condtacceptable to, the relevant Fronting Bank (orabeti the Lenders
provided that in taking such security the FrontBank shall use reasonable endeavours to minimigenagative ta
consequences on the Obligors.

" Cash Collateral Documents' means any documents as the Agent may specitye tentered into in relation to the C
Collateral.

" Change of Control" means any event or circumstance in which anygoecs persons (other than the Merloni Fam
acting in concert, together with Affiliates thereafcquires Control of the Guarantor. For the pugpok this definitiol
"acting in concert" means, a group of persons \phosuant to an agreement or understanding (whé&theal or informal)
actively coeperate, through the acquisition by any of thentheeidirectly or through a third entity, of sharesthe
Guarantor, to obtain or consolidate control of Gwearantor.

" Commitment " means the Facility A Commitment or, as the caag be, the Facility B Commitment.
" Commitment Fee Payment Daté has the meaning set out in paragraph (c) of @duds2 (Commitment Feg

" Compliance Certificate " means a certificate substantially in the form set in Schedule 7 Form of Complianc
Certificate).

" Confidentiality Undertaking " means a confidentiality undertaking substantiailya recommended form of the LMA
in any other form agreed between the Guarantottamégent.

" Consolidated Financial Statements means the annual and seamnual audited consolidated financial statementbe
Guarantor.

" Consolidated Total Assets means, at any time, the consolidated total asdetse Group at such time as reported ir
Consolidated Financial Statements.

" Control " means (directly or indirectly) (i) the power (vther by way of ownership of shares, proxy, contragency ¢
otherwise) to: (A) cast, or control the castingragre than onéalf of the maximum number of votes that might betat
general meeting of a company; or (B) appoint oraeen(whether as a result of the exercise of dontim#tuence o
otherwise) all, or the majority, of the directorsadher equivalent officers of a company; or (G)egdirections with respe
to the operating and financial policies of that pamy which the directors or other equivalent officef a company a
obliged to comply with; or (ii) the ability to exdse a dominant influence over a company or a compgantrolling the
company; or (iii) holding of more than ohedf of the issued share capital which gives ris@dting rights of a compa
(excluding any part of that




issued share capital that carries no rights toigigate beyond a specified amount in a distributidneither profits ¢
capital).

" Default " means an Event of Default or any event or cirdamse specified in Clause 25{ents of Defaulj which
would (with the expiry of a grace period, the ggiof notice, the making of any determination unttee Financ
Documents or any combination of any of the foregpive an Event of Default.

" Defaulting Lender " means any Lender:

(@ which has failed to make its participation in a haevailable or has notified the Agent that it witit make it
participation in a Loan available by the Utilisatiddate of that Loan in accordance with Clause 5.Befders
participation); or

(b) which has otherwise rescinded or repudiatesharfee Document;
(© with respect to which an Insolvency Event hesuored and is continuing,
unless, in the case of paragraph (a) above:
(i) its failure to pay is caused |
(A) administrative or technical error;
(B) a Disruption Event; an
payment is made within 3 Business Days of its date;cr
(i) the Lender is disputing in good faith whether itémtractually obliged to make the payment in goes
" Determination Date" means the Year-End Determination Date and/or Semual Determination Date.
" Disruption Event " means either or both of:
(@) a material disruption to those payment or commuitioa systems or to those financial markets whieh im eac
case, required to operate in order for paymentsetmade in connection with the Facilities (or otise in orde
for the transactions contemplated by the Financeubents to be carried out) which disruption is cexised by

and is beyond the control of, any of the Parties; o

(b) the occurrence of any other event which resulta isruption (of a technical or systemefated nature) to tl
treasury or payments operations of a Party prenvgitkiat, or any other Party:

from performing its payment obligations under tleafice Documents; or
(i) from communicating with other Parties in accordanith the terms of the Finance Docume
and which (in either such case) is not causedryjsabeyond the control of, the Party whose opmratare disrupted.

" Environmental Claim " means any claim, proceeding or investigation by person in respect of any Environme
Law.




" Environmental Law " means any applicable law in any jurisdiction ihigh any member of the Group conducts bus

which relates to the pollution or protection of #vironment or harm to or the protection of hurhaalth or the health

animals or plants.

" Environmental Permits " means any permit, licence, consent, approval @hdr authorisation and the filing of ¢

notification, report or assessment required undgrenvironmental Law for the operation of the besis of any member

the Group conducted on or from the properties ovaragsed by the relevant member of the Group.

" EURIBOR " means, in relation to any Loan in euro:

i. the applicable Screen Rate

i. (if no Screen Rate is available for the Interegtideleof that Loan) the arithmetic mean of the rafesinde:
upwards to four decimal places) as supplied toApent at its request quoted by the Reference Btmksading
banks in the European interbank market,

as of the Specified Time on the Quotation Day Far tffering of deposits in euro for a period conabde to the Intere
Period of the relevant Loan.

" Event of Default"” means any event or circumstance specified asisuClause 25 Events of Default.

" Expiry Date " means, in relation to any Bank Guarantee, the datwhich the maximum aggregate liability undex
Bank Guarantee is to be reduced to zero.

" Facility " means the Facility A or the Facility B andracilities " means both of them.

" Facility A " means the revolving loan and bank guaranteeitfaciiade available under this Agreement as destrih
Clause 2 [The Facility).

" Facility A Borrower " means Indesit Company S.p.A. and any Additiorar8wver under Facility A.

" Facility A Commitment " means:

(@) in relation to an Original Lender, the amount inrceset opposite its name under the heading "Fachi
Commitment" in Part Il of Schedule Trtie Original Partieg and the amount of any other Facility A Commitn

transferred to it under this Agreement or assunyeitlibh accordance with Clause 2.I.hgrease); and

(b) in relation to any other Lender, the amount in eofany Facility A Commitment transferred to it @nchis
Agreement or assumed by it in accordance with @&.2 (Increase),

to the extent not cancelled, reduced (other thamthie avoidance of doubt, by way of Utilisatiom)t@nsferred by it und
this Agreement.

" Facility A Lender " means:
(@) an Original Lender listed in Part Il of ScheduléThe Original Partieg; anc

(b) any bank or financial institution which has becoméender under Facility A in accordance with Cla@sg
(Increase) or Clause 26 Changes to the Lende)s




" Facility A Loan " means a loan made or to be made under Facilioyr #e principal amount outstanding for the 1
being of that loan.

" Facility A Qualifying Lender " means a bank, financial institution or other gnthich is not a Blacklisted Resid
Entity, and

(@) is duly authorised to carry out banking activityltaly and is deemed to be Tax resident in Italgspant to Articls
73 of Presidential Decree No. 917 of December 98610r

(b) is duly authorised to carry out banking activitylitaly and will be lending from a Facility Offica iltaly (" Italian
Branch ") for which the payment of interest made by ani@slincorporated in Italy is business incomedditc
di impresa) pursuant to articles 81 and 152 of of Presidébtecree No. 917 of December 22, 1986 and to v
the relevant Loan is effectively connected,;

" Facility B " means the revolving loan and bank guaranteeitfaciiade available under this Agreement as destrih
Clause 2 [The Facility).

" Facility B Borrower " means each of Indesit Company France S.A.S.,slhd@mpany Luxembourg S.A., Inde
Company UK Ltd and General Domestic Appliances Hagd Ltd and any Additional Borrower under FaciBy

" Facility B Commitment " means:
(@) in relation to an Original Lender, the amount irrceset opposite its name under the headingatility B
Commitment " in Part lll of Schedule 1 [The Original Parties) and the amount of any other Facility

Commitment transferred to it under this Agreemerassumed by it in accordance with Clause 2i2iease); anc

(b) in relation to any other Lender, the amount in eafany Facility B Commitment transferred to it @ndhis
Agreement or assumed by it in accordance with @&.2 (Increase),

to the extent not cancelled, reduced (other thamthie avoidance of doubt, by way of Utilisatiom)t@nsferred by it und
this Agreement.

" Facility B Lender " means:
(@) an Original Lender listed in Part Ill of ScheduléThe Original Partieg; anc

(b) any bank or financial institution which has becomé.ender under Facility B in accordance with Cladsk
(Increase) or Clause 26 Changes to the Lende)s

" Facility B Loan " means a loan made or to be made under Facility Bie principal amount outstanding for the 1
being of that loan.

" Facility B Qualifying Lender " means:

(@) a Lender which is beneficially entitled to intergstyable to that Lender in respect of an advandema Financ
Document and is:

() a Lendel

(A) which is a bank (as defined for the purpose ofiee®79 of the Income Tax Act 2007) making
advance under a Finance Document; or
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(b)

(©)

(d)

(B) in respect of an advance made under a Finance Doduny a person that was a bank (as define
the purpose of section 879 of the Income Tax AG72@t the time that that advance was made,

and which is within the charge to United Kingdonrpmation tax as respects any payments of inteneste i
respect of that advance; or

a Lender which i
(i) acompany resident in the United Kingdom for Uniedgdom tax purpose
(i) a partnership each member of whicl
(A) acompany so resident in the United Kingdon
(B) a company not so resident in the United KingdomcWlgarries on a trade in the United Kingc
through a permanent establishment and which biimgsaccount in computing its chargeable pr:
(within the meaning of section 19 of the Corponaticax Act 2009) the whole of any share of inte
payable in respect of that advance that falls by iteason of Part 17 of the Corporation Tax AQ20
(iii) a company not so resident in the United KingdomcWitarries on a trade in the United Kingdom thrc
a permanent establishment and which brings int@wadcinterest payable in respect of that advan
computing the chargeable profits (within the megrofh section 19 of the Corporation Tax Act 200€

that company; or

fulfils the conditions imposed by French Law in @rdor a payment not to be subject to (or as tise caay be,
be exempt from) any Tax Deduction; or

a Facility B Treaty Lende

" Facility B Treaty Lender " means a Lender which:

(@)
(b)

()
(d)

is treated as a resident of a Facility B TreatyeStar the purposes of the Facility B Tre.

does not carry on a business in the relevant Ba@liTreaty State through a permanent establishméhtwhict
that Lender's participation in the Loan is effeeljvconnected;

is acting from a Facility Office situated in itgigdiction of incorporation; ar
fulfils any other conditions which must be fulfileinder the Facility B Treaty by residents of tlaeifty B Treat)

State for such residents to obtain exemption froax Tmposed, subject to the completion of any neug
procedural formalities

" Facility B Treaty State " means a jurisdiction having a double taxationeagrent (a ‘Facility B Treaty ") with the
jurisdiction of incorporation of France and/or Laxieourg and/or the United Kingdom, which makes miawi for full
exemption from tax imposed by such state on interes

" Facility Office " means the office or offices notified by a Lenttethe Agent in writing on or before the date icbmes
Lender (or, following that date, by not less thaue Business Days' written notice) as the officefices through which
will perform its obligations under this Agreement.




" Fee Letter" means any letter or letters dated on or aboutddite of this Agreement between the Arranger ae
Guarantor (or the Agent and the Guarantor) setiirtigany of the fees referred to in Clause E€¢€s).

" Finance Document' means this Agreement, any Fee Letter, any Cadlat€@l Document, any Resignation Notice,
Accession Memorandum and any other document desigjias such by the Agent and the Guarantor.
" Finance Party" means the Agent, the Arranger, a Fronting Ban& bender.

" Finance Subsidiary Indebtednes$ means any Financial Indebtedness incurred bylasi8iary ("Finance Subsidiary")
of the Guarantor whose purpose and function isctaa a financing company for the Group and whias o substanti
assets other than those created through finamaradctions with or on behalf of the Group or amyher thereof and frc
cash deposits with banks and where the indebtedsegsiaranteed by the Guarantor, provided thathé Financ
Subsidiary on lends or transfers such indebtedioeasother Subsidiary of the Guarantor (tHerdnsferred Indebtednes:
") such Finance Subsidiary shall guarantee the Fiabhudebtedness of the Guarantor under this Agreemeethe extel
permitted by the laws and regulations applicabli@jurisdiction in which such Finance Subsidigryncorporated and,
all cases, for an amount not exceeding the Tramesféndebtedness.

" Financial Indebtedness' means with respect to any person, at any timgyout duplication, its liabilities for or in resg
of:

(a) moneys borrowe:

(b) the deferred purchase price of property acquiredush person (excluding accounts payable, includimgno
limited to accounts payable relating to the purehesmachinery, arising in the ordinary course o$ibess bt
including all liabilities created or arising undery conditional sale or other title retention agneat with respect
any such property);

(c) any amount raised by acceptance under any acceptaedit facility

(d) any amount raised pursuant to any note purchadiyfac the issue of bonds, notes, debentures) ktack or an
similar instrument;

(e) the amount of any liability in respect of any leasehire purchase contract which would, in accocgawitr
Applicable Accounting Standards, be treated aspt&ld ease;

) receivables sold or discounted (other than anyivabkes to the extent they are sold on a nesourse basis

(9) any derivative instrument (other than derivativstioments entered into in the ordinary course airmss for th
purposes of hedging borrowings, investments, ugihgrlassets or liabilities, highly probable futtr@nsactions «
in connection with the business of the Group, whethr not recorded for accounting purposes as aihg
instrument in accordance with Applicable Accounttgndards) provided that only the marksiarket value she
be taken into account;

(h) the net present value of the purchase price ofgtgpvhich could arise pursuant to any other Cay#iri Purchas
Agreement, as any such amount may be permanediliged from time to time;

(i) amounts drawn down under letters of credit or umagnts serving a similar function issued or acakpoe its
account by banks and other financial institutiomsdther or not representing obligations for borrdw@ney);

) amount raised by the issue of redeemable shard
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(k) (without double counting) the amount of any liailin respect of any guaranty, indemnity or cowtelemnity
for any of the items referred to in paragraphsdd)) above,

provided that, in case any Financial Indebtednesaised or issued in one currency and a derivatisteument is enter:
into in order to convert such Financial Indebtedriato a different currency (and such derivativernmment is recorded 1
accounting purposes as hedging of such Financitdbitedness in accordance with Applicable Accoun8tendards) tt
mark to market value (either negative or positieé€)such derivative instrument shall be taken intoccant to adju
Financial Indebtedness accordingly.

" French Borrower " means Indesit Company France S.A.S. and any idadit Borrower incorporated under the law
France.

" Fronting Bank " means such financial institution (being eithex thgent or an Affiliate of the Agent) that accedeshis
Agreement as a fronting bank.

" Group " means the Guarantor and its Subsidiaries frore tmtime.
" Guarantee Amount" means:

€)) each sum paid or due and payable by a Fronting Bathe beneficiary of a Bank Guarantee pursuattiéderm
of that Bank Guarantee; and

(b) all liabilities, costs, claims, losses and expengeish a Fronting Bank incurs or sustains in cotioecvith a Ban
Guarantee,

in each case which has not been reimbursed pursu@tuse 10 QObligors' liabilities in relation to Bank Guarantség

" Holding Company " means, in relation to a company or corporatiany ather company or corporation in respec
which such company or corporation is a Subsidiary.

" 1AS " means International Accounting Standard.
" IFRS " means International Financial Reporting Standard.
" Impaired Agent " means the Agent at any time when:

€)) it has failed to make (or has notified a Party thatill not make) a payment required to be maddthynder th:
Finance Documents by the due date for payment;

(b) the Agent otherwise rescinds or repudiates a Fem@ucumen

(c) (if the Agent is also a Lender) it is a Defaultibgnder under paragraph (a) or (b) of the definitddriDefaulting
Lender"; or

(d) an Insolvency Event has occurred and is continwiitig respect to the Agel
unless, in the case of paragraph (a) above:
0] its failure to pay is caused |

(A) administrative or technical error;
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" Increase Confirmation

(B) a Disruption Event; ar
payment is made within 2 Business Days of its cate;cbr
(i) the Agent is disputing in good faith whether itantractually obliged to make the payment in quest

means a confirmation substantially in the formh et in Schedule 19 Form of Increas

Confirmation).

" Increase Lender" has the meaning given to that term in Clausg h2rease).

" Insolvency Event" in relation to a Finance Party means that thafde Party:

(@)
(b)

(©)
(d)

()

(f)

(9)

(h)

is dissolved (other than pursuant to a consolidatonalgamation or merge

becomes insolvent or is unable to pay its debfaits or admits in writing its inability generaltp pay its debts
they become due and in each case, that Financg iBarhder a public insolvency, bankruptcy or goveenta
proceeding or process that is not dismissed, digela stayed or restrained, in each case withinleé8& of th
institution or presentation thereof;

makes a general assignment, arrangement or comoposith or for the benefit of its credito

institutes or has instituted against it, by a ragar, supervisor or any similar official with primyainsolvency
rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction over it ithe jurisdiction of its incorporation or orgartisa or the
jurisdiction of its head or home office, a proceedseeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcyamy othe
relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law drastsimilar law affecting creditors' rights, in Batase other thi
by way of an Undisclosed Administration, or a petitis presented for its windirgp or liquidation by it or suc
regulator, supervisor or similar official;

has instituted against it a proceeding seekingigment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any otheiefainder an
bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar laffeating creditors' rights, or a petition is pretash for it
winding-up or liquidation, and, in the case of any suclceealing or petition instituted or presented againstict
proceeding or petition is instituted or presentgd iperson or entity not described in paragraplaldye and:

(i) results in a judgment of insolvency or bankrupteytte entry of an order for relief or the makingay
order for its windingup or liquidation; or

(i) is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrainedach case within 30 days of the institutior
presentation thereof;

has a resolution passed for its winding, official management or liquidation (other thpaorsuant to
consolidation, amalgamation or merger);

seeks or becomes subject to the appointment ofdamngstrator, provisional liquidator, conservatoeceiver
trustee, custodian or other similar official foroit for all or substantially all its assets, in leaase other than
way of an Undisclosed Administration;

has a secured party take possession of all orantiaty all its assets or has a distress, exegutttachmer
sequestration or other legal process levied, eatbor sued on or against all or substantiallytalbssets and st
secured party maintains possession, or any sudegsas not dismissed, discharged, stayed or mstain eac
case within 30 days thereatfter;
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(i) causes or is subject to any event with respect tehich, under the applicable laws of any jurisidief has a
analogous effect to any of the events specifiqgtanagraphs (a) to (i) above; or

0)) takes any action in furtherance of, or indicatitsgcionsent to, approval of, or acquiescence in,cdtlye foregoin
acts.

" Interest Period " means, in relation to a Loan, each period deteedhin accordance with Clause 1iaterest Periods ar
Terms) and in relation to an Unpaid Sum, each perioérdeined in accordance with Clause 1103efault interes).

" Italian Civil Code " means the Italian Civil Code, enacted by Royati@e No. 262 of 16 March 1942, as subsequ
amended and supplemented.

"Italian Obligor " means an Obligor which is incorporated underldwes of Italy or resident, or deemed to be residia
Italy for tax purposes.

" Lender " means a Facility A Lender or a Facility B Lender.

"LIBOR " means, in relation to any Loan in sterling orlald:

€)) the applicable Screen Rate

(b) (if no Screen Rate is available for the currencynberest Period of that Loan) the arithmetic meérnhe rate
(rounded upwards to four decimal places) as supptiche Agent at its request quoted by the Reterdanks t

leading banks in the London interbank market,

as of the Specified Time on the Quotation Day far dffering of deposits in the currency of that hand for a peric
comparable to the Interest Period for that Loan.

" Liquidity Premium " means 35 basis points per annum or any otheramig agreed pursuant to Clause 7.2(d).

"LMA " means the Loan Market Association.

" Loan " means a Facility A Loan or a Facility B Loan.

" Majority Lenders " means:

€)) if there are no Loans then outstanding, a Lendéraders whose Commitments aggregate more thén £6 of
the Total Commitments (or, if the Total Commitmehtse been reduced to zero and there are no LoaBans
Guarantees outstanding, aggregated more thah/66% of the Total Commitments immediately prior to

reduction); or

(b) at any other time, a Lender or Lenders whose paations in the Loans or Bank Guarantees then anudgn¢
aggregate more than 66,% of all the Loans and Bank Guarantees then outistgn

" Mandatory Cost " means the percentage rate per annum calculatethdyAgent in accordance with Schedul
( Mandatory Cost formulag

" Margin " means:

(@) 1.00 per cent. per annum from the date hereof sutsjgoaragraph (b) belo
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(b)

()
(d)

if the ratio of Consolidated Net Borrowings to Colidated EBITDA (as determined in respect of theaficia
covenants set out at Clause 23.2(a)@inancial condition)), most recently delivered in accordance with G¢
22.1(a) (Financial Statementsof this Agreement, is at the Year End Determoraate within the range set
below, then the Margin shall be the percentageap&um set out opposite such range in the marguh tgble
below:

Margin Grid Table

Ratio of Consolidated Net Borrowings to Consolidate

EBITDA (per cent. per annum)
Greater than 2.5x 1.80

Greater than 2.0x but lower than or equal to 2.5x 1.50

Greater than 1.5x but lower than or equal to 2.0x 1.30

Greater than 1.0x but lower than or equal to 1.5x 1.10

Lower than or equal to 1.0x 1.00

(and any adjustment of the Margin pursuant tolaisgraph (b) shall apply also in respect of artgtanding Loa
or Bank Guarantee, commencing from the date falfimg Business Days after receipt by the Agent fud
Compliance Certificate in respect of the annual S&tidated Financial Statements delivered pursuar€laus
22.2 (Compliance Certificatg);

if at any time an Event of Default has occurred snzbntinuing the Margin shall be 1.80 per cest.gmnum; ar
the change to the Margin set out in paragraphk{oye shall apply from and including the date oncliran Ever

of Default has occurred or come into existencel tmti excluding the date on which such Event ofdbéfis nc
longer continuing.

" Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on:

(@)
(b)
()

the business, operations, financial condition, taisproperties of the Group taken as a wt
the ability of an Obligor to perform its paymentightions under the Finance Document:

the validity or enforceability of the Finance Docembts or the rights or remedies of any Finance Ranter th
Finance Documents.

" Material Subsidiary " means, at any time, a Subsidiary of the Guaramibich as of the then most recent Determin:

Date:

(@)

(b)

()

has profits before interest and tax calculatedhensame basis as Consolidated Profits Before bitare Tax, ¢
defined in Clause 23 Kinancial covenant$, representing more than 7% per cent. of Condgeliti®rofits Befor
Interest and Tax, as defined in Clause Ehéncial covenant$ for the period of four consecutive fiscal quastet
the Guarantor immediately prior to the most re@etermination Date; and/or

has turnover representing more than 7% per cenheo€onsolidated turnover of the Group for thdqueof foul
consecutive fiscal quarters of the Guarantor gddahe most recent Determination Date; and/or

has assets representing more than 7% per cenheofConsolidated Total Assets prior to the most m
Determination Date,

in each case calculated on a consolidated basis.
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" Merloni Family " means Vittorio Merloni, his wife and his childrestlescendants, heirs and legates.

" Month " means a period starting on one day in a calemaarth and ending on the numerically correspondigid the
next calendar month, except that:

(@) if the numerically corresponding day is not a Basi Day, that period shall end on the next BusiBegsin tha
calendar month in which that period is to end #éréhis one, or if there is not, on the immediatelgcedin
Business Day;

(b) if there is no numerically corresponding day in taendar month in which that period is to endf gexiod sha
end on the last Business Day in that calendar mamith

(c) if an Interest Period begins on the last Businegg @f a calendar month, that Interest Period dradl on the la
Business Day in the calendar month in which therest Period is to end.

The above rules will only apply to the last Monfteay period.

“ Moody’s " means Moody'’s Investors Service.

" Non-Cooperative Jurisdiction" means a "non-cooperative state or territor§tdt ou territoire non coopératif as se
out in the list referred to in Article 238-0 A dfd French tax codeGode Général des Impdfsas such list may be amen
from time to time.

"Obligors " means the Borrowers and the Guarantor, a@tligor " means any of them.

" Optional Currency " means a currency (other than the Base Currentyghacomplies with the conditions set ou
Clause 4.3 Conditions relating to Optional Currencigs

n

" Original Borrower " means each of Indesit Company S.p.A., Indesit gamyg France S.A.S., Indesit Comp
Luxembourg S.A., Indesit Company UK Ltd and Genddamestic Appliances Holdings Ltd (together, th®tiginal
Borrowers ").

" Original Financial Statements" means the audited consolidated financial statésnefhthe Guarantor for its financ
year ended 31 December 2010 prepared in accordaticApplicable Accounting Standards.

" Outstandings" means at any time, the aggregate of the BaseeieyrAmounts of the outstanding Loans and the at
of the maximum actual and contingent liabilitiedloé Lenders in respect of each outstanding Barde@tee.

" Participating Member State " means any member state of the European Commilnaityadopts or has adopted the
as its lawful currency in accordance with legislatof the European Union.

" Party " means a party to this Agreement.

" Pre-Agreed Limit " means the pragreed limit of a total Base Currency Amount of &&0 million in respect of Loa
made in aggregate Sterling and/or Dollars calcdlateaccordance with Clause 7.2 (c) below.

" Procedures Report' means a report substantially in the form attachte8Sichedule 16A4greed Upon Procedurgs

" Qualifying Lender " means a Lender which is beneficially entitledrterest payable to that Lender in respect of an
under this Agreement and is:
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(@) with respect to Facility A, a Facility A Qualifyingender; an

(b) with respect to Facility B, a Facility B Qualifyirigender

" Quotation Day " means, in relation to any period for which areiest rate is to be determined:

(@) (if the currency is euro) two Target Days before filnst day of that perio

(b) (if the currency is sterling) the first day of thriod; o

(c) (for any other currency) two Business Days befbeefirst day of that perio

unless market practice differs in the Relevantrivaak Market for a currency, in which case the @tuonh Day for the
currency will be determined by the Agent in accomawith market practice in the Relevant Interbaférket (and i
guotations would normally be given by leading bainkihe Relevant Interbank Market on more than deng the Quotatic
Day will be the last of those days).

" Reference Banks' means the principal London and Milan offices afiCredit Bank AG, Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., E
Paribas and Citibank N.A., or such other banks ay be appointed by the Agent in consultation whb Guarantc
pursuant to Clause 28.16Reference Bank}y for avoidance of doubt, the Milan offices beititg reference for tl
EURIBOR and the London offices are the referenecete LIBOR (or equivalent base rate for Optionaki@ncies othe
than Sterling or Dollars.

" Refinanced Indebtedness means the Euro 350,000,000 revolving facility madailable to the Guarantor and cel
other Subsidiaries pursuant to a facility agreendeed 6 July 2006 and arranged by The Royal B&r8cotland Plc ar
UniCredit Banca Mobiliare S.p.A.

" Relevant Interbank Market " means in relation to euro, the European interbaakket, and, in relation to any ot
currency, the London interbank market.

" Repeating Representations means each of the representations set out ins€atl.1 Gtatus) to 21.6 (Governing lav
and enforcemeny, Clause 21.8 No default), Clause 21.9 No misleading information), Clause 21.11 Pari passl
ranking ), Clause 21.12 No proceedings pending or threatene@lause 21.15 Qwnership of the Borrowerl Claus:
21.16 (Control of the Guarantoy and Clause 21.19Gentre of main interests and establishments).
" Rollover Loan " means one or more Loans:
(a) made or to be made on the same day

(i) amaturing Loan is due to be repaic

(i) demand in respect of a Bank Guarantee is due todb

(b) the aggregate amount of which is equal to or leas the maturing Loa

(c) in the same currency as the maturing Loan (untea®se as a result of the operation of Claus¢ @rgavailability
of a currency)) or Bank Guarantee; and

(d) made or to be made to the same Borrower for thegser of

(i) refinancing that maturing Loan;
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(i)  satisfying any demand made by the Agent pursuaatth@wing under a Bank Guaran
(iii)
" S&P " means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group, a divisiohihe McGraw Hill Companies, Inc.

" Screen Rate' means:

(@) in relation to LIBOR, the British Bankers' Assoaiat Interest Settlement Rate for the relevant ewayeand perioc
and
(b) in relation to EURIBOR, the percentage rate peruammetermined by the Banking Federation of the peat

Union for the relevant period,
displayed on the appropriate page of the Reuteeesclf the agreed page is replaced or serviceese® be available, 1
Agent may specify another page or service disptayite appropriate rate after consultation with @Gearantor and tt
Lenders.
" Security " means any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, sgdatérest or other encumbrance having a similfecef
" Semi-Annual Determination Date" means, for so long as the Guarantor's finan@at ynds on 31December, 3@ June
of each calendar year, and in the event that trer&itor changes its financial year, the day thitg & months from tr
end of such financial year.

" Senior Financial Officer " means any of a director, the chief executiveceffi chief financial officer or the group finau
director of the Guarantor.

"Separate Loan” has the meaning given to that term in Clausg &&paymeny.

" Specified Time" means a time determined in accordance with Sdaei(iTimetableg.

" Subsidiary " means in relation to any company or corporatibopmpany or corporation:

€)) which is controlled, directly or indirectly, by tliest mentioned company or corporati

(b) more than half the issued share capital (whichgyiise to voting rights) of which is beneficiallwoed, directly ¢
indirectly by the first mentioned company or coigt@n; or

(c) which is a Subsidiary of another Subsidiary offire mentioned company or corporati

and for this purpose, a company or corporationl| df&ltreated as being controlled by another if thther company
corporation is able to direct its affairs, exera@sdominant influence over it and/or to control doenposition of its board
directors or equivalent body and is fully consal@hin the Consolidated Financial Statements dnealydine basis fc
such period. Unless the contest otherwise requaeg, reference to a Subsidiary is a reference ulasidiary of th
Guarantor.

"TARGET " means Trans-European Automated Real-time Grage®ent Express Transfer payment system.

" TARGET Day " means any day on which TARGET is open for thdeseent of payments in euro.

" Tax " means any tax, levy, impost, duty or other chasgevithholding of a similar nature (including apgnalty o
interest payable in connection with any failur@éy or any delay in paying any of the same).
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" Taxes Act" means the United Kingdom Income and Corporati@xeE Act 1988 (as from time to time amen
supplemented and substituted).

" Term " means, in relation to any Bank Guarantee, thgdrom its Utilisation Date until its Expiry Date
" Termination Date " means the date falling 5 years from the datdigfAgreement.

" Testo Unico Bancario" means the lItalian Legislative Decree No. 385 oBdptember 1993 (as from time to t
amended, supplemented and substituted).

" Total Commitments " means the aggregate of the Total Facility A Cotrmants and the Total Facility B Commitme
being €400,000,000 at the date of this Agreement.

" Total Facility A Commitments " means the aggregate of the Facility A Commitmemeéng 268,000,000 at the date
this Agreement.

" Total Facility B Commitments " means the aggregate of the Facility B Commitmensng €.32,000,000 at the date
this Agreement.

" Transfer Certificate " means a certificate substantially in the form®atin Schedule 5Form of Transfer Certificate
or any other form agreed between the Agent antrarantor.

" Transfer Date " means, in relation to a transfer, the later of:

(@) the proposed transfer date specified in the Trai®éetificate; an

(b) the date on which the Agent executes the TransetifCate

" Treasury Stock" means ordinary shares issued by the Guarantohalddoy the Guarantor as permitted by Italian law.
" Undisclosed Administration" means in relation to a Lender the appointmerdrotidministrator, provisional liquidat
conservator, receiver, trustee, custodian or atimitar official by a supervisory authority or rdgtor under or based on-
law in the country where such Lender is subjechdone jurisdiction supervision if applicable law vegs that suc

appointment is not to be publicly disclosed.

" Unpaid Sum" means any sum due and payable but unpaid by #gdblinder the Finance Documents.
" Utilisation " means a utilisation of the Facility, by way of@an or a Bank Guarantee.

" Utilisation Date " means the date of a Utilisation, being the datevbich the relevant Loan is to be made or thevesti
Bank Guarantee is to be issued.

" Utilisation Fee Payment Date' has the meaning set out in paragraph (c) of @ldds5 (Utilisation fee).

" Utilisation Request" means a notice substantially in the form setim@chedule 3 Request$.

"VAT " means:

(@) any tax imposed in compliance with the council cliree of 28 November 2006 on the common systemadiie
added tax (EC Directive 2006/112) (including, ifation to the United Kingdom, value added tax ingubdy thi

Value Added Tax Act 1994 and supplemental legstatind regulations, and, in relation to Italy, wahdded te
(Imposta sul Valore Aggiunie pursuant to Decree of the President
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1.2

(b)

of the Republic of Italy No. 633 of 26 October 19@2 from time to time amended, supplemented abstisuted)

and

any other tax of a similar nature, whether imposed member state of the European Union in sulbstitior, ol
levied in addition to, such tax referred to in gmegoh (a) above, or elsewhere.

" Year-End Determination Date " means, for so long as the Guarantor's financéryends on 31 December, 3T
December of each calendar year, and in the evexttttie Guarantor changes its financial year, tis day of th
Guarantor's financial year.

Construction

@)

(b)
(©)

Unless a contrary indication appears any referantdas Agreement ti

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
)

the "Agent", the "Arranger ", any "Finance Party", the "Guarantor " any "Lender ", any "Obligor "
or any "Party " shall be construed so as to include its succedsotitle, permitted assigns and permi
transferees;

the "Borrower " shall be construed as a reference to (in relatoRacility A) the Facility A Borrowers ai
(in relation to Facility B) the Facility B Borrowsr

" assets' includes present and future properties, reveanesrights of every descriptic
a Lender's ‘participation ", in relation to a Bank Guarantee, shall be camsiras a reference to the ri
and obligations of that Lender in relation to tBank Guarantee as are expressly set out in thisglgent.

a " Finance Document" or any other agreement or instrument is a refe¥dn that Finance Document
other agreement or instrument as amended or ngvated

" indebtedness" includes any obligation (whether incurred as gipal or as surety) for the payment
repayment of money, whether present or future ghctucontingent;

a " person” includes any person, firm, company, corporatgoyernment, state or agency of a state o
association, trust or partnership (whether or rentihg separate legal personality) of two or moreha
foregoing;

a "regulation " includes any regulation, rule, official directiveequest or guideline (whether or not ha
the force of law but if not having the force of laveing of a type with which any person to whoragplies i:
accustomed to comply) of any governmental, inteegomental or supranational body, agency, departor
regulatory, self-regulatory or other authority oganisation;

a provision of law is a reference to that provisisramended or macted; ar

a time of day is a reference to Milan tii

Section, Clause and Schedule headings are foroéasterence onl

Unless a contrary indication appears, a term useohy other Finance Document or in any notice giweder o
in connection with any Finance Document has theesamaning in that Finance Document or notice ahi#
Agreement.
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(d) A Default is "continuing " if it has not been remedied or waiv
1.4  Construction - Italian Terms

(@) In this agreement a reference to (in the case i@gpaph (a) or (b) below, in relation to (or to tidigation of
any member of the Group incorporated in Italy):

(i) a winding-up, administration or dissolution inclsdewithout limitation, anyliquidazione, procedur:
concorsuale( fallimento, concordato preventivg liquidazione coatta amministrativa amministrazion
straordinaria o ristrutturazione industriale delgrandi imprese in stato d'insolvengacessione dei beni
creditori, or any other similar proceedings;

(i) a receiver, administrative receiver, administraborthe like includes, without limitation, auratore ,
commissario giudiziale, commissario straordinario, commissario liquidatore, or any other pers
performing the same function of each of the foragpi

(i) alease includes, without limitations¢antratto di locazione

(iv) a matured obligation includes, without limitati@my credito liquido ed esigibilandcredito scadutqg anc

(v) a Security includes, without limitation, amegno, ipoteca, privilegio speciale(including theprivilegio
specialecreated pursuant to Article 46 of the ltalian Lé&gise Decree No. 385 of 1 September 199:
amended from time to timefessione del credito in garanziadiritto reale di garanziaand any othe
garanzia reale or other transactions having theesdfact as each of the foregoing

1.4  Construction - French terms.
(@) In this Agreement, where it relates to a Frencityera reference t

(i)  "acting in concert" has the meaning given in article L.233-10 of inenchCode de commerce

(i) " control " has the meaning given in article L.233-3 of tmerfehCode de commerce

(i) " financial assistancé' has the meaning given in article L.225-216 offinenchCode de commerce

(iv) " gross negligencé means 'faute lourde’;

(v) a"guarantee" includes any ‘tautionnement, " aval" and any "garantie” which is independent from t
debt to which it relates;

(viy " merger" includes any ‘fusion" implemented in accordance with articles L.23®& 123624 of the Frenc
Code de commerce

(vii) a " reconstruction " includes, in relation to any company, any contfibn of part of its business
consideration of sharesapport partiel d'actifs) and any demergergcission) implemented in accordar
with articles L.236-1 to L.236-24 of the FrenCbhde de commerce

(viii) a "security interest" includes any type of securitys(reté réellg, transfer or assignment by way of sect
andfiducie-s(reté and
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15

1.6

(@)

(b)

@ix) " wilful misconduct" meansdol".
Currency Symbols and Definition:

" $" and "dollars " denote lawful currency of the United States ofekiva "£ " and "sterling " denotes lawful currency
the United Kingdom, €" and "EUR " and "euro " means the single currency unit of the Particimptlember States.

Third party rights
Unless expressly provided to the contrary in a f@eaDocument a person who is not a Party has ra ugder th
Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 (thEhird Parties Act ") to enforce or to enjoy the benefit of any terhitos

Agreement.

Notwithstanding any term of any Finance Documdrg,donsent of any person who is not a Party isatptired to rescir
or vary this Agreement at any time.
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2.2

SECTION 2

THE FACILITY
THE FACILITY
The Facility
Subject to the terms of this Agreement:
(@) the Facility A Lenders make available to the Facih Borrowers a revolving loan and bank guararitedity in

an aggregate amount equal to the Total Facilityofn@itments; and

(b) the Facility B Lenders make available to the Facl Borrowers a revolving loan and bank guarafdedity in ar
aggregate amount equal to the Total Facility B Catments.

Increase

€)) The Company may by giving prior notice to the Agbwytno later than the date falling 10 Business Dafyesr the
effective date of a cancellation of:

(i) the Available Commitments of a Lender in accordanith Clause 9.6 Right of repayment and cancellat
in relation to a single Lender or

(i) the Commitments of a Lender in accordance with €H4a@.1 (lllegality ) or Clause 9.2 Restrictions o
participation in Bank Guarantee),

request that the Total Commitments be increased tae Total Commitments under that Facility shadl da
increased) in an aggregate amount in the Base @yrref up to the amount of the Available Commitnseai
Commitments so cancelled as follows:

(i) the increased Commitments will be assumed by omaare Lenders or other banks, financial institui
trusts, funds or other entities (each dncrease Lender") selected by the Company (each of which sha
be a member of the Group and which is further aatdp to the Agent (acting reasonably on the bafsasl
applicable laws and regulations)) and each of whmthfirms its willingness to assume and does assall
the obligations of a Lender corresponding to tlaat pf the increased Commitments which it is taass a
if it had been an Original Lender;

(iv) each of the Obligors and any Increase Lender gsisalime obligations towards one another and/or 1@
rights against one another as the Obligors andnitrease Lender would have assumed and/or acqfiae
the Increase Lender been an Original Lender;

(v) each Increase Lender shall become a Party as aléteand any Increase Lender and each of the
Finance Parties shall assume obligations towardsamother and acquire rights against one anothtra:
Increase Lender and those Finance Parties woulel &ssumed and/or acquired had the Increase Leads
an Original Lender;

(vi) the Commitments of the other Lenders shall contindall force and effect; ar

(vii) any increase in the Total Commitments shall takeceon the date specified by the Company in thiece
referred to above or any later date on which thelitmns set out in paragraph (b) below are satisfi

(b) An increase in the Total Commitments will only feetive on
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2.3

(©)

(d)

(€)

(f)

(i) the execution by the Agent of an Increase Confiionadtrom the relevant Increase Lenc
(i) inrelation to an Increase Lender which is not adexr immediately prior to the relevant incre

(A) the performance by the Agent of all necessary "kygowr customer” or other similar checks unde
applicable laws and regulations in relation to #ssumption of the increased Commitments by
Increase Lender, the completion of which the Agdrall promptly notify to the Company, the Incre
Lender and the Fronting Banks; and

(B) the Fronting Banks consenting to that incre

Each Increase Lender, by executing the Increas@r@ation, confirms (for the avoidance of doubtathhe Ager
has authority to execute on its behalf any amentimenvaiver that has been approved by or on bebiathe
requisite Lender or Lenders in accordance with #aggeement on or prior to the date on which theraas:
becomes effective.

Unless the Agent otherwise agrees or the incre@sadmitment is assumed by an existing Lender, thegamy
shall, on the date upon which the increase taliestepay to the Agent (for its own account) a ¢€5,000 an
the Company shall promptly on demand pay the Adgeatamount of all costs and expenses (includiny
documented legal fees) reasonably incurred bydbimection with any increase in Commitments utidigrClaus
2.2.

The Company may pay to the Increase Lender a fégeimmount and at the times agreed between the&uyg
and the Increase Lender in a letter between thep@ognand the Increase Lender setting out thatXeeference i
this Agreement to a Fee Letter shall include atteldeeferred to in this paragraph.

Clause 26.4 Limitation of responsibility of Existing Lendeyshall applymutatis mutandign this Clause 2.2
relation to an Increase Lender as if referencélsahClause to:

(i) an"Existing Lender " were references to all the Lenders immediateigrpo the relevant increa:
(i) the "New Lender" were references to thatricrease Lender"; anc

"o

(i) a"re-transfer " and "re-assignment” were references to respectively sdnsfer " and "assignment".

Finance Parties' rights and obligation:

(@)

(b)

(©)

The obligations of each Finance Party under theriia Documents are several. Failure by a Finandyg @
perform its obligations under the Finance Documeoiss not affect the obligations of any other Partgler th
Finance Documents. No Finance Party is responéiléhe obligations of any other Finance Party unithe
Finance Documents.

The rights of each Finance Party under or in cotimeevith the Finance Documents are separate aepiender
rights and any debt arising under the Finance Decisnto a Finance Party from an Obligor shall lsearat
and independent debt.

A Finance Party may, except as otherwise statdlaeirrinance Documents, separately enforce itssightler th
Finance Documents.
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3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

PURPOSI

Purpose

Each Borrower shall apply all amounts borrowedthyyiway of Loans and/or Bank Guarantees towarddifiy its gener:
corporate purpose or the general corporate purpoéise Group, including, without limitation, thefmancing of th
Refinanced Indebtedness.

Monitoring
No Finance Party is bound to monitor or verify #pplication of any amount borrowed pursuant to Atiseement.

CONDITIONS OF UTILISATION

Initial conditions precedent

A Borrower may not deliver a Utilisation Requestass the Agent has received all of the documentsadiner evidenc
listed in Schedule 2 Conditions precedentin form and substance satisfactory to the Ag&he Agent shall notify tr
relevant Borrower and the Lenders promptly upomdpsio satisfied.

Further conditions preceden
The Lenders and a Fronting Bank will only be olfig® comply with Clause 5.4 I(enders' and Fronting Banl
participation) if on the date of the Utilisation Request andlmn proposed Utilisation Date:

(@) in the case of a Rollover Loan, no Event of Def@uttontinuing or would result from the proposedihpand, i
the case of any other Loan or Bank Guarantee, fiaullés continuing or would result from the propdsLoan ¢
Bank Guarantee, as the case may be; and

(b) the Repeating Representations to be made by edaoOére true in all material respe:

Conditions relating to Optional Currencies
(@) A currency will constitute an Optional Currencyrélation to a Loan i

(i) itis Sterling or Dollars; «

(i) it has been approved by the Agent (acting on te&lntions of all the Lenders) prior to receiptthg Agen
of the relevant Utilisation Request for that Loard as readily available in the amount required &naely
convertible into the Base Currency of the releveantility to be utilised in the Relevant Interbanlafidet or
the Quotation Day and the Utilisation Date for thaan.

(b) If the Agent has received a written request froBoarower in relation to a Loan in Sterling or Do#igincluding
for the avoidance of doubt Rollover Loans in Steylor Dollars) under paragraph (a)(i) above by Specifie
Time, the Agent will confirm to that Borrower byettfspecified Time the maximum amount in Sterlindpoflars
that can be requested without exceeding the PreggLimit.

(c) If the Agent has received a written request froBoarower for a currency to be approved under paayi(a)(ii
above by the Specified Time, the Agent will confitorthat Borrower by the Specified Time:

(i)  whether or not the Lenders have granted their abranc

(i)  if approval has been granted, the minimum amoumd, (& required, integral multiples) for any Utdison ir
that currency.
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4.4  Maximum number of Loans
(@) A Borrower may not deliver a Utilisation Request# a result of the proposed Utilisation (i) 1Inwre Loan
and/or Bank Guarantees would be outstanding affiilywoans would be outstanding under the Facagitie mort
than 3 different currencies.

(b) Any Loan made by a single Lender under paragrapbf(€Clause 7.2 Loans in Sterling and Dollarsor Claus
7.3 (Unavailability of a currency shall not be taken into account in this Clauge 4.

(©) Any Separate Loan shall not be taken into accaoutitis Clause 4.
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SECTION 3
UTILISATION

5. Utilisation - Loans

5.1 Delivery of a Utilisation Reques
A Borrower may utilise the Facilities by delivery the Agent of a duly completed Utilisation Request later than tf
Specified Time.

5.2  Completion of a Utilisation Reques
Each Utilisation Request is irrevocable and will be regarded as having been duly completed u

@)

(b)

0]

(ii)
(i)
(iv)
(v)

(vi)

it identifies the Facility to be utilise

the proposed Utilisation Date is a Business Dahiwithe Availability Perioc

the currency and amount of the Utilisation complthvClause 5.3 Currency and Amount
it complies with the conditions set out in ClauseCbnditions of Utilisation)

the proposed Interest Period or Term, as the cageb® complies with Clause 12rterest Periods ar
Terms); and

in relation to a Bank Guarantee, a Fronting Band #re Agent have approved the terms of the |
Guarantee (to the extent such Bank Guarantee imrtbe form set out in Schedule 10), the purpdsits
issue and the identity of the beneficiary.

Only one Loan or Bank Guarantee may be requesteddh Utilisation Reque

5.3  Currency and amount
The currency specified in a Utilisation Request thes the Base Currency or an Optional Currencyjestilic
Clause 7.2 Loans in Sterling and Dollars

@)

(b)

The amount of the proposed Loan or Bank Guarantest be

0]

(ii)
(i)
(iv)

v)

if the currency selected is Euro, a minimum 5fG00,000 or if less, the Available Facility
if the currency selected is Sterling, a minimun£® 000,000 or if less, the Available Facil
if the currency selected is Dollars, a minimum 6f0®0,000 or, if less, the Available Facil
if the currency selected is another Optional Cuwyerthe minimum amount (and, if required, inte
multiple) specified by the Agent pursuant to paaagr (b)(ii) of Clause 4.3 Conditions relating to Option

Currencies) or, if less, such Optional Currency equivalenthaf Available Facility; and

in any event, such that its Base Currency Amoulgss than or equal to the Available Faci

5.4  Lenders' and Fronting Banks' participation

If the conditions set out in this Agreement haverbmet, (i) each Lender shall make its participaiioeach Loa
available by the Utilisation Date through its FagilOffice and (ii) each Fronting Bank shall isseach Ban
Guarantee through its Facility Office.

(@)

(b)

The amount of each Lender's participation in eaganLand each Bank Guarantee will be equal to tbeagptior
borne by its Available Commitment to the AvailaBlacility immediately prior to making the Loan osigng thi
Bank Guarantee.

-25-




6.1

6.2

6.3

7.1

7.2

(©

The Agent shall determine the Base Currency Amofietach Loan which is to be made in an Optionalr€hay
and shall notify each Lender of the amount, curyeartd the Base Currency Amount of each Loan anarteun
of its participation in that Loan and each Bank @ungee, in each case by the Specified Time.

BANK GUARANTEES

Appointment of a Fronting Bank
All provisions relating to Bank Guarantees in tAgreement are subject to the accession to this ekgeat of a Frontir
Bank satisfactory to all the Parties and will netdffective unless and until such accession occurs.

Completion of Bank Guarantee:
A Fronting Bank is authorised to issue any Bankr@nizze pursuant to Clause Btflisation - Loans) by:

(@)
(b)

completing the issue date and the proposed Exgtg Df that Bank Guarantee;

executing and delivering that Bank Guarantee todhevant recipient on the Utilisation D¢

Renewal of a Bank Guarante

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

Not less than three Business Days before the EXpatg of a Bank Guarantee a Borrower may, by writtetice
to the Agent, request that the Term of that Bankr@otee be extended.

The Finance Parties shall treat the request irséimee way as a Utilisation Request for a Bank Gueeamm th
amount and maturity of the Bank Guarantee (as &xtended).

The terms of each renewed Bank Guarantee shallhbesame as those of the relevant Bank Gual
immediately prior to its renewal, save that itsiieshall commence on the date which was the Expate [of the
Bank Guarantee immediately prior to its renewal ahdll end on the proposed Expiry Date specifiedha
request.

A Fronting Bank is authorised to amend any Bankr&uige pursuant to a request if the conditionggein this
Agreement have been complied with.

Optional Currencies

Selection of currenc
Each Borrower shall select the currency of a Laaa Utilisation Request, provided that no more tteiae currencies m
be outstanding at any time.

Loans in Sterling and Dollars

@)

(b)

(©

Subject to Clause 5.3GQurrency and amountand to paragraph (b) of Clause 73r(availability of a currency,
in the event that a Borrower has selected the ooyref a Loan as Sterling or Dollars, a Lender Ishedd sucl
Loan in the requested currengyovided that the Loans outstanding in Sterling and Dollars wit, as a result
the proposed Utilisation, exceed the Pre-AgreedtlLim

To the extent that a Borrower selects the currerigy Loan as Sterling or Dollars and that as alreddundinc
that Loan in such requested currency, the Loanstanding in Sterling and Dollars will, as a resoitthe
proposed Utilisation, exceed the FAgreed Limit, a Lender shall be entitled to elexfund such Loan, for tl
respective portion exceeding the Pre-Agreed Limithe Base Currency.

The Agent shall calculate the Phgreed Limit at: (i) the date of signing; and @) the date of each Utilisati
Request, by reference to the Agent's Spot Ratexchdhge such that it shall be equivalent to a tBed«
Currency Amount of Euro 50 million.
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7.3

7.4

(d) Within 10 Business Days of each anniversary of digming date (or, if that is not a Business Dag tiex
Business Day) any Party may request that the definof Liquidity Premium be reviewed. Promptly lfmking
such a request, the Lenders and the Guarantoresitell into discussions in good faith to ascendiether a ne
definition can be unanimously agreed between aelL#nders and the Guarantor.

Unavailability of a currency
If before the Specified Time on any Quotation Day:

(@) a Lender notifies the Agent that the Optional Caegerequested under Clause 4.3(a)(ii) is not rgaalibilable t
it in the amount required,

(b) a Lender notifies the Agent that compliance withdbligation to participate in a Loan in the progeb®©ptione
Currency would contravene a law or regulation ayaiie to it; or

(c) a Lender notifies the Agent that it intends to fandoan in a Base Currency pursuant to Clause )7abdive

the Agent will give notice to the relevant Borrovterthat effect by the Specified Time on that daythis event, any Lend
that gives notice pursuant to this Clause 7.3 béllrequired to participate in the Loan in the Ba@serency (in an amou
equal to that Lender's proportion of the Base GuyeAmount or, in respect of a Rollover Loan, amoant equal to th.
Lender's proportion of the Base Currency AmourthefRollover Loan that is due to be made) andatsigpation will be
treated as a separate Loan denominated in the @a&sency during that Interest Period and, for thieidance of douk
shall not be counted towards the maximum numberutdtanding currencies for the purposes of Clausd 3election ¢
currency).

Participation in a Loan

Each Lender's patrticipation in a Loan will be detieed in accordance with paragraph (b) of Claude(%.enders' an
Fronting Banks' participatio.
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8.
8.1

SECTION 4
REPAYMENT, PREPAYMENT AND CANCELLATION

Repaymen

Repaymen

@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Subject to paragraph (b) below, each Borrower gsieglhy each Loan made to it on the last day oiisres
Period in the currency in which the relevant Loassvdrawn down and no Loan may be outstanding #fé
Termination Date.

Without prejudice to each Borrower's obligation engaragraph (a) above or the provisions of Clau§
( Conditions relating to Optional Currenci@®or Clause 7.2 Loans in Sterling and Dollark if one or more Loat
are to be made available to a Borrower:

(i) onthe same day that a maturing Loan is due tepeaid by that Borrowe

(i) in the same currency as the maturing Loan (unlesyase as a result of the operation of Claus
( Unavailability of a currency); and

(i) in whole or in part for the purpose of refinancthg maturing Loal

the aggregate amount of the new Loans shall beettess if applied in or towards repayment of théumag Loar
so that:

(A) if the amount of the maturing Loan exceeds theegape amount of the new Loe

(1) the relevant Borrower will only be required to pay amount in cash in the relevant curre
equal to that excess; and

(2) each Lender's participation (if any) in the new h®ahall be treated as having been r
available and applied by the Borrower in or towargisayment of that Lender's participatior
any) in the maturing Loan and that Lender will hetrequired to make its participation in the
Loans available in cash; and

(B) if the amount of the maturing Loan is equal toassl than the aggregate amount of the new L
(1) the relevant Borrower will not be required to make payment in cash; a

(2) each Lender will be required to make its partidpain the new Loans available in cash onl
the extent that its participation (if any) in thewn Loans exceeds that Lender's participatic
any) in the maturing Loan and the remainder of tieider's participation in the new Loans <
be treated as having been made available and dgpli¢he Borrower in or towards repaymer
that Lender's participation in the maturing Loan.

At any time when a Lender becomes a Defaulting eenthe maturity date of each of the participatiohsha
Lender in the Loans then outstanding will be auticady extended to the Termination Date and wdltbeated ¢
separate Loans (theSeparate Loans") denominated in the currency in which the reldévaarticipations ai
outstanding.

A Borrower to whom a Separate Loan is outstandiray prepay that Loan by giving 10 Business Daysr
notice to the Agent (with, for the avoidance of bigiBreak Costs, if any). The Agent
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9.1.

9.2.

(e)

()

will forward a copy of a prepayment notice receivadaccordance with this paragraph (d) to the Défag
Lender concerned as soon as practicable on receipt.

Interest in respect of a Separate Loan will acéouesuccessive Interest Periods selected by theoBer by thi
time and date specified by the Agent (acting really) and will be payable by that Borrower to thef&ultinc
Lender on the last day of each Interest Periothaifltoan.

The terms of this Agreement relating to Loans galheshall continue to apply to Separate Loans rotien to th
extent inconsistent with paragraphs (c) to (e) abavwhich case those paragraphs shall prevadspect of ar
Separate Loan.

PREPAYMENT AND CANCELLATION

lllegality

If, at any time, it becomes unlawful in any applileajurisdiction for a Lender or a Fronting Bankgerform any of it
obligations as contemplated by this Agreement duanal, issue or participate in any Loan or Bank @ntee:

@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

that Lender or a Fronting Bank, as the case magtzd|, promptly notify the Agent upon becoming asvaf tha
event;

(in the case of any of illegality with respect th.@an) upon the Agent notifying the Guarantor, @G@mmitmen
of that Lender will be immediately cancelled;

(in the case of that it becomes unlawful for a Br@nBank to issue a Bank Guarantee), upon the Agetifying
the Guarantor, such Fronting Bank shall not begeldlito issue any Bank Guarantee; and

each Borrower shall, on the last day of the IntelResiod for each Loan or Bank Guarantee, as the @y bt
occurring after the Agent has notified that Borrowe, if earlier, the date specified by the Lendethe notic:
delivered to the Agent (being no earlier than dst Hay of any applicable grace period permittethiy:

(i) repay that Lender's participation in the Loans ntadbat Borrower; and/

(i)  ensure that the liabilities of that Lender or thednting Bank under or in respect of each Bank &uise ar
reduced to zero or otherwise secured by providiaghQCollateral in an amount equal to such Lendarts
Guarantee Proportion of those Bank Guarantees ar Bwonting Bank's maximum actual and contin
liabilities under that Bank Guarantee in the curyeor currencies of those Bank Guarantees.

Restrictions on participation in Bank Guarantee:!

If at any time prior to the issue of a Bank Guaganany Lender is prohibited by law or pursuantry gequest from ¢
requirement of any central bank or other fiscalngatary or other authority from having any rightatnligation under th
Agreement in respect of a Bank Guarantee, that éresdall notify the Agent on or before the BusinBsy prior to th
proposed Utilisation Date and:

@)

(b)

the maximum actual and contingent liabilities dfranting Bank under that Bank Guarantee shall deaed b
an amount equal to an amount which would have bez=amount of that Lender's Bank Guarantee Prapod!
that Bank Guarantee if the prohibition had not ozl

the Bank Guarantee Proportion of that Lender iatiah to that Bank Guarantee shall be nil;
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(©

that Lender's Available Commitment in respect tt Bank Guarantee only, shall be reduced by an atremus
to an amount which would have been the amount af tender's Bank Guarantee Proportion of that |
Guarantee only if the prohibition had not occurred.

9.3. Change of Contro

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Cor

(i) the Guarantor shall promptly and in any event withd Business Days after the occurrence of a Chatf
Control give written notice to the Agent;

(i)  the Agent acting on the instructions of the Majotienders and the Guarantor shall enter into d&oas ir
good faith to ascertain whether the Facility carcdetinued; and

(i) if no agreement regarding the continuation of theilly can be reached between the Guarantor drttie
Lenders within 30 days of the relevant Change aitd, then if a Lender so requires and notifies Agen
within 5 Business Days after the 30 day negotiatieriod has elapsed (&Cancelling Lender"), the Agen
shall, immediately after, notify the Guarantor abthe Cancelling Lender (theCancelling Lender Notice
). By not less than 15 Business Days' notice to thar&@uor of the Cancelling Lender Notice (but in
event no later than 20 Business Days' following dhte of the Cancelling Lender Notice), the Agemll
cancel the Commitment of the Cancelling Lender daxlare the participation of the Cancelling Lenideall
Outstandings in respect of the Cancelling Lendegether with accrued interest and all other ama
accrued under the Finance Documents (includingtieravoidance of doubt, any accrued Break Ci
immediately due and payable, at which time the Camant of the Cancelling Lender will be cancelled
all such outstanding amounts will become immedyatiele and payable, such date being ti@ahcellation
Date".

(iv) Inrelation to each Lender that is not a Cancellisgder, the Facility shall continue on the samms$eas st
out in this Agreementnutatis mutandis

Within 5 Business Days of receiving the Cancelliremder Notice from the Agent pursuant to Claus€a9(Bi)
above, the Guarantor may, by giving notice to tlge®, request that one or more financial instigigbein
either an existing Lender or Lenders or anotharfaial institution(s)) become a Lender by suchtawisLende
or, as the case may be, other financial institu(emach a 'New Lender ") executing a Transfer Certificate w
each relevant Cancelling Lender with respect tooflthe relevant Cancelling Lender's rights andgation:
hereunder (for a purchase price in cash payaliteegtme of transfer equal to the outstanding pp@camount ¢
such Cancelling Lender's participation in the auding Utilisations and all accrued interest anddank
Guarantee fees, Break Costs and other amounts |payakelation thereto under the Finance Documeais
delivering, no later than 10 Business Days after @ancelling Lender Notice, such Transfer Certiéicép the
Agent. Each Cancelling Lender shall promptly exeautch Transfer Certificate on being so requested.

Subject to the proviso in paragraph (b) above anudiged that each New Lender has become a lendsugut t
Clause 26 (Changes to the Lendejs any New Lender which executes and delivers & Algent a Transf
Certificate pursuant to Clause 26.5 will becomdlenTransfer Date a Lender (under the relevantifgavith a
Commitment in the amount specified in such Tran€kertificate (which in the case of an existing Lendghall b
aggregated with its Commitment prior to the examutf such Transfer Certificate).

If a New Lender has not executed a Transfer Ceatdi pursuant to sub-paragraph&bpve, the Guarantor shi
on the Cancellation Date, procure that each suatcélling Lender's participations in outstanding heaar
repaid together with all unpaid accrued interest @fer amounts payable
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9.4.

9.5.

9.6.

by it to that Lender under this Agreement in resjpéthe Facility, and each such Lender's Commitsishall b
cancelled, in each case in full on the Cancellabate.

Voluntary cancellation

Each Borrower may, if it gives the Agent not lelsart 5 Business Days' (or such shorter period asgeat may agre
prior notice, cancel the whole or any part (beingnemimum amount of % 000,000) of an Available Facility. A
cancellation under this Clause 9.4 shall reduce€€tiramitments of the relevant Lenders rateably.

Voluntary prepayment of Loans

A Borrower may, if it gives the Agent not less taBusiness Days' (or such shorter period as thenfagay agree) pri
notice, prepay the whole or any part of a Loanrocpre the reduction of a Fronting Bank's liabilityder a Bank Guaran
(but, if in part, being an amount that reducesBhse Currency Amount of the Loan or, as the cagele@Bank Guarante
by a minimum amount of 000,000, calculated at the Agent's Spot Ratexzh&nge as of the date of the notic
prepayment).

Right of repayment and cancellation in relation toa single Lende

@)

(b)

(©)

If:
(i) any sum payable to any Lender or any Fronting Bbaykan Obligor is required to be increased u
paragraph (c) of Clause 15.Tdx gross-up);

(i) any Lender or any Fronting Bank claims indemnifmatfrom any Obligor under Clause 15.3Téx
indemnity) or Clause 16.1Ificreased costy

(i) any amount payable to any Lender by an Obligor uadéinance Document is not, or will not be (whiee
relevant corporate income tax is calculated) tbatea deductible charge or expense for Frenchugpose
for that Obligor by reason of that amount beingp@id or accrued to a Lender incorporated, donu
established or acting through a Facility Officauated in a NorGooperative Jurisdiction, or (ii) paid to
account opened in the name of or for the benefthaf Lender in a financial institution situatedariNon-
Cooperative Jurisdiction; or

(iv) any Lender or any Fronting Bank notifies the Ageftits Additional Cost Rate under paragraph :
Schedule 4 Mandatory Cost formulag

the Guarantor may, whilst (in thease of paragraphs (i), (i) and (iii) above) thewmnstance giving rise to t
requirement or indemnification continues or, (ire ttase of paragraph (iv) above) that Additionalt(Rate i
greater than zero, give the Agent notice of caatieh of the Commitment of that Lender and its ntiten tc
procure the repayment of that Lender's participaiticthe Loans or Bank Guarantee and/ or (to thengyermitte
by law) to procure the liabilities of that Lendartbat Fronting Bank under or in respect of eachiB@uarante
are reduced to zero or otherwise secured by prayi@iash Collateral in an amount equal to such Lesdanl
Guarantee Proportion of those Bank GuaranteesabiFionting Bank's maximum actual and contingeatiilities
under that Bank Guarantee in the currency or cuaresrof those Bank Guarantees.

On receipt of a notice referred to in paragrapratmve, the Commitment of that Lender (where theuaistance
described in paragraph (a) above relate to a Ladmall immediately be reduced to zero or (where
circumstances described in paragraph (a) aboveertahe issue of a particular Bank Guaranted) ltkader"
participation under the relevant Bank Guaranted beaeduced to zero.

On the last day of each Interest Period or Terthasase may be which ends after the relevant Beirdna:
given notice under paragraph (a) above (or, ifiearthe date specified by the Borrower in thatige)t the
Borrower shall repay that Lender's participationthe Loans and shall procure either that such Liénhdgani
Guarantee Proportion of each relevant Bank Guaganéereduced to zero (by reduction of the amourth@
Bank Guarantee in an amount equal to that LenBari&
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9.7.

10.

10.1

10.2

(d)

Guarantee Proportion) or that Cash Collateral logiged to the Agent in an amount equal to such eéadBan
Guarantee Proportion of that Bank Guarantee); d@rfig circumstance relates to a Fronting Bank) rédevan
Obligor shall procure that such Fronting Bank'biliy under any Bank Guarantees issued by it sbilier b
reduced to zero or otherwise secured by the rete®hhgor providing Cash Collateral in an amounti@cto tha
Fronting Bank's maximum actual and contingent litds$ under those Bank Guarantees.

If any Lender becomes a Defaulting Len

(i) the Company may, at any time whilst the Lender iooes to be a Defaulting Lender, give the Ager

Business Days' notice of cancellation of each Al Commitment of that Lender.

(i)  On the notice referred to in paragraph (i) aboveobeng effective, each Available Commitment of

Defaulting Lender shall immediately be reduceddmz

(i) The Agent shall as soon as practicable after recéig notice referred to in paragraph (i) aboaify all the

Lenders.

Restrictions

@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

()

Any notice of cancellation or prepayment given by &arty under this Clause 9 shall be irrevocabt& anless
contrary indication appears in this Agreement, Issfgdcify the date or dates upon which the relegantellatio
or prepayment is to be made and the amount ottratellation or prepayment.

Any prepayment or cancellation under this Agreenséiall be made together with accrued interest erathour
prepaid and, subject to any Break Costs (if preatnoccurs on a date other than an interest paynfes
pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement) witheremium or penalty.

Unless a contrary indication appears in this Agresimany part of the Facility which is prepaid magy re-
borrowed in accordance with the terms of this Agreet.

Each Obligor shall not repay or prepay all or aayt pf the Loans or Bank Guarantees or cancelrahg part c
the Commitments except at the times and in the araexpressly provided for in this Agreement.

Subject to Clause 2.2Ificrease), no amount of the Total Commitments cancelledeuridis Agreement may
subsequently reinstated.

If the Agent receives a notice under this Clauge ghall promptly forward a copy of that notice agher th
Guarantor or the affected Lender, as appropriate.

OBLIGORS' LIABILITIES IN RELATION TO BANK GUARANTEE S

Demands under Bank Guarantee

If a demand is made under a Bank Guarantee or @ifgoBank incurs in connection with a Bank Guaganany othe
liability, cost, claim, loss or expense which ishe reimbursed pursuant to this Agreement, thanhtirg Bank sha
promptly notify the Agent of the amount of such dem or such liability, cost, claim, loss or expemse the Bar
Guarantee to which it relates and the Agent shalinptly make demand upon the relevant Borrowerctoedance with th
Agreement and notify the Lenders.

Obligors' indemnity to Fronting Banks
Each Obligor shall irrevocably and unconditionadly a primary obligation indemnify (within three Bhess Days ¢
demand of the Agent) a Fronting Bank which hasddsaiBank Guarantee at its request against:
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any sum paid or due and payable by such Frontintk Reder the Bank Guarantee, it being understoat
further to any payment made by the Fronting Bantkéobeneficiary of the relevant Bank Guaranteeh €bligo
will be entitled to repay the relevant amount ddgaequesting a Rollover Loan; and

all liabilities, costs (including, without limitain, any costs incurred in funding any amount wliils due fron
such Fronting Bank under any Bank Guarantee oommection with any such Bank Guarantee), claimssd
and expenses which such Fronting Bank may at amg itncur or sustain in connection with or arising of an)
such Bank Guarantee.

10.3 Obligors' indemnity to Lenders
Each Obligor shall irrevocably and unconditionadly a primary obligation indemnify (on demand of thgent) eac
Lender against:

10.4

a.

any sum paid or due and payable by that Lendertheh@inder Clause 29.1 énders' Indemnity or otherwise
in connection with that Bank Guarantee; and

all liabilities, costs, claims, losses and expengeish that Lender may at any time incur or sustainonnectio
with any Bank Guarantee.

Preservation of rights
Neither the obligations of each Obligor set outhis Clause 10 nor the rights, powers and remecheserred on ar
Fronting Bank or Lender by this Agreement or by Ewall be discharged, impaired or otherwise affkbte

a.

the winding-up, dissolution, administration or+erganisation of a Fronting Bank, any Lender or ather perso
or any change in its status, function, controlwnership;

any of the obligations of a Fronting Bank, any Lendr any other person under this Agreement or uadg
Bank Guarantee or under any other security takeadpect of its obligations under this Agreementthierwis:
in connection with a Bank Guarantee being or bengniilegal, invalid, unenforceable or ineffective any
respect;

time or other indulgence being granted or agredsktgranted to a Fronting Bank, any Lender or ahgrgperso
in respect of its obligations under this Agreemantinder or in connection with a Bank Guarantearater an
other security;

any amendment to, or any variation, waiver or 1seaf, any obligation of a Fronting Bank, any Lendean)
other person under a Bank Guarantee or this Agneeme

any other act, event or omission which, but fos tGlause 10, might operate to discharge, impaitioerwist
affect any of the obligations of the Borrower sat m this Clause 10 or any of the rights, powersemedie
conferred upon a Fronting Bank or any Lender by &areement or by law.

The obligations of the relevant Obligor set outtiis Clause 10 shall be in addition to and indepehdf ever
other security which any Fronting Bank or any Lanai@y at any time hold in respect of the Obligotdigation:
under this Agreement.

10.5 Settlement conditiona

Any settlement or discharge between an Obligorafdonting Bank or a Lender shall be conditionarupo security ¢

payment to that Fronting Bank or Lender by thewate Obligor, or any other person on behalf of Bligor, bein
avoided or reduced by virtue of any laws relatiogbankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or similawis of gener:
application and, if any such security or paymesiisvoided or reduced, such Fronting
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10.6

10.7

Bank or Lender shall be entitled to recover thei@ar amount of such security or payment from aligdbsubsequently
if such settlement or discharge had not occurred.

Right to make payments under Bank Guarantee

A Fronting Bank shall be entitled to make any pagtie accordance with the terms of the relevantBaoarantee witho
any reference to or further authority from an Obtigor any other investigation or enquiry. Each @di irrevocabl
authorise each Fronting Bank to comply with any dedwunder a Bank Guarantee which is valid on ite.fa

Revaluation of Outstanding:

On each Bank Guarantee Valuation Date, the Ageall shlculate the amount of the Outstandings (lgwviegard t
changes in the Base Currency Amounts of the Bardkr#&tiees which have arisen as a result of currBnctpations) an
the Agent shall notify the Borrower of the amouhfany (the "Excess Amount") by which the Outstandings exceed
aggregate Total Commitments of and the relevanigObhall:

a. procure that the Fronting Banks' obligations uradgr Bank Guarantees are reduced by an amount sithis th
Excess Amount; or

b. secure that Excess Amount by providing Cash Codhte an amount no less than the Excess Am
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SECTION 5

COSTS OF UTILISATION

11 INTEREST

11.1 Calculation of interest and commissio

(@)

(b)

The rate of interest on each Loan for each IntdPesibd is the percentage rate per annum whidieigggrega
of the applicable:

() Margin;

(i) EURIBOR or (in relation to any Loan in Sterling Dollars) LIBOR or equivalent base rate for Optic
Currencies other than Sterling or Dollars;

(i) Mandatory Cost, if any; al

(iv) in relation to an Optional Currency, any Additiost of Funding
The Bank Guarantee commission rate is the percentai per annum on an amount which is equal t
outstanding amount with respect to any Bank Guasmless an amount equal to any Cash Collateraldgah by
the Obligors and which is the aggregate of theiegiple:

(i) Margin; anc

(i)  Mandatory Cost, if an

12.1 Payment of interest and commissior

(@)

(b)

On the last day of each Interest Period the Borrahall pay accrued interest on the Loan to whitet tnteres
Period relates (and, if the Interest Period is éonfpan six Months, on the dates falling at six khbnintervals
after the first day of the Interest Period).

The Borrower shall pay to the Agent for the accanfn¢ach Lender pro rata in accordance with thespectiv
Bank Guarantee Proportions the accrued commiss®or each Bank Guarantee on the first Businessnbayh
falls three Months after the date on which thatiB&uarantee is issued pursuant to this Agreemedtoa eac
day falling at three Monthly intervals thereaftar, if earlier, on the Expiry Date of the relev&ank Guarantee.

11.3 Default interest

(@)

(b)

If an Obligor fails to pay any amount payable byrider a Finance Document on its due date, intshedt accru
on the overdue amount from the due date up to &te of actual payment (both before and after judgjat ¢
rate which, subject to paragraph (b) below, is X@% point six five) per cent. higher than thes ratich woul
have been payable if the overdue amount had, duhagperiod of normpayment, constituted a Loan in
currency of the overdue amount for successive éstePeriods, each of a duration selected by thentA@eting
reasonably). Any interest accruing under this G#alk.3 shall be immediately payable by the Oblmodeman
by the Agent.

If any overdue amount consists of all or part dfoan which became due on a day which was not stediy o
an Interest Period relating to that Loan:

(i) the first Interest Period for that overdue amoundlishave a duration equal to the unexpired portibthe
current Interest Period relating to that Loan; and
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114

115

11.6

12
12.1

(i)  the rate of interest applying to the overdue amaumning that first Interest Period shall be 1.66g@oint si;
five) per cent. higher than the rate which wouldehapplied if the overdue amount had not become due

(c) Default interest (if unpaid) arising on an overdungount will be compounded (to the extent permittader an
applicable law, including article 1283 of the léali Civil Code) with the overdue amount at the ehcabact
Interest Period applicable to that overdue amountdill remain immediately due and payable.

Notification of rates of interes!

The Agent shall promptly notify the Lenders and ®errower of the determination of a rate of intéraader thi
Agreement.

Effective Global Rate

For the purposes of article L.313-4 of fhiench Code Monétaire et Financiand articles L.313-1, R.313-1 and R.34.84
the French Code de la consommation, the partiesoadkdge that due to the variable interest ratdiegpe to Loan
pursuant to this Agreement and the Borrowers' righgelect the currency and the duration of ther&st Period of su
Loans, theTaux Effectif Globalcannot be calculated as at the date of this Agraentéowever, the French Borrov
acknowledges that it has received from the Agdattar, in the form set out in Schedule 1Effective Global Ratg of this
Agreement, containing an indicative calculationtioé taux effectif global, based on figured examptafulated o
assumptions as to the taux de période and dur@éritede set out in the letter. The parties ackndgdethat such lette
form part of this Agreement.

Italian Usury Law

The Parties mutually acknowledge that the ratantafrést applicable to Loans to any Italian Oblignder this Agreeme
(including the relevant component of any applicatde and expense) determined as of the date ofugancof this
Agreement is believed in good faith to be in compte with Law No. 108 of 7 March 1996 as amended {(ttalian
Usury Law "). In any event, the Parties agree and accepifthairsuant to a change in law or in the offidiglerpretatio
of Italian Usury Law, the rate of interest applilato a Loan to any Italian Obligor and/or the défaate of interest (if dt
at such time to any Italian Obligor) at any timelé&emed to exceed the maximum rate permitted bgritdsury Law, the
the relevant interest rate or default rate appleead such Italian Obligor shall be automaticalduced to the maximt
admissible interest rate pursuant to such legisiafor the period during which it is not possitdeapply the interest rate
originally agreed in this Agreement.

INTEREST PERIODS AND TERMS

Selection of Interest Periods and Termr

(@) The Borrowers may select an Interest Period foo@anLand a Term of a Bank Guarantee in the Utiisaleque:
for that Loan or Bank Guarantee, as the case may be

(b) Subject to this Clause 12, the Borrowers may seladinterest Period of one, three or six Monthsuay othe
period agreed between the Borrower and the Agatinfg in the case of a period shorter than one thlan
longer than six Months, on the instructions oftladl Lenders).

(©) The Borrower may select a Term for a Bank Guaraoteeperiod ending on or before the Terminationel

(d) An Interest Period for a Loan and a Term of a B@nlarantee shall not extend beyond the Terminatiate

(e) Each Interest Period for a Loan and a Term of &kBaumarantee shall start on the Utilisation C
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()

A Loan has one Interest Period o

12.2 Non-Business Day
If an Interest Period or Term would otherwise endchalay which is not a Business Day, that IntdPesiod or Term, as t
case may be, will instead end on the next Busidessin that calendar month (if there is one) or pheceding Busine
Day (if there is not).

13 CHANGES TO THE CALCULATION OF INTEREST

13.1 Absence of quotation
Subject to Clause 13.2Market disruption), if EURIBOR or, if applicable, LIBOR (or equivale base rate for Optior
Currencies other than Sterling or Dollars) is tode¢ermined by reference to the Reference Bank# lauReference Bair
does not supply a quotation by the Specified Timetlee Quotation Day, the applicable EURIBOR or LBBQ@or the
equivalent base rate for Optional Currencies dtien Sterling or Dollars) shall be determined anlthsis of the arithme
mean of the quotations of the remaining RefererankB.

13.2 Market disruption
If a Market Disruption Event occurs in relationad.oan for any Interest Period, then the rate tfrast on eac
Lender's share of that Loan for the Interest Pesiwdl be the rate per annum which is the sum of:

(@)

(b)

@0
(ii)

(iii)

the Margin

the rate notified to the Agent by that Lender asnsas practicable and in any event before intésedtie t
be paid in respect of that Interest Period, tohia¢ Wwhich expresses as a percentage rate per ahewnost t
that Lender of funding its participation in thatdrofrom whatever source it may reasonably select; a

the Mandatory Cost, if any, applicable to that Lenglparticipation in the Loe

In this Agreement Market Disruption Event " means

(i)

(ii)

at or about noon on the Quotation Day for the rhvnterest Period the Screen Rate is not availabl
none or only one of the Reference Banks suppligata to the Agent to determine EURIBOR or
applicable, LIBOR (or the equivalent base rateGptional Currencies other than Sterling or Dolldos)the
relevant currency and Interest Period; or

before close of business in London on the Quotddiay for the relevant Interest Period, the Agenerees .
notice duly signed by an authorised representditora a Lender or Lenders (whose participations lroar
exceed 50 per cent. of that Loan) that the cofitabobtaining matching deposits in the Relevarietban!
Market would be in excess of EURIBOR or, if applitlg LIBOR (or the equivalent base rate for Optl
Currencies other than Sterling or Dollars). If arkéd Disruption Event occurs, the Agent shall notifie
Guarantor of any notice received under this sulagraph (ii).

13.3 Alternative basis of interest or funding

If a Market Disruption Event occurs and the Agenth@ Guarantor so requires, the Agent and the &har sha
enter into negotiations (for a period of not mdmart thirty days) with a view to agreeing a subttitbasis fc
determining the rate of interest.

Any alternative basis agreed pursuant to paragfaphbove shall, with the prior consent of all thenders an
the Guarantor, be binding on all Parties.

(@)

(b)
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14.3

14

141

14.2

14.3

14.4

145

Break Costs

(@) An Obligor shall, within three Business Days ofttem demand by a Finance Party, pay to that FinBacty it
Break Costs attributable to all or any part of ah@r Unpaid Sum being paid by that Obligor onyataer tha
the last day of an Interest Period for that Loatopaid Sum.

(b) Each Lender shall, as soon as reasonably pradtiedigr a demand by the Agent, provide a certiicanfirming
the amount of its Break Costs for any Interestdekim which they accrue.

FEES

Arrangement fee
The Borrowers shall pay to the Arranger the feahéamounts and at the times agreed in a FeerLette

Commitment fee

(@) In respect of Facility A, the Guarantor shall paythe Agent (for the account of each Facility A der) a fee i
the Base Currency computed at the rate of 35 patr per annum of the applicable Margin on that lesh
Available Commitment for the Availability Period.

(b) In respect of Facility B, the Facility B Borroweskall pay to the Agent (for the account of eachlifa® Lender
a fee in the Base Currency computed at the rat@50per cent. per annum of the applicable Marginthan
Lender's Available Commitment for the Availabil®Beriod.

(©) The accrued commitment fee is payable in arreatb@ihast day of each successive period of thresthMowhicl
ends during the Availability Period, on the lasy dd the Availability Period and, if cancelled inlf on the
cancelled amount of the relevant Lender's Commitnatnthe time the cancellation is effective (eacich
payment date, aCommitment Fee Payment Daté).

(d) No commitment fee is payable to the Agent (for dlseount of a Lender) on any Available Commitmenthaf
Lender for any day on which that Lender is a DefaglLender.

Agency fet
The Guarantor shall pay to the Agent (for its owoaunt) an agency fee in the amount and at thestimgeeed in a F
Letter.

Fronting Bank fee
The Guarantor shall, in respect of each Bank Gueeampay to the relevant Fronting Bank a fee inaimounts and at t
times agreed between that Fronting Bank and thea@tar.

Utilisation fee
(@) The Borrowers shall pay to the Agent (for the actai each Lendel

(i) tothe extent and for the days that the drawn dampunt under the Facilities exceeds 33% but isthess o
equal to 66% of the Total Commitments, a fee in Base Currency equal to 0.15% per annum Ol
aggregate Outstandings under the Facilities; and

(i) to the extent and for the days that the drawn demount under the Facilities exceeds 66% of thel
Commitments, a fee in the Base Currency equal30%.per annum on the aggregate Outstandings uf
the Facilities,

provided that, the amount payable under the abavagpaphs (a)(i) or (ii) shall be paid by each Boer pro rat
to its proportion of drawndown Facilities duringetheriod from the previous Utilisation Fee Paynigate to th
current Utilisation Fee Payment Date.

(b) To the extent and for the days that the Outstarsdurgier the Facility are less than or equal to 88%he Tota
Commitments, no utilisation fee shall be payable.
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(c) The accrued utilisation fee is payable in arrearshe last day of each successive period of threethd and ¢
the Termination Date (each such dateld#ilisation Fee Payment Daté’). Accrued utilisation fee is also paya
to the Agent for each Lender on the date that as@itment is cancelled and its share in the Loawigoa Banl
Guarantees is prepaid or repaid in full.

14.6 Participation fee

The Borrowers shall pay to the Agent (for the actaf each Lender) the fees in the amounts andeatites agreed ir
Fee Letter.
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SECTION 6
ADDITIONAL PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS

15. TAX GROSS UP AND INDEMNITIES
15.1 Definitions

(@)

In this Agreemen

" Protected Party " means a Finance Party which is or will be subtecany liability, or required to make ¢
payment, for or on account of Tax in relation teum received or receivable (or any sum deemechéoptrpose
of Tax to be received or receivable) under a Fieddocument.

" Tax Credit " means a credit against, relief or remission domepayment of any Tax.

" Tax Deduction" means a deduction or withholding for or on acdocafnTax from a payment under a Fina
Document.

" Tax Payment" means either the increase in a payment made I@ybdigor to a Finance Party under Clause
( Tax gross-up or a payment under Clause 15Bak indemnity).

Unless a contrary indication appears, in this Gals, a reference todetermines” or " determined " means
determination made in the absolute discretion efgbrson making the determination.

15.2 Tax grossup

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

()

(@

Each Obligor shall make all payments to be madd ythout any Tax Deduction, unless a Tax Dedutctig
required by law.

Each Obligor shall promptly upon becoming awaré ithaust make a Tax Deduction (or that there ¥ emang
in the rate or the basis of a Tax Deduction) ndtig Agent accordingly. Similarly, a Lender andrarfting Banl
shall notify the Agent on becoming so aware in eespf a payment payable to that Lender or FronBagk, a
the case may be. If the Agent receives such natifin from a Lender it shall notify each Obligor.

If a Tax Deduction is required by law to be madeahyObligor, the amount of the payment due fron @taligot
shall be increased to an amount which (after makimg Tax Deduction) leaves an amount equal to #yenen
which would have been due if no Tax Deduction heehbrequired.

If an Obligor is required to make a Tax Deductithat Obligor shall make that Tax Deduction and paymen
required in connection with that Tax Deduction witthe time allowed and in the minimum amount reegiiby
law.

Within thirty days of making either a Tax Deduction any payment required in connection with thak
Deduction, the Obligor making that Tax Deductioalkdeliver to the Agent for the Finance Party #edi to the
payment evidence reasonably satisfactory to thaarfeie Party that the Tax Deduction has been madas
applicable) any appropriate payment paid to theveeit taxing authority.

A Facility B Treaty Lender that becomes a Partyttmday on which this Agreement is entered intd tiwdds
passport under the HMRC DT Treaty Passport schamewhich wishes that scheme to apply to this Agerd
shall include an indication to that effect (for thenefit of the Agent and without liability to ar@bligor) by
including its scheme reference number and its digi®n of tax residence opposite its name in RHArof
Schedule 1 The Original Partieg.

Where a Lender includes the indication describegairagraph (f) above in Part 11l of Schedule Thé Origina
Parties):
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(i)

(ii)

each Original Borrower shall, and to the extent that Lender is a Lender under a Facility madélabie tc
the Original Borrower pursuant to Clause 2Thé Facility), file a duly completed form DTTP2 in respec
such Lender with HM Revenue & Customs within 30laf/the date of this Agreement and shall pron
provide the Lender with a copy of that filing; and

each Additional Borrower shall, and to the extéwatt that Lender is a Lender under a Facility madélable
to the Original Borrower pursuant to Clause 2Thé Facility), file a duly completed form DTTP2 in resg
of such Lender with HM Revenue & Customs withind#ys of becoming an Additional Borrower and ¢
promptly provide the Lender with a copy of thaini.

(h) If a Lender has not included an indication to tffeat that it wishes the HMRC DT Treaty Passpofiesne ti
apply to this Agreement in accordance with pardgr@) above or paragraph (a) of Clause 15HMRC D1
Treaty Passport scheme confirmatipmo Obligor shall file any form relating to thevMRC DT Treaty Passpc
scheme in respect of that Lender's Commitmentsggatticipation in any Utilisation.

15.3 Tax indemnity

(@) The Borrowers shall (within three Business Dayslefnand by the Agent) pay to a Protected Party amua
equal to the loss, liability or cost which that fexaied Party determines will be or has been (dyrectindirectly’
suffered for or on account of Tax by that Proted®ady in respect of a Finance Document.

(b) Paragraph (a) above shall not ap

@0

(ii)

with respect to any Tax assessed on a Finance:

(A) under the law of the jurisdiction in which that &ite Party is incorporated or, if different,
jurisdiction (or jurisdictions) in which that Fine@ Party is treated as resident for tax purpoge

(B) under the law of the jurisdiction in which that &nte Party's Facility Office or other place of besi
is located,

if that Tax is imposed on or calculated by refeeettcthe net income received or receivable (buangtsur
deemed to be received or receivable) by that Fn&aaty; or

to the extent a loss, liability or cc
(A) is compensated for by an increased payment un@eis€l15.2 Tax gross-up; or

(B) would have been compensated for by an increasedgrayunder Clause 15.2ZTx gross-up but wa
not so compensated solely because one of the étduis Clause 15.4Excluded Claim3 applied.

(©) A Protected Party making, or intending to makeaanelunder paragraph (a) above shall promptly natigyAgen
of the event which will give, or has given, risethe claim, following which the Agent shall notifiye Borrower.

(d) A Protected Party shall, on receiving a paymenhfem Obligor under this Clause 15.3, notify the i
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15.4

155

15.6

Excluded Claims

If any Lender is not or ceases to be a Qualifyiegder, the relevant Obligor shall not be liabl@ay to that Lender unc
Clauses 15.2 Tax Gross-Up or 15.3 (Tax Indemnity) any amount in respect of taxes levied or impaeegkcess of tt
amount it would have been obliged to pay if thatder had been or had not ceased to be a Qualibgnder, if on the da
on which the payment falls due:

(@) the payment could have been made to the relevarddrevithout a Tax Deduction if it was a Qualifyihgnder
but on that date that Lender is not or has ceasdx ta Qualifying Lender other than as a resulirgf chang
after the date it became a Lender under this Agea¢rm (or in the interpretation by any authoritgving
competent jurisdiction, administration, or applicatof) any law or any published practice or cosgas of an'
relevant taxing authority provided that the exausieferred to above for changes after the dateralér becan
a Lender under this Agreement shall not apply speet of any Tax Deduction on account of tax imgosy
France on a payment made to a Lender if such Talu®m®n is imposed solely because this paymentaidaric
an account opened in the name or for the benefthaf Lender in a financial institution situated anNon-
Cooperative Jurisdiction; or

(b) the relevant Lender is a Treaty Lender and the goblmaking the payment is able to demonstrate te
payment could have been made to the Lender witllwitTax Deduction had that Lender complied witl
obligations under paragraph 15.7 below.

Tax Credit
If an Obligor makes a Tax Payment and the relekarence Party determines that:

a. a Tax Credit is attributable either to an increagagment of which that Tax Payment forms part,cothiat Ta:
Payment; and

b. that Finance Party has obtained and/or utilisedoanndtained that Tax Crec

the Finance Party shall pay an amount to that ©blighich that Finance Party determines will leav@iter that paymer
in the same after-Tax position as it would haventiaéhad the Tax Payment not been required to kaerbg the Obligor.

Lender Status Confirmation

Each Lender which becomes a Party to this Agreeraftat the date of this Agreement shall indicatethie Transfe
Certificate, Assignment Agreement or Increase Qordtion which it executes on becoming a Party, fandhe benefit ¢
the Agent and without liability to any Obligor, vahi of the following categories it falls in:

() not a Qualifying Lende

(b) a Facility A Qualifying Lende
(c) a Facility B Qualifying Lender; «
(d) a Facility B Treaty Lende

Such Lender shall also specify, in the Transferef&grent which it executes upon becoming a ParthitoAgreemen
whether it is incorporated, domiciled, established,acting through a Facility Office situated inNon-Cooperativ
Jurisdiction or in a Blacklisted Jurisdiction.

If a New Lender fails to indicate its status in@ctance with this Clause 15.6 then such New Lesdall be treated for tl

purposes of this Agreement (including by each Q@bjigs if it is not a Qualifying Lender until sutime as it notifies tr
Agent which category applies (and the Agent, umeipt of such notification, shall
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inform the Company). For the avoidance of doublransfer Certificate, Assignment Agreement or IaseeConfirmatio
shall not be invalidated by any failure of a Lenttecomply with this Clause 15.6.

15.7 Tax Filings

@)

(b)

Subject to paragraph (b) below, each Lender sluatiptete as soon as practicable any procedural fities
which are necessary for an Obligor to be able tkenzapayment to such Lender without a Tax Dedudponvith
a reduced rate of Tax Deduction).

Nothing in paragraph (a) above shall require afyreander to
(i) register under the HMRC DT Treaty Passport sch
(i) apply the HMRC DT Treaty Passport scheme to anlisHltion if it has so registered,;
(i) file Treaty forms if it has included an indicatitm the effect that it wishes the HMRC DT Treaty $pas
scheme to apply to this Agreement in accordanck @iause 15.2(f) above or paragraph (a) of Clalsgé
(HMRC DT Treaty Passport scheme confirmatiand the Obligor making that payment has not cad

with its obligations under Clause 15.2(g) aboveanagraph (b) of Clause 15.81{MRC DT Treaty Passpc
scheme confirmation

15.8 HMRC DT Treaty Passport scheme confirmatiot

@)

(b)

A New Lender that is a Treaty Lender that holdsaasport under the HMRC DT Treaty Passport schend
which wishes that scheme to apply to this Agreemsmll include an indication to that effect (fhetbenefit ¢
the Agent and without liability to any Obligor) the Transfer Certificate or Assignment Agreementcivtit
executes by including its scheme reference numinita jurisdiction of tax residence in that Trars€ertificat
or Assignment Agreement.

Where a New Lender includes the indication desdribeparagraph (a) above in the relevant Transégtif@ate
or Assignment Agreement:

(i) each Borrower which is a Party as a Borrower dkeatelevant Transfer Date or Assignment Date $ialb
duly completed form DTTPZ2 in respect of such Lendi#gh HM Revenue & Customs within 30 days of -
Transfer Date and shall promptly provide the Lenwdi¢h a copy of that filing; and

(i) each Additional Borrower which becomes an AdditloBarrower after the relevant Transfer Date
Assignment Date shall file a duly completed formTFR in respect of such Lender with HM RevenL
Customs within 30 days of becoming an AdditionalBwer and shall promptly provide the Lender wi
copy of that filing.

15.9 Stamp taxe!
The Guarantor shall pay and, within five Businesy$of demand, indemnify each Finance Party agaimgicost, loss
liability that Finance Party incurs in relationdth stamp duty, registration and other similar Tapayable in respect of ¢
Finance Document (other than a Transfer Certifjcate

15.10 VAT
(@)

All amounts set out, or expressed to be payablemuad-inance Document by any Party to a Financey Rdxich
(in whole or in part) constitute the considerationany supply for VAT purposes are deemed to h#usive o
any VAT which is chargeable on that supply, andoatiogly, subject to paragraph (b) below, if VAT
chargeable on any supply made by any Finance Radpy Party under a Finance Document and suché&id
Party is required to account to the relevant takarity for the VAT, that Party must pay to sucindice Party (i
addition to and at the same time as paying any athresideration for such supply) an amount equ#técamour
of the VAT (and such Finance Party must promptlyvjite an appropriate VAT invoice to that Party).
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(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

If VAT is or becomes chargeable on any supply mbhgeany Finance Party (the Supplier ") to any othe
Finance Party (the Recipient ") under a Finance Document, and any Party othan thhe Recipient (the
Relevant Party") is required by the terms of any Finance Docuntergay an amount equal to the consider:
for that supply to the Supplier (rather than beieguired to reimburse or indemnify the Recipientaspect ¢
that consideration):

(i) (where the Supplier is the person required to atictmuthe relevant tax authority for the VAT) thel®an
Party must also pay to the Supplier (at the same &s paying that amount) an additional amountléquhe
amount of the VAT. The Recipient must (where trasagraph (i) applies) promptly pay to the Rele\Rent)
an amount equal to any credit or repayment thefReti receives from the relevant tax authority Jahilse
Recipient reasonably determines relates to the ¥iargeable on that supply; and.

(i)  (where the Recipient is the person required to @act the relevant tax authority for the VAT) tRelevan
Party must promptly, following demand from the Réent, pay to the Recipient an amount equal toftA&
chargeable on that supply but only to the exteat te Recipient reasonably determines that ibtsentitlec
to credit or repayment from the relevant tax atitiiégn respect of that VAT.

Where a Finance Document requires any Party tobwise or indemnify a Finance Party for any cos
expenses, that Party must also at the same timdbuese or indemnify (as the case may be) the Fen&zt
against all VAT incurred by the Finance Party iapect of such costs or expenses but only to thenegtat th
Finance Party (reasonably) determines that it isentitled to credit or repayment from the releviaxt authorit
in respect of the VAT.

Any reference in this Clause 15.10 to any Partylshaany time when that Party is treated as a benof ¢
group or unity (or fiscal unity) for VAT purposesiclude (where appropriate and unless the conttdravise
requires) a reference to the person who is treatédat time as making the supply, or (as appregrigceivin
the supply, under the grouping rules (provided iforArticle 11 of Council Directive 2006/112/EC (@t
implemented by the relevant member state of the@aan Union) so that a reference to a Party shatbnstrue
as a reference to that Party or the relevant goowmity (or fiscal unity) of which that Party isneember for VA
purposes at the relevant time or the relevant seprtative member (or representative or head) dafgtaip o
unity at the relevant time (as the case may be).

In relation to any supply made by a Finance Parigny Party under a Finance Document, if reasonajyeste
by such Finance Party, that Party must promptlyide such Finance Party with details of that ParyyAT
registration and such other information as is reabty requested in connection with such FinancéyRBavAT
reporting requirements in relation to such supply.

16. INCREASED COSTS

16.2 Increased cost

(@)

(b)

Subject to Clause 16.3Hxceptiong the Borrower shall, within three Business Daysafritten demand by t
Agent, pay for the account of a Finance Party theunt of any Increased Costs incurred by that Kiedarty ¢
any of its Affiliates as a result of (i) the intraction of or any change in (or in the interpretatiy any authorit
having competent jurisdiction, administration oplgation of) any law or regulation; or (ii) comafice with an
law or regulation made after the date of this Agrest.

In this Agreemen

" Increased Costs' means:
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(i) areduction in the rate of return from the Facitityon a Finance Party's (or its Affiliate's) ovkecapital;
(i) an additional or increased cost

(i) areduction of any amount due and payable undeFarance Documer

which is incurred or suffered by a Finance Partamay of its Affiliates to the extent that it is rdtutable to the
Finance Party having entered into its Commitmentuading or performing its obligations under anyact
Document or Bank Guarantee.

16.2 Increased cost claim
(@) A Finance Party intending to make a claim pursta@lause 16.1 lhcreased costsshall notify the Agent of tf
event giving rise to the claim, following which tAgent shall promptly notify the Borrower.

(b) Each Finance Party shall, as soon as practicabdejde a certificate signed by an authorised repridive o
such Finance Party confirming the amount of itsdased Costs and the cause of such increase Vetiemee t
Clause 16.1(a)lficreased Costsand the Agent shall promptly notify the Guarargocordingly.

16.3 Exceptions
(@) Clause 16.1 [ncreased costsdoes not apply to the extent any Increased Gt

(i) attributable to a Tax Deduction required by lavbéomade by an Obligc

(i) compensated for by Clause 15.34x indemnity) (or would have been compensated for under Claus3
( Tax indemnity but was not so compensated solely because atime @xclusions in Clause 15.£%cludet
Claims) applied);

(i) compensated for by the payment of the Mandatory; ©c

(iv) attributable to the wilful breach by the relevamdnce Party or its Affiliates of any law or regtiga.

(b) In this Clause 16.3, a reference to @igx Deduction" has the same meaning given to the term in Clagsi
( Definitions).

17.  OTHER INDEMNITIES

17.1 Currency indemnity
(@) If any sum due from an Obligor under the Financeudoeents (a 'Sum"), or any order, judgment or award gi'
or made in relation to a Sum, has to be convertad the currency (theFirst Currency ") in which that Sum
payable into another currency (th&&cond Currency") for the purpose of:

(i)  making or filing a claim or proof against that @l

(i) obtaining or enforcing an order, judgment or awarcelation to any litigation or arbitration prockegs
that Obligor shall as an independent obligatiorthiwithree Business Days of a written demand, indgneact
Finance Party to whom that Sum is due against ahy dbcumented cost, loss or liability arising @dtor as .
result of the conversion including any discrepabetween (A) the rate of exchange used to convatt3hm fror

the First Currency into the Second Currency andtB)rate or rates of exchange available to thedopeat th
time of its receipt of that Sum.
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(b)

Each Obligor waives any right it may have in angsdiction to pay any amount under the Finance Dents i
a currency or currency unit other than that in Wwhtds expressed to be payable.

17.2 Other indemnities
The Guarantor shall, within three Business Dayswdften demand, indemnify each Finance Party agaamy duly
documented cost, loss or liability incurred by tRatance Party as a result of:

(@)
(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

the occurrence of any Event of Defa

a failure by an Obligor to pay any amount due uraléfinance Document on its due date, including oul
limitation, any cost, loss or liability arising agesult of Clause 313haring among the Finance Partigs

issuing or making arrangements to issue a Bankdbitee requested by the Borrower in a Utilisationuest b
not issued by reason of the operation of any ormaae of the provisions of this Agreement (othemtlby reasc
of default or gross negligence by that FinanceyRadne);

funding, or making arrangements to fund, its pgoréiton in a Loan requested by the Borrower in didation
Request but which is not made by reason of theatiperof any one or more of the provisions of thggeemer
(other than by reason of default or negligencehay Finance Party alone); or

a Loan (or part of a Loampot being prepaid in accordance with a notice eppyment given by the Borrow

17.3 Indemnity to the Agent
The Guarantor shall promptly indemnify the Agengiagt any cost, loss or liability incurred by thgeht as a result of:

@)

(b)

17.4 Limitation

investigating any event which it reasonably belteigea Default if the Agent has promptly notifide tGuarantc
of such investigation taking place; or

acting or relying on any notice, request or indiorc which it reasonably believes to be genuinerem an
appropriately authorised.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in thisr&gment, any indemnity or similar arrangement gibegnan Obligo
(other than the Guarantor) pursuant to the ternmthisfAgreement is given in respect of itself oo Obligor (other the
the Guarantor) shall be liable for any cost, féahility or indemnity (of whatever nature), if sucost, fee, liability ¢
indemnity is not directly attributable to the redew Obligor (other than the Guarantor).

18.  Mitigation by the Lenders

18.1 Mitigation

@)

Each Finance Party shall, in consultation with Bearantor, take all reasonable steps to mitigatg
circumstances which arise and which would resulamy amount becoming payable under or pursuanor
cancelled pursuant to, any of Clause 9Mlegality ), Clause 15 (Tax gross-up and indemnitigs Clause 1
( Increased cost¥ or paragraph 3 of Schedule Méandatory Cost formulag or in any amount payable unde
Finance Document by an Obligor established in Fralpecoming not deductible from that Obligor's tde
income for French tax purposes by reason of thauatbeing (i) paid or accrued to a Finance Paxtgriporatec
domiciled, established or acting through a Facilif§ice situated in a No&ooperative Jurisdiction or (ii) paid
an account opened in the name of or for the bepéfibat Finance Party in a financial institutiatuated in
Nor-Cooperative Jurisdiction,
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18.2

19.

191

19.2

19.3

including (but not limited to) transferring its hty and obligations under the Finance Documentantithe
Affiliate or Facility Office.

(b) Paragraph (a) above does not in any way limit tiigations of any Obligor under the Finance Docuts.
Limitation of liability
(@) The Borrower shall indemnify each Finance Partyalbduly documented costs and expenses reasoimaduigrec

by that Finance Party as a result of steps takaéhunder Clause 18.1Mitigation ).

(b) A Finance Party is not obliged to take any stegeuiClause 18.1Niitigation ) if, in the opinion of that Finan
Party (acting reasonably), to do so might be piejabito it.

COSTS AND EXPENSES

Transaction expense
The Guarantor shall promptly pay on demand thericedarties:

(@) the amount of any costs and expenses (includire) fegs) set out or referred to in the mandaterdetated 4 Ju
2011; and
(b) all duly documented costs and expenses (includtggllfees) reasonably incurred by any of them mneatior

with the negotiation, preparation, printing, exémut syndication and perfection of any other FirmBDocument
executed after the date of this Agreement.

Amendment cost:

If (&) an Obligor requests an amendment, waivecarsent or (b) an amendment is required pursuaddaase 32.1
( Change of currency, the Guarantor shall, within three Business Dafysvritten demand, reimburse the Agent for
amount of all duly documented costs and expensebifiing legal fees) reasonably incurred by therAge responding ti
evaluating, negotiating or complying with that regtior requirement.

Enforcement cost

The Borrower shall, within three Business Days aotten demand, pay to each Finance Party the anmfuall costs an
expenses (including legal fees) incurred by thatakte Party in connection with (a) the enforcenwnany Financ
Document, and (b) the preservation of any rightwgre and remedies under any Finance DocumenttifRinance Pari
has promptly notified the Borrower that such preaton event is taking place.
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20.

20.1

20.2

20.3

20.4

SECTION 7
GUARANTEE

GUARANTEE AND INDEMNITY

Guarantee and indemnity
The Guarantor irrevocably and unconditionally:

(@) guarantees to each Finance Party punctual perfaeniay each of the Borrowers of all the Borrowedgmen
obligations under the Finance Documents, including obligation arising from any clalsack (and with respe
to an Italian Obligor, ampzione Revocatoriander the relevant Italian bankruptcy laws, orétation to a no
Italian Obligor any analogous action under the lafsny other civil law jurisdiction) in connectiomith the
insolvency of, or any insolvency proceedings invridy the Borrower;

(b) undertakes with each Finance Party that whenes®oreower does not pay any amount when due undén
connection with any Finance Document, the Guarasttall immediately on demand pay that amount #safs
the principal obligor; and

(©) indemnifies each Finance Party immediately on deh@gainst any cost, loss or liability suffered bgttFinanc
Party if any obligation guaranteed by it is or bees unenforceable, invalid or illegal. The amounthe cosl
loss or liability shall be equal to the amount whitat Finance Party would otherwise have beertl@htic
recover,

up to a maximum amount of euro 600,000,000.

Continuing guarantee
This guarantee is a continuing guarantee and widired to the ultimate balance of sums payable lyyBamrower under tk
Finance Documents, regardless of any intermedeepnt or discharge in whole or in part.

Reinstatemen

If any payment by any Borrower or any dischargesgiby a Finance Party (whether in respect of thigatmons of suc
Borrower or any security for those obligations tdreswise) is avoided or reduced as a result oflwesey or any simile
event:

(@) the liability of the Guarantor shall continue ashié payment, discharge, avoidance or reductiomioadccurrec
and
(b) each Finance Party shall be entitled to recovevdhge or amount of that security or payment from Guaranto

as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or redudtém not occurred.

Waiver of defence

The obligations of the Guarantor under this Cld2Ge&vill not be affected by an act, omission, mattething which, but fc
this Clause, would reduce, release or prejudiceodiitg obligations under this Clause 20 (withadatitation and whether |
not known to it or any Finance Party) including:

(@) any time, waiver or consent granted to, or commwsiwvith, a Borrower or other persi

(b) the release of a Borrower or any other person uthgeterms of any composition or arrangement wih cedito
of any member of the Group;

(¢ the taking, variation, compromise, exchange, reh@waelease of, or refusal or neglect to perfégke up ¢
enforce, any rights against, or security over assgta Borrower or other person or any non-pregimt or non-
observance of any formality or other requirementdspect of any instrument or any failure to reatise ful
value of any security;
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20.5

20.6

20.7

20.8

(d) any incapacity or lack of power, authority or legatsonality of or dissolution or change in the rhems or statt
of a Borrower or any other person;

(e) any amendment (however fundamental) or replacenfentinance Document or any other document orrggg

® any unenforceability, illegality or invalidity ofng obligation of any person under any Finance Danitnor an
other document or security; or

) any insolvency or similar proceedings to the exparmitted under applicable le

Immediate recourse

The Guarantor waives any right it may have of fiexjuiring any Finance Party (or any trustee omage its behalf) t
proceed against or enforce any other rights orrggcar claim payment from any person before claignifrom the
Guarantor under this Clause 20. This waiver appirespective of any law (to the extent permittedjany provision of
Finance Document to the contrary.

Appropriations
Until all amounts which may be or become payabldhgyBorrower under or in connection with the FceuDocumen
have been irrevocably paid in full, each FinanceyR@ar any trustee or agent on its behalf) may:

(@) refrain from applying or enforcing any other monesgcurity or rights held or received by that FoelParty (c
any trustee or agent on its behalf) in respecho$¢ amounts, or apply and enforce the same inreacimer an
order as it sees fit (whether against those amaoamttherwise) and the Guarantor shall not be ledtito the
benefit of the same; and

(b) hold in an interesbearing suspense account any moneys received tenGtarantor or on account of
Guarantor's liability under this Clause 20.

Deferral of Guarantor's rights

Until all amounts which may be or become payablahgyBorrower under or in connection with the FiceudDocumen
have been irrevocably paid in full and unless tiged otherwise directs, the Guarantor will not eis&r any rights which
may have by reason of performance by it of itsgailons under the Finance Documents:

(@) to be indemnified by the Borrow

(b) to claim any contribution from any other guarantbithe Borrower's obligations under the Finance uboents
and/or

(©) to take the benefit (in whole or in part and whethg way of subrogation or otherwise) of any rigbfsthe

Finance Parties under the Finance Documents ompfoher guarantee or security taken pursuant tdn
connection with, the Finance Documents by any Kiadrarty.

Additional security

This guarantee is in addition to and is not in ey prejudiced by any other guarantee or secunibgequently held by a
Finance Party.
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21.

211

21.2

21.3

21.4

215

21.6

SECTION 8
REPRESENTATIONS, UNDERTAKINGS AND EVENTS OF DEFAULT

REPRESENTATIONS

Each Obligor makes the representations and waesasgt out in this Clause 21 to each Finance Rartye date of th
Agreement, but on the basis that the representatioidl warranties set out in Clauses 21BIn@ing obligations), 21.t
( Validity and admissibility in evidenge 21.6 (Governing law and enforcemenand 21.7 (No filing or stamp taxeyare
subject to any qualifications, reservations or gangrinciples of law referred to in any legal dpim delivered pursuant
Clause 4 Conditions of utilisatior).

Status

(@) It is a corporation, duly incorporated and valigkisting under the laws of the country of its inmmation and tr
Guarantor is a corporation duly incorporated ae@eta per azioninder the laws of Italy.

(b) It and each of its Material Subsidiaries has thevgroto own its assets and carry on its busineds iasbeinc

conducted, under the laws of its jurisdiction afdrporation.

Binding obligations
The obligations expressed to be assumed by it anh danance Document are legal, valid, binding antbreeabl
obligations.

Non-conflict with other obligations
The entry into and performance by it of, and tlesactions contemplated by, the Finance Documenteotand will nc
conflict with:

(@) any law or regulation applicable tc
(b) its and each of its Material Subsidiaries' constihal documents;
(©) any agreement or instrument binding upon it or @nys Material Subsidiaries' ass:

Power and authority

It has the power to enter into, perform and deliaeid has taken all necessary action to authdssntry into, performan
and delivery of, the Finance Documents to whichisita party and the transactions contemplated bgetheinanc
Documents.

Validity and admissibility in evidence
All Authorisations required:

(a.) to enable it lawfully to enter into, exercise iights and comply with its obligations in the Finari@ocuments 1
which it is a party; and

(b.) to make the Finance Documents to which it is aypadmissible in evidence in its jurisdiction of amporatior
(save that a translation of this Agreement andRimance Documents (i) in the Italian language;igrif the
German or French language would be necessary ébrdacuments to be admissible in evidence bef@edrt:
of (i) Italy and (ii) France or Luxembourg respeety),

have been obtained or effected and are in fullefentd effect.

Governing law and enforcemen
(a) The choice of English law as the governing lawaifreof the Finance Documents will be recognisedeafidrces
in its jurisdiction of incorporation.
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21.7

21.8

21.9

21.10

21.11

21.12

21.13

21.14

21.15

(b.) Any judgment obtained in England in relation to iaahce Document will be recognised and enforceits
jurisdiction of incorporation

No filing or stamp taxe:

Other than where this Agreement or a Finance Doatiisefiled with any public body or any court inrocgection with th
so-calledcaso d’'usaas this notion is interpreted and construed urtieetaws of Italy oenunciaziones defined under DF
26/4/86 n.131, or as otherwise disclosed in anllagpinion delivered pursuant to Clause 4.1nifial conditions
precedeni), under the law of the jurisdiction of its incorption it is not necessary that the Finance Docusnba filed
recorded or enrolled with any court or other autigon that jurisdiction or that any stamp, regiion or similar tax be ps
on or in relation to the Finance Documents or tlamdactions contemplated by the Finance Documsaotsong as tr
Finance Documents are not executed in Italy ordegan

No default

(a) No Event of Default is continuin

(b.) No Event of Default could reasonably be expectagsalt from the making of any Utilisatic

(c) No other event or circumstance is outstanding whanstitutes a default under any other agreemeimstrumen
which is binding on it or to which its assets ambject which is reasonably likely to have a MateAdverse
Effect.

No misleading information

All written information supplied by any member tietGroup was true and accurate in all materialeespas at the date
was given and was at the date it was given noeaishg in any material respect.

Financial statement:

(a) The Original Financial Statements fairly represt@ consolidated financial condition and operatiofighe
Group during the relevant financial year.

(b.) Since the date upon which the Original Financiat&nhents were stated to be prepared, there hasbemrent ¢
series of events or circumstances which could regsyp be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect

Pari passu ranking
Its payment obligations under the Finance Documiarik at least pari passu with the claims of allother unsecured &
unsubordinated creditors, except for obligationsdadorily preferred by law applying to companieagrally.

No proceedings pending or threatene

No litigation, arbitration or administrative prociegs of or before any court, arbitral body or agenvhich coul
reasonably be expected have a Material AdversectEffave (to the best of its knowledge and belieferb started
threatened against it in writing.

Taxation
No claims are being or are reasonably likely toalseerted against it with respect to Taxes whicHdcoeasonably t
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

No Security
No Security exists over all or any of its presentfiture assets other than any Security permittedeu Clause 24
( Negative Pledgg

Ownership of the Borrowers
The Original Borrowers are (directly or indirectlyholly-owned Subsidiaries of the Guarantor and any Aduit
Borrower is (directly or indirectly) at least 99.9%«ned and controlled by the Guarantor.
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21.16

21.17

21.18

21.19

21.20

22.

22.1

22.2

Control of the Guarantor
The Merloni Family exercises Control over the Guéoa

Environmental compliance
Each member of the Group has performed and obsémvaltl material respects all Environmental Law d&d/ironmente
Permits where failure to do so could reasonablgxmected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Environmental Claims

No Environmental Claim has been commenced or @dbtkst of its knowledge and belief) is threatemedriting agains
any member of the Group where that claim couldaeally be expected to be determined against thatbmeof the GroL
and to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Centre of main interests and establishmen
(a) It has its "centre of main interests" (as that tesnused in Article 3(1) of The Council of the Epean Unio
Regulation No. 1346/2000 on Insolvency Proceedftigs" Regulation™) in its jurisdiction of incorporation.

(b.) The Original Borrowers and the Guarantor have rspaldishment” (as defined in Article 2(h) of thegRktion
with the exclusion, for the avoidance of doubtany representative office or VAT representative.

Repetition

The Repeating Representations are deemed to be logaglech Obligor (by reference to the facts anduanstances thi
existing) on the date of each Utilisation Request @ave in the case of the representation sehatragraph (b) of Clau
21.8 (No Default)) on first day of each Interest Period.

INFORMATION UNDERTAKINGS
The undertakings in this Clause 22 remain in fdrom the date of this Agreement for so long as ampunt is or may |
outstanding under the Finance Documents or any Gomant is in force.

Financial statement:
The Guarantor shall supply to the Agent:

(a.) as soon as the same become available, but in @my esthin 130 days after the end of each of itarficial year:
the annual Consolidated Financial Statements fdrfthancial year;

(b.) each Borrower's audited financial statements vadpect to each financial year of the relevant Boerp as soc
as the same become available, but in any evenateo than the date on which such financial statésnan
required to be prepared by such Borrower in acearelavith applicable laws and regulations; and

(c) as soon as the same become available, but in am @ithin 130 days after the end of the first ldleach of it
financial years, the semi-annual Consolidated FirsiStatements for that financial half year.

Compliance Certificate

(a) The Guarantor shall supply to the Agent, with esehof financial statements delivered pursuantatagraph (¢
or (c) of Clause 22.1 Financial statement3, a Compliance Certificate substantially in thenfoset out i
Schedule 7 (Form of Compliance Certificat¢ setting out computations as to compliance with €da@:
( Financial covenant} as at the date as at which those financial set¢snwere drawn up.

(b.) Each Compliance Certificate shall be signed by 8&aior Financial Officer
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22.3 Requirements as to financial statemen

All accounting terms used herein which are not esgly defined in this Agreement have the meal
respectively given to them in accordance with Apgitle Accounting Standards. Except as otherwiseifggly
provided herein, all computations made pursuanhito Agreement shall be made in accordance withliégiple
Accounting Standards and all financial statementsbé delivered pursuant to Clause 22.1(a) and &
( Financial statementsshall be prepared in accordance with Applicabbedunting Standards and, in the cas
any financial statements to be delivered pursuar@lause 22.1(b) Financial statement$, generally accept
accounting principles as in effect from time todiim the jurisdiction of incorporation of the redet Borrowel
and if at the time that any such statement orfaste is required to be made the Guarantor stalhave an
Subsidiary, such terms shall mean a financial state or a certificate, as the case may be, withemsto th
Guarantor only.

(@)

(i)

(ii.)

(iii.)

The Guarantor shall procure that the Consolidatedhrieial Statements are prepared using Applic
Accounting Standards.

In case of a change in the Applicable Accountirgn8ards or reference periods (8AAP Event ") which
would materially affect the calculation of any fivtéal covenant, the Guarantor may, at its discnetéating
in good faith, propose (or if so requested by tlger, it shall propose) to adjust the covenantléegeothe
components of financial computations or definitieam@ny such covenant so that the effects of suaAR
Event on any such covenant will be negated.

For the purpose of the definition of GAAP Event lsacge of the Applicable Accounting Standar
reference period shall be a change in respectkeofithst recent Consolidated Financial Statemerttseohalf-
year Consolidated Financial Statements deliveredh® Agent and, with respect to the first se
Consolidated Financial Statements to be deliverettuClause 22.1Kinancial Statementsabove, a chani
in respect of the Original Financial Statements.

In support of any proposal delivered to the Agemtspant to sub-paragraph (ii) above, the Guarashaft

furnish the Agent with:

(A) a certificate or a written statement signed by &emior Financial Officers of the Guarantor (8AAP
Certificate ")

(1) specifying the effective date of such GAAP Ev

(2) setting forth (x) the financial data, prepared @e@dance with Applicable Accounting Standi:
as in effect prior to the GAAP Event Qld GAAP "), utilised in the calculation of the relev
financial covenant(s), (y) a calculation of suclkamant(s) on the basis of such financial date
(2) in the notes to such GAAP Certificate, the seuof the financial data and the basi:
calculation of the financial data utilized in cdhking such covenant(s),

(3) setting forth () the financial data, prepared @e@dance with Applicable Accounting Stand:
as in effect as a result of the GAAP EveniNgw GAAP "), utilized in the calculation of tl
relevant financial covenant(s), (y) a calculatidrsach covenant(s) on the basis of such fina
data and (z) in the notes to such GAAP Certifictite,source of the financial data and the ba:
calculation of the financial data utilized in cdlting such Covenant(s),

(4) describing in reasonable detail the underlying GABPent that affected the results of
calculation of such financial covenants,
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(iv.)

(v.)

(6) describing in reasonable detail the adjustmentsdeenant levels, definitions and/or ot
components of such financial covenant(s), whicthssenior financial officer determines in g
faith (having discussed the matter with the Guanastauditors) to be appropriate to negate
effects of such GAAP Event on such financial covenand

(6) indicating that such GAAP Certificate has been ed pursuant to this Clause 22.3;

(B) a Procedures Report of the Grasiguditors stating (x) that they have obtainedGRAP Certificats
concurrently being provided to the Agent pursuanparagraph (A) above and conducted the "Ac
Upon Procedures" described in Schedule 2greed Upon Procedurésin respect of the informatis
provided pursuant to paragraph (A)(2) and paragr@)fB8) above and (y) the conclusions of s
"Agreed Upon Procedures."

The adjustments set forth in the relevant GAAP ileste shall only become effective upon the comns
the Majority Lenders (acting in good faith) to sumtjustments as are specified in the GAAP Certiica

The costs of any Procedures Report referred toubiparagraph (iii)(B) above shall be borne by
Guarantor irrespective of whether the adjustmefeirmed to at paragraph (ii) above is made at tlerdtior
of the Guarantor or is required to be made at dogest of the Agemgrovided that in the event that su
adjustment is required to be made at the requebeohgent, the Agent shall have acted on theuositins o
the Majority Lenders (acting reasonably).

22.4 Information: miscellaneous
The Guarantor shall supply to the Ag

@)

(b)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

promptly all documents dispatched by the Guaratmosll of its shareholders or to creditors geng
provided that such information is not readily aahie otherwise;

promptly upon becoming aware of them, the detdilsny litigation, arbitration or administrative meeding
which are current, threatened in writing or pendagginst any member of the Group, and which cat
adversely determined be reasonably expected todMeaterial Adverse Effect; and

promptly, such further information regarding theaficial condition, business and operations of aagnbe
of the Group as any Finance Party (through the Agaay reasonably request.

Any information to be provided under this Agreeméantpaper form to the Lenders by the Obligors sha
satisfied by the Guarantor by supplying the Agestanned version of the relevant document or inftion.

22.5 Notification of default

Each Obligor shall notify the Agent of any Defafahd the steps, if any, being taken to remedyrdjnptly upot
becoming aware of its occurrence (unless that Obligy aware that a notification has already be@viged b
another Obligor).

@)

(b)

Promptly upon a request by the Agent, the Borroweed! supply to the Agent a certificate signedwyg Senio
Financial Officers certifying that no Default ismtmuing (or if a Default is continuing, specifyitige Default an
the steps, if any, being taken to remedly it).
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22.6

22.7

23.

23.1

"Know your customer" checks
(@) If:

(i) the introduction of or any change in (or in theenpretation, administration or application of) daw o1
regulation made after the date of this Agreement;

(i) any change in the status of an Obligor or the caitipo of the shareholders of an Obligor after dage o
this Agreement; or

(i) a proposed assignment or transfer by a Lenderybhaits rights and obligations under this Agreeinen:
party that is not a Lender prior to such assignroemtansfer,

obliges the Agent or any Lender (or, in the caspashgraph (iii) above, any prospective new Lentteomply
with "know your customer” or similar identificatiggnocedures in circumstances where the necesdanmiation i
not already available to it, each Obligor shallmpptly upon the request of the Agent or any Lendgiply/, ol
procure the supply of, such documentation and atiglence as is reasonably requested by the Afmmitgelf ol
on behalf of any Lender) or any Lender (for its@lfin the case of the event described in paragfiplabove, ol
behalf of any prospective new Lender) in ordertfa Agent, such Lender or, in the case of the edestribed i
paragraph (iii) above, any prospective new Lenderarry out and be satisfied it has complied witmacessar
"know your customer” or other similar checks unaéapplicable laws and regulations pursuant totthesactior
contemplated in the Finance Documents.

(b) Each Lender shall promptly upon the request ofAbgent supply, or procure the supply of, such doautaieor
and other evidence as is reasonably requestedebghnt (for itself) in order for the Agent to cawut and b
satisfied it has complied with all necessary "knawr customer" or other similar checks under afil@able law:
and regulations pursuant to the transactions cquitgéed in the Finance Documents.

Nothing in this Agreement shall oblige the Agentloe Arranger to carry out any "know your customar'other checks
relation to any person on behalf of any Lender each Lender confirms to the Agent and the Arrarat it is solel
responsible for any such checks it is requiredatoycout and that it may not rely on any statenmemélation to such chec
made by the Agent or the Arranger.

Italian Transparency Provisions - Summary sheet ('Documento di Sintesi ")

For the purposes of the transparency provisionfosit in the CICR Resolution of 4 March 2003, aseaded from time -
time, and in the 'Disposizioni sulla trasparenza delle operazioni & dervizi bancari e finanziari. Correttezza d
relazioni tra intermediari e clientf issued by the Bank of Italy and as amended frome tto time, each Party here
acknowledges and confirms that:

(@) it has appointed and has been assisted by its adgpdegal counsel in connection with the negaiia
preparation and execution of the Agreement; and

(b) this Agreement, and all of its terms and conditjansluding the Recitals and the Schedules thetege bee
specifically negotiated ("oggetto di trattativaiwviduale™) between the Parties.

FINANCIAL COVENANTS

Financial definitions
In this Clause 23:

" Consolidated EBITDA " means, for any relevant period, Consolidated Rr@#fore Interest and Tax for that rele
period before any amount attributable to the amatitbn of intangible assets and depreciation ofitde assets and a
impairment losses on assets.
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" Consolidated Net Borrowings' means, at any time, the aggregate amount ofdiations of the Group for or in resp
of Financial Indebtedness but excluding any sudigation of any member of the Group (or interestinenissions, fee
discounts or other payments in respect of any shdgation) to any other member of the Group, kxEsaggregate amot
(and so that no amount shall be included or exdudere than once) of:

@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

cash balances and deposits held in an Eligible B@)kavailable odemand or within a period of sixty days
less; or (b) available within a period of more trsixty days if such cash balance or deposit is mened by
Security granted (x) in favour of a bank in conimttwith any other Contingent Purchase Agreemen(ypin
favour of a bank in connection with Financial Inteness loaned by such bank to another membee @ tbug
provided that, in the case of both (x) and (y)hscash balances or deposits are not encumbereaylfyegurity ii
respect of any other Financial Indebtedness;

debt securities which are: (i) rated “P-2" or bety Moody’s or “A-2” or better by S&P (or any equival
successor rating) (including repurchase agreemdatg)minated in sterling, US dollars, Swiss framiceuro; an
(i) issued or guaranteed by the United Kingdone, thited States of America, Switzerland or any iBiggting
Member State or the European Bank for Reconstnudiod Development or the European Investment |
which are not convertible into any other form ofwéty and which in each case are free from anyfsgc(othe
than Security in respect of obligations in resmédtinancial Indebtedness of any member of the @you

debt securities denominated in sterling, US dolarguro with a residual maturity of not more tt264 day
which are not convertible into any other form ofwgty, which are rated “P-2" or better by Moodgs“A-2" or
better by S&P (or any equivalent successor ratimigich are not issued or guaranteed by any membéhne
Group and which in each case are free from anyrg¢ather than Security in respect of obligationsespect ¢
Financial Indebtedness of any member of the Graay;

certificates of deposit denominated in sterling, déars or euro issued by, and acceptances bkligitle Banl
and which in each case are free from any Secuniye( than Security in respect of obligations ispext o
Financial Indebtedness of any member of the Group).

" Consolidated Net Interest" means, in respect of any relevant period, theeggge amount (without duplication) of
interest (including the interest element of leasimgl hire purchase payments and capitalized inje@smmissions, fe:
and discounts and other finance payments payablangymember of Group in respect of Financial Inddbess (b
deducting any such commission, fees, discounto#mel finance payments receivable by any memb@&rotip under ar
interest rate hedging instrument) and deducting @hgr interest receivable, commissions, fees ascbdnts and oth
finance receivable by any member of Group durinthgelevant period (in each case, eliminating Hiedting debits ar
credits between and among the Guarantor and itsidabes and all other items required to be elated in the course
the preparation of the Consolidated Financial &tat#s in accordance with Applicable Accounting 8Stads).

" Consolidated Profits Before Interest and TaxX' means, in respect of any relevant period, thesalishated net income
the Group before:

@)
(b)

(©
(d)

any provision on account of taxati

any interest, commission, discounts or other feegrred or payable, received or receivable by aagnber of th
Group in respect of Financial Indebtedness;

any items treated as financial income and changelifling FX differences and other financial iteg

any share of profit (losses) of associates
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23.2

23.3

24,

24.1

(e) any of the following nomecurring items: (i) any costs of dismantling aedhoving any item of property, pl
and equipment or restoring the site on which tbated not previously accrued; (i) any costsabcating o
reorganizing part or all of an entig/operations; (iii) any capital loss on disposabas$ets; (iv) any redundar
costs; and (v) any cost from discontinuing opereio

" Contingent Purchase Agreement means any putall option agreement, or other agreement serviagndar function
entered into in connection with the purchase ofpprty, pursuant to which an obligation to purchpseperty and tt
liability to pay for such purchased property maig@ion one or more dates beginning at least twatmscaifter the date
which such agreement was entered into.

" Eligible Bank " means a commercial bank (i) organized under the lafthe United Kingdom, the United State:
America, any Participating Member State, Switzatlan any jurisdiction in which a Subsidiary has @ens and; (i
whose short-term unsecured debt obligations (orstiwtierm unsecured debt obligations of the bank holdiogpan
owning the majority of the capital stock of suchmroercial bank) shall have been given a rating eR2*Ror better b
Moody’s or “A-2" or better by S&P (or an equivalent rating by anotieeognized credit rating agency of similar stagdf
either of such rating agencies is not then in tgrtess of rating such investments).

Financial condition
(@) The Guarantor will not perm

(i) the ratio of Consolidated Net Borrowings as of afar£End Determination Date to Consolidated EBIT
for the twelve month period ended on such Year-Betérmination Date to exceed 3.00 to 1;

(i) the ratio of Consolidated Net Borrowings as of é&@gmi Annual Determination Date to Consolid:
EBITDA for the twelve month period ended on sucmBannual Determination Date to exceed 4.00 to 1;

(i) the ratio of Consolidated EBITDA to Consolidatedt Neerest for the twelve month period ending oy
Determination Date to be less than 3.5 to 1.

Financial testing

The financial covenants set out in Clause 23.Binancial condition) shall be tested by reference to each of
Consolidated Financial Statements and each Conugligdertificate delivered pursuant to Clause 22.2oMmplianc
Certificate).

General undertakings
The undertakings in this Clause 24 remain in férem the date of this Agreement for so long as ampunt is outstandi
under the Finance Documents or any Commitmentfigroe.

Authorisations
Each Obligor shall promptly:

(@) obtain, comply with and do all that is necessamn#ontain in full force and effect; a
(b) (if requested) supply certified copies to the Agef,
any Authorisation required under any law or regatatof its jurisdiction of incorporation to enabieto perform it

obligations under the Finance Documents and torerthe legality, validity, enforceability or admitsitity in evidence it
its jurisdiction of incorporation of any Finance &wnent to which it is a party.
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24.2

24.3

Compliance with laws
Each Obligor shall comply in all respects with lallvs to which it is subject, to the extent necessarensure that non-
compliance with such laws could not reasonablyXpeeted to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Negative pledg
No Obligor shall (and the Guarantor shall ensuat tlo member of the Group will) create or permistibsist an
Security over any of its assets.

@)

(b)

(©

No Obligor shall (and the Guarantor shall ensuat tto member of the Group wi

@0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of #ses on contractual terms whereby (i) they stelebsed
it and such a lease is recorded as a Capital Lea$i);, they shall be re-acquired by it;

sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of @eseivables on recourse terms unless such a rectarre
transaction forms no more than 15% of a wider remourse programme;

enter into any arrangement under which money obé#reefit of a bank or other account may be appled,
off or made subject to a combination of accounts; o

enter into any other preferential arrangement tgagisimilar effec

in circumstances where the arrangement or tramsai(i) entered into primarily as a method obiag financie
indebtedness and (ii) is recorded as such for thipgses of the International Accounting Standasdglf suc
transaction (‘Quasi-Security")).

Paragraphs (a) and (b) above do not app

(i)
(ii)

(iii)
(iv)

v)

any Security arising pursuant to the terms of akde Documer

any netting or setff arrangement entered into by any member of theu in the ordinary course of
banking arrangements for the purpose of nettingt delol credit balances;

any lien arising by operation of law and in theinady course of busine:

any Security or Quasbecurity over or affecting any asset acquired loyember of the Group after the c
of this Agreement if:

(A) the Security or Quassecurity was not created in contemplation of thguagition of that asset by
member of the Group;

(B) the principal amount secured has not been incrdasszhtemplation of, or since the acquisition tud
asset by a member of the Group except if requisethb terms of the instrument originally crea
such Security with respect to other property whghn improvement to or is acquired for specifie
in connection with such acquired property; and

(C) the Security or Quassecurity is removed or discharged within twelve therof the date of acquisiti
of such asset unless, in the event that such rdnoowdischarge would be excessively onerous
Majority Lenders agree otherwise;

any Security or Quassecurity over or affecting any asset of any compahich becomes a member of
Group after the date of this Agreement, where theuity or QuasBecurity is created prior to the date
which that company becomes a member of the Gréup, i
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(vi)

(Vi)
(viii)

(ix)

)

(xi)

(xii)
(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

(A) the Security or Quassecurity was not created in contemplation of trepuagition of that compan

(B) the principal amount secured has not increasedimemplation of or since the acquisition of
company except if required by the terms of therimsent originally creating such Security with rest
to other property which is an improvement to oa@guired for specific use in connection with ¢
acquired property; and

(C) the Security or Quastecurity is removed or discharged within twelve thenof that compar
becoming a member of the Group, unless, in the tetret such removal or discharge would
excessively onerous, the Majority Lenders agreerotise;

any Security or Quasi-Security existing at the aedtiis Agreement (Existing Security ") (and its renewa
provided that, without prejudice to (xvii) below the amount thereby secured is not increased usies
increase is already provided for in the relevastriiment creating the Existing Security;

any title transfer or retention of title arrangementered into in the ordinary course of busir

any Security or Quas$ecurity (i) arising over goods or documents dé tib goods arising in the ordin:
course of letter of credit transactions; or (ii) $ecure (or to obtain letters of credit that secuhe
performance of tenders, statutory obligations, tyub®nds, appeal bonds, bids, leases (other thamital
Leases), performance bonds, purchase, construatisales contracts and other similar obligationsgacl
case not incurred or made in connection with thedwzgng of money, the obtaining of advances or itrer
the payment of the deferred purchase price of ptppend in each case of (i) and (ii) above whic
instrumental to the business of the relevant Oblgyal/or entered into in the ordinary course ofress;

any Security or Quas$ecurity arising by operation of law in favour afyagovernmental or other t
authority in respect of taxes, assessments or gmantal charges either not yet due and payabléhmtware
being disputed in good faith;

any Security or Quasi-Security arising under arfogalease or contract for hire purchasevided that sucl
Security only extends to the asset which is théestilof such finance lease or contract for hirechase;

any Security or Quasbecurity over any assets acquired after the datei®fAgreement securing Finan
Indebtedness incurred solely for the purpose dfdbquisition;

any Security or Quasecurity created with the prior written consentiaf Majority Lender:

any Security or Quassecurity created in favour of any governmental {{@gror local) intergovernmental
supranational body, agency, department or othdmoaity securing the repayment of any subsidy gichibly
any such body, agency, department or authority tmesmber of the Group to assist in financing
acquisition of any asset or in making capital exjieme by such member of the Group;

any Security or Quas$ecurity over Treasury Sto

Security or Quasbecurity in respect of judgments or awards to ttierg that such judgments or awards
being contested in good faith by appropriate prdicegs and with respect to which adequate reserage
been established in accordance with Applicable Anting Standards;
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(xvi) Security or Quasbecurity incurred or deposits made in the ordir@yrse of business in connection \
workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance dmer dypes of social security or retirement besefit

(xvii) any Security or Quassecurity (including without limitation, any Secyrigranted under a cash pool
arrangement or other cash management system withilar function) over cash deposited by any menuf
the Group with a financial institution who has, éor Affiliate of such financial institution has)aae a loa
of the same amount to another member of the Groubtlae deposit is made on the terms that it i
repayable to the depositor until the relevant membée Group has repaid the loan lent to it  fihancia
institution (or, as the case may be, such Affiliatsuch financial institution);

(xviii) any Security or Quastecurity on property or assets of the Guarantoamyr of its Subsidiaries secur
Financial Indebtedness owing to the Guarantor & ubsidiary (the Group Creditor ") provided that |
the company granting Security is an Obligor, theuprCreditor must also be an Obligor; or

(xix) Security or Quaskecurity not otherwise permitted by foregoing peaapbs (i) through (xviii) securit
indebtedness the aggregate principal amount ofwfnitbien aggregated with the aggregate principalusu
of Financial Indebtedness incurred pursuant togvaph (f) of Clause 24.916debtednes$ without doubls
counting) shall not at any time exceed an amouunalkei 10% of Consolidated Total Assets (as measor
the last day of the Guarantor’'s then most recesrijed financial year).

24.4 Disposals

(@)

(b)

No Obligor shall (and the Guarantor shall ensugd tio other member of the Group will) enter intgiagle
transaction or a series of transactions (whetHate@ or not) and whether voluntary or involuntemysell, leas:
transfer or otherwise dispose of all or Substamat of the assets of the Group (but, for thedae of douk
this shall not prevent the making of any lawfulidend (either in cash or in kind) or other disttibn tc
shareholders).

Paragraph (a) above does not apply to any sake,lé@nsfer or other disposal by any member oGttoeip

(i) made in the ordinary course of business and onsdength terms or made on arm's length terms fio
market value;

(i) (A) if an amount equal to the proceeds from sudhb, daase, transfer or disposal is used to purchtdse
property for use in the business of the Group ahdtdeast equivalent value during the eighteen)
consecutive calendar month period beginning ninecé@endar months before the date of such salse
transfer or disposal and ending nine (9) calendanths after the date of such sale, lease, transféispose
or (B) made in exchange for other property for imstne business of the Guarantor and its Subsetiaand ¢
at least equivalent value;

(i) of any obsolete, surplus, redundant, faulty, defeatr returned assets not required for the efficaperatio
of the business of the Group;

(iv) of cash where that disposal is not otherwise pitddtby the Finance Documer

(v) of any asset by a member of the Group (tiesposing Company") to another member of the Group (it
Acquiring Company "), but if the Disposing Company is an Obligor, thequiring Company must also |
(i) an Obligor or (ii) a Subsidiary at least 99.9%ned by an Obligor which owns production factoaes i
incorporated in either Russia, Poland or Turkeyioied
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245

24.6

24.7

24.8

(vi)

that total disposals made under this palbagraph (ii) shall not exceed an aggregate ab EQD million ove
the life of the Facility;

the net proceeds of which are applied with six f@nths after such sale, lease, transfer or dispga
prepayment of amounts due hereunder; or

(vii) of assets made with the prior written consent ef\tajority Lender:

For the purposes of this Clause 24.4, the salsg)daansfer or other disposal of assets shalldeendd to be
"Substantial Part" of the assets of the Group) ifh@ book value of such assets, when added tbdble value of a
other assets sold, leased, transferred or dispufdeyithe Guarantor and its Subsidiaries during girgn financie
year exceeds 15% of Consolidated Total Assets &esuaned on the last day of the Guarasttrten most recen
ended financial year) or (ii) the book value of sassets, when added to the book value of all @hsets sol
leased, transferred or disposed of on a cumulategs from the date of the signing of this Agreenexceeds 20!
of Consolidated Total Assets (as measured on tiedy of the Guarant@’then most recently ended finan
year).

[Intentionally left blank]

Merger

(@) No Obligor shall enter into any amalgamation, deyjagrmerger or corporate reconstruct

(b) Paragraph (a) does not apply to i

(i)

(i)
(iii)

(iv)

amalgamation or merger of an Obligor with anoth@mber of the Group if the amalgamation or me
would not be reasonably likely to result in a MateAdverse Effect;

demerger of an Obligor if the demerger would notdzsonably likely to result in a Material AdveEsiect;

corporate reconstruction of an Obligor which wontit be reasonably likely to result in a Materialv&dse
Effect; or

amalgamation, demerger, merger or corporate rewmtisin entered into by any Obligor with the p
written consent of the Majority Lenders (not tolsegeasonably withheld),

provided that (in the case of any Obligor othenttflze Guarantor), if the surviving entity will nbe a company who h
assumed all of the rights and obligations of tHevant Obligor and has become an Obligor hereuriderelevant Obligt
shall have transferred all of its rights and okliiig@s hereunder to the Guarantor and shall havgmed in accordance w
Clause 27.2 Resignation of a Borrowérprior to any such merger, demerger or corportenstruction. For the avoidai
of doubt, in the case of any amalgamation, demergerger or corporate reconstruction in respedhefGuarantor, tt
Guarantor shall be the surviving entity.

Change and nature of busines

The Guarantor shall procure that no substantiahghas made to the general nature of the busirfesgoh Obligor (save
a consequence of an amalgamation, demerger, mergeorporate reconstruction permitted pursuant lause 24.
( Merger)) or the Group (taken as a whole) from that cdrde at the date of this Agreement.

Insurance

Each Obligor shall (and the Guarantor shall ensha¢ each member of the Group will) maintain insges on and
relation to its business and assets with reputafiierwriters or insurance companies against thiske and to the extent
is usual for companies carrying on the same ortaobally similar business.
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24.9 Indebtednes:
The Guarantor will not permit any Subsidiary (otligain the Borrowers) to create, assume, incur,agiee or otherwit
become liable in respect of any Financial Indeb¢sdrexcept:

@)

(b)

(©)
(d)
(e)

(®)

Financial Indebtedness of a Subsidiary outstandimghe date of this Agreement and set out in Sdbetit
( Existing Indebtednessand any extension, renewal or refunding therpodyided that the principal amol
thereof outstanding immediately before giving effecsuch extension, renewal or refunding is noteased so
to exceed the principal amount of such Financidébtedness outstanding on the date of this Agreemen

Financial Indebtedness of a Subsidiary outstandinthe time such Subsidiary becomes a Subsidiadyaan
extension, renewal or refunding of such Finanaidebtedness (Acquired Subsidiary Financial Indebtednes
"), provided that (i) (A) such Acquired Subsidiary Fic&al Indebtedness shall not have been incurre
contemplation of such Subsidiary becoming a Suésidi(B) immediately after such Subsidiary becora
Subsidiary, no Default or Event of Default shalistxand (C) Financial Indebtedness of a Subsidiagll cease
be Acquired Subsidiary Financial Indebtedness #odktent that such Financial Indebtedness remairen€ia
Indebtedness of a Subsidiary on the 3@y after such Subsidiary became a Subsidiary (ignslich Acquire:
Subsidiary Financial Indebtedness may be extendmwitwed or refunded but shall cease to be cons
Acquired Subsidiary Financial Indebtedness on B&"3lay after the date on which such Subsidiary beca
Subsidiary;

Financial Indebtedness owing to any member of e
Finance Subsidiary Indebtedne

Financial Indebtedness incurred by Material Subsigs (other than the Borrowers) up to 5% of Cddatec
Total Assets (as measured on the last day of tleea@tor's then most recently ended financial yesanit

Financial Indebtedness of Subsidiaries not othenpermitted by foregoing paragraphs (a) throughpievidec
that (x) the aggregate principal amount of all Rrial Indebtedness of Subsidiaries permitted urities
paragraph (f) plus (without duplication) (y) thegaggate principal amount of all indebtedness sechyeSecurit
or Quasi-Security permitted under paragraph (c)(xifkClause 24.3 (Negative Pledgé shall not at any tin
exceed an amount equal to 10% of Consolidated Pasets (as measured on the last day of the Guarsutier
most recently ended financial year).

For purposes of this Clause 24.9, any Financiatitetdness permitted by paragraph (b) above thainsnoutstanding
the time it ceases to be Acquired Subsidiary Firzhedebtedness shall be deemed to have beerrécas other Financ
Indebtedness at such time and, for purposes ofph (c) above, a Subsidiary shall be deemedue imeurred Financi
Indebtedness previously owed to the Guarantor othan Subsidiary at the time the obligee ceaseargrreason to be t
Guarantor or a Subsidiary.

24.10 Acquisitions
No Obligor shall, and the Guarantor shall proctieg ho member of the Group will acquire any compamlyusiness exce

where:

@)
(b)
(©)

the object of the acquisition is another membdhefGroug
the Enterprise Value of the company or businessoblgff the acquisition does not exceed Euro 5000@0,0

the acquisition satisfies the following conditic
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2411

2412

25.

25.1

25.2

(i) the acquired company, business or undertaking gaged in a business substantially similar at
complementary and/or ancillary to that carried gntliie Group or the member of the Group acquirire
business, including, without limitation, any houskehappliance, appliances for any professional arse
other home components in general; and

(i) either
(A) the Enterprise Value is equal to or less tha@0€000,000 (or its equivalent);

(B) The Guarantor has provided the Agent a certifi¢dte " Certificate ") signed by a Senior Financ
Officer and prepared on the basis of informatioailable to the Guarantor in respect of the compa
business to be acquired on the date such Ceréfitas been prepared. The Certificate will: (i) con
that following the acquisition, the financial coaens set out in Clause 23.Eifancial conditiong will
not or could not reasonably be expected to be heshon a prderma basis on the most rec
Determination Date; and (ii) include financial prcjion based on assumptions believed, to the net
Obligor's knowledge and belief, to be fair and oeable at the time they were made provided tha
such projection is not to be viewed as a fact aeddctual results may differ from the projectesits
confirming that such acquisition could not reasdydte expected to cause any of the finar
covenants set out in Clause 2Bifancial Covenant$ to be breached on a pforma basis for a 3 ye
period from the date of the Certificate.

For the purpose of this Clause 24.%riterprise Value " means the purchase price paid by the relevantbreemf thi
Group in connection with such acquisition togetivéh the amount of any Financial Indebtedness aeduby any memb
of the Group as a result of any such acquisitiow (én the case of an acquisition resulting indhaership of less than t
entire issued share capital of any person, the amotithe Financial Indebtedness acquired shallifnéed to the
percentage thereof equal to the ownership percembithe relevant member of the Group making seduigition).

Environmental Compliance

Each Obligor shall (and the Guarantor shall enthaeeach member of the Group will) comply in aditarial respects wi
all Environmental Law and obtain and maintain amywiEbnmental Permits where failure to do so cowddsonably &
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Environmental Claims

The Guarantor shall inform the Agent in writings®n as reasonably practicable upon becoming avfahe same if ar
Environmental Claim has been commenced or (to #st df its knowledge and belief) is threatened iiting against an
member of the Group where the claim, could be masly expected, if determined against that membehe Group, t
have a Material Adverse Effect.

EVENTS OF DEFAULT
Each of the events or circumstances set out inGliigse 25 is an Event of Default.

Non-payment
An Obligor fails to pay on the due date any amquagable pursuant to a Finance Document at the @bhesd in th
currency in which it is expressed to be payablessl

(@) its failure to pay is caused by administrativeemhinical error and/or a Disruption Event;
(b) payment is made within 3 Business Days of its date

Financial covenant:
Any requirement of Clause 23-{nancial covenant} is not satisfied.
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25.3 Other obligations
(@) An Obligor does not comply with any provision oétRinance Documents (other than those referred @ldus
25.1 (Non-paymen} and Clause 25.2Kinancial covenanty).

(b) No Event of Default under paragraph (a) above adikur if the failure to comply is capable of remeahd it
remedied within:

(i) in relation to Clauses 24.3\egative pledgg 24.4 (Disposals), 24.7 (Change and nature of busingsanc
24.9 (Indebtednesy 10 Business Days; or

(i) in relation to any other obligation, 20 Businesy&

of the Agent giving notice to the relevant Obligurthe failure to comply or, if earlier, of the eglant Obligo
becoming aware of the failure to comply.

25.4 Misrepresentation
Any representation or statement made in writingeemed to be made by an Obligor in the Finance mDeats or any oth
document delivered by or on behalf of any Obligoder or in connection with any Finance Documemriproves to ha\
been incorrect or misleading in any material respden made or deemed to be made.

25.5 Cross defaul

(@) Any Financial Indebtedness of any member of theu@ns not paid when due nor within any applicahbiace
period.
(b) Any Financial Indebtedness of any member of theu@ris declared to be or otherwise becomes due ayabp

prior to its specified maturity as a result of aemt of default (however described).

(©) Any commitment for any Financial Indebtedness of amember of the Group is cancelled or suspended
creditor of any member of the Group as a resudtroévent of default (however described).

(d) Any creditor of any member of the Group becomegledtto declare any Financial Indebtedness of raeynbe
of the Group due and payable prior to its specifiedurity as a result of an event of default (hosvedescribed).

(e) No Event of Default will occur under this Clause.2%f the aggregate amount of Financial Indebtesirnm
commitment for Financial Indebtedness falling witiparagraphs (a) to (d) above is less tham&0,000 (or i
equivalent in any other currency or currencies).

25.6 Insolvency
(@) An Obligor or a Material Subsidiary is unable onats inability to pay its debts as they fall duesgends makir
payments on any of its debts or, by reason of hcuanticipated financial difficulties, commenaesgotiation
with one or more of its creditors with a view t@cheduling any of its indebtedness.

(b) A moratorium is declared in respect of any indebésd of any Obligor or any Material Subsidi

25.7 Insolvency proceeding
Any corporate action, legal proceedings or othecedure or step is taken in relation to:

(@) the suspension of payments, a moratorium of anghtetiness, windingp, dissolution, administration, 1
opening of proceedings faauvegarde sauvegarde financiére accélérée, redressementigiidicor liquidation
judiciaire or a judgement focession totale ou partielle de
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25.8

25.9

25.10

25.11

25.12

25.13

I'entreprisepursuant to articles L.620-1 to L.670-8 of the [ele@ode de commeraa reorganisation (by way
voluntary arrangement, scheme of arrangement @rwibe, including in the context ofraandat ad hoor of ¢
conciliationin accordance with articles L.611.3 to L.611-15ef FrenchCode de commergeof any Obligor ¢
any Material Subsidiary other than a solvent ligtiich or reorganisation of any Material Subsidmatyich is no

an Obligor;
(b) a composition, assignment or arrangement with agghitor of any Obligor or any Material Subsidi:
(c) the appointment of a liquidator (other than in extpof a solvent liquidation or reorganisation af aateria

Subsidiary which is not an Obligor), receiver, adistrator, mandataire ad ho¢ conciliateur, administrativ:
receiver, compulsory manager or other similar effim respect of any Obligor or any Material Sulzsidor anm
of its assets;

(d) enforcement of any Security over any assets of@ioljgor or any Material Subsidiary in excess 80£00,00
(or its equivalent);

(e) in respect of the Guarantor, the submission of scetporation to any procedure which ispaocedur:
concorsuale including without limitation those contemplatedder Royal Decree No. 267 of 16 March 1942
that contemplated under Legislative Decree No.&@July 1999; or

® the faillite , gestion contrdlée suspension des paiementsoncordat judiciaireor liquidation judiciaire of any
Borrower incorporated in Luxembourg,

or any analogous procedure or step is taken irfjuarsdiction.

Creditors' process

Any expropriation, attachment, sequestration, esstror execution (including any of the enforcenpeateedings provide
for in French law n° 95850 of 9 July 1991) affects any asset or asseampiObligor or any Material Subsidiary having
aggregate value of at leas8000,000 (or its equivalent in any other curreocgurrencies) and is not discharged withil
daysprovided that the relevant Obligor is able to demonstrate, wilndays of the occurrence of the relevant everttje
reasonable satisfaction of the Majority Lenderst ttiee relevant expropriation, attachment, sequiésiradistress ¢
execution is being contested in good faith wittscgeble chances of success.

Unlawfulness
It is or becomes unlawful for an Obligor to perfoamy of its obligations under the Finance Documents

Repudiation
An Obligor repudiates a Finance Document or evidsran intention to repudiate a Finance Document.

Material adverse chang
Any event or circumstance occurs which gives riseot would be reasonably likely to give rise tolMaterial Advers
Effect and the Agent has given notice to the Guarahat such event or circumstance has, or mag,hascurred.

Cessation of Busines
An Obligor ceases to conduct all or substantidllpfathe business carried on by it at the datéhcf Agreement.

Article 2447 or 2482ter of the Italian Civil Code

The occurrence of the circumstances set forth tickr2447, or 2482er, as applicable, of the Italian Civil Code iteten
to any Obligor incorporated in Italy unless, withalelay and in any event no later than 30 Busiegs from the date «
which such Obligor's directors have knowledge afhsaccurrence, (i) a shareholders' meeting is auenavdéo vote on
resolution approving a capital increase to compihwhe minimum capital requirements under ltalilaw and (ii) suc
capital increase has been fully paid up.
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25.14 Acceleration
On and at any time after the occurrence of an EekBiefault which is continuing the Agent may, vatlimise en demeu
or any other judicial or extra judicial step, am@l$if so directed by the Majority Lenders, by igetto the Guarantor:

(@) cancel the Total Commitments whereupon they shatiédiately be cancelle

(b) declare that all or part of the Utilisations, tdgat with accrued interest, and all other amountsuad o
outstanding under the Finance Documents be imnegdialue and payable, whereupon they shall be
immediately due and payable; and/or

(©) require each Obligor to procure that the liabisitef each of the Lenders and the Fronting Bankguedch Bar
Guarantee are promptly reduced to zero; and/or

(d) require each Obligor to provide Cash Collateraldach Bank Guarantee which has been issued ordhest ¢
that Obligor in an amount specified by the Agert amthe currency of that Bank Guarantee.
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SECTION 9
CHANGES TO PARTIES

26. CHANGES TO THE LENDERS

26.1 Assignments and transfers by the Lende!
Subject to this Clause 26, a Lender (thexisting Lender ") may:

@)
(b)

assign any of its rights;

transfer by novation any of its rights and obligat

to another bank or financial institution or to ast; fund or other entity which is regularly engége or established for t
purpose of making, purchasing or investing in lo@esurities or other financial assets (tideWw Lender™).

26.2 Conditions of assignment or transfe

@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®
(@

The written consent of the Guarantor is requirecafoassignment or transfer by a Lender, ur

(i) the assignment or transfer is to another LendearorAffiliate of the assigning or transferring Leny
provided that no additional Tax (whether withholding or otherWiseosts, fees or expenses will be pay
by the Obligors; or

(i) an Event of Default is continuir

The written consent of the Guarantor to an assigmmetransfer must not be unreasonably withheldedayec
The Guarantor will be deemed to have given its enhvelve Business Days after the Lender has stgdesuc
consent unless it is expressly refused by the Guaravithin that time.

The consent of the relevant Fronting Bank is regfuiior an assignment or transfer by a Lender iatice to i
Bank Guarantee.

Any assignment or transfer by a Lender of its Cotmmant must be in a minimum amount d&,&00,000 (ar
multiples thereof) or, if lower the amount of th&inder's participation in the Facility.

An assignment will only be effective on: (i) recelly the Agent and the Guarantor of written conéition fron
the New Lender (in form and substance satisfactorthe Agent) that the New Lender will assume tame
obligations to the other Finance Parties as it dduhve been under if it was an Original Lender; &y
performance by the Agent of all necessary "knowryaustomer" or other similar checks under all aggilie law
and regulations in relation to such assignmentN@w Lender, the completion of which the Agent Ephedmptly
notify to the Existing Lender and the New Lender.

A transfer will only be effective if the procedwet out in Clause 26.3tocedure for transfey is complied witk
If:

(i) a Lender assigns or transfers any of its righteldigations under the Finance Documents or chaitg
Facility Office; and

(i) as a result of circumstances existing at the det@ssignment, transfer or change occurs, the ®erravoulc
be obliged to make a payment to the New Lendereader acting through its
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26.3

26.4

new Facility Office under Clause 19 &x gross-up and indemnitig®r Clause 16 [ncreased costy

then the New Lender or Lender acting through ite fecility Office is only entitled to receive paynteunde
those Clauses to the same extent as the Existinddreor Lender acting through its previous Faciltfice woulc
have been if the assignment, transfer or chang@&biadccurred.

Notwithstanding the above, no assignment, transtdsparticipation or subcontracting in relation to aligétion
by a Borrower established in France or in ltaly nzey effected to a New Lender incorporated, dond
established or acting through a Facility Officeuated, respectively, in a NdDeoperative Jurisdiction or in
Blacklisted Jurisdiction without the prior consefithe Company, which shall not be unreasonablftveitd. Thi:
paragraph (g) shall not apply in relation to Clalis€ Tax Gross Up and Indemnitiet®) a Facility B Treaty Lend
that has included an indication to the effect ihatishes the HMRC DT Treaty Passport scheme to ajaptis
Agreement in accordance with paragraph (a) of @dis8 (HMRC DT Treaty Passport scheme confirmatioh
the Obligor making the payment has not compliedh g obligations under paragraph (b) of Claus® IH5HMRC
DT Treaty Passport scheme confirmatjon

Assignment or transfer fet
The New Lender shall, on the date upon which aigasgent or transfer takes effect, pay to the Adémtits own accoun
a fee of €2,500.

Limitation of responsibility of Existing Lenders

@)

(b)

(©

Unless expressly agreed to the contrary, an Egidtender makes no representation or warranty asuhass n
responsibility to a New Lender for:

(i) the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacy emforceability of the Finance Documents or any «
documents;

(i)  the financial condition of any Obligt

(i) the performance and observance by any Obligorsadbtigations under the Finance Documents or angi
documents; or

(iv) the accuracy of any statements (whether writtesral) made in or in connection with any Finance oen
or any other document,

and any representations or warranties implied twdee excluded.

Each New Lender confirms to the Existing Lender #redother Finance Parties tha

(i) has made (and shall continue to make) its own iedeégnt investigation and assessment of the fink
condition and affairs of each Obligor and its rethtentities in connection with its participation tims
Agreement and has not relied exclusively on angrimbtion provided to it by the Existing Lendel
connection with any Finance Document; and

(i) will continue to make its own independent appraifathe creditworthiness of each Obligor and itsitex
entities whilst any amount is or may be outstandinder the Finance Documents or any Commitmenmi
force.

Nothing in any Finance Document obliges an Existirgder tc

(i) accept a reransfer from a New Lender of any of the rights abtigations assigned or transferred undel
Clause 26; or
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(i)  support any losses directly or indirectly incurbgdthe New Lender by reason of the mmerformance by at
Obligor of its obligations under the Finance Docuiseor otherwise.

26.5 Procedure for transfer

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Subiject to the conditions set out in Clause 268Ciiditions of assignment or transfera transfer is effected
accordance with paragraph (b) below when the Ageatutes an otherwise duly completed Transfer et
delivered to it by the Existing Lender and the Neamder. The Agent shall, as soon as reasonablyigaibte afte
receipt by it of a duly completed Transfer Certfe appearing on its face to comply with the teohshis
Agreement and delivered in accordance with thegeshthis Agreement, execute that Transfer Cedific

The Agent shall only be obliged to execute a Tran€fertificate delivered to it by the Existing Lemdand th
New Lender once it is satisfied it has compliedhvédtl necessary "know your customer" or other similheck
under all applicable laws and regulations in relato the transfer to such New Lender.

The New Lender shall, as soon as reasonably pahbtti@after execution of the Transfer Certificatethy Agent ii
accordance with paragraph (a) above, deliver a obfiye relevant Transfer Certificate on the Guaran

On the Transfer Datl

(i) to the extent that in the Transfer Certificate Ehésting Lender seeks to transfer by novationights an
obligations under the Finance Documents the Oldigmid the Existing Lender shall be released framéy
obligations towards one another under the Finarmeubents and their respective rights against onthal
under the Finance Documents shall be cancelleddhibe "Discharged Rights and Obligations');

(i) each of the Obligors and the New Lender shall assoiptigations towards one another and/or acquipes
against one another which differ from the DischdrBéghts and Obligations only insofar as that Qinlignc
the New Lender have assumed and/or acquired the isaptace of that Obligor and the Existing Lender;

(i) the Agent, the Arranger, the New Lender, the otterders and the Fronting Banks shall acquire tinee
rights and assume the same obligations betweerstiees as they would have acquired and assumeth¢
New Lender been an Original Lender with the riginigl/or obligations acquired or assumed by it assal
of the transfer and to that extent the Agent, theager, the Fronting Banks and the Existing Lersiex
each be released from further obligations to edlcbrainder the Finance Documents; and

(iv) the New Lender shall become a Party as a "Ler

26.6 Procedure for assignmer

(@)

(b)

Subject to the conditions set out in Clause 26Cbfditions of assignment or transfean assignment may
effected in accordance with paragraph (c) below nwilee Agent executes an otherwise duly comp
Assignment Agreement delivered to it by the Exgptirender and the New Lender. The Agent shall, smlif
paragraph (b) below, as soon as reasonably prhicater receipt by it of a duly completed Assigmm
Agreement appearing on its face to comply withtdrens of this Agreement and delivered in accordavite the
terms of this Agreement, execute that Assignmeme&ment.

The Agent shall only be obliged to execute an Assignt Agreement delivered to it by the Existing demnan
the New Lender once it is satisfied it has compligith all necessary "know your customer"
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or other similar checks under all applicable lawd eegulations in relation to the assignment tddew Lender
(c) On the Assignment Da

(i) the Existing Lender will assign absolutely to thewLender the rights under the Finance Docun
expressed to be the subject of the assignmeneiAskignment Agreement;

(i)  the Existing Lender will be released by each Oblaad the other Finance Parties from the obligatimmec
by it (the " Relevant Obligations") and expressed to be the subject of the releasthd Assignmel
Agreement; and

(i) the New Lender shall become a Party as a "Lended" vaill be bound by obligations equivalent to
Relevant Obligations.

(d) Lenders may utilise procedures other than thosewean this Clause 26.6 to assign their rightserrttie Financ
Documents (but not, without the consent of thewvaai¢ Obligor or unless in accordance with Clauses
( Procedure for transfe), to obtain a release by that Obligor from theigdilons owed to that Obligor by 1
Lenders nor the assumption of equivalent obligatiog a New Lenderprovided that they comply with th
conditions set out in Clause 26.€2¢nditions of assignment or transjer

26.7 Copy of Transfer Certificate, Assignment Agreemenbr Increase Confirmation to Company
The Agent shall, as soon as reasonably practiedtdeit has executed a Transfer Certificate, asigkenent Agreement or
an Increase Confirmation, send to the Guarantot@ady Borrower incorporated in Luxembourg a copthat Transfer
Certificate, Assignment Agreement or Increase Cordtion.

26.8 Disclosure of information

(@) The Lenders, the Arrangers and the Agent acknowledat, Pursuant to the EC Directive 2003/6 andttden
Law n.58, 24th February 1998 Testo Unico della Finanzg as amended from time to time, the Guarantc
Italian public listed company, approved certain gedures regarding Price Sensitive Information
infringements of the law on market abuse and thalkes, the Arrangers and the Agent have been nwale &
the consequent legal and regulatory obligationsratadive penalties arising thereunder. Each ofLttieders, th
Arrangers and the Agent shall abide to the abofererced procedure which is accessible on the Gtarta
website.

(b) Subject to paragraph (a) above andhgre applicable) to the provisions of article L1533 of the Frencl€ode
monétaire et financierany Lender may disclose to any of its Affiliatesd any other person:

(i)  to (or through) whom that Lender assigns or trassfer may potentially assign or transfer) all ay &f its
rights and obligations under this Agreement;

(i) with (or through) whom that Lender enters into (oay potentially enter into) any sydatticipation it
relation to, or any other transaction under whiafiments are to be made by reference to, this Agreer
any Obligor; or

(i) to whom, and to the extent that, information isuieef to be disclosed by any applicable law or &tipn,
any information about any Obligor, the Group anel Binance Documents as that Lender shall consg@opriate if, i

relation to paragraphs (a) and (b) above, the pasavhom the information is to be given has emténto a Confidentialit
Undertaking.
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27.

27.1

27.2

27.3

CHANGES TO THE OBLIGORS

Changes to the Obligor
Without prejudice to Clauses 27.Résignation of a Borrowérand 27.3 Additional Borrowersg neither Obligor may assign any of
rights or transfer any of its rights or obligatiamsder the Finance Documents.

Resignation of a borrowe

If at any time a Borrower (other than the Guargni®munder no actual or contingent obligation undepursuant to ar
Finance Document (including as a result of a temif another Obligor of all of its rights and @aliions hereunder) a
such resignation would not affect the legality,idi&y or enforceability of any Finance Documentg tfbuarantor me
request that such Borrower shall cease to be so®errby delivering to the Agent a Resignation NatiSuch Resignatis
Notice shall be accepted by the Agent on the dateldch it notifies the Guarantor that it is saddfthat such Borrower
under no actual or contingent obligation under unrspant to any Finance Document and such Borrohadl snmediatel
cease to be a Borrower and shall have no furtiyats; benefits or obligations hereunder save fosehwhich arose prior
such date.

Additional Borrowers
@) Request for Additional Borrow:

The Guarantor may request that any of its Subsédigiof which the Guarantor owns and controls (diyeor
indirectly) at least 99% of the capital and votifghts) become an Additional Borrower under Fagifit (in respec
of a Subsidiary incorporated in Italy) or FacilBy(in respect of a Subsidiary incorporated in asjliction othe
than ltaly) by delivering to the Agent a Borroweco&ssion Memorandum duly executed by the Guaraartc
such Subsidiary, together with the documents ahérogvidence listed in Schedule 12dditional Condition
Preceden) in relation to such subsidiary.

(b) Borrower Conditions Precede

A company, in respect of which the Guarantor hdiveled a Borrower Accession Memorandum in respécthe
relevant Facility to the Agent (aProposed Additional Borrower "), shall become an Additional Borrower un
such relevant Facility and assume all the righesielfits and obligations of a Borrower as if it lmkn an Origin
Borrower on the date on which the Agent notifies @uarantor that:

(i) inrespect of a Proposed Additional Borrower ursierh relevant Facility incorporated

(A) (1) any jurisdiction in which an existing Borrowef the relevant Facility is incorporated; or (2
respect of Facility B, Germany, Ireland, the Neldneds, Spain and Switzerland, the Majority Len
accept the Guarantor's request in respect of sulbkidary; or

(B) any jurisdiction other than those listed in qdragraph (A) above, all the Lenders accep
Guarantor's request in respect of such Subsidiay;

(i) the Agent has received, in form and substancefaetiisy to it, all documents and other evidenctedsir
Schedule 12 Additional Conditions Precedehin relation to such Subsidiary,

unless on such date a Default is continuing or dadcur as a result of such Subsidiary becomingdadtitional
Borrower. To the extent that, on the accessiomofa@ditional Borrower, additional provisions woub@ require
by the laws or regulations of the jurisdiction d@fat Additional Borrower, this Agreement shall be esahe
accordingly in accordance with Clause 38ngendments and Waivers

(¢ Timing of request for Additional Borrow
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(i) The Guarantor shall deliver a request pursuanatagraph (a) above no later than 10 (ten) BusiDegs ir
advance of the date on which it proposes the Peapésiditional Borrower accede to this Agreemeng (1
Proposed Accession Dat8.

(i) Any consent required pursuant to Clause 27.3(Bjf@ve shall be given no later than 5 (five) Busineay:
in advance of the Proposed Accession Date.

(d) Upon becoming an Additional Borrower that Subsidsinall make any filings (and provide copies oftstilings)
as required by paragraph (g) of Clause 15Tax filings) and paragraph (b) of Clause 15.BNIRC DT Treat
Passport scheme confirmati) in accordance with those paragraphs.

27.4 Additional Guarantors
@ Subject to compliance with the provisions of Cla2g6 ("Know your customer” checKs if a company i
required to become a guarantor pursuant to thestefrthis Agreement, that company shall become dalittona

Guarantor if:

(i) the Guarantor delivers to the Agent a duly completed executed Guarantor Accession Letter

(i) the Agent has received all of the documents andratidence listed in Schedule 12dditional Condition
Preceden) in relation to that Additional Guarantor, eacifoanm and substance satisfactory to the Agent.

(b) The Agent shall notify the Company and the Lengeosnptly upon being satisfied that it has receiiadorm anc

substance satisfactory to it) all the documents @thér evidence listed in Schedule 12Additional Condition
Preceden).
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28.

SECTION 10
THE FINANCE PARTIES

ROLE OF THE AGENT AND THE ARRANGER

28.1 Appointment of the Agent

28.2

28.3

28.4

28.5

28.6

(@) Each other Finance Party (other than the Arrangggppints the Agent to act as its agent under amdimectio
with the Finance Documents.

(b) Each other Finance Party authorises the Agent ®rcese the rights, powers, authorities and disane
specifically given to the Agent under or in conmattwith the Finance Documents together with anlyel
incidental rights, powers, authorities and disori

Duties of the Agen
(@) The Agent shall promptly forward to a Party thegoral or a copy of any document which is delivetedhe
Agent for that Party by any other Party.

(b) Except where a Finance Document specifically previdtherwise, the Agent is not obliged to reviewlogck th
adequacy, accuracy or completeness of any docutrfentvards to another Party.

(©) If the Agent receives notice from a Party referriogthis Agreement, describing a Default and statimat th
circumstance described is a Default, it shall priynpotify the other Finance Patrties.

(d) If the Agent is aware of the ngrayment of any principal, interest, commitment f&eother fee payable tc
Finance Party (other than the Agent or the Arrangeder this Agreement it shall promptly notify tbéhe
Finance Parties.

(e) The Agent's duties under the Finance Documentsaety mechanical and administrative in nai

® The Agent shall promptly notify the Guarantor afm tother Finance Parties upon becoming aware (
occurrence of any event under: (i) of the defimtiaf "Defaulting Lender"; or (ii) the definition dimpairec
Agent" in relation to itself.

Role of the Arranger
Except as specifically provided in the Finance Dvoeunts, the Arranger has no obligations of any kindny other Par
under or in connection with any Finance Document.

No fiduciary duties
(@) Nothing in this Agreement constitutes the Agenthaer Arranger as a trustee or fiduciary of any offesor

(b) Neither the Agent nor the Arranger shall be boumddcount to any Lender for any sum or the prééiment o
any sum received by it for its own account.

Business with the Grouj
The Agent and the Arranger may accept deposits,flent money to and generally engage in any kinbamiking or othe
business with any member of the Group.

Rights and discretions of the Ager
(@) The Agent may rely o

(i) any representation, notice or document believeid ftoybe genuine, correct and appropriately auttesti an
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(b)

(©)

(d)
(e)

(®)

(@

(i) any statement made by a director, authorised signatr employee of any person regarding any m:
which may reasonably be assumed to be within resviedge or within his power to verify.

The Agent may assume (unless it has received nitittee contrary in its capacity as agent for teaders) tha

(i) no Default has occurred (unless it has actual kedagg of a Default arising under Clause 25.HMloh-
paymeny);

(i) any right, power, authority or discretion vestedaity Party or the Majority Lenders has not beenacised
and

(i) any notice or request made by the Borrower (otha&n & Utilisation Request) is made on behalf of witd
the consent and knowledge of the Guarantor.

The Agent may engage, pay for and rely on the adeicservices of any lawyers, accountants, surgegopthe
experts.

The Agent may act in relation to the Finance Doausiéhrough its personnel and age

The Agent may disclose to any other Party any m#iion it reasonably believes it has received amntagnde
this Agreement.

Without prejudice to the generality of paragraphdkove, the Agent may disclose the identity of efaDltinc
Lender to the other Finance Parties and the Compadyshall disclose the same upon the written qpfethe
Company or the Majority Lenders.

Notwithstanding any other provision of any Finalmrument to the contrary, neither the Agent norAh@ange
IS obliged to do or omit to do anything if it woubdl might in its reasonable opinion constitute @aeh of any la
or regulation or a breach of a fiduciary duty otydof confidentiality.

28.7 Majority Lenders' instructions

@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

Unless a contrary indication appears in a Finanoeuhent, the Agent shall (i) exercise any rightwec
authority or discretion vested in it as Agent ig@cance with any instructions given to it by thejMity Lender
(or, if so instructed by the Majority Lenders, eafr from exercising any right, power, authority discretior
vested in it as Agent) and (ii) not be liable fayact (or omission) if it acts (or refrains froeking any action) i
accordance with an instruction of the Majority Lersl

Unless a contrary indication appears in a Financeuhent, any instructions given by the Majority ders wil
be binding on all the Finance Parties.

The Agent may refrain from acting in accordancehwlite instructions of the Majority Lenders (oragpropriate
the Lenders) until it has received such securitit asay require for any cost, loss or liability gether with an
associated VAT) which it may incur in complying ihe instructions.

In the absence of instructions from the Majoritynters, (or, if appropriate, the Lendetis¢ Agent may act (
refrain from taking action) as it considers to betie best interest of the Lenders.

The Agent is not authorised to act on behalf okader (without first obtaining that Lender's cons@many lege
or arbitration proceedings relating to any FinaDoeument.
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28.8 Responsibility for documentatior
Neither the Agent nor the Arranger:

(@)

(b)

(©

is responsible for the adequacy, accuracy and/ampteieness of any information (whether oral or temj
supplied by the Agent, the Arranger, an Obligoany other person given in or in connection with &iryanc
Document or the transactions contemplated in thariéie Documents;

is responsible for the legality, validity, effeaivess, adequacy or enforceability of any FinanceuBent or an
other agreement, arrangement or document entei@diiade or executed in anticipation of or in catio® with
any Finance Document; or

any determination as to whether any informatiornvigled or to be provided to any Finance Party is-pohblic
information the use of which may be regulated ahfited by applicable law or regulation relatirggihside
dealing or otherwise.

28.9 Exclusion of liability

@)

(b)

(©

(d)

Without limiting paragraph (b) below (and withoutjudice to the provisions of paragraph (e) of G&32.1
( Disruption to Payment Systems gtdhe Agent will not be liable including, witholiitation, for negligence «
any other category of liability whatsoever) for aagtion taken by it under or in connection with dfipanc
Document, unless directly caused by its gross gegtie or wilful misconduct.

No Party (other than the Agent) may take any proicgss against any officer, employee or agent ofAgent ir
respect of any claim it might have against the Aganin respect of any act or omission of any kindtha
officer, employee or agent in relation to any Freocument and any officer, employee or agenh@fAgen
may rely on this Clause (subject to Clause 1Téifd Party Rights) and of the provisions of the Third Par
Act).

The Agent will not be liable for any delay (or arglated consequences) in crediting an account avitamour
required under the Finance Documents to be paithdyAgent if the Agent has taken all necessarysséespsoc
as reasonably practicable to comply with the retgpia or operating procedures of any recognisedriclg o
settlement system used by the Agent for that perpos

Nothing in this Agreement shall oblige the Agentlue Arranger to carry out any "know your custonmrbthe
checks in relation to any person on behalf of aegder and each Lender confirms to the Agent andtrenge
that it is solely responsible for any such chetks fequired to carry out and that it may not reftyany stateme
in relation to such checks made by the Agent oAtianger.

28.10 Lenders' indemnity to the Agen

Each Lender shall (in proportion to its share @& ffotal Commitments or, if the Total Commitments #ren zero, to i
share of the Total Commitments immediately priotheir reduction to zero) indemnify the Agent, withthree Busine:
Days of demand, against any cost, loss or liabitigurred by the Agent (otherwise than by reasoithef Agent's gro:
negligence or wilful misconduct) (or, in the cadeaay cost, loss or liability pursuant to Clausel32( Disruption tc
Payment Systems etE.notwithstanding the Agent's negligence, grossligexce or any other category of liabi
whatsoever but not including any claim based onfidued of the Agent) in acting as Agent under timaRce Documen
(unless the Agent has been reimbursed by an Olgiguant to a Finance Document).

28.11 Resignation of the Ager

@)

The Agent may resign and appoint one of its Affdg acting through an office in the United Kingdas
successor by giving notice to the other Financédzaand the Obligors.
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(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®
(@

Alternatively the Agent may resign by giving notikmethe other Finance Parties and the Borrowewliith cas
the Majority Lenders (after consultation with thegantor) may appoint a successor Agent, which sioalbe
incorporated, domiciled, established or actingdlgifoan office situated in a Non-Cooperative Jucisoi.

The Company may, on no less than 30 dayieir notice to the Agent, replace the Agent byuiggg the Lendel
to appoint a replacement Agent if any amount payainider a Finance Document by an Obligor estalaligh
France becomes not deductible from that Obligesslile income for French tax purposes by reasotha
amount (i) being paid or accrued to an Agent inocafed, domiciled, established or acting throughotiice
situated in a NorGooperative Jurisdiction or (ii) paid to an accoopened in the name of that Agent i
financial institution situated in a NdBeoperative Jurisdiction. In this case, the Agemllsresign and
replacement Agent shall be appointed by the Majdrénders (after consultation with the Company)himit3C
days after notice of replacement was given, praviteat such replacement Agent shall not be incated
domiciled, established or acting through an offiteated in a Non-Cooperative Jurisdiction.

If the Majority Lenders have not appointed a susoeg\gent in accordance with paragraph (b) abowkimvi3C
days after notice of resignation was given, the mhg@after consultation with the Guarantor) may appe
successor Agent (acting through an office in théddhKingdom).

The retiring Agent shall, at its own cost, makeilade to the successor Agent such documents azatdg an
provide such assistance as the successor Agentreaspnably request for the purposes of performis
functions as Agent under the Finance Documents.

The Agent's resignation notice shall only takeaftgoon the appointment of a succes

Upon the appointment of a successor, the retiriggn shall be discharged from any further obligatiorespec
of the Finance Documents but shall remain entittethe benefit of this Clause 28. Its successoreauh of th
other Parties shall have the same rights and dlditm amongst themselves as they would have haddi
successor had been an original Party.

28.12 Replacement of the Ager

@)

(b)

(©

(d)

After consultation with the Company, the Majoritgriders may, by giving 30 days' notice to the Adgentat an
time the Agent is an Impaired Agent, by giving aimprter notice determined by the Majority Lendeeglace th
Agent by appointing a successor Agent.

The retiring Agent shall (at its own cost if itas Impaired Agent and otherwise at the expens@eotenders
make available to the successor Agent such docsnaemt records and provide such assistance as ¢hessa
Agent may reasonably request for the purposes ofonpeing its functions as Agent under the Fine
Documents.

The appointment of the successor Agent shall télexteon the date specified in the notice from Majority
Lenders to the retiring Agent. As from this dates tetiring Agent shall be discharged from anyHertobligatiol
in respect of the Finance Documents but shall rereatitled to the benefit of this Clause 28 (and agency fee
for the account of the retiring Agent shall ceasadcrue from (and shall be payable on) that date).

Any successor Agent and each of the other Paitti@l Isave the same rights and obligations amoingshselve
as they would have had if such successor had beenginal Party.

28.13 Confidentiality

(@)

In acting as agent for the Finance Parties, thenAgkall be regarded as acting through its ageidgiah whict
shall be treated as a separate entity from any oftits divisions or departments.
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(b) If information is received by another division aphrtment of the Agent, it may be treated as centfidl to the
division or department and the Agent shall not éended to have notice of it.

28.14 Relationship with the Lenders

28.15

28.16

28.17

29.

29.1

(@) The Agent may treat each Lender as a Lender, enhtitl payments under this Agreement and actingugjtrats
Facility Office unless it has received not lesqtfige Business Days prior notice from that Lentdethe contrar
in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(b) Each Lender shall supply the Agent with any infatiora required by the Agent in order to calculate
Mandatory Cost in accordance with ScheduléMadatory Cost formulag

Credit appraisal by the Lenders

Without affecting the responsibility of any Obligfor information supplied by it or on its behalf @@nnection with ar
Finance Document, each Lender and each Fronting Bamfirms to the Agent and the Arranger that ¥ baen, and w
continue to be, solely responsible for making isondependent appraisal and investigation ofislsrarising under or
connection with any Finance Document includingfmitlimited to:

(@) the financial condition, status and nature of eaeimber of the Grou

(b) the legality, validity, effectiveness, adequacyenforceability of any Finance Document and any o#ggeemen
arrangement or document entered into, made or &edn anticipation of, under or in connection wihy
Finance Document;

(c) whether that Lender or Fronting Bank has recousd,the nature and extent of that recourse, agairysParty ¢
any of its respective assets under or in conneetitih any Finance Document, the transactions coplated b
the Finance Documents or any other agreement, gemagnt or document entered into, made or execu
anticipation of, under or in connection with anyp&itce Document; and

(d) the adequacy, accuracy and/or completeness ofrdoyriation provided by the Agent, any Party or by athe
person under or in connection with any Finance Duwmnt, the transactions contemplated by the Fir
Documents or any other agreement, arrangement@muent entered into, made or executed in anticipadi
under or in connection with any Finance Document.

Reference Bank

If a Reference Bank (or, if a Reference Bank isandender, the Lender of which it is an Affiliaiegases to be a Lenc
the Agent shall (in consultation with the Borrowappoint another Lender or an Affiliate of anothender to replace tr
Reference Bank.

Deduction from amounts payable by the Aget

If any Party owes an amount to the Agent underRinance Documents the Agent may, after giving ot that Part
deduct an amount not exceeding that amount fronpagynent to that Party which the Agent would othigevbe obliged |
make under the Finance Documents and apply the mingdeducted in or towards satisfaction of the amaowed. For th
purposes of the Finance Documents that Party bhakgarded as having received any amount so astluct

THE LENDERS AND THE FRONTING BANKS

Lenders' Indemnity

If any Borrower fails to comply with its obligatisrunder Clause 10.20bligors' Indemnity to Fronting BanRsthe Agen
shall make demand on each Lender for its sharbaifGuarantee Amount and each Lender shall indgntimé relevar
Fronting Bank for that Lender's Bank Guarantee &mign of each Guarantee Amount.
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29.2 Obligations not Dischargec
Neither the obligations of each Lender in this G&@9 nor the rights, powers and remedies confemed a Fronting Bat
by this Agreement or by law shall be dischargedghaired or otherwise affected by:

29.3

29.4

30.

@)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

the winding-up, dissolution, administration oraeganisation of the Fronting Bank, the Borroweraoy othe
person or any change in its status, function, cboirownership;

any of the obligations of a Fronting Bank, the Barer or any other person under this Agreement, uadganl
Guarantee or under any other security taken ineaspf its obligations under this Agreement or unald3anl
Guarantee being or becoming illegal, invalid, uoecdable or ineffective in any respect;

time or other indulgence being granted or agreebet@ranted to a Fronting Bank, the Borrower or athe
person in respect of its obligations under thise®gnent, under a Bank Guarantee or under any ctharity;

any amendment to, or any variation, waiver or ideaf, any obligation of a Fronting Bank, the Bareo or an'
other person under this Agreement, under a Banka@tee or under any other security; and

any other act, event or omission which, but fos tBlause 29.2, might operate to discharge, impadtherwis
affect any of the obligations of each Lender irs thgreement contained or any of the rights, powenremedie
conferred upon any Fronting Bank by this Agreenoerity law.

The obligations of each Lender in this Agreememitamed shall be in addition to and independerdwefry other securi
which a Fronting Bank may at any time hold in respé any Bank Guarantee.

Settlement Conditiona

Any settlement or discharge between a Lender aRbating Bank shall be conditional upon no secunitypayment to
Fronting Bank by a Lender or any other person drali®f a Lender being avoided or reduced by vidgfiany laws relatin
to bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or similaaws of general application and, if any such seguwit payment is ¢
avoided or reduced, a Fronting Bank shall be ewdtitb recover the value or amount of such secarifyayment from sur
Lender subsequently as if such settlement or digehlaad not occurred.

Exercise of Right:
No Fronting Bank shall be obliged before exercising of the rights, powers or remedies conferrezhujpem in respect
any Lender by this Agreement or by law:

(@)
(b)
(©)

to take any action or obtain judgment in any caggdinst an Obligc
to make or file any claim or proof in a winding-or dissolution of an Obligor;

to enforce or seek to enforce any other securitggrtan respect of any of the obligations of an @dliunder thi
Agreement.

Conduct of business by the Finance Partir

No provision of this Agreement will:

@)

(b)

interfere with the right of any Finance Party toaage its affairs (tax or otherwise) in whatevemmex it think:
fit;

oblige any Finance Party to investigate or claing aredit, relief, remission or repayment availataeit or the
extent, order and manner of any claim; or
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31.

31.1

31.2

31.3

31.4

31.5

(c) oblige any Finance Party to disclose any informrmatielating to its affairs (tax or otherwise) or asgmputation
in respect of Tax.

SHARING AMONG THE FINANCE PARTIES

Payments to Finance Partie

If a Finance Party (a Recovering Finance Party") receives or recovers any amount from an Obligttrer than i
accordance with Clause 3Payment mechanigsand applies that amount to a payment due undeFitance Documer
then:

(@) the Recovering Finance Party shall, within thresiBess Days, notify details of the receipt or reggyto thi
Agent;
(b) the Agent shall determine whether the receipt covery is in excess of the amount the Recoveringrite Pari

would have been paid had the receipt or recovesnbeceived or made by the Agent and distribute
accordance with Clause 3Payment mechanigs without taking account of any Tax which wouldibwwosed o
the Agent in relation to the receipt, recovery istribution; and

(©) the Recovering Finance Party shall, within threesiBess Days of demand by the Agent, pay to the Age
amount (the 'Sharing Payment") equal to such receipt or recovery less any amatnich the Agent determin
may be retained by the Recovering Finance Partysashare of any payment to be made, in accordauiitty
Clause 32.6 Partial payments.

Redistribution of payments
The Agent shall treat the Sharing Payment as lfadl been paid by the relevant Obligor and distehbttbetween tr
Finance Parties (other than the Recovering FinBagety) in accordance with Clause 32aftial payments.

Recovering Finance Party's right:
(@) On a distribution by the Agent under Clause 31R2dlistribution of paymenjsthe Recovering Finance Party \
be subrogated to the rights of the Finance Pastigsh have shared in the redistribution.

(b) If and to the extent that the Recovering FinanagyRa not able to rely on its rights under paragrda) above
the relevant Obligor shall be liable to the RecmgFinance Party for a debt equal to the Sharengi®ent whic
is immediately due and payable.

Reversal of redistribution
If any part of the Sharing Payment received orveoed by a Recovering Finance Party becomes refeagal is repaid t
that Recovering Finance Party, then:

(@) each Finance Party which has received a share eofrdélevant Sharing Payment pursuant to Clause
( Redistribution of paymenjsshall, upon request of the Agent, pay to the Adenaccount of that Recoveri
Finance Party an amount equal to the appropriate ghats share of the Sharing Payment (togetheh \ar
amount as is necessary to reimburse that RecoveEmace Party for its proportion of any interesttioe Sharin
Payment which that Recovering Finance Party isiredquo pay); and

(b) that Recovering Finance Party's rights of subrogaith respect of any reimbursement shall be caedelhd th
relevant Obligor will be liable to the reimbursiRance Party for the amount so reimbursed.

Exceptions
(@) This Clause 31 shall not apply to the extent that Recovering Finance Party would not, after making
payment pursuant to this Clause, have a valid afat@able claim against the relevant Obligor.
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(b) A Recovering Finance Party is not obliged to shaith any other Finance Party any amount which
Recovering Finance Party has received or recov@sedresult of taking legal or arbitration procegdi if:

(i) it notified that other Finance Party of the legabhdbitration proceedings; a
(i)  that other Finance Party had an opportunity toigipgte in those legal or arbitration proceedingsdid no

do so as soon as reasonably practicable havingveeceotice and did not take separate legal ottratinr
proceedings.
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SECTION 11
ADMINISTRATION

32. PAYMENT MECHANICS
32.1 Payments to the Ager
(@) On each date on which an Obligor or a Lender isiired to make a payment under a Finance Documeauhy
Finance Party, that Obligor or that Lender shalkenthe same available to the Agent (on behalf of fan the
exclusive benefit of that Finance Party) (unlessmtrary indication appears in a Finance Documfentyalue ol
the due date at the time and in such funds spddifyethe Agent as being customary at the time étitesnent c
transactions in the relevant currency in the ptaiggayment. The Agent shall specify in the notcdé¢ sent to tf
relevant Obligor that the payment to be made todpent is on behalf of and for exclusive benefitloé relevar
Finance Party.

(b) The Agent shall specify to which account and inalhcurrency each payment to be made with respeany
amount due with respect to any Loan should be naadesuch payment shall be made to such accourély
with such banks as the Agent shall specify, arehycase not to an account in a Non-Cooperativiediation.

32.2 Distributions by the Agent

Each payment received by the Agent under the Fmddocuments for another Party shall, subject tousda32.

( Distributions to an Obligo), Clause 32.4 Clawback) and Clause 28.17Feduction from amounts payable by the Agen
be made available by the Agent as soon as pratsicdter receipt to the Party entitled to receiegrpent in accordan
with this Agreement (in the case of a Lender, far &account of its Facility Office), to such accoastthat Party may not
to the Agent by not less than five Business Dagtita with a bank in the principal financial centriethe country of thi
currency (or, in relation to euro, in the princifi@ancial centre of a Participating Member Statd.ondon), other than
Non-Cooperative Jurisdiction.

32.3 Distributions to an Obligor
The Agent may (with the consent of the relevantigalsl or in accordance with Clause 3%¢t-off)) apply any amou
received by it for that Obligor in or towards payrhéon the date and in the currency and funds adipt) of any amou
due from that Obligor under the Finance Documemntg @r towards purchase of any amount of any cuyeo be s
applied.

32.4 Clawback
(@) Where a sum is to be paid to the Agent under tharitie Documents for another Party, the Agent i©hliged tc
pay that sum to that other Party (or to enter oxtperform any related exchange contract) untibg been able
establish to its satisfaction that it has actuadlyeived that sum.

(b) If the Agent pays an amount to another Party apdoites to be the case that the Agent had not lacteaeivec
that amount, then the Party to whom that amounth@rmproceeds of any related exchange contract)pamsby
the Agent shall on demand refund the same to thenAtpgether with interest on that amount from da& o
payment to the date of receipt by the Agent, cateal by the Agent to reflect its cost of funds.

32.5 Impaired Agent

€) If, at any time, the Agent becomes an Impaired Agan Obligor or a Lender which is required to ma
payment under the Finance Documents to the Agemtanrdance with Clause 32.Pgyments to the Ageptnay
instead either pay that amount direct to the regurecipient or pay that amount to an interesairing accou
held with an Eligible Bank and in relation to whiob Insolvency Event has occurred and is continuimghe
name of the Obligor or the Lender making the paynaerd desighated as a trust account for the beoifethe
Party or Parties beneficially entitled to that payhunder the Finance Documents. In each casemyshent
must be made on the due date for payment undéfinla@ce Documents.
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(b) All interest accrued on the amount standing to ¢hedit of the trust account shall be for the bdnefithe
beneficiaries of that trust accounp ratato their respective entitlements.

(c) A Party which has made a payment in accordance thith Clause 32.5 shall be discharged of the rei
payment obligation under the Finance Documentssiradl not take any credit risk with respect to #meount
standing to the credit of the trust account.

(d) Promptly upon the appointment of a successor Agersccordance with Clause 28.12Réplacement of tl
Agent), each Party which has made a payment to a teasuat in accordance with this Clause 32.5 sha# gi
requisite instructions to the bank with whom thastraccount is held to transfer the amount (togettigh any
accrued interest) to the successor Agent for Higion in accordance with Clause 32.Digtributions by th
Agent).

32.6 Partial payments
(@) If the Agent receives a payment that is insufficiem discharge all the amounts then due and payaplar
Obligor under the Finance Documents, the Agent sipglly that payment towards the obligations ot thligot
under the Finance Documents in the following order:

(i) first , in or towards payment pro rata of any unpaid,feests and expenses of the Agent and the Arr
under the Finance Documents;

(i) secondly, in or towards payment of any demand made by atifig Bank in respect of a payment made
be made by it under a Bank Guarantee due but unpaid

(i)  thirdly , in or towards payment pro rata of any accruedr@st, commission or Fronting Bank fee due
unpaid under this Agreement;

(iv) fourthly , in or towards payment pro rata of any Outstarglishge but unpaid under this Agreement;

(v) fifthly , in or towards payment pro rata of any other suelout unpaid under the Finance Docum
(b) The Agent shall, if so directed by the Majority ldems, vary the order set out in paragraphs (a)ify) above
(©) Paragraphs (a) and (b) above will override any @mpation made by an Oblige

32.7 No setoff by Obligors
All payments to be made by an Obligor under thefkie Documents shall be calculated and be madewri(and free ar
clear of any deduction for) set-off or counterclaim

32.8 Business Day
(@) Any payment which is due to be made on a day thaoi a Business Day shall be made on the nexhBssiDa
in the same calendar month (if there is one) optieeeding Business Day (if there is not).

(b) During any extension of the due date for paymeraryf principal or Unpaid Sum under this Agreematsdriest i
payable on the principal or Unpaid Sum at the patgable on the original due date.

32.9 Currency of account
(@) Subject to paragraphs (b) to (e) below, the BageeB@ay is the currency of account and payment hgrsum du
from an Obligor under any Finance Document.
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(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

(®)

A repayment of a Loan or Unpaid Sum or a part bban or Unpaid Sum shall be made in the currenaytiich
that Loan or Unpaid Sum is denominated on its die.d

Each payment of interest shall be made in the nayrén which the sum in respect of which the inséiie payabl
was denominated when that interest accrued.

Each payment in respect of costs, expenses or Baadisbe made in the currency in which the castpenses «
Taxes are incurred.

Any amount expressed to be payable in a currenbgrahan the Base Currency shall be paid in thia¢
currency.

Each payment in respect of a Bank Guarantee (imguahy Cash Collateral in respect of a Bank Guasgrsha
be made in the currency in which that Bank Guamrg&enominated.

32.10 Change of currency

@)

(b)

Unless otherwise prohibited by law, if more tham® @arrency or currency unit are at the same tirnegeised b
the central bank of any country as the lawful aoecyeof that country, then:

(i) any reference in the Finance Documents to, andhbligations arising under the Finance Documentshie
currency of that country shall be translated imtopaid in, the currency or currency unit of thauwtry
designated by the Agent (after consultation with Guarantor); and

(i) any translation from one currency or currency unitanother shall be at the official rate of excle
recognised by the central bank for the conversidiat currency or currency unit into the othemynded u
or down by the Agent (acting reasonably).

If a change in any currency of a country occuris &greement will, to the extent the Agent (actihegsonabl
and after consultation with the Guarantor) spegifie be necessary, be amended to comply with angrgh
accepted conventions and market practice in thevRat Interbank Market and otherwise to reflectdhange i
currency.

32.11 Disruption to Payment Systems et
If either the Agent determines (in its discretidhat a Disruption Event has occurred or the Agsnhatified by th
Company that a Disruption Event has occurred:

@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

the Agent may, and shall if requested to do schbyGompany, consult with the Company with a viewageeein
with the Company such changes to the operationdarirastration of the Facilities as the Agent mayem
necessary in the circumstances;

the Agent shall not be obliged to consult with @@mpany in relation to any changes mentioned iagraph (¢
if, in its opinion, it is not practicable to do sothe circumstances and, in any event, shall mavebligation t
agree to such changes;

the Agent may consult with the Finance Partieglation to any changes mentioned in paragraphui@stmall nc
be obliged to do so if, in its opinion, it is natpticable to do so in the circumstances;

any such changes agreed upon by the Agent andamp&hy shall (whether or not it is finally detereunthat

Disruption Event has occurred) be binding uponRhdies as an amendment to (or, as the case masalver of
the terms of the Finance Documents notwithstanttiegorovisions of Clause 38\mendments and Waivers
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(e) the Agent shall not be liable for any damages, scost losses whatsoever (including, without limaatifol
negligence or any other category of liability wiweger but not including any claim based on thedraugros
negligence of the Agent) arising as a result ofaksng, or failing to take, any actions pursuanot in connectio
with this Clause 32.11; and

® the Agent shall notify the Finance Parties of hlrges agreed pursuant to paragraph (d) ¢

33. SET-OFF
A Finance Party may set off any matured obligatiine from an Obligor under the Finance Documentsth{goexter
beneficially owned by that Finance Party) againsf enatured obligation owed by that Finance Partyhtat Obligor
regardless of the place of payment, booking bramclkurrency of either obligation. If the obligat®omre in differer
currencies, the Finance Party may convert eithégation at a market rate of exchange in its usairse of business 1
the purpose of the set-off.

34. NOTICES

34.1 Communications in writing
Any communication to be made under or in connectiith the Finance Documents shall be made in vgiamd, unles
otherwise stated, may be made by fax or letter.

34.2 Addresse:
(@) The address and fax number (and the departmeritioeroif any, for whose attention the communioatis to b
made) of each Party for any communication or doeurteebe made or delivered under or in connectigh the
Finance Documents is:

(i) inthe case of an Obligor, that identified withritsme belov

(i) in the case of each Lender and Fronting Bank,ribatied in writing to the Agent on or prior to tliate ol
which it becomes a Party; and

(i) in the case of the Agent, that identified withritame below

or any substitute address, fax number or departaeaftficer as the Party may notify to the Agent {foe Agen
may notify to the other Parties, if a change is enlagl the Agent) by not less than five Business Dagsce.

(b) Any communication or document made or delive

(i) to the Guarantor or any Obligor must also be madea® the case may be, delivered to Indesit Con
International Business S.A.; and

(i) by the Guarantor and/or Indesit Company Internafi@usiness S.A. to the Agent in accordance witk
Clause 34.2 and which is stated to be deliveredebralf of an Obligor, will be deemed to have beeadeo
delivered by such Obligor.

(©) Any communication or document for an Obligor wi# Heemed to have been made or delivered to theg@dlil
it is made or delivered to the Guarantor.

34.3 Delivery
(@) Save as provided in Clause 22.4(b), any commupicati document made or delivered by one persomadthae
under or in connection with the Finance Documerilisonly be effective:

(i) if by way of fax, when received in legible form:;

(i) if by way of letter, when it has been left at théewant address; a
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and, if a particular department or officer is sfiedi as part of its address details provided ur@lause 34.
(Addresses, if addressed to that department or officer.

(b) Any communication or document to be made or dedigeto the Agent will be effective only when acty
received by the Agent and then only if it is exghgsmarked for the attention of the department fiicer
identified with the Agent's signature below (or aupstitute department or officer as the Agentlspcify fo
this purpose).

(©) All notices from or to an Obligor shall be sentagh the Agen

34.4 Notification of address and fax numbe
Promptly upon receipt of notification of an addrassl fax number or change of address or fax numpinesuant to Clau:
34.2 (Addresse$ or changing its own address or fax number, therAghall notify the other Parties.

34.5 Communication when Agent is Impaired Agen
If the Agent is an Impaired Agent the Parties mmgtead of communicating with each other through #gent
communicate with each other directly and (while thgent is an Impaired Agent) all the provisionsthé Financ
Documents which require communications to be madeotices to be given to or by the Agent shall lagied so th:
communications may be made and notices given lyy ¢ine relevant Parties directly. This provisiomalshot operate after
replacement Agent has been appointed.

34.6 Electronic communicatior
(@) Any communication to be made between the Agenteadker and an Obligor under or in connection witk
Finance Documents may be made by electronic madtloer electronic means, if the Agent and the Bk
Lender and/or Obligor, as the case may be:
(i) agree that, unless and until notified to the caytrtis is to be an accepted form of communica

(i)  notify each other in writing of their electronic ihaddress and/or any other information requireeé@nabl
the sending and receipt of information by that nseand

(i)  notify each other of any change to their addresmgrother such information supplied by th
(b) Any electronic communication made between the Agentender and/or an Obligor will be effective omiper
actually received in readable form and in the cisEny electronic communication made by a LendehéoAgen

only if it is addressed in such a manner as thenfgleall specify for this purpose.

34.7 English language
(@) Any notice given under or in connection with anpdfice Document must be in Engl

(b) All other documents provided under or in connectigtihh any Finance Document must
(i) in English; o
(i)  if not in English, and if so required by the Ageatcompanied by a certified English translation, andhis

case, the English translation will prevail unlelse locument is a constitutional, statutory or otbficial
document.
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35.

35.1

35.2

35.3

36.

37.

38.

38.1

38.2

CALCULATIONS AND CERTIFICATES

Accounts
In any litigation or arbitration proceedings argiout of or in connection with a Finance Documém, entries made in t
accounts maintained by a Finance Partypairaa facieevidence of the matters to which they relate.

Certificates and Determination:

Any certification or determination by a Finance tPaf a rate or amount under any Finance Documedtly a Frontin
Bank as to the amount paid out by a Fronting Bantespect of any Bank Guarantee which sets outlslefathe relevar
calculation is, in the absence of manifest erronctusive evidence of the matters to which it edat

Day count conventior

Any interest, commission or fee accruing underr@afite Document will accrue from day to day andaisudated on tr
basis of the actual number of days elapsed andraof&865 days in relation to the Sterling and arysf 360 days in relatic
to any other currency or, in any case where thetipgin the Relevant Interbank Market differs,aiccordance with th
market practice.

PARTIAL INVALIDITY

If, at any time, any provision of the Finance Doeams is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforcedblany respect unc
any law of any jurisdiction, neither the legalityalidity or enforceability of the remaining prowsis nor the legalit
validity or enforceability of such provision undee law of any other jurisdiction will in any wag laffected or impaired.

REMEDIES AND WAIVERS

No failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercisiog the part of any Finance Party, any right onedy under the Finan
Documents shall operate as a waiver, nor shallsamyle or partial exercise of any right or remedgvent any further
other exercise or the exercise of any other rightemedy. The rights and remedies provided in figseement ai
cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or reieggrovided by law.

AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS

Required consent

(@) Subject to Clause 38.2Hxceptions) any term of the Finance Documents may be amendedhived only witl
the consent of the Majority Lenders and the ObBgand any such amendment or waiver will be bindingal
Parties.

(b) The Agent may effect, on behalf of any FinanceyRamy amendment or waiver permitted by this Cle

Exceptions

(@) An amendment or waiver that has the effect of chrngr which relates t

(i)  the definition of "Majority Lenders" in Clause 1 Definitions);
(i)  the definition of "Liquidity Premium" in Clause 1(Definitions);
(i) an extension to the date of payment of any amouhtiuthe Finance Documer

(iv) a reduction in the Margin or a reduction in the amtoof any payment of principal, interest, fee:
commission payable;

(v) anincrease in or an extension of any Commitr
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(vi) (subject to Clauses 27.2Resignation of a Borrower and 27.3 (Additional Borrowers)) a change to ti
Borrower or Guarantor;

(vii) any provision which expressly requires the conséatl the Lender:

(vii) Clause 2.3 Finance Parties' rights and obligationsClause 9.3 Change of Contrg), Clause 26 Change
to the Lender$, Clause 31 Sharing among the Finance Partiesr this Clause 38; or

(ix) the nature or scope of the guarantee and indergratyted under Clause 2@G(arantee and indemnijy

shall not be made without the prior consent oftadl Lenders.

(b) An amendment or waiver which relates to the righitsobligations of the Agent, the Fronting Bankstloe
Arranger may not be effected without the conserthefAgent, the Fronting Banks or the Arranger.

38.3 Annual review of the Liquidity Premium
The Liquidity Premium may be reviewed in accordamgth sub-paragraph (d) of Clause 7.2dans in Sterling ar
Dollars).

38.4 Disenfranchisement of Defaulting Lender
(@) For so long as a Defaulting Lender has any Avadlabbmmitment, in ascertaining the Majority Lender
whether any given percentage (including, for theidance of doubt, unanimity) of the Total Commitriseha:
been obtained to approve any request for a consesitier, amendment or other vote under the Fir
Documents, that Defaulting Lender's Commitments$ védlreduced by the amount of its Available Comreitits.

(b) For the purposes of this Clause 38.4, the Agentasayme that the following Lenders are Defaultirgders
(i) any Lender which has notified the Agent that it hasome a Defaulting Lend

(i) any Lender in relation to which it is aware thay & the events or circumstances referred to iragaph
(a), (b) or (c) of the definition of Defaulting Lender " has occurred,

unless it has received notice to the contrary ftbeLender concerned (together with any supportivigenc:
reasonably requested by the Agent) or the Ageothierwise aware that the Lender has ceased tddadaalting
Lender.

38.5 Replacement of a Defaulting Lende
(@) The Guarantor may, at any time a Lender has beamdecontinues to be a Defaulting Lender, by givig
Business Days' prior written notice to the Agerd anch Lender:

(i) replace such Lender by requiring such Lender ta @@nthe extent permitted by law such Lender s
transfer pursuant to Clause 2€ljanges to the Lendeysall (and not part only) of its rights and obliigei:
under this Agreement;

(i)  require such Lender to (and to the extent permittethw such Lender shall) transfer pursuant tau§da2!
( Changes to the Lendersll (and not part only) of the undrawn Commitmehthe Lender; or

(i) require such Lender to (and to the extent permittethw such Lender shall) transfer pursuant tau€da2!
( Changes to the Lendeysll (and not part only) of its rights and obliiges,
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to a Lender or other bank, financial institutiomust, fund or other entity (aReplacement Lender") selected b
the Company, and which is acceptable o the Agaiin@areasonably), which confirms its willingnessassum
and does assume all the obligations or all thevaele obligations of the transferring Lender (inchgl the
assumption of the transferring Lender's particgragior unfunded participations (as the case maypiéhe sarr
basis as the transferring Lender) for a purchaise pr cash payable at the time of transfer equ#thé outstandir
principal amount of such Lender's participatiorttia outstanding Utilisations and all accrued irgeend/or Ban
Guarantee fees, Break Costs and other amounts|pdgpatelation thereto under the Finance Documents.

(b) Any transfer of rights and obligations of a Defmgt Lender pursuant to this Clause shall be sulijedhe
following conditions:

(i) the Company shall have no right to replace the &

(i)  neither the Agent nor the Defaulting Lender shalldhany obligation to the Company to find a Repiaae
Lender;

(i)  the transfer must take place (as soon as praaicabhccordance with clause 26 Brocedure for transfey;

(iv) in no event shall the Defaulting Lender be requigegay or surrender to the Replacement Lendeméiiye
fees received by the Defaulting Lender pursuathed-inance Documents;

(v) any replacement of a Defaulting Lender which isAlgent shall not affect its role as the Agent;

(viy the Guarantor shall bear all costs and expensaesmahly incurred and registration taxes, stampedudi:
other similar taxes payable in connection with stuahsfers to the replacement Lender.

39. COUNTERPARTS

Each Finance Document may be executed in any nuaflzeunterparts, and this has the same effedtthe signatures ¢
the counterparts were on a single copy of the E@document.
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SECTION 12
GOVERNING LAW AND ENFORCEMENT

40. GOVERNING LAW

This Agreement and any non-contractual obligatemmsing out of or in connection with it are govedrisy English law.

41. ENFORCEMENT

41.1 Jurisdiction

(@)

(b)

(©)

The courts of England have exclusive jurisdictionsettle any dispute arising out of or in connectigth this
Agreement (including a dispute regarding the eriste validity or termination of this Agreement aryanon-
contractual obligations arising out of or in coniet with this Agreement) (aDispute").

The Parties agree that the courts of England &enibst appropriate and convenient courts to setputes an
accordingly no Party will argue to the contrary.

This Clause 41.1 is for the benefit of the FinaRegties only. As a result, no Finance Party shalplevente
from taking proceedings relating to a Dispute iy ather courts with jurisdiction. To the extentosled by law
the Finance Parties may take concurrent proceedingsy number of jurisdictions.

41.2 Service of proces
Without prejudice to any other mode of serviceva#ld under any relevant law, each Obligor other tinaesit Compar
UK Ltd and General Domestic Appliances Holdings:Ltd

(@)

(b)

irrevocably appoints Indesit Company UK Ltd asatgent for service of process in relation to @ngceeding
before the English courts in connection with anyalRice Document; and

agrees that failure by a process agent to notéyGiarantor of the process will not invalidate fpineceeding
concerned.

This Agreement has been entered into on the dateaseéd at the beginning of this Agreement.
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THE ORIGINAL PARTIES
Part | - The Obligors

Name of Obligor

Indesit Company S.p.A.

Indesit Company France S.A.S.

Indesit Company Luxembourg S.A.

Indesit Company UK Ltd

General Domestic Appliances Holdings Ltd

SCHEDULE |
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Part Il

The Original Facility A Lenders

Name of Original Lender Commitment
Banca dell'Adriatico S.p.A. 32,400,000
The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd, Milan Branch 16,200,000
BNP Paribas, Succursale Italia 32,400,000
Centrobanca - Banca di Credito Finanziario e Mal#&liS.p.A. 25,000,000
Citibank, N.A., Milan Branch 32,400,000
HSBC Bank plc, Milan Branch 32,400,000
ING Bank N.V., Milan Branch 32,400,000
Mediobanca - Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A. 2,480,000
UniCredit S.p.A. 32,400,000

TOTAL: €268,000,000
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Part Il

The Original Facility B Lenders

Treaty Passport scheme referenc
number and jurisdiction of tax

Name of Original Lender Commitment residence (if applicable)
The Bank of TokyaWlitsubishi UFJ, Ltd, Milat

Branch 8,800,000

BNP Paribas, Succursale Italia 17,600,000

Citibank International plc 17,600,000

HSBC Bank plc 17,600,000

ING Bank N.V., Milan Branch 17,600,000

Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A., London Branch 17,600,000

Mediobanca International (Luxembourg) S.A. 17,600, 48 /M /315419 / DTTP
UniCredit S.p.A., London Branch 17,600,000

TOTAL: €132,000,000
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1.

SCHEDULE 2
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
Conditions precedent to initial Utilisation

Obligors

(@)

(b)

(©)
(d)

(€)

A copy of the constitutional documents of each @dulj being in respect of each Obligor incorporateldaly:

(i) A copy of the deed of incorporatioratto costitutiva) and of the current by-lawsstatutoor statuts) of suct

Obligor.

(i) A certificate of registration ¢ertificato di iscrizione) of the Original Obligor with the relevant Compes
Register dated not earlier than 7 Business Days ftioe signing date, confirming that no insolve

procedures have been started in relation to sudig@b

(i) If required by its existing biaws, a copy of the resolution of the Shareholdeiseting of such Obligt
approving the terms of, and the transactions copiteied by, the Finance Documents to which it isueyp

A copy of a resolution of the board of directorotirer relevant corporate body of each Obli

(iv) approving the terms of, and the transactions copled by, the Finance Documents to which it isagy

and resolving that it execute the Finance Documenighich it is a party;

(v) authorising a specified person or persons to erethé Finance Documents to which it is a party te

behalf; and

(vi) authorising a specified person or persons, ondtgalf, to sign and/or despatch all documents aritat
(including, if relevant, any Utilisation Request) lhe signed and/or despatched by it under or imector

with the Finance Documents to which it is a party.

A specimen of the signature of each person augihy the resolutions referred to in paragraphsalfoye

In respect of each Obligor incorporated in Framogy of the certificate of registration with thenwmercial an
companies registry (Extrait K-bis) and a noselvency certificate provided by the commerciatlacompanie
registry (registre du commerce et des sociétéd Meaux) dated at the latest 15 days prior ® date of thi

Agreement.

In respect of each Obligor incorporated in Luxeniyc

(vii) an up-todate excerpt from the Luxembourg Register of Conemand Companies dated not more thar

(2) Business Days prior to the execution of thee&gnent;

(viii) a certificate from the Luxembourg Trade and Compaiegister for Luxco dated no more than one day
to the date of the Agreement and stating that deial decision has been registered with the Luxasunt
Trade and Companies Register by application otlartl3, items 2 to 11 and 13 and article 14 o
Luxembourg law dated 19 December 2002 relatingne¢orégister of commerce and companies as welle

accounting and the annual accounts of companiesnasded; and

(ix) a certificate from a director of each Obligor inmorated in Luxembourg certifying that such Obligono

subject to bankruptcyféillite ), controlled managemenggéstion contrblég,
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(f)

(9)

suspension of payments(rsis de paiement arrangement with creditorsconcordat préventif de faillitg
and judicial liquidation {iquidation judiciaire) proceedings and, to the best of its knowledgeyetdion fol
the opening of such proceedings has been presented.

A certificate of the Guarantor (signed by a Sefimancial Officer) confirming that borrowing or gaateeing, ¢
appropriate, the Total Commitments would not caarsg borrowing, guaranteeing or similar limit bingion an'
Obligor to be exceeded.

A certificate of an authorised signatory of the @unor certifying that each copy document relatmgny Obligo
specified in this Schedule 2 is correct, complete ia full force and effect as at a date no eathan the date
this Agreement.

Legal opinions

(@)

(b)

A legal opinion of the legal advisers to the Arrangnd the Agent, as to the legal, valid and bigpdiature of thi
Agreement, substantially in the form distributedtte Original Lenders prior to signing this Agreerne

A legal opinion of the legal advisers to the Arrangnd the Agent, for each Obligor's place of ipooation, as 1
the power and capacity of each Obligor in respdcitsoentry into this Agreement, substantially mmetformn
distributed to the Original Lenders prior to signithis Agreement.

Other documents and evidenc

(@)
(b)

()
(d)

(€)

(f)

(9)

(h)

The Original Financial Statemer

Evidence that the fees, costs and expenses thefmaneny Obligor pursuant to Clause 1Bdes) and Clause 1
( Costs and expensghiave been paid or will be paid by the first daliion Date or such dates as specified i
relevant Fee Letters.

Evidence that any process agent referred to inggldd.2 Service of procegshas accepted its appointm

An irrevocable cancellation letter signed on theedd this Agreement evidencing that all Refinanbetebtedne
will have been cancelled and repaid by the eaolie(i) 5 Business Days from the date of this Agneat (or late
according to the terms of the cancellation lettanyd (ii) the first Utilisation Date.

The Fee Letters duly execut

The TEG Letter duly execute

A summary sheet signed for acknowledgment and &aep by Indesit Company S.p.A., and constitutime
Documento di Sintesi required by the relevantatalbbanking regulations, namely Section 10 of thekBaf Italy's
Regulation of 25 July 2003 and the C.I.C.R. resotutiated 4 March 2003.

"Know Your Customer"/ money laundering documentatishich the Agent considers to be necessary an

received by the signing date (if it has notifie@ tBorrower accordingly) in connection with the gnimto anc
performance of the transactions contemplated byFamgnce Document.

-94 -




SCHEDULE 1 SCHEDULE 3
REQUESTS

Utilisation Request - Loan

From: [*]
To: UniCredit Bank AG, Milan Branch
Dated:
Dear Sirs
€400,000,000 Facility Agreement dated [ July 201{the "Agreement")
1. We refer to the Agreement. This is a UtilisationgRest. Terms defined in the Agreement have the saganing in thi
Utilisation Request unless given a different megmmthis Utilisation Request.
2. We wish to request a Loan on behalf ofgs|Borrower on the following tern
Facility [Facility A/Facility B]
Proposed Utilisation Date: [*] (or, if that is r@Business Day, the next Business Day)
Currency of Loan: [*]
Amount: [*] or, if less, the Available Facility
Interest Period: [*]
[Expiry Date:] [*]
3. We confirm that each condition specified in Clads2 ( Further conditions precedentis satisfied on the date of t
Utilisation Request.
4. The proceeds of this Loan should be creditedstccpunt].
5. This Utilisation Request is irrevocat

Yours faithfully

authorised signatory for
[]
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From:

To:

Utilisation Request - Bank Guarantee
[*]
UniCredit Bank AG, Milan Branch

Dated:

Dear Sirs

10.

€400,000,000 Facility Agreement dated [ July 201{the "Agreement")
We refer to the Agreement. This is a UtilisationgRest. Terms defined in the Agreement have the saganing in thi
Utilisation Request unless given a different megmmthis Utilisation Request.

We wish [the Lenders]/[name of Lender as Frontimglg to issue a Bank Guarantee as follc

Facility [Facility A/Facility B]

Proposed Utilisation Date: [*] (or, if that is r@Business Day, the next Business Day)
Currency of Bank Guarantee: [*]

Amount: [*] or, if less, the Available Facility

Interest Period: [*]

[Expiry Date:] []

We confirm that each condition specified in Clads2 ( Further conditions precedentis satisfied on the date of t
Utilisation Request.

The Bank Guarantee should be issued in favoumahije of beneficiaryin the form attached and delivered to the reai
at [address of recipient]. The purpose of its idsye. The form of the Bank Guarantee is attacherkto.

This Utilisation Request is irrevocat

Yours faithfully

authorised signatory for

[*]
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SCHEDULE 4
Mandatory Cost Formulae

The Mandatory Cost is an addition to the interesé to compensate Lenders for the cost of commdiamith (a) th
requirements of the Bank of England and/or the i@ Services Authority (or, in either case, arlyeo authority whic
replaces all or any of its functions) or (b) thguigements of the European Central Bank.

On the first day of each Interest Period (or asysa® possible thereafter) the Agent shall calcubkdea percentage rate
rate (the "Additional Cost Rate ") for each Lender, in accordance with the paradgsaget out below. The Mandatory C
will be calculated by the Agent as a weighted ayeraf the Lenders' Additional Cost Rates (weighitedroportion to th
percentage participation of each Lender in thevegleLoan) and will be expressed as a percentdgees annum.

The Additional Cost Rate for any Lender lendingnir@a Facility Office in a Participating Member Statdl be the
percentage notified by that Lender to the Agents Plercentage will be certified by that Lendertiriotice to the Agent
be its reasonable determination of the cost (esprkas a percentage of that Lender's participatiali Loans made fro
that Facility Office) of complying with the minimumeserve requirements of the European Central Bandspect of loar
made from that Facility Office.

The Additional Cost Rate for any Lender lendingrra Facility Office in the United Kingdom will bealkculated by th
Agent as follows:

€)) in relation to a sterling Loa

AB + C(BD) + E x 0.01per cent. per annum
100 - (A+C)

(b) in relation to a Loan in any currency other thaalstg:

E x 0.01per cent. per annum
300
Where:

A is the percentage of Eligible Liabilities (assumthgse to be in excess of any stated minimum) wthiahLender i
from time to time required to maintain as an intefese cash ratio deposit with the Bank of Englemdomply witt
cash ratio requirements.

B is the percentage rate of interest (excluding tlaedih and the Mandatory Cost and, if the Loan i&Japaid Sum, tr
additional rate of interest specified in paragréhof Clause 11.3Default interes)) payable for the relevant Inter
Period on the Loan.

C is the percentage (if any) of Eligible Liabilitigghich that Lender is required from time to timenaintain as intere
bearing Special Deposits with the Bank of England.

D is the percentage rate per annum payable by thk &aBngland to the Agent on interest bearing Sgidaeposits

E is designed to compensate Lenders for amounts [gayalder the Fees Rules and is calculated by tlent?as bein
the average of the most recent rates of chargdieddny the Reference Banks to the Agent pursuapiatragraph
below and expressed in euro per €1,000,000.

For the purposes of this Sched

(@) " Eligible Liabilities " and " Special Deposits' have the meanings given to them from time to tumeler o
pursuant to the Bank of England Act 1998 or (as begppropriate) by the Bank of England,;
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10.

11.

12.

13.

(b) " Fees Rules' means the rules on periodic fees contained infBA Supervision Manual or such other lav
regulation as may be in force from time to timegspect of the payment of fees for the acceptahdeposits;

(c) " Fee Tariffs " means the fee tariffs specified in the Fees Ruleder the activity group A.1 Deposit accef
(ignoring any minimum fee or zero rated fee reqliipairsuant to the Fees Rules but taking into adcauy
applicable discount rate); and

(d) " Tariff Base " has the meaning given to it in, and will be cédted in accordance with, the Fees Ri

In application of the above formulae, A, B, C andavill be included in the formulae as percentages 6 per cent. will k
included in the formula as 5 and not as 0.05). datige result obtained by subtracting D from B khaltaken as zero. T
resulting figures shall be rounded to four deciplates.

If requested by the Agent, each Reference BanK, dmlsoon as practicable after publication by Firancial Service
Authority, supply to the Agent, the rate of chamgyable by that Reference Bank to the FinanciaViSes Authority
pursuant to the Fees Rules in respect of the neldirsancial year of the Financial Services Authpoiicalculated for th
purpose by that Reference Bank as being the averfdafpe Fee Tariffs applicable to that ReferencekBir that financie
year) and expressed in euro €1,000,000 of the Tariff Base of that ReferencekBan

Each Lender shall supply any information requirgdh® Agent for the purpose of calculating its Addial Cost Rate.
particular, but without limitation, each Lender Blsupply the following information on or prior tihe date on which
becomes a Lender:

€)) the jurisdiction of its Facility Office; at
(b) any other information that the Agent may reasonaddyiire for such purpo:

Each Lender shall promptly notify the Agent of amange to the information provided by it pursuarthis paragraph.

The percentages of each Lender for the purpose afidAC above and the rates of charge of each Reki®ank for th
purpose of E above shall be determined by the Agasg¢d upon the information supplied to it purst@amaragraphs 7 a
8 above and on the assumption that, unless a Lemdifies the Agent to the contrary, each Lendalkgations in relatio
to cash ratio deposits and Special Deposits arsdime as those of a typical bank from its jurisoincbf incorporation wit
a Facility Office in the same jurisdiction as itadity Office.

The Agent shall have no liability to any persosuth determination results in an Additional CosteRehich over or und
compensates any Lender and shall be entitled unsesshat the information provided by any LendeiReference Bar
pursuant to paragraphs 3, 7 and 8 above is true@melct in all respects.

The Agent shall distribute the additional amoutseived as a result of the Mandatory Cost to thedees on the basis
the Additional Cost Rate for each Lender basedheninformation provided by each Lender and eacteiRaete Bar
pursuant to paragraphs 3, 7 and 8 above.

Any determination by the Agent pursuant to thisekithe in relation to a formula, the Mandatory Cast,Additional Cos
Rate or any amount payable to a Lender shall,dratitsence of manifest error, be conclusive andrignsh all Parties.

The Agent may from time to time, after consultatiith the Borrower and the Lenders, determine asttfynto all Partie
any amendments which are required to be made ddStttiedule in order to comply with any change w, lgegulation c
any requirements from time to time imposed by thaelBof England, the Financial

-08 -




Services Authority or the European Central Bank (orany case, any other authority which repladésraany of it
functions) and any such determination shall, inagbgence of manifest error, be conclusive and bindn all Parties.
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To:

From:

SCHEDULE 1
SCHEDULE 5
FORM OF TRANSFER CERTIFICATE

UniCredit Bank AG, Milan Branch as Agent

[ The Existing Lenddr(the " Existing Lender ") and [The New Lenddr(the "New Lender")

Dated:

1.

€400,000,000 Facility Agreement dated [] (the "Agrement")
We refer to the Agreement. This is a Transfer Geatie. Terms defined in the Agreement have theesamaaning in th
Transfer Certificate unless given a different megrin this Transfer Certificate.

We refer to Clause 26.9°tocedure for transfey:

@ The Existing Lender and the New Lender agree tdethisting Lender transferring to the New Lendemimyatior
all or part of the Existing Lender's Commitmenghtis and obligations referred to in the Scheduladoordanc
with Clause 26.5 Procedure for transfe).

(b) The proposed Transfer Date i§ [

(c) The Facility Office and address, fax number andraitbn details for notices of the New Lender fax gurposes
Clause 34.2 Addresse$ are set out in the Schedule.

The New Lender expressly acknowledges the limmstion the Existing Lender's obligations set oupamagraph (c)
Clause 26.4 Limitation of responsibility of Existing Lendexs

The New Lender confirms, for the benefit of the Agand without liability to any Obligor, that it:
() not a Qualifying Lende

(b) a Facility A Qualifying Lende

(©) a Facility B Qualifying Lender; «

(d) a Facility B Treaty Lender

and that it is not incorporated, domiciled, esttidid or acting through a Facility Office situatedai Non€ooperativ
Jurisdiction or in a Blacklisted Jurisdiction.

[The New Lender confirms (for the benefit of theelg and without liability to any Obligor) that & & Treaty Lender tF
holds a passport under the HMRC DT Treaty Passmreme (reference number []), and is tax residerf}*t so thai
interest payable to it by borrowers is generallgjsct to full exemption from UK withholding tax amdtifies the Compar
that:

(@) each Borrower which is a Party as a Borrower dbeafiransfer Date must make an application to HMeRae &
Customs under form DTTP2 within 30 days of the §fanDate; and

(b) each Additional Borrower which becomes an Additid®arrower after the Transfer Date must make ariegymon
to HM Revenue & Customs under form DTTP2 withind2ys of becoming an Additional Borrower.]***

This Transfer Certificate may be executed in anyiper of counterparts and this has the same eféeittlae signatures «
the counterparts were on a single copy of this SierCertificate.
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This Transfer Certificate is governed by English.

THE SCHEDULE
Commitment/rights and obligations to be transferred
[ insert relevant details and complete Anngx 1

[ Facility Office address, fax number and attenti@tails for notices and account details for paymgnts

[Existing Lender] [New Lender]
By: By:

This Transfer Certificate is accepted by the Agent the Transfer Date is confirmed as [¢].
[Agent]

By:
NOTES:
Delete as applicable each New Lender is required to confirm which oés# fou
* categories it falls within.
*x Insert jurisdiction of tax residence.

This confirmation must be included if the New LenHdelds a passport under the HMRC
rork DT Treaty Passport scheme and wishes that scheapptyp to the Agreement.
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SCHEDULE 6
Form of Assignment Agreement

To: UniCredit Bank AG, Milan Branch as Agent
From: [ The Existing Lenddr(the "EXxisting Lender ") and [The New Lenddr(the "New Lender")
Dated:

€400,000,000 Facility Agreement dated [] (the "Agrement")
1. We refer to the Agreement. This is an Assignmente@ment. Terms defined in the Agreement have the saeaning i
this Assignment Agreement unless given a diffeneeaning in this Assignment Agreement.
2. We refer to Clause 26.6Rtocedure for assignmeit
@ The Existing Lender assigns absolutely to the Neswnder all the rights of the Existing Lender undee
Agreement and the other Finance Documents whictier¢b that portion of the Existing Lender's Conmneint:
and participations in Loans under the Agreemespasified in the Schedule.

(b) The Existing Lender is released from all the olilyes of the Existing Lender which correspond tattportion o
the Existing Lender's Commitments and participationLoans under the Agreement specified in the8ale.

(c) The New Lender becomes a Party as a Lender anduisdbby obligations equivalent to those from whibk
Existing Lender is released under paragraph (byabo

3. The New Lender confirms, for the benefit of the Agand without liability to any Obligor, that it:
(@) not a Qualifying Lende
(b) a Facility A Qualifying Lende
(¢ a Facility B Qualifying Lender; «
(d) a Facility B Treaty Lender

and that it is not incorporated, domiciled, estti®id or acting through a Facility Office situatedai Non€ooperativ
Jurisdiction or in a Black Listed Jurisdiction.

4. [The New Lender confirms (for the benefit of theefg and without liability to any Obligor) that & a Treaty Lender tF
holds a passport under the HMRC DT Treaty Passudntme (reference number []), and is tax reside*t so thal
interest payable to it by borrowers is generallyjasct to full exemption from UK withholding tax amtifies the Compar

that:

(@) each Borrower which is a Party as a Borrower deeafAssignment Date must make an application toR#venu
& Customs under form DTTP2 within 30 days of thesiyament Date; and

(b) each Additional Borrower which becomes an AdditloBarrower after the Assignment Date must maki

application to HM Revenue & Customs under form DZMAthin 30 days of becoming an Additional Borrover

*%k%k

5. The proposed Assignment Date ik [

-102 -




10.

The Facility Office and address, fax number andrditbn details for notices of the New Lender fag purposes of Clau
34.2 (Addresse$ are set out in the Schedule.

On the Assignment Date the New Lender becomes Rathe Finance Documents as a Ler

The New Lender expressly acknowledges the limitation the Existing Lender's obligations set oupanagraph (c) «
Clause 26.4 Limitation of responsibility of Existing Lendexs

This Assignment Agreement may be executed in anylben of counterparts and this has the same effeifttlae signature
on the counterparts were on a single copy of tissighment Agreement.

This Assignment Agreement is governed by Engligh

THE SCHEDULE
Rights to be assigned and obligations to be releaband undertaken
[ insert relevant details and complete Anngx 1
[ Facility Office address, fax number and attenti@tails for notices and account details for paymgnts

[Existing Lender] [New Lender]
By: By:

This Assignment Agreement is accepted by the Agedtthe Assignment Date is confirmed as [].

Signature of this Assignment Agreement by the Agmmtstitutes confirmation by the Agent of receiphotice ol
the assignment referred to herein, which noticeMfpent receives on behalf of each Finance Party.

[Agent]
By:
NOTES:
Delete as applicable each New Lender is required to confirm which oést fou
* categories it falls within.
*x Insert jurisdiction of tax residence.

This confirmation must be included if the New Lenbelds a passport under the HMRC
rork DT Treaty Passport scheme and wishes that scheappty to the Agreement.
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SCHEDULE 7
Form of Compliance Certificate

To: UniCredit Bank AG, Milan Branch as Agent
From: Indesit Company S.p.A.
Dated:
Dear Sirs
€400,000,000 Facility Agreement dated [] (the "Agrement")
1. We refer to the Agreement. This is a Compliancdiftzte. Terms defined in the Agreement have #r@e meaning whe
used in this Compliance Certificate unless giveliff@arent meaning in this Compliance Certificate.
2. We confirm thai
2.1  Consolidated Net Borrowings as at [*] arg [
2.2 Consolidated EBITDA for the relevant period endamg[¢] is [*];
2.3  the ratio of Consolidated Net Borrowings to Cordatied EBITDA as at [] is [*]Janc
2.4  the ratio of Consolidated EBITDA to Consolidated Neerest as at [] is ]¢
3. [We confirm that no Default is continuing.]

SIGNEA: .
Senior Financial Officer Senior Financial Officer
Indesit Company S.p.A. of Indesit Company S.p.A.

* If this statement cannot be made, the certé should identify any Default that is continuan the steps, if any, being taken to

remedy it.
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SCHEDULE 8
[INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLACK]

-105 -




SCHE

DULE 9

TIMETABLES

Part |

- Loans

Loans in sterling, dollars Loans in euro
and other Optional

Currencies
Request for approval as an Optional Currency or U-5 N/A
notification of a proposed Utilisation in Sterling 930 am
Dollars, if required (Clause 4.3Jonditions relating '
to Optional Currencie$) and the Additional Cost of
Funding
Agent notifies the Borrower if a currency is appFdv u-4 N/A
as an Optional Currency or maximum amount in 300 pm
Sterling or Dollars that can be requested without CUP
exceeding Pre-Agreed Limit, in accordance with
Clause 4.3 Conditions relating to Optional
Currencies) and the Additional Cost of Funding
Delivery of a duly completed Utilisation Request uU-3 U-3
(Clause 5.1 Delivery of a Utilisation Requejt Noon Noon
Agent determines (in relation to a Utilisation) Base uU-3 N/A
Currency Amount of the Loan, if required under 15.30
Clause 5.4 Lenders' and Fronting Banks' '
participation)
Agent notifies the Lenders of the Loan in accoréanc U-3 U-3
W|th_ (_:Iau_se 5.4 Lenders' and Fronting Banks 4.00 pm 4.00 pm
participation)
Agent receives a notification from a Lender under U-2 N/A
Clause 7.3 Unavailability of a currency 930 am
Agent gives notice in accordance with Clause 7.3 U-2 N/A
( Unavailability of a currency Noon

LIBOR or EURIBOR is fixed

Quotation Day as of 10.@uotation Day as of 11:00
a.m. Brussels time in a.m.
respect of EURIBOR and
as of 11:00 a.m. London
time in respect of LIBOR
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"U" = date of utilisation

"U - X" = X Business Days prior to date of utilisat
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Part Il Bank Guarantees

Bank guarantees

U-3
Delivery of a duly completed Utilisation Requ
(Clause 5.1 Delivery of a Utilisation Reque¥t 9.30am
Agent notifies the Lenders of the Bank Guarantee U-1

in accordance with Clause 5.4 Lenders' and
Fronting Banks' participation). noon
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To:

SCHEDULE 10
Form of Bank Guarantee

[ Beneficiary]

(the "Beneficiary ")

[Date]

Irrevocable Bank Guarantee no. [¢]

At the request of [+], [*] (the 'Issuing Bank") issues this irrevocable bank guaranteBghk Guarantee") covering [¢]in youl
favour on the following terms and conditions:

1.

Definitions
In this Bank Guarantee:

" Business Day' means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sundawhich banks are open for general business inr
and [insert financial centre of currency in which Bankdantee is denominatédd

" Demand" means a demand for a payment under this Bankaates in the form of the schedule to this Bank Guize.

" Expiry Date " means [].

" Total Bank Guarantee Amount™" means [e].

Issuing Bank's agreemer

(@)

(b)

Expiry

(@)

(b)

()

The Beneficiary may request a drawing or drawingden this Bank Guarantee by giving to the IssuiramiB¢
completed Demand. A Demand must be received bystuing Bank by [*p.m. (London time) on a date not
than the Expiry Date.

Subject to the terms of this Bank Guarantee, thaiig Bank unconditionally and irrevocably undeeslkto th
Beneficiary that, within ten Business Days of rptdiy it of a Demand, it must pay to the Benefigidre amour
demanded in that Demand.

The Issuing Bank will be released from its obligati under this Bank Guarantee on the date (if aotffied by th
Beneficiary to the Issuing Bank as the date upoiichvithe obligations of the Issuing Bank under tBisnk
Guarantee are released.

Unless previously released under paragraph (a)eatwov[+]p.m. (London time) on the Expiry Date the obligat
of the Issuing Bank under this Bank Guarantee e@lise with no further liability on the part of tlssuing Ban
except for any Demand validly presented under tekBSuarantee that remains unpaid.

When the Issuing Bank is no longer under any furdidigations under this Bank Guarantee, the Beraefl mus
return the original of this Bank Guarantee to $siilng Bank.

Payments

All payments under this Bank Guarantee shall beeniade] and for value on the due date to the account oB#reefician
specified in the Demand.
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Delivery of Demanc

Each Demand shall be in writing, and, unless otfsengtated, must be made by original letter andt hesreceived |
legible form by the Issuing Bank on or prior to thepiry Date at its address and by the particuégragitment or officer (
any) as follows:

[

Assignmen

The Beneficiary's rights under this Bank Guaramtey not be assigned or transferred.

Governing Law

This Bank Guarantee is subject to the Uniform Qustoand Practice for Documentary Credits (1993 Rav);
International Chamber of Commerce publication nun&@0 (the "Uniform Customs"), except to the extdra Uniformn
Customs are inconsistent with the provisions herébfs Bank Guarantee shall be governed and cabtiru accordant
with the laws of England.

Jurisdiction

The courts of England have exclusive jurisdictionsettle any dispute arising out of or in connecttwith this Ban
Guarantee.

Yours faithfully,

[]

By:
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SCHEDULE 11
Form Of Demand

To: [*]
[Date]
Dear Sirs
Bank Guarantee no. [+] issued in favour of [BENEFICARY] (the " Bank Guarantee ")
We refer to the Bank Guarantee. Terms definederBiéink Guarantee have the same meaning when uigd Demand.
1. We certify that the sum of [¢] is due [and has r&mad unpaid for at least [Business Days] [under [set out underly
contract or agreement]]. We therefore demand paywofahe sum of [e].
2. Payment should be made to the following acct
Name:
Account Number:
IBAN:
Bank:
SWIFT:
Yours faithfully
(Authorised Signator(Authorised Signator
For

[BENEFICIARY]
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(@)

(b)

()

(d)

()

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

()
(k)

SCHEDULE 12
ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

A copy, certified as at the date of the relevantession Memorandum a true and updtde copy by an Authoris
Signatory of the proposed Additional Obligor, oé tbonstitutional documents (statuts) of such pregasdditional Oblige
and with respect to any Additional Borrower incaided in France, an original extraaxtrait K-bis) and noninsolvenc
certificate provided by the commercial and companggistry (registre du commerce et des socigtésot more than fiftee
(15) days old.

A copy, certified as at the date of the relevantession Memorandum of a true and updéde copy by an Authoris
Signatory of the proposed Additional Obligor, obaard resolution or other relevant corporate boflguzh propose
Additional Obligor approving the execution and dety of an Accession Memorandum, the accessiorucii $ropose
Additional borrower to this Agreement and the perfance of its obligations under the Finance Documand authorisir
a named person or persons to sign such Accessiomokd@dum, any other Finance Document and any odi@rments 1
be delivered by such proposed Additional Obligarspant thereto.

A certificate of an Authorised Signatory of the posed Additional Obligor setting out the names aigghatures of tf
person or persons authorised to sign, on behalfici proposed Additional Obligor, the Accession Mesndum, any oth
Finance Documents and any other documents to beedsd by such proposed Additional Obligor pursuheteto.

A certificate of an Authorised Signatory of the posed Additional Obligor confirming that the utdt®n of the Facilitie
would not breach any restriction of its borrowirgners.

If the proposed Additional Obligor is incorporatieda jurisdiction other than England and Walesppyc certified a tru
copy by or on behalf of the proposed Additional i@, of each such law, consent, licence, approsadjstration ¢
declaration as is, in the opinion of counsel to Algent, necessary to render the relevant Accedgiemorandum lege
valid, binding and enforceable, to make such Adoesslemorandum admissible in evidence in the predo&dditiona
Obligor's jurisdiction of incorporation and to efekthe proposed Additional Obligor to perform itsligations thereund
and under the other Finance Documents.

A copy, certified a true copy by an Authorised Sigmmy of the proposed Additional Obligor, of itstdst financie
statements.

If the Additional Borrower is incorporated in Francan executed TEG letter duly countersigned by sidditiona
Borrower.

If the proposed Additional Obligor is incorporateda jurisdiction other than England and Wales,ua dapacity leg
opinion of the Agent's local counsel in the releyansdiction in form and substance satisfactaryite Agent.

A legal valid and binding opinion of [overseas lasg], solicitors to the Agent, in form and substasatisfactory to tt
Agent.

Any "Know Your Customer" documentatis

If the proposed Additional Obligor is incorporatieda jurisdiction other than England and Walesdewnce that the proce
agent specified in the relevant Accession Memoranhbas agreed to act as its agent for the servipeoskss in England.
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SCHEDULE 13
EXISTING INDEBTEDNESS
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SCHEDULE 14
FORM OF BORROWER ACCESSION MEMORANDUM

To: UniCredit Bank AG, Milan Branch
From: [Subsidiary]

and

[Indesit Company S.p.A.]

Dated:

Dear Sirs,

1. We refer to an agreement (theCtedit Agreement ") dated [| and made, amongst others between apgobuborrower
including Indesit Company S.p.A. (the Guarantor "), UniCredit Bank AG, Milan Branch as agent, theahcia
institutions defined therein as Lenders and others.

2. Terms defined in the Credit Agreement shall bearstime meaning here

3. The Guarantor requests th&@ibsidiary] become an Additional Borrower under [Facility Adcility B] pursuant to Clau
27.3 (Additional Borrower) of the Credit Agreement.

4. [ Subsidiary] is a company duly organised under the lawsrare of relevant jurisdictiop

5. [ Subsidiary] confirms that it has received from the Guaramattmue and up-talate copy of the Credit Agreeme

6. [ Subsidiary] undertakes, upon its becoming a Borrower, togrerfall the obligations expressed to be undertaketer th:
Credit Agreement and the Finance Documents by soB@r and agrees that it shall be bound by the iCAgpteement an
the Finance Documents in all respects as if itleeh an original party thereto as an Original Boao

7. The Guarantor confirms that, ifubsidiary] is accepted as an Additional Borrower, its gutgarobligations pursuant
Clause 20 Guarantee and Indemni}yof the Credit Agreement will apply to all the wjaltions of [Subsidiary] under thi
Finance Documents in all respects in accordandetive terms of the Credit Agreement.

8. The Guaranto

8.1 repeats the Repeating Representations (provideetinesentation set out in Clause 21&oferning law and enforcement
shall be subject to any qualifications, reservation general principles of law referred to in aagdl opinion delivere
pursuant to Clause 4Qonditions of utilisatior) of the Facilities Agreement; and

8.2  confirms that no Default is continuing or would acas a result of $ubsidiary] becoming an Additional Borrowse

9. [ Subsidiary] makes the representations and warranties sahdtiause 21 Representationyin relation to the facts a

matters subsisting at the date hereof (subjechjolegal reservations and qualifications referrednt any legal opinic
delivered as a condition precedent to the relesanession pursuant to the terms of the Credit Ages and save
disclosed in writing to the Agent prior to the datreof).
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10. [ Subsidiary'd administrative details are as follo\

Address:
Fax No.:
Contact:

4. [ Process Agent * [ Subsidiary] agrees that the documents which start any Proagedind any other documents require
be served in relation to those Proceedings maebh&d on it at pddress of Subsidiary's place of business in Enjan
at any address in Great Britain at which procesg beaserved on it in accordance with Part XXllltbé Companies A
1985]/[on name of process agent in Englamad address of process agewt, if different, its registered office.
[[ Subsidiary] ceases to have a place of business in Greatrgfjtae appointment of the person mentioned abwerases i
be effective], [Subsidiary] shall immediately appoint another person in Endléo accept service of process on its beh.
England. If it fails to do so (and such failure tiones for a period of not less than fourteen days) Agent shall be entitl
to appoint such a person by notice. Nothing corthiherein shall restrict the right to serve prodasany other mann
allowed by law. This applies to Proceedings in Bndland to Proceedings elsewhere.]

5. This Memorandum shall be governed by English
[Insert name of Guarantor] [Subsidiary]

By BY:

* This clause is required only if the acceding Barer is not incorporated in England or Wales.
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SCHEDULE 15
FORM OF RESIGNATION NOTICE

To: UniCredit Bank AG, Milan Branch
From: Indesit Company S.p.A.
Dated:

Dear Sirs,
1. We refer to an agreement (theCtedit Agreement ") dated [ July 2011] and madater alia , between a group

borrowers including [Insert name of Guarantor] (th&uarantor "), [Insert name of Agent] as agent, the finar
institutions defined therein as Banks and others.

2. Terms defined in the Credit Agreement shall bearsdime meaning here

3. We declare thatiame of Borrowet is under no actual or contingent obligation unaley Finance Document in its capa
as a Borrower.

4. Pursuant to Clause 27.Rgsignation of a Borrowérwe hereby request that [name of Obligor] shadiseeto be a Borrow
under the Credit Agreement.

Yours faithfully

Indesit Company S.p.A.
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SCHEDULE 16
AGREED UPON PROCEDURES

Example of Auditors’ report

Confidential

The Lenders

To the kind attention of Mr. [name] (Legal Represetative)
Dear Sirs

Euro 400,000,000 Multicurrency Revolving Facility Agreement dated [] (hereinafter defined as the "Agrement”) for
Indesit Company S.p.A. (hereinafter defined also ashe "Company"), arranged by Banca IMI S.p.A., BNP Paribas,
Succursale ltalia, Citigroup Global Markets Limited, HSBC Bank plc, ING Bank N.V., Mediobanca -Banca di Creditc
Finanziario S.p.A. and UniCredit S.p.A. with UniCredit Bank AG, Milan Branch, acting as Agent

We refer to the aboveentioned Agreement. Under the terms of this Ageadirin case there has been a change in the Apfd
Accounting Standard or reference periods (GAAP Everhich would affect the calculation of any fingccovenant, tr
Company may propose to adjust the covenant levelsthteer components of financial computations orirdigbns in any suc
covenant so that the effects of such GAAP Evenamnsuch covenant will be negated. Under the tei@ause 22.3(b)(iii)(E
of the Agreement, the Company is required to pmd¢hat its auditors report to the Agent in conmectivith the Chief Financi
Officer GAAP Certificate prepared in accordancehvtiie Clause 22.3(b)(iii)(A) of the Agreement, dadupply the addressee:
this letter with information in connection therelwieported upon by its auditors.

The Company has prepared the "GAAP Certificaialculation and related explanatory notes" (the AB/Certificate"), a copy ¢
which is enclosed to this letter. The financialbmhation included in the GAAP Certificate has beespared on the basis thfe
interpretation of the relevant clauses of the Agrest, previously agreed with the Agent and as dasttiin the GAAP Certificate

This report is provided pursuant to, and must lael i@ conjunction with, our engagement letter ddtiade] and is subject to t
terms and limitations set out therein.

Basis of report

Our work was conducted in accordance with the staiwd established by the Assirevi ("Documento Assiré 15") an
International Standard on Related Services (ISRIBP4 Engagement to Perform Agregabn Procedures Regarding Finar
Information. For the purpose of providing you wiiis letter, other than as set out herein, we matearried out any work by w
of audit, review or verification of the financiaiformation nor of the management accounts, acaogimécords or other sourt
from which that information has been extracted.gdmgly, because the procedures performed doamtitute either an audit
a review made in accordance with International &sshs on Auditing or International Standards oni®&e\Engagements, we
not express any assurance on any of the singlesaksiraccounts or items reported in the GAAP Geatié. We have not carri
out any work by way of interpretation of the basfishe calculation regarding the financial defimits in the relevant clauses of
Agreement. The sufficiency of the procedures i®lgalhe responsibility of the specified users af tieport. Consequently, °
make no representation regarding the sufficienahefprocedures either for the purpose for whichreport is being prepared
for any other purposes. Our work was based onmbtaan understanding of the compilation of the GABertificate by enqui
of management, reference to the Agreement, congmaakthe financial information in the GAAP Certifite to the sources fr
which it was obtained and recomputation of thewdat@ns in the GAAP Certificate and more speclfica

» obtaining the GAAP Certificate as at [da
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« reading the GAAP Certificate above, accompanyidgutation and related explanatory notes and fir@rnoformation and tt
clauses of the Agreements (clauses 22.3.(b) fd)ixéferred to as ‘the GAAP Event Clauses")

» defined in the GAAP Certificate as relevant to ¢h&ulation of the financial condition and triggerents

- agreeing the financial information in the GAAP arate to the audited consolidated financial stegats and accounti
records from which it has been extracted;

¢ recomputing the calculations and ratios set otlténGAAP Certificate to confirm their mathematiaaturacy
- obtaining the representation letter signed by tbgal Representative of the Compi

We are auditors of the Company and have auditeccdhsolidated financial statements of the Companwtaand for the ye
ended [date]. Our audit of the consolidated finahatatements of the Company has not been plannedomducted i
contemplation of your requirements or any mattengckhy might be set out in the Agreement. In particuthe scope of our au
work was set and judgments made by reference toassessment of materiality in the context of thesotidated financi
statements taken as a whole, rather than in thieextoof your needs. Accordingly, we have not exgedsany opinion on any of 1
single elements, accounts, or items of the audibedolidated financial statements.

Report

From the above-mentioned procedures, no excepaiase.

OR

From the above-mentioned procedures, we identifiedollowing exceptions:
[detail the exceptions]

Our report as set out herein is confidential to dderessees of this letter and should not be mealiéable to any other pai
without our written consent. It is provided solédy the purpose of your assessment of the Compatgrmpliance with the tert
of the Financial Covenants of the Agreement. Wespicoo liability to any other party who is showngatins access to this letter.

Yours faithfully

[date]

[name]

Director of Audit

cc:

Mr [name] (Legal representative of the Company)

THE LENDERS
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SCHEDULE 17
EFFECTIVE GLOBAL RATE

LETTER FOR DETERMINATION OF THE EFFECTIVE GLOBAITRATAUX EFFECTIF GLOBAL) - FACILITY
AGREEMENT

From: UniCredit Bank AG, Milan Branch (theAgent")

To: Indesit Company France S.A.S. (thErénch Borrower ")
201

Dear Sirs,

We refer to the multicurrency revolving facility rg@ment (the Facility Agreement ") dated [] and entered into between, i
alia, Indesit Company S.p.A., the French Borrowedesit Company UK Ltd, General Domestic Applian¢tsdings Ltd an
Indesit Company Luxembourg S.A. as Borrowers, Iitd€empany S.p.A. as Guarantor, Banca IMI S.p.ANPBPariba:
Succursale Italia, Citigroup Global Markets Limit¢¢ISBC Bank plc, ING Bank N.V., Mediobanc®anca di Credito Finanzial
S.p.A. and UniCredit S.p.A. as Arrangers and Uni@r&ank AG, Milan Branch as Agent. Terms definedthe Facilit
Agreement shall have the same meaning in thisaotic

This is the letter referred to in Clause 11E5fective Global Ratgof the Facility Agreement.

The floating nature of the interest rate applicablthe Loans makes it impossible to specify a &itectif global applicable for tl
duration of the Facility Agreement.

However, in order to meet the requirements of Aetid_. 313-4 of the French Code monétaire et firenend Articles R. 313-
and R. 312 of the Code de la Consommation we set out below@icative calculation of the taux effectif glopbased on tf
assumptions set out in this letter.

Assumed [LIBOR/EURIBOR] and Margin:
[LIBOR/EURIBOR]: [to be completed by the Agent]
Margin: [to be completed by the Agent]

Based on the assumptions set out above (and ingute Margin, all fees and expenses relating ¢oLtbans), the interest r:
(taux de périod@ for an Interest Perioddurée de périodg of [to be completed by the Agent] months would be be complete
by the Ageni % per annum and the effective global rataux effectif global annuglwould be [to be completed by the Agg¥i
per annum.

The calculations set out in this letter are foustkative purposes only and shall not bind theigsitio the Facility Agreeme
Nothing expressed or implied in this letter comgéis any commitment on the part of any of the FéeadRarties or of any of t
Obligors.

Yours sincerely,
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By:
For and on behalf
of UniCredit Bank AG, Milan Branch

Receipt acknowledged

By:
For and on behalf of

Indesit Company France S.A.S.
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SCHEDULE 18
FORM OF AUDITOR'S MANDATE LETTER

Example of proposal letter

Confidential

The Lendersunder the terms of the Multicurrency Revolving fiacAgreement dated [date],
between:

« [] as Arrangers, ai
» [] as Borrowers, ar
+ Indesit Company S.p.A. as Guarar
To the kind attention of Mr. [name] (Legal Represetative)

and copy to:

Indesit Company S.p.A.

Via Aristide Merloni, 47

60044 Fabriano AN

Italy

To the kind attention of Mr. [name] (Legal Represetative)
[date]

Euro 400,000,000 Multicurrency Revolving Facility Ayreement dated [] hereinafter defined as the “Agrement”) for Indesit
Company S.p.A. (hereinafter defined also as the “Gopany”), arranged by Banca IMI S.p.A., BNP Paribas, Succurda
Italia, Citigroup Global Markets Limited, HSBC Bank plc, ING Bank N.V., Mediobanca -Banca di Credito Finanziario
S.p.A. and UniCredit S.p.A. with UniCredit Bank AG, Milan Branch acting as Agent

Dear Sirs

Further to your kind request, we have pleasureetting) out below our terms of reference for theagmment described her
which comprise the objectives, scope and othempetexrs of our engagement.

Under the terms of Clause 22.3(b)(ii) of the Agreemin case there has been a change in the Apfi¢accounting Standard
reference periods (GAAP Event) which would affdw talculation of any financial covenant, the Conypanay, at its discretio
acting in good faith, propose to adjust the covefarels or other components of financial compotatior definitions in any su
covenant so that the effects of such GAAP Evenamnsuch covenant will be negated. Under the tei@ause 22.3(b)(iii)(E
of the Agreement, the Company is required to pmd¢hat its auditors report to the Agent in conmactivith the Chief Financi
Officer GAAP Certificate, prepared in accordancénwtine Clause 22.3(b)(iii)(A) (GAAP Certificate)f the Agreement.

At the request of the Directors of the Company, ame writing to set out our understanding of the kmpou wish [] (“[]") to
perform and the terms and conditions upon whichawee prepared to provide such a report for your regarding the GAA
Certificate as at and for the year ended [date].Wtderstand that the specified elements will bagaried in accordance with
relevant clauses in the Agreement, related ddfimitiincluded in such Agreement, as interpretedhia éxplanatory not
accompanying the GAAP Certificate. The relevantusés of the Agreement, as reported in Clause 22%i§(B), are shown ii
Attachment 1.

A copy of this letter is being sent to the Direstof the Company to confirm their authorisation anderstanding of the basis
which we will report to you.
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Any work performed in connection with the engagetmasfore the date of this letter will also be gmest by the terms a
conditions of this letter.

This letter is addressed to the Lenders, undetetines of the Multicurrency Revolving Facility Agraent.

By signing and accepting the terms of this lettee, Agent warrants and represents its authoritgcieept the same on its o
behalf and as Agent for the other Lenders who ldale authorised it to act as their respective Agent

1.

Responsibilities

The Directors of the Company are responsible feugng that the Company complies with all of therte and conditior
of the Agreement including each of the Financial&wants set out in Clause 23.Eifancial condition). Under Claus
22.3(b)(iii)(A) of the Agreement, the Directors aresponsible for preparing the GAAP Certificateattincludes th
accompanying explanatory notes which describe therpretations agreed between you and the Compamny,othe
relevant information required by such Clause.

Our responsibility is to prepare a report to youttoe computation of those financial covenants wipeftain to accountir
matters, as identified below.

We are auditors of the Company and have auditedrtheal consolidated financial statements of thengamy as at [dat
and for the year then ended and reported to iteeBb&ders in accordance with our responsibiliteshiem, in accordan
with article 156 of legislative decree no. 58 of Bdbruary 1998, on [date]. Our audit of the comsaed financiz
statements of the Company was not intended to asldr@mpliance with financial covenants or othertenatin which th
addressees of the letter may be primarily intededte particular, the scope of our audit work was and our judgmer
made by reference to our assessment of materialitige context of the audited annual consolidatednicial statemer
taken as a whole, rather than in the context ofrépert contemplated in this letter. Consequently,have not express
any opinion on any of the single elements, accoumtgems of the audited consolidated financiateshents. We therefc
will not be held liable for any damages which yawther parties may suffer due to the improperafsaur audit report ¢
the annual consolidated financial statements.

Scope of work and reporting

Our work will be conducted in accordance with ttendards established by the Assirevi (“Documentsir&si n° 15")anc
the International Standards on Related Service® 4&hgagements to perform agragmbn procedures regarding finan
information (ISRS 4400), issued by the Internatidrederation of Accountants (IFAC). We will reactB AAP Certificat
and accompanying explanatory notes prepared bghief Financial Officer.

Our work will be based on obtaining an understamaddf the compilation of the GAAP Certificate andcampanyin
explanatory notes by enquiry of management, reéeréa the Agreement, comparison of the financiédrimation in thi
GAAP Certificate to the sources from which it wadaned and recomputation of the calculations exdahove mention:
GAARP Certificate.

The specific procedures that we will conduct aeeftilowing:

» obtaining the GAAP Certificate as at [da

« reading the GAAP Certificate above, accompanyirgutation and related explanatory notes and firarinformatior
and the clauses of the Agreements (clauses 22iD(B)(referred to as ‘the GAAP Event Clausesigfined in th
GAAP Certificate as relevant to the calculatiortted financial condition and trigger events;

» agreeing the financial information in the GAAP (ferate to the audited consolidated financial stegats an
accounting records from which it has been extracted
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« recomputing the calculations and ratios set othiénGAAP Certificate to confirm their mathematieaturacy
» obtaining the representation letter signed by thgdl Representative of the Comp:

Other than as set out herein, we will not carry any work by way of audit, review or verificatiorf the financia
information nor of the management accounts, acoagimecords or other sources from which that infation is to b
extracted for the purpose of providing you with ogport. Accordingly, because the procedures refleto above do n
constitute either an audit or a review made in staace with International Standards on Auditing latiernatione
Standards on Review Engagements, we will not espaey assurance on any of the single elementsyat;oor item
reported in the GAAP Certificate. We will not cawyt any work by way of interpretation of the basighe calculatio
regarding the financial definitions in the relevatduses of the Agreement. Our report will inclladstatement to th
effect.

The sufficiency of the procedures is solely thgoesibility of the specified users of the repordtnSequently, we make
representation regarding the sufficiency of thecpdures either for the purpose for which our refgobeing prepared or 1
any other purpose.

We will seek representations from the Company iiggrthe GAAP Certificate in the form given in Attanent 2.

Our report will be provided solely for Compasyuse and for your use as Agent, in connection thiéghAgreement ai
should not be made available to any other parthiowit our written consent.

The report is confidential to the Addressees ardbeiprovided only for the purpose of your assessnof the Company’
compliance with the terms of the clauses of thee&grent relevant to the GAAP Event. We thereforémat be held liabl
for any damages which other parties may suffertduke improper use of our report.

Timetable

Our work will be dependent upon timely and unresdd access to all records, documentation and dttiermatior
required in connection with our Engagement as a®liull cooperation from all relevant officials of the Compaor othe
auditors. We shall use all reasonable endeavoursett the agreed timetable.

[*] shall not be liable for any delays resultingorin circumstances beyond its reasonable controludimg, withou
limitation, fire or other casualty, act of God,ilstr or labour dispute, or other violence, or any,larder or requirement
any governmental agency or authority.

[¥] resource

The engagement will be performed by [] personnéhwadequate skills, supervised and coordinatechtaudit manager a
under the direction of a partner of our company.

Our fee

On the basis of information currently availablaitoand on the basis of our understanding of yayuwirements, we estime
that our overall fee will amount to € [amount], PMAT.

Should exceptional circumstances occur such asnger invalid our original estimates, the situatiath be discussed wi
you and the Company before any additional worleisqzmed.

These fees relate only to our professional servioes-ofpocket expenses and office expenses for the tyguidgorinting ¢
reports, secretarial costs, telephone, telefaxwéliche billed as incurred; amounts are statecsive of value added tax.
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Our invoices will be payable by [entity].

6. Limitation of liability

[I's maximum liability to the Addressees arising &my reason out of or relating to the Engagemehgther a claim be
tort, contract, or otherwise, shall be limited tonaximum of twice the amount of our aforementiofiegs paid for th
engagement to [| under the Engagement Letter fEsdlservices, except to the extent such liabgitynially determined f
have been caused by the gross negligence or imt@htimisconduct of [] or its personnel. In the eéveha claim by an
third party against [] or its personnel that arisasof or relates to the Engagement, you will mdady and hold harmless
and its personnel from all such claims, liabilitidamages, costs and expenses arising out ofaiingglto such thirgrarty
claims, including reasonable attorneys’ fees.

Each and any claim for damages, whether contractualtside of contract (including those made agjdij its partner:
directors, personnel or agents) shall be made ittenwrform, together with a full evidence for thasis of the claim, with
60 days from when the matter or irregularity givirge to the claim became known.

7. Law and Jurisdiction

The Engagement shall be subject to and governethln law and all disputes arising from or unttex Engagement sh
be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the éfilcourt.

8. Miscellaneou:

[*] may be requested, pursuant to subpoena or déigad process, to produce its documents relatinfpe Engagement
judicial or administrative proceedings to whichigjnot a party. In that event, you agree to reirs@yi#] at standard billin
rates for its professional time and expenses, dictureasonable attorney's fees, incurred in redipgrto such requests.

We agree that we will treat as such all confidémiaprietary information obtained from the Compamgd will not disclos
such information to others or use such informaé®oept in connection with the performance of thwises agreed in th
letter. This undertaking shall not apply to anytied information which we are required by law toctbse or which is in ¢
hereafter enters the public domain.

9. Debriefing

On completion of the engagement, as part of ournesidment to the quality of our service, we would eahe th
opportunity to receive your views on the work cadrbut by ourselves and the service delivered.

10. Agreemeni

Please confirm your agreement to and acceptancertms of this letter and the attachments by sigaind returning to 1
the enclosed copy. If there are any aspects thatwsh to discuss, please let us know.

We thank you for the opportunity to submit thisgweal. We shall be pleased to discuss this lettéryou at any time.

Yours faithfully
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[]

[name]

Director of Audit

Enclosures:

Attachment 1 Relevant clauses of the Agreement (omissis)
Attachment 2 Representation letter

Accepted on behalf ofthe lenders]

Signature ...

Name ...,
POSItioN.......ccocviiii

Date ......ocooiiiiii

Authorised and accepted on behallndesit Company S.p.Aby:
Signature ...

Name ...

Position .......coooiiiii

Date .
Attachment

Example of Representation letter

Example of Representation letter
[*]
[its address]

[zip code] [city]

[country]
[date]
Dear Sirs

In connection with your proposed report in accoogawith the arrangements set out in your engagetatat dated pate], we
are writing to confirm to the best of our knowledged belief the following representations we hawesento you and on which y
need to rely in providing your report on the congpiain of the financial conditions set out in Cla@82 of the Agreement whi
pertain to accounting matters, included in the GA@éttificate of Indesit Company S.p.A. (th&Cbmpany ") as at and for tt
year ended date], prepared by the Company and signed by the Séfi@ancial Officer (the ‘GAAP Certificate ”) under th
terms of the Multicurrency Revolving Facility Agreent dated flate] (the “ Agreement”).
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Our understanding that you were not engaged todahdot, perform an examination, the objectiveMbich would be th
expression of an opinion on the subject matter ri@=et above. Accordingly, you did not express sanhopinion. Ha
additional procedures been performed, other mattéght have come to your attention that would haeen reported to us.
Further, we confirm, to the best of our knowledgel delief, the following representations made ta yhring you
engagement:

We are responsible for preparing the GAAP Certiécaccurately reflecting the matters containedetineat the releva
dates.

The GAAP Certificate is complete and accurate aftecets all matters of significance relating to thgent's and th
Original Lenders’ &s listed in the Note Purchase Agreement) assessrhéme Company compliance with the Coven
set out therein as at the relevant dates and giif&ant matters relevant to that assessment baes brought to yo
attention.

No events have occurred subsequent to [date] tlatldvhave required adjustment to, or disclosuretle audite
consolidated financial statements had their appiow#he Board been deferred until the date of ltier.

We are responsible for the subject matter andn®m@ssertions included in the explanatory notéise@AAP Certificate
We are responsible for the fair presentation of gtibject matter prepared in conformity with relgvarovisions in th
Agreement and related financial definitions incldde such agreement. We have provided you withAttpeeement and ¢
of its attachments. The relevant clauses of theé&ment are shown in Attachment 1 of your engagefetat dated [date].

We have made available to you all related finangabrds and da

We have advised you of all actions taken at mestofgstockholders, board of directors, and commsttef the board
directors (or other similar bodies as applicalih@)f may affect the subject matter.

We have reviewed a draft of your report of findindmted [date], and we are not aware of any sigmificerrors ¢
misstatements contained in that report, and theegglares referred to in the draft report are thoseaquested and we
agreed to by the other specified parties.

Your procedures were limited to those which weridated in your engagement letter and may not secis disclose a
significant errors, irregularities, including fraod defalcation, or illegal acts, that may exist.

Your report is intended solely for use by us arel Algent, and is not intended for use by those w@ ot agreed to t
procedures and have not taken responsibility ferstifficiency of the procedures for their purposes.

We have responded fully to all inquiries made tyyou during your engageme

We have communicated to you all known matters ealntting the subject matter or the asser

No procedures have been performed since the dgtmuofreport and you have no responsibility to updeur procedure
There have been no communications from regulatgenees that would affect the subject matter oaeertior

The Company has complied with all aspects of cotied agreements that would have a material effecthe subje:
matter or the assertion in the event of non compéa
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17.  There are no material transactions that have rext peoperly recorded as part of the subject mattére assertio

Very truly yours,
Indesit Company S.p.A.

Mr. [ name]

(Legal Representative)
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To:

From:

SCHEDULE 19
FORM OF INCREASE CONFIRMATION

UniCredit Bank AG, Milan Branch as Agent and Ind€mpany S.p.A. as Guarantor, for and on behadiach Obligc

[thelncrease Lendef (the "Increase Lender")

Dated:

€400,000,000 Facility Agreement dated [ July 201the " Facility Agreement")
We refer to the Facility Agreement. This agreen(dém " Agreement") shall take effect as an Increase Confirmation
the purpose of the Facilities Agreement. Terms naefiin the Facilities Agreement have the same megair this
Agreement unless given a different meaning in Algjigeement.

We refer to clause 2.21icrease) of the Facilities Agreemel

The Increase Lender agrees to assume and will @salirof the obligations corresponding to the Cotment specified i
the Schedule (theRelevant Commitment") as if it was an Original Lender under the Féieii Agreement.

The proposed date on which the increase in relatidhe Increase Lender and the Relevant Commitisetiot take effe
(the "Increase Date") is[ .

On the Increase Date, the Increase Lender becoangstp the relevant Finance Documents as a Le

The Facility Office and address, fax number andraitbn details for notices to the Increase Lendertlie purposes
Clause 34.2 Addresse$ are set out in the Schedule.

The Increase Lender expressly acknowledges théalioms on the Lenders' obligations referred tgpamagraph (f) ¢
Clause 2.2 (ncrease).

The Increase Lender confirms, for the benefit ef Agent and without liability to any Obligor, thats:
() not a Qualifying Lende

(b) a Facility A Qualifying Lende

(c) a Facility B Qualifying Lender; «

(d) a Facility B Treaty Lender

and that it is not incorporated, domiciled, esttidid or acting through a Facility Office situatedai Non€ooperativ
Jurisdiction or in a Blacklisted Jurisdiction.

[The Increase Lender confirms (for the benefithd Agent and without liability to any Obligor) thiatis a Treaty Lend:
that holds a passport under the HMRC DT Treaty frasscheme (reference number [*]), and is taxdesi in [*]** so
that interest payable to it by borrowers is gemgrsdibject to full exemption from UK withholding Xaand notifies th
Company that:

(@) each Borrower which is a Party as a Borrower dbeatncrease Date must make an application to HVER@e &
Customs under form DTTP2 within 30 days of the ¢élase Date; and
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10.

11.

12.

(b) each Additional Borrower which becomes an Additiddarrower after the Increase Date must make aficion
to HM Revenue & Customs under form DTTP2 withind2@'s of becoming an Additional Borrower.]***

This Agreement may be executed in any number ohtesparts and this has the same effect as if thgasires on tt
counterparts were on a single copy of this Agreegmen

This Agreement and any naontractual obligations arising out of or in conti@t with it are governed by English le

This Agreement has been entered into on the datiedsat the beginning of this Agreem
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THE SCHEDULE
Relevant Commitment/rights and obligations to be asimed by the Increase Lender
[ insert relevant detailf

[ Facility office address, fax number and attentietadls for notices and account details for payménts

[Increase Lender]
By:

This Agreement is accepted as an Increase Confomtdr the purposes of the Facilities Agreementh®yAgent and the Incre
Date is confirmed as|[ ]

Agent
By:

NOTES:

Delete as applicable each Increase Lender is required to confirm whithhese fou
* categories it falls within.

Insert jurisdiction of tax residence.

*%

This confirmation must be included if the Incredsnder holds a passport under
rork HMRC DT Treaty Passport scheme and wishes thathsehe apply to the Agreement.
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SCHEDULE 20
FORM OF GUARANTOR ACCESSION LETTER

To: UniCredit Bank AG, Milan Branch as Agent
From: [ Subsidiary] and [Company]
Dated:
Dear Sirs
€400,000,000 Facility Agreement dated [ July 201{the " Facility Agreement")

1. We refer to the Agreement. This is a Guarantor Asioa Letter. Terms defined in the Agreement hhgesame meaning
this Guarantor Accession Letter unless given &difit meaning in this Guarantor Accession Letter.

2. [ Subsidiary] agrees to become an Additional Guarantor andetbdund by the terms of the Agreement as an Adchdil
Guarantor pursuant to Clause 27.4Additional Guarantors) of the Agreement. [Subsidiary] is a company du
incorporated under the laws ofi@dme of relevant jurisdictioh

3. [ Subsidiary'qd administrative details are as follo\

Address:
Fax No:
Attention:

4. This Guarantor Accession Letter and any gontractual obligations arising out of or in coni@t with it are governed |
English law.

This Guarantor Accession Letter is entered intaé&gd.

[Company] [Subsidiary]
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SIGNATURES

THE GUARANTOR
INDESIT COMPANY S.p.A.
By: /s/ Alessandro D’Aniello

Address:
Fax:

Attention:

THE FACILITY A BORROWER
INDESIT COMPANY S.p.A.
By: /s/ Alessandro D’Aniello
Address:

Fax:

Attention:

THE FACILITY B BORROWERS
INDESIT COMPANY UK LTD
By: /s/ Alessandro D’Aniello
Address:

Fax:

Attention:

GENERAL DOMESTIC APPLIANCES HOLDINGS LTD
By: /s/ Alessandro D’Aniello
Address:

Fax:

Attention:
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INDESIT COMPANY FRANCE S.A.S.
By: /s/ Alessandro D’Aniello
Address:

Fax:

Attention:

INDESIT COMPANY LUXEMBOURG S.A.
By: /s/ Alessandro D’Aniello

Address:

Fax:

Attention:

THE ARRANGER
Banca IMI S.p.A.
By: /s/ Alessandra Capozzi

Address:

Fax:

Attention:

BNP PARIBAS , SUCCURSALE ITALIA
By: /s/ Bruno Catozzo

Address:

Fax:
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Attention:

CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS LIMITED
By: /s/ Elisabetta Andreoni

Address:

Fax:

Attention:

HSBC BANK PLC
By: /s/ David Stent
Address:

Fax:

Attention:

ING BANK N.V.
By: /s/ Matthew Rhys-Evans
Address:

Fax:
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Attention:

MEDIOBANCA - BANCA DI CREDITO FINANZIARIO S.p.A.
By: /s/ Annarita Capodacqua / Luciano Cenedese

Address:

Fax:

Attention:

UNICREDIT S.P.A.
By: /s/ Annarita Capodacqua / Luciano Cenedese

Address:

Fax:

Attention:

THE AGENT
UniCredit Bank AG, Milan Branch
By: /s/ Valentina Carluccio

Address:

Fax:

-135-




THE ORIGINAL LENDERS
THE FACILITY A LENDERS

BANCA DELL'ADRIATICO S.P.A.
By: /s/ Alessandra Capozzi

Address:

Fax:

Attention:

THE BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI UFJ, LTD., MILAN BRANC H
By: /s/ Kazuhiro Sudo
Address:

Fax:

Attention:

BNP PARIBAS, SUCCURSALE ITALIA
By: /s/ Bruno Catozzo

Address:

Fax:

Attention:
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CENTROBANCA - BANCA DI CREDITO FINANZIARIO E MOBILI
By: /s/ Valentina Carluccio

Address:

Fax:

Attention:

CITIBANK, N.A., MILAN BRANCH
By: /s/ Elisabetta Andreoni
Address:

Fax:

Attention:

HSBC BANK PLC, MILAN BRANCH
By: /s/ David Stent
Address:

Fax:

Attention:

ING BANK N.V., MILAN BRANCH
By: /s/ Matthew Rhys-Evans
Address:

Fax:
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Attention:

MEDIOBANCA - BANCA DI CREDITO FINANZIARIO S.P.A.
By: /s/ Annarita Capodacqua / Luciano Cenedese

Address:

Fax:

Attention:

UNICREDIT S.P.A.
By: /s/ Annarita Capodacqua / Luciano Cenedese

Address:

Fax:

Attention:

THE FACILITY B LENDERS

THE BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI UFJ, LTD., MILAN BRANC H
By: /s/ Kazuhiro Sudo
Address:

Fax:

Attention:
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BNP PARIBAS, SUCCURSALE ITALIA
By: /s/ Bruno Catozzo

Address:

Fax:

Attention:

CITIBANK INTERNATIONAL PLC
By: /s/ Elisabetta Andreoni
Address:

Fax:

Attention:

HSBC BANK PLC
By: /s/ David Stent
Address:

Fax:

Attention:

ING BANK N.V., MILAN BRANCH
By: /s/ Matthew Rhys-Evans
Address:

Fax:

Attention:
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INTESA SANPAOLO S.P.A., LONDON BRANCH
By: /s/ [Alessandra Capozzi
Address:

Fax:

Attention:

MEDIOBANCA INTERNATIONAL (LUXEMBOURG) S.A.
By: /s/ Annarita Capodacqua / Luciano Cenedese

Address:

Fax:

Attention:

UNICREDIT S.P.A., LONDON BRANCH
By: /s/ Annarita Capodacqua / Luciano Cenedese

Address:

Fax:

Attention:
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To: Unicredit Bank AG Milan Branch (the "Agent")
From: Indesit Company S.p.A. (on behalf of eacthefBorrowers and the Guarantor)

26 November, 2012

Dear Sirs,

EURO 400,000,000 facility agreement date@ld July 2011 ("Facility Agreement”) between,inter alia, Unicredit Bank AG Milan
Branch as agent and Indesit Company S.p.A. as borveer and guarantor.

Terms defined in the Revolving Loan Facility Agrearhshall have the same meaning in this letter

Further to our recent correspondence, we herebfirgoour agreement with respect to the followingeamdments to be made to
Facility Agreement for the purposes of correctimpanifest error:

Schedule 13 Existing Indebtednessof the Facility Agreement shall be deleted andaegd in its entirety with Schedule 1 to this Le

All other clauses and conditions of the Facilityrégment remain unchanged.

This letter is a Finance Document for the purpadebe Facility Agreement and shall be governedbgl construed in accordance v
English law.

Delivery of an executed signature page to thigtdiy facsimile will be as effective as deliveryaomanual executed signature page.

Please confirm your agreement to the foregoingidpyirsg and then returning an original (or facsimibé this letter to us.

Yours faithfully
/sl Alessandro D’'Aniello
For and on behalf of

Indesit Company S.p.A. (on behalf of each of ther@wmers and the Guarantor)

By: Alessandro D’Aniello For éeptance

UniCredit Bank AF, Milan Branch
/s/ Stefano Petrelli, Marcello Baschier

Indesit Company S.pA

Viale Aristide Merloni, 47 | 60044 Fabriano (AN) -
Italia Telephone (+39) 0732 6611 |
indesitcompany.com




As of June 30, 2011

Financial Indebtedness

Schedule 1
Existing Indebtedness

Subsidiaries (other than the

a) Moneys borrowed

b) The deferred purchase price

Any amount raised by acceptance under credit
c) facility

Any amount raised pursuant to any note purchase

d) facility or bonds...

e) The amount of any liability in respect of any lease
f) Receivable sold or discounted...

g) Any derivative instrument...

The net present value of the purchase price of
h) property

Amounts drawn down under letters of credit or
1) instruments...

)] Amount raised by the issue of redeemable shares

(without double counting) the amount of any
k) liability...

Borrowers)
Indesit
Indesit Company
Company | Beyaz Esya Indesit Indesit
International Sanayl Indesit Indesit [ Company [Company
Business ve Ticaret | Ukraine Company|Luxembourg| France
SA A.S. LLC SpA SA Sas Group
-1.8 -0.3 -0.3 -207.4 -222.3 -0.2 -432.3
-1.8 -0.3 -207.4 -209.5
-222.3 -222.3
-0.3 -0.2 -05




EXHIBIT 12 - RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
WHIRLPOOL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Earnings
Earnings (loss) before income taxes
Fixed charges

Fixed charges
Portion of rents representative of the interestofiac
Interest on indebtedness
Amortization of debt financing fees

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
881 917 55¢ (28) 58¢€
222 231 25¢€ 27C 281

1,10% 1,14¢ 814 242 867
57 54 57 57 56
15¢ 17z 19¢ 204 211

6 5 6 9 14

222 231 25¢€ 27C 281
5.C 5.C 3.2 0.8 3.1




WHIRLPOOL CORPORATION
List of Subsidiaries

Subsidiary and Name Under Which It Does Business

Jurisdiction in Which Organized

1900 Holdings Corporation

Aeradriatica S.p.A.

Airdrum Limited

BUD Comércio de Eletrodomésticos Ltda.

BWI Products Limited

Bauknecht AG

Bauknecht Hausgerate GmbH

Bauknecht Limited

Beijing Embraco Snowflake Compressor Company Lichite
Bill Page Orchestra, Inc.

Brasmotor S.A.

CNB Consultoria Ltda

Cannon Industries LTD

Centro de Desarrollo Tecnologico e Innévacion WHMde R.L de C.V.
Comercial Acros Whirlpool, S.A. de C.V.

Consumer Appliances Service Limited

Ealing Compania de Gestiones y Participaciones S.A.
Elera Delaware, Inc.

Elera Holdings Corporation

Embraco Europe S.r.l.

Embraco Eurosales S.r.l.

Embraco Luxembourg S.ar.l.

Embraco Mexico Servicios, S. de R.L. de C.V.
Embraco Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V.

Embraco North America, Inc.

Embraco RUS LLC

Embraco Slovakia S.r.o.

Everest Campus, LLC.

Fabrica Portugal S.a.

General Domestic Appliances Hldgs Ltd

General Domestic Appliances INT

Guangdong Whirlpool Electrical Appliances Co., Ltd.

Haceb Whirlpool Industrias S.A.S.

Hisense - Whirlpool (Zhejiang) Electric Appliand@s., Ltd.

Hoover Comercial Limitada

Indesit Argentina S.A.

Indesit Co. Domestic Appliances Hellas Mepe
Indesit Company B.E.S. Ve A.S.

Indesit Company Belgium S.A.

Indesit Company Beyaz Esya Pazarlama A.S.
Indesit Company Bulgaria S.r.l.u.

Indesit Company Ceska S.r.o.

Indesit Company Deutschland Gmbh

Indesit Company France S.A.

Indesit Company International B.V.

Delaware
Italy
UK
Brazil
England
Switzerland
Germany
England
China
California
Brazil
Brazil
UK

Mexico
Mexico
Hong Kong
Uruguay
Delaware
Delaware
Italy
Italy
Luxembourg
Mexico
Mexico
Delaware
Russia
Slovak Republic
Michigan
Portugal
UK
UK
China

Colombia

China

Brazil
Argentina
Greece

Turkey

Belgium

Turkey

Bulgaria

Czech Republic
Germany
France
Netherlands (The)






Subsidiary and Name Under Which It Does Business

Jurisdiction in Which Organized

Indesit Company International Business S.A.
Indesit Company Ireland Ltd

Indesit Company Luxembourg S.A.
Indesit Company Magyarorszag Kft
Indesit Company Nordics AB

Indesit Company)sterreich Ges. mbh
Indesit Company Polska Sp. zo.o.
Indesit Company Portugal Electrodomésticos S.A.
Indesit Company S.p.A.

Indesit Company Singapore Pte. Ltd.
Indesit Company UK Holdings Ltd.
Indesit Company UK Ltd.

Indesit Electrodomésticos S.A.
Indesit International ZAO

Indesit IP S.r.l.

Indesit Middle East FZE

Indesit Rus Llc

Indesit Ukraine LLC

IRE Beteiligungs GmbH

Industrias Acros Whirlpool, S.A. de C.V.
Jackson Appliances Ltd

KitchenAid Australia, Pty Ltd
KitchenAid Delaware, Inc.

KitchenAid Europa, Inc.

KitchenAid Global, Inc.

KitchenAid Promotions, LLC
KitchenAid, Inc.

LAWSA S.A.

MLOG Armazém Geral Ltda.

Maytag Comercial, S. de R.L. de C.V.
Maytag Limited

Maytag Properties, LLC

Maytag Sales, Inc.

Maytag Worldwide N.V.

Merloni Domestic Appliances Ltd
Nineteen Hundred Corporation

Prestadora de Servicios Administrativos Regiomamt&i de R. L. de C.V.

Qingdao EECON Electronic Controls and Appliances Cal.
South American Sales Partnership
THC Assets Corporation

WCGP Nova Scotia Co.

WFC de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.
Whirlpool (Australia) Pty. Limited
Whirlpool (B.V.l.) Limited

Whirlpool (China) Co., Ltd.

Whirlpool (China) Investment Co., Ltd.
Whirlpool (Hong Kong) Limited
Whirlpool (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd
Whirlpool (Thailand) Limited

Switzerland
Ireland
Luxembourg
Hungary
Sweden
Austria
Poland
Portugal
Italy
Singapore
UK
UK
Spain
Russia
Italy
United Arab Emirates
Russia
Ukraine
Germany
Mexico
UK
Australia
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Michigan
Ohio
Argentina
Brazil
Mexico
Ontario
Michigan
Delaware
Netherlands Antilles
UK
New York
Mexico
China
Florida
Delaware
Nova Scotia
Mexico
Australia
Virgin Islands (British)
China
China
Hong Kong
Malaysia
Thailand






Subsidiary and Name Under Which It Does Business

Jurisdiction in Which Organized

Whirlpool (UK) Limited England
Whirlpool America Holdings Corp. Delaware
Whirlpool Argentina S.A. Argentina
Whirlpool ASEAN Co. Delaware
Whirlpool Asia B.V. Netherlands (The)
Whirlpool Asia Holdings S.ar.l. Luxembourg
Whirlpool Asia Inc. Delaware
Whirlpool Austria GmbH Austria
Whirlpool Asia Private Limited India
Whirlpool Baltic UAB Lithuania
Whirlpool Benelux N.V./S.A. Belgium
Whirlpool Bulgaria Ltd. Bulgaria
Whirlpool CIS Ltd. Russia
Whirlpool CR, spol. s.r.o. Czech Republic
Whirlpool Canada Co. (post 9/1/05 amalgamation camgjp Nova Scotia
Whirlpool Canada Holding Co. (post 4/18/06 amalgéomacompany) Nova Scotia
Whirlpool Canada LP Ontario
Whirlpool Canada Luxembourg Holdings S.ar.l. Luxembourg
Whirlpool Chile Limitada Chile
Whirlpool Colémbia S.A.S. Colombia
Whirlpool Comercial Ltda. Brazil
Whirlpool Croatia Ltd. Croatia
Whirlpool CSA Holdings S.ar.l. Luxembourg
Whirlpool do Brasil Investements B.V. Netherlands
Whirlpool do Brasil Ltda. Brazil
Whirlpool Ecuador S.A. Ecuador
Whirlpool Eesti OU Estonia
Whirlpool El Salvador, S.A. de C.V. El Salvador
Whirlpool Eletrodomésticos AM S.A. Brazil
Whirlpool Enterprises, LLC Delaware
Whirlpool Europe B.V. Netherlands (The)
Whirlpool Europe Coordination Center Belgium
Whirlpool Europe Holdings Limited Delaware
Whirlpool Europe S.r.l. Italy
Whirlpool Finance B.V. Netherlands (The)
Whirlpool Finance Overseas Ltd. Bermuda
Whirlpool Financial Corporation Delaware
Whirlpool Financial Corporation International Delaware
Whirlpool Floor Care Corp. Delaware
Whirlpool France SAS France
Whirlpool Germany GmbH Germany
Whirlpool Greater China Inc. Delaware
Whirlpool Guatemala, S.A. Guatemala
Whirlpool Hellas SA Greece
Whirlpool Holdings Corporation Delaware
Whirlpool Home Appliance (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. China
Whirlpool Home Appliances Limited Liability Company Turkey
Whirlpool Hungarian Trading Limited Liability Compg Hungary

Whirlpool India Holdings Limited Delaware






Subsidiary and Name Under Which It Does Business

Jurisdiction in Which Organized

Whirlpool of India Limited

Whirlpool Insurance Company, Ltd.
Whirlpool Internacional S. de R.L. de C.V.
Whirlpool International GmbH

Whirlpool International Holdings S.ar.l.
Whirlpool International Manufacturing S.ar.l.
Whirlpool Ireland Limited

Whirlpool Italia Holdings S.r.1.

Whirlpool Italia International S.r.l.

Whirlpool Japan Inc.

Whirlpool Latin America Corporation

Whirlpool Latvia S.I.A.

Whirlpool Ltd Belgrade

Whirlpool Luxembourg Holdings Merger S.ar.l.
Whirlpool Luxembourg Holdings S.ar.l.
Whirlpool Luxembourg Investments S.ar.l.
Whirlpool Luxembourg S.ar.l.

Whirlpool Luxembourg Ventures S.ar.l.
Whirlpool Management Services Sagl
Whirlpool Maroc S. ar.l.

Whirlpool Mauritius Limited

Whirlpool MEEA DMCC

Whirlpool Mexico, S.A. de C.V.

Whirlpool Mexico Holdings LLC

Whirlpool Mexico Ventures LLC

Whirlpool Microwave Products Development Limited
Whirlpool NAAG Holdings Corporation
Whirlpool NAR Holdings, LLC

Whirlpool Nederland B.V.

Whirlpool Nordic A/S

Whirlpool Nordic AB

Whirlpool Nordic OY

Whirlpool Nordic AS

Whirlpool Oceania Inc.

Whirlpool Overseas Holdings, LLC
Whirlpool Overseas Hong Kong Limited
Whirlpool Overseas Manufacturing S.ar.l.
Whirlpool Peru S.R.L.

Whirlpool Polska Sp. z 0.0.

Whirlpool Portugal Electrodomesticos, Lda.
Whirlpool Product Development (Shenzhen) Compamyitad
Whirlpool Properties, Inc.

Whirlpool Puntana S.A.

Whirlpool R&D s.r.l.

Whirlpool Realty Corporation

Whirlpool Romania s.r.l.

Whirlpool S.A.

Whirlpool SSC Limited

Whirlpool Slovakia spol. s.r.o.

India
Bermuda
Mexico
Switzerland
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Ireland

Italy

Italy
Delaware

Delaware
Latvia
Serbia
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Switzerland
Morocco
Mauritius
United Arab Emirates
Mexico
Delaware
Delaware
Hong Kong
Delaware
Delaware
Netherlands (The)
Denmark
Sweden
Finland
Norway
Delaware
Delaware
Hong Kong
Luxembourg
Peru

Poland
Portugal
China
Michigan
Argentina
Italy
Delaware
Romania
Brazil
Ireland
Slovak Republic






Subsidiary and Name Under Which It Does Business

Jurisdiction in Which Organized

Whirlpool South Africa (Proprietary) Limited
Whirlpool Southeast Asia Pte

Whirlpool Sweden Aktiebolag

Whirlpool Taiwan Co., Ltd.

Whirlpool Technologies, LLC

Whirlpool UK Pension Scheme Trustee Limited
Whirlpool Ukraine LLC

Wuxi Indesit Domestic Appliance Technology Co. Ltd.

Xpelair Ltd

South Africa
Singapore

Sweden
Taiwan
Michigan
England
Ukraine
China
UK



CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference ifolewing Registration Statements:

Registration Statements of Whirlpool Corporation

Exhibit 23

33-34037 333-90602 333-150942
33-40249 333-125260 333-157392
333-02827 333-128686 333-166484
333-66211 333-131627 333-181339
333-77167 333-143372 333-187948
333-42322

Registration Statements of Maytag Corporation

333-62980

Registration Statements of Whirlpool Corporation

pertaining to the Whirlpool Savings Plan

33-26680 33-53196

Registration Statements of Whirlpool Corporation

pertaining to the Whirlpool 401(k) Retirement Plan

333-66163 333-138711 333-179695
Registration Statement of Whirlpool Corporation

pertaining to the Maytag Corporation Salary SaviRigs, Maytag Corporation Deferred

Compensation Plan and Maytag Corporation Deferreai2nsation Plan Il

333-132875

Registration Statements of Maytag Corporation

pertaining to the Maytag Corporation Deferred Congagion and Salary Savings Plans

333-102002 333-101995 333-121368

of our reports dated February 26, 2Q1\With respect to the consolidated financial staets and schedule of Whirlpool Corporation anc
effectiveness of internal control over financiapoeting of Whirlpool Corporation, included in thfnnual Report (Form 16&) for the yea

ended December 31, 2014 .

/SI ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Chicago, lllinois
February 26, 2015



Exhibit 24

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each of thedemsigned, being a director or officer, or both, WHIRLPOOL
CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (hereinaftdtedathe “Corporation”),does hereby constitute and appoint JEFF M. FETTi@
KIRSTEN J. HEWITT, with full power to each of thetm act alone, as the true and lawful attorneys agehts of the undersigned, with
power of substitution and resubstitution to eackaifl attorneys, to execute, file or deliver angl alh instruments and to do all acts and th
which said attorneys and agents, or any of theramdadvisable to enable the Corporation to complih whe Securities Act of 1933,
amended, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, anded, and any requirements of the Securities awthadhge Commission in resp
thereof, in connection with the filing under saielc8rities Exchange Act of the Corporation's AnriRaport on Form 16 for the year ende
December 31, 2014including specifically, but without limitation dhe general authority hereby granted, the powdraarthority to sign his
her name as a director or officer, or both, of@weporation, as indicated below opposite his ordigmature, to the Annual Report on Form 1C
K, or any amendment, post-effective amendmentapeps supplemental thereto to be filed in respesaid Annual Report on Form K-anc
each of the undersigned does hereby fully ratify eonfirm all that said attorneys and agents, grafrthem, or the substitute of any of th
shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned hasailiied these presents, as of the 17th day of BerR015 .

Signature Title
ISl JEFF M. FETTIG Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executdféicer
Jeff M. Fettig (Principal Executive Officer)
/S/ MICHAEL A. TODMAN Director and Vice Chairman

Michael A. Todman

/SI' LARRY M. VENTURELLI Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
Larry M. Venturelli (Principal Financial Officer)
/S/ CHRISTOPHER J. KUEHN Vice President and Corporate Controller
Christopher J. Kuehn (Principal Accounting Officer)
/SI SAMUEL R. ALLEN Director

Samuel R. Allen

/S/ GARY T. DICAMILLO Director
Gary T. DiCamillo

IS/ DIANE M. DIETZ Director
Diane M. Dietz
/S!/ GERALDINE T. ELLIOT Director

Geraldine T. Elliott

/S!I MICHAEL F. JOHNSTON Director
Michael F. Johnston

/S WILLIAM T. KERR Director
William T. Kerr

/S/ JOHN D. LIU Director




John D. Liu

IS/ HARISH MANWANI Director

Harish Manwani

/S WILLIAM D. PEREZ Director

William D. Perez

/SI MICHAEL D. WHITE Director

Michael D. White



[, Jeff M
1.

2.

Date:

Exhibit 31(a)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBA$-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

. Fettig, certify that:

| have reviewed this annual report on FornK1&F Whirlpool Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary t
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant, as of, amgdthe periods presented in this report

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesdar caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over finanoggdorting, or caused such internal control ovearfitial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presénthis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant’s internal control over finalceporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing theweden!
functions):

€) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisattifole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

February 26, 2015

/s/ JEFF M. FETTIG

Name:
Title:

Jeff M. Fettig

Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31(b)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBA$-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Larry M. Venturelli, certify that:

1.

2.

Date:

| have reviewed this annual report on FornK1&F Whirlpool Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary t
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant, as of, amgdthe periods presented in this report

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesdar caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared,;

(b) Designed such internal control over finanoggdorting, or caused such internal control ovearfitial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presénthis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant’s internal control over finalceporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing theweden!
functions):

€) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisattifole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

February 26, 2015

/sl LARRY M. VENTURELLI

Name:
Title:

Larry M. Venturelli

Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

Certifications Pursuant to

18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10f\hirlpool Corporation (“Whirlpool”) for the yeagnded December 31, 2014 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ortd#tte hereof (the “Report”), Jeff M. Fettig, as Gli&ecutive Officer of Whirlpool, and
Larry M. Venturelli, as Chief Financial Officer &¥hirlpool, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18.G. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, tiaahis knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; an
2. The information contained in the Report fandpresents, in all material respects, the finaraalition and results of operations of
Whirlpool.

s/ JEFF M. FETTIG
Name: Jeff M. Fettig

Title: Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 26, 2015

/sl LARRY M. VENTURELLI
Name: Larry M. Venturelli

Title: Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 26, 2015




